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Unless the content requires otherwise, the wordpésus," "we", "our" and "the Company" refer t@8tnus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its
subsidiary.

We are the owners of various U.S. federal trademeglstrations(®pnd registration applications(™), including thddaling marks referred t
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to &galle U.S. intellectual property laws: "Supernus®icrotrol®," "Solutrol®,"
"ProScreen®," "OptiScreen®," "ProPhile®," "TrokentiR™," "Oxtellar XR™," and the registered Superfi@rmaceuticals logo.
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PART |

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardiimg statements, within the meaning of the Seéeariixchange Act of 1934 and the
Securities Act of 1933, that involve risks and utadeties. Forward-looking statements convey ourrent expectations or forecasts of future
events. All statements contained in this AnnuabRegher than statements of historical fact arenfard-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements include statements regarding our fufinencial position, business strategy, budgetsjgmted costs, plans and objectives of
management for future operations. The words "méaghtinue,” "estimate," "intend," "plan," "will,"Believe," "project,” "expect," "seek,"
"anticipate," "should," "could," "would," "potentid or the negative of those terms and similar @gsions may identify forward-looking
statements, but the absence of these words doeecesdsarily mean that a statement is not forwaadking. You should not place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements, wisjghak only as of the date of this report. Allhefste forward-looking statements are based
on information available to us at this time, and agsume no obligation to update any of these s&iesnActual results could differ from those
projected in these forwa-looking statements as a result of many factordpuling those identified in "Business”, "Risk Fastb
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of FinanCiahdition and Results of Operations" and elsewhéfe.urge you to review and consider
the various disclosures made by us in this refort] those detailed from time to time in our filimggh the Securities and Exchange
Commission, that attempt to advise you of the @gkifactors that may affect our future results.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company focusatbweloping and commercializing products for tie@tment of central nervous system
CNS, diseases. Our extensive expertise in prodatldpment has been built over the past 20 yeditslly as a standalone development
organization, then as a U.S. subsidiary of Shiceapld, upon our acquisition of substantially adl #ssets of Shire Laboratories Inc. in late 2
as Supernus Pharmaceuticals. We launched OxteRaeXtended release oxcarbazepine), our first gpii@roduct, in the first quarter of 2013
and anticipate the launch of a second epilepsyymtod rokendi XR (extended release topiramatedhénthird quarter of 2013, and are
developing multiple product candidates in psychittraddress the large market opportunity in teatment of attention deficit hyperactivity
disorder, or ADHD, including ADHD patients with imafsive aggression. We intend to market our prodinctee United States through our
own focused sales force targeting specialty phgsgsiwhich include neurologists and psychiatritst to seek strategic collaborations with
other pharmaceutical companies to license our mtschutside the United States.

Our neurology portfolio consists of a marketed piicand a tentatively approved product. On Octdl9ei2012, the Food and Drug
Administration, or FDA, granted final approval ok@llar XR, as adjunctive therapy of partial seeaimn adults and in children 6 years to

17 years of age. On November 15, 2012, the FDAtgda@xtellar XR a three year marketing exclusivitie commercial launch of Oxtellar
XR occurred during the first quarter of 2013. Ond25, 2012, the FDA granted tentative approvalrokendi XR, as initial monotherapy in
patients 10 years of age and older with partiabbns primary generalized tonic-clonic seizures as adjunctive therapy in patients 6 years o
age and older with partial onset or primary gerigedl tonic-clonic seizures or with seizures asgediavith Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. The
final approval for Trokendi XR may not be made efifiee until the expiration of the marketing exchtisi period that Topamax's new drug
application, or NDA, (currently held by Johnson éhdison, Inc.) has regarding safety information apecific pediatric population. This
marketing exclusivity expires on June 22, 2013any December, 2012, the Company submitted té&-Bw a request for final approval as an
amendment to the NDA including a safety data updatew package insert and packaging configurafem$rokendi XR and was informed
that should the FDA approve such amendment, itmist likely be in the form of a tentative approlbatause the review period of such
amendment would be expected to conclude in thenskgoarter prior to the June 22, 2013 expiratiothefpediatric exclusivity. The Company
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continues to expect getting the final approval emehmercially launching Trokendi XR in the third qiga of 2013.

Our psychiatry product candidates include SPN-8i6lihdone hydrochloride), which received positigpline results from its Phase 1lb study
for the treatment of impulsive aggression in ADH&tients, and SPN-812, which is also moving forwatd later stage development, having
successfully completed a Phase lla trial as a nomelstimulant treatment of ADHD.

We have several additional product candidates iiioua stages of development, including SPN-80%oich we submitted an investigational
new drug application, or IND, in 2008. SPN-809 wbrépresent a novel mechanism of action for the Bh8-depressant market. We believe
our broad and diversified portfolio of product cafedes provides us with multiple opportunities ehiave our goal of becoming a leading
specialty pharmaceutical company focused on CN&adEs.

We use our proprietary technologies to enhancéhigrapeutic benefits of approved drugs through ackd extended release formulations.
Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR are novel oral onceldaxtended release formulations of oxcarbazepitktapiramate, respectively, for the
treatment of epilepsy. Oxtellar XR is the first amdy extended release formulation of oxcarbazepirslable in the U.S. We believe that
Trokendi XR will be the first extended release fatation of topiramate for the treatment of epilepsyhe U.S. Immediate release formulati
of oxcarbazepine and topiramate are available irege form and are marketed by Novartis and Joh&sdohnson under the brand names of
Trileptal and Topamax, respectively. According S Health, peak sales of Trileptal and Topamaxaeggnted an estimated 8.1% and 25.8%
of the total seizure disorder market in 2006 an@B2@espectively. We pursued a Section 505(b)@)letory strategy for Oxtellar XR, which
allowed us to rely on the existing data from theAN@f Trileptal. The formulations allowing once-péay dosing of Oxtellar XR and Trokendi
XR are designed to improve patient compliance arbssibly provide a better tolerability profilenapared to the current immediate release
anti-epileptic drugs, or AEDs, that must be taken mldtipnes per day to maintain therapeutic drug cofrations over the dosing interval. \
believe there is a significant unmet need for edéelrelease products, such as Oxtellar XR and TidikéR, for the treatment of epilepsy.
Extended release products have been shown to immawpliance, increase seizure control, reduceedfdets and improve tolerability(1) as
compared to immediate release products.(2) We tvewd).S. patents issued covering Oxtellar XR and thS. patents issued covering
Trokendi XR.

(1) Miller, A.D., Improved CNS tolerability following conversion frammediate-to extended-release carbamazepmblished June 2004
in Acta Neurologica Scandinavia

(2 Balzac, F.Medication Noncompliance in Epilepspublished March 2006 iNeurology Reviews

2
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Our development portfolio also includes treatméotsiew indications in diseases such as ADHD amdadexisting disorders. We are
developing SPN-810, which completed a Phase &b fior which we received positive topline resuttdNovember 2012, as a novel treatment
for impulsive aggression in patients with ADHD. &rnwe issued the topline results, we have beelyznglthe full dataset and working on
putting together a package that outlines our dg@retmt plan including a proposed Phase Ill desigigouss in detail with the FDA later this
year. If approved by the FDA, SI-810 could be the first product available to adsithss serious, unmet medical need. SPN-810 istharse
molindone hydrochloride, which was previously magkiein the United States as an anti-psychoticdattschizophrenia under the trade name
Moban. In addition, SPN-812, which completed a BHEstrial, is being developed as a novel non-gliamt treatment for ADHD. SP812 is ¢
selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor thatheteve could be more effective and have a besitir effect profile than other non-stimulant
treatments for ADHD. In addition, because the &cingredient of SPN-812 has demonstrated effica@naanti-depressant in Europe, this
product candidate, if studied in that specific @atipopulation and shown to be effective, may mtevncreased benefit to an estimated 40% o
ADHD patients who suffer from depression.(3)

The table below summarizes our current pipelineasfel products and product candidates.

Product Indication Status
Oxtellar XR Adjunctive therapy for epileps Launchec
Trokendi XR Epilepsy Tentative approval by FD.
SPN-810 Impulsive aggression in ADHI Phase Ilb complete
SPN-812 ADHD Phase lla complete
SPN-809 Depressior IND filed

We have a successful track record of developinghproducts by applying proprietary technologieknown drugs to improve existing
therapies and enable the treatment of new inditsitid/e have a broad portfolio of drug developmeahhologies consisting of six platforms
that include the following: Microtrol (multiparti¢ate delivery platform), Solutrol (matrix delivepfatform) and EnSoTrol (osmotic delivery
system). Our proprietary technologies have beed imsthe following approved products: Carbatrolrfeanazepine), Adderall XR (mixed
amphetamine salts), and Intuniv (Quanfacine), ntatkby Shire; Equetro (carbamazepine), marketedadgus Pharmaceuticals Inc.; Sanct
XR (trospium chloride), marketed by Allergan, Inard Oracea (doxycycline), marketed by Galdermatabries, L.P. We are continuing to
expand our intellectual property portfolio to prdeiadditional protection for our technologies andmroduct candidates. Throughout our
20 year history, we have continued our commitmembhovation with a focus for the past seven yearsuccessfully developing our own
product candidates in neurology and psychiatry.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to be a leading specialty pharmacelutimampany developing and commercializing new medisiin neurology and psychiatry. Key
elements of our strategy to achieve this goal@re t

. Build in-house sales and marketing capabilitiesued on specialty markets in the United Statgsrdmote Oxtellar XR and
Trokendi XRWe have built our sales and marketing capabilitighe United States to launch Oxtellar XR anduasag receipt
of final approval from the FDA, Trokendi XR. Additially, there are plans to further expand our safesmarketing capabilitie
later this year.

3 Biederman, JNew Insights Into the Comorbidity Between ADHD &fajor Depression in Adolescent and Young Adult Hema
published in April 2008 idournal of the American Academy of Child and Admes Psychiatrand Report of CME Institute of
Physicians Postgraduate Press, Inc., publishedigust 2008 idournal of Clinical Psychiatry

3
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Epilepsy

Overview

Continue to advance our product candidates in aychiatry portfolio, including SPN-810 and SPN-8¥% part of our longer
term strategy, we intend to further develop oudpiad candidates in our psychiatry portfolio to dedhrther diversification of
our pipeline and future growth. We completed a BhHstrial of SPN-810 for impulsive aggressiomABHD patients for which
we received positive topline results in Novembet20MNe are planning to meet with the FDA to disqusst steps in the
development program and the design and protocdttiase Il clinical trials.

Continue to develop differentiated products by giogl our technologies to known drug compounis.intend to continue our
development activities on known drug compoundsamdpounds with established mechanisms of actiarllyereducing the
risks, costs and time typically associated withrpfeceutical product development. We intend to lagerour proprietary and in-
licensed technologies, to expand our patent pdaotéold further develop and protect our diverse Ipipeof product candidates.

Establish strategic partnerships to accelerate amkimize the potential of our product candidatesldveide . We intend to
continue to seek strategic collaborations with pfifearmaceutical companies to commercialize oudyets outside the United
States. We believe that we are an attractive cofibr for pharmaceutical companies due to ourdpmatfolio of proprietary
technologies and our proven product developmeok tracord.

Leverage our management team's expertise to deaelbgommercialize our broad portfolio of produaehdidatesWe intend
to leverage the expertise of our executive manageteam in developing and commercializing innovativerapeutic products.
We plan to continue to evaluate and develop additi€NS product candidates that we believe hav@fgignt commercial
potential through our internal research and devekq efforts or, wherever appropriate, externdabarations.

Epilepsy is a complex neurological disorder chamazéd by spontaneous recurrence of unprovokedissizwhich are sudden surges of
electrical activity in the brain that impair a pans mental or physical abilities. Epilepsy, whislypically diagnosed by a neurologist, is
estimated to affect 50 million people worldwideéhd 2 million people in the United States.(5) Acliog to IMS Health, U.S. sales of AEDs
were approximately $4.0 billion in 2011. The anne@dt of epilepsy to the healthcare system is eséchto be $12.5 billion.(6)

4 Bialer, M.,Key factors in the discovery and development of ax@vepileptic drugs published January 2010 Mature.

(5) U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Preventimilepsy Self-Management To¢titing Dilorio, C., The Prevention Research Centers'
Managing Epilepsy Well Networkpublished September 2010&pilepsy & Behavioj.

(6) Epilepsy FoundatiorGost Study Shows Divide in Treatment Effeptsblished April 2000.
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Epileptic seizures can cause a person to expergaare muscle jerking, to lose consciousnessalhaf to suffer from distorted vision, all
potentially leading to physical injuries or hospi#ation. Until reliable seizure control has beehiaved, patients are forced to adjust their
lifestyles to avoid activities that a seizure camsicantly disrupt or render life threatening.bdeakthrough seizure is a sudden, unexpected
seizure experienced by a patient who previouslydwieved reliable seizure control. Even when ngsgial injury occurs, breakthrough
seizures often result in significant social, legatl developmental consequences for patients suossef driver's license, loss of employment
disruption of school attendance, academic undesaehient, and disruption of social networks. In &ddj a single breakthrough seizure can
lead to permanent loss or reduction in overalligeizontrol. Data suggest that a significant proporof patients who experience a
breakthrough seizure have a lower chance of aatgendliable seizure control.(7) In certain casesingle breakthrough seizure can develop
into status epilepticusa prolonged seizure or series of repeated saizanel eventually result in brain damage or ddadlta indicate that the
risk of sudden unexpected death in epilepsy wan@3 higher in patients who had at least one bihealigh seizure compared to patients whc
had achieved seizure control.(8)

Current Treatment Options

Once a patient is diagnosed with epilepsy, the gbtie neurologist is to find the particular dmigcombination of drugs, and appropriate
dosing, that will lead the patient to reliable se&zcontrol while minimizing side effects. There aurrently over 15 approved AEDs marketed
in the United States. Side effects play a majag nolaltering treatment in epilepsy as they caiit lile usefulness of AEDs. AEDs are gener
associated with the incidence of numerous sidegffinat can adversely impact the quality of Ide patients with epilepsy. Such side effects
may include dizziness, paresthesia, headachesitizegieficiencies such as memory loss and spaapediment, digestive problems,
somnolence, double vision, gingival enlargemeniisea, weight gain, and fatigue. To address thegee$fects and help patients better tolerat
their AEDs, neurologists typically initiate treatntevith a single AED as monotherapy at a low daosg&then increase the dose to a higher |
until the patient reaches the most efficacious datie an acceptable tolerance of side effects.

Many patients develop refractory epilepsy, whidergto inadequate control of seizures despitértrent, thereby requiring treatment with
multiple AEDs. Patients taking more than one AER &tne are susceptible to side effects associaiiddeach of the multiple drugs and with
drug interactions. Despite the introduction of n&EDs in the past few years, drug therapy remaiafféctive for seizure control in up to 30%
of patients with epilepsy.(9) Many patients failigritherapy either because the drugs do not catieal seizures or because they cannot tole
the side effects.

@) Citizen Petition of UCB, Inc. to U.S. Food and Dsgministration, submitted October 3, 2006 (citlghmidt, D. Uncontrolled
epilepsy following discontinuation of antiepileptinugs in seizure-free patients: a review of cutreimical experience published
December 2005 i&pilepsia).

(8) Citizen Petition of UCB, Inc. to U.S. Food and Dsgministration, submitted October 3, 2006 (citihgmson, T.Sudden unexpected
death in epilepsy: a review of incidence and radtdrs, published May 2005 iActa Neurologica Scandinav)a

(9)  World Health OrganizatiorEpilepsy: aetiogy, epidemiology and progngdiact Sheet No. 165, revised February 2001.
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Dynamics of the Epilepsy Marke

There are several important dynamics that play jamnale in the treatment of epilepsy and thatetintiate epilepsy from many other disea
. Compliance is Critical to the Reduction in Breakthgh Seizures

Compliance with drug treatment regimens is criticahportant to achieving effective therapy foripats with epilepsy where the
consequences of non-compliance can be life threteRatient non-compliance with AED therapy ia@us issue and remains one of the
most common causes of breakthrough seizures. Npiotaking all prescribed doses critical for epiic patients, but the timing of when
patients take their prescribed doses is also imptrTypically, non-compliance is caused by frequemmultiple dosing, serious side effects, ol
a lack of tolerability. A 2002 survey undertakenr®urologists in the United States found thateast once per month, 71% of patients with
epilepsy forgot to take their AED, and it was evitithat the chances of a patient missing a doseased with the number of tablets prescribe
(10) Of patients that missed a dose, 45% reporta@akthrough seizure. Patients taking a largerbmurof tablets/capsules further increased
their odds of having a breakthrough seizure by 43%r a missed dose. Other studies also have shenuted rates in breakthrough seizure

a result of improved compliance with AED treatmesgimens. In addition, a non-compliant patient cast the healthcare system
approximately an additional $16,300 per year whempared to a compliant patient.(11)

(10) Cramer, J.A.The relationship between poor medication compliaanue seizures published August 2002 iBpilepsy & Behavior

(11) Faught, R.E., Weiner, J.R., Guérin, A. et lmhpact of nonadherence to antiepileptic drugs oaltheare utilization and costs: Findings
from RANSOM studypublished March 2008pilepsia; 50:501-9.

6
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Immediate Release Products Have Serious Side &#adtLack of Tolerability

The FDA has recognized AEDs as being "critical dirsgys," or drugs in which a comparatively smafletence in dose or concentration may
lead to serious therapeutic failures and/or sersidis effects. Immediate release formulations oDABecessitate frequent administration to
maintain appropriate plasma concentrations. Howeakese immediate release formulations cause ideuftions of blood levels of the act
drug during the day, with peak concentrations wifkendrug is released and potentially sub-therapewgincentrations thereafter. At least one
study has shown that complaints of side effect&afly occur when blood levels exceed certain coiregions, particularly at high doses, and
the risk of breakthrough seizures can occur wheodlevels are below certain minimum effective lsyas indicated in the chart below.

Simulated Plasma Concentration-Time Curve at Steadtate of Immediate Release
Anti-Epileptic Drug Administered Over Two Days
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Source: Pellock, JM et al, Epilepsy & Behavior B@2), 302

Generic Substitution Can Cause an Increase in Bheakgh Seizures

Patients today are most typically switched fromrmidied drugs to generics, or from one generic druantdher, mainly to reduce cost. In most
states, unless a physician explicitly writes "disgeas written" or "no substitution," pharmacists switch a patient to a lower-cost generic
drug without the consent of either the patienther physician. Epilepsy patients are particularljngtable to changes in their drugs or
formulations because slight variations in the bloodcentrations of these drugs could lead to tlceroence of breakthrough seizures.
Accordingly, despite existing regulatory critertagnsure the bioequivalence of generic drugs, shvt¢h-back” rates of AEDs (that is, the
frequency of an individual being returned to hider previous branded product under a physiciantagce) is much higher than for many

other drug products. For example, the rates oéptiswitching back from generics to branded dhggsuse of adverse events were found to
be 20.8% to 44.1% for AEDs compared to 7.7% to 9%demon-AEDs.(12)

(12) J. LeLorier,Clinical consequences of generic substitution ofd&igine for patients with epilepsyublished October 2008 in
Neurology.
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A number of epilepsy advocacy groups such as tlilefsy Foundation of America, the American Acadeshileurology, the Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services and several regyl@gencies around the world, including the UK Nadl Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence, or NICE, Sweden's Medical Products Agear MPA, and other European agencies, haveckii@vledged that AED generic
substitutions for non-therapeutic reasons can bmafehand should either be limited or not permittadd have issued guidelines,
recommendations or taken affirmative steps to Isnith substitutions. Additionally, approximatel\@8®&f physicians indicate that they are
concerned with the increase in breakthrough sesziggulting from switching from branded drugs togyécs.(13) While we are not aware of
any well-controlled studies conducted to estahlisequivocal scientific evidence that generic stilnstins cause increased incidence of
breakthrough seizures, the FDA is currently considestricter standards of bioequivalence for gmseasind its Pharmaceutical Science and
Clinical Pharmacology Advisory Committee voted 1fkat the current bioequivalence standards ardfiomnt for critical dose drugs such as
AEDs.

. Physicians are Reluctant to Switch to New Chenticdities

In the epilepsy market, new chemical entities, @B, generally lack the same appeal that woulatéllyi be associated with a new drug for
other indications. Based on IMS Health prescriptiate from 1994 to 2005 for NCE launches for seiziisorders, such NCEs, on average,
experienced slow market penetration, charactetizeal 0.58% to 1.1% market share point gain on aarbasis. We believe this is because
physicians are often reluctant to change a stedtient’'s existing therapy and risk a breakthrowghuse in the patient. Despite the introduction
of several NCEs over the past decade, a significamtber of epileptic patients continue to lackalelié seizure control. Many NCEs continut
be associated with several side effects. Therefoagy older and existing drugs continue to be pitesd and their prescription levels have
either been maintained since their peak or dechreed slowly.

Benefits of Extended Release Products in the Epilsp Market
. Extended Release Products Improve Compliance adddeeBreakthrough Seizures

Achieving reliable seizure control for patients awbiding the serious health and life dangersdhatbe associated with breakthrough seizure
depends on patients being compliant and diligetdking their medications. Frequent and multiplsidg, side effects and lack of tolerability
of the immediate release products can significacdlytribute to patients forgetting doses or skigpglem. Even taking a second or third dose
later than the scheduled time may place a patteamt ancreased risk of a breakthrough seizure tsxcthe drug level in the patient's blood ct
drop below the minimum effective therapeutic lethelt prevents such seizures. We believe increaastiehp compliance can be achieved with
extended release products that offer once-dailindpseduced side effects and improved tolerabilite believe physicians understand that th
release profiles of extended release products atupe more consistent and steadier blood levatempared to immediate release products,
resulting in fewer side effects and better toldighihat further help patients to be compliantyédewer breakthrough seizures and,
correspondingly, enjoy a better quality of life.

. Extended Release Products Reduce Side Effectsrgrdve Tolerability

When extended release formulations are used apatelyr drug levels remain within the patient'srtpeutic zone, thereby reducing patient
exposure to fluctuating drug levels, which may exbate side effects or induce breakthrough seizB®esause extended release formulations
can reduce peak concentrations, it may also bealpjeds adjust doses upward to a more efficacieusllwithout exacerbating side effects
associated with peak concentrations. Extendedseltamulations can also

(13) Dalia Buffery, MA, ABD, Switching to Generics Antiepileptic Drugs: Growi@gncerns published September 2008American
Health & Drug Benefits.
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reduce the frequency and the extent of the troumhlswer concentrations of the drug in the blaiereby avoiding concentrations below the

minimum effective concentrations that can increhserisk of breakthrough seizures.

Simulated Plasma Concentration-Time Curve at Steadtate of Imnmediate Release and

Concentration

The enhanced safety profile of extended releasdugte as compared to similar imnmediate releaseugtedhas been supported by several
studies. For example, in a 2004 published triademted by physicians at Johns Hopkins, Carbatrogrdi-epileptic extended release
carbamazepine product that uses our Microtrol teldgy, and Tegretol XR, another extended releadeaoaazepine product, demonstrated
better tolerability and side effect profiles thammparable immediate release products. The triarted that 49% of patients had side effects
during treatment with immediate release carbamaeegiich as sedation, double-vision, confusionjatdizziness or poor coordination,

Extended Release Anti-Epileptic Drug Administered @er Two Days

Day 1 Day 2
Peak: Potentlal Side Effects

Therapeutic
Zone of
Seizure
Control

Trough: Potential Seizures
T T T T

T 1
4 8 12 16 20 24 28 32 36 40 44 48
Time {hrs)

Source: Pellock, JM et al, Epilepsy & Behavior B32), 302

whereas with extended release carbamazepine trestnomly 20% of patients reported these side tffec
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Reduction in CNS Side Effects Following Conversioto Carbamazepine Extended Release
from Immediate Release Preparation
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Carbamazepine
Source: Miller AD et al., Acta Neurol. Scand 20089: 374-377

Equally as important, the patients in the triabtated high doses of extended release carbamazggmficantly better than high doses of
immediate release carbamazepine. Specifically, 6Bpatients treated with 1200 mg or more per daynohediate release carbamazepine
developed side effects, yet only 12% of patienizeeienced side effects while taking similar dosesxbended release carbamazepine. The
investigators surmised that the improved tolergbdf extended release carbamazepine at high doaggrovide a treatment option for patie
previously discontinuing immediate release carbapie because of dose-limiting side effects.

Other products where reductions in side effecteweported by patients when switching from immetiatease to extended release
formulations include Depakote ER (divalproex sodiextended release) and Keppra XR (levetiracetaeneled release).

. Managed Care Does Not Limit Success of ExtendezhBeIProducts

Given the serious nature of epilepsy and the keyadhics in the epilepsy market, we believe manageel plans acknowledge the important
benefits of extended release AED products andetber, have not limited the success of such pradesmen when lower cost generic immec
release products are available. For example, atwptd industry data, the recent commercial lausaifeextended release products Keppra XF
and Lamictal XR have enjoyed acceptance rates Imaged care plans that are similar to those of déheesponding immediate release
products. Most managed care plans also acknowlédgeosition of several patient advocacy groupsthaddmerican Academy of Neurology
regarding the risks of generic substitution of AEDsluding potential for breakthrough seizuresgh&lgh switching to a low-cost generic
AED may initially offer some cost savings, we beéighey also recognize that the risk and cost eftmeakthrough seizure outweighs the
potential savings from generics. For example, #radthcare costs associated with the treatmentt@nia who experience breakthrough
seizures, which may run in excess of $26,000 pegemtzon an annual basis, is significantly gre#ttan any cost savings per patient that may &
achieved through switching to a low-cost generidABccording to a 2009 survey, the total health@agts for patients using branded
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topiramate products were approximately 20% lowantfor patients using multiple generic topiramatedpcts.(14)
. Extended Release Products Perform Well in the Marke

Extended release products have generally perfomedidn the epilepsy market, even in the face ofietliate release generic products.
Moreover, IMS Health prescription data for seizdigorder drugs from 1994 to 2005 shows that extémdkease products perform better than
NCEs during the first five years of their commelt¢dainch. Currently, there are five extended rede&EDs on the market (Tegretol X
Carbatrol, Depakote ER, Lamictal XR, Keppra XR)reftected in the chart below, with Depakote ERhgaj almost 40% of all divalproex
prescriptions, including immediate release versimfriBepakote and generic divalproex, in its fifésy after commercial launch. We believe
that the modest conversion of the correspondingoubé prescriptions of the recent commercial laesdf Keppra XR and Lamictal XR are
due to limited promotional support behind both prcid.

Comparison of Molecule Conversion of Extended Relasa Anti-Epilepsy Drugs
(measured as percentage of total prescriptions fagach individual molecule)

40%%
35% +
30% =
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20% 4
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I:' 0"‘. T T T T 1
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—— Depakote ER - Tegretol XR = Carbatrol == Keppra XR —= Lamictal XR
Source: IMS Health
Our Neurology Portfolio

We have developed a promising epilepsy producfgiartconsisting of Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR thatilize our proprietary technologies,
Solutrol and Microtrol, respectively, each of whiths been proven and validated through use in ptsdiat are currently on the market.
Among them is Carbatrol, an AED that has been showaduce side effects compared to immediate selearbamazepine products. We
believe that our 20 years of history and portfalidechnologies have enabled us to develop highstamized product candidates that
overcome challenges of the molecules' pharmacakipstfiles. Our differentiated approach to proddetelopment and the strength of our
technologies have allowed us to develop a once-é@mimulation of oxcarbazepine with Oxtellar XR

(14) Duh, M.S.,The risks and costs of multiple-generic substitutbtopiramate published June 2009 keurology.
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where others have failed, and to develop TrokerRlvdth what we believe to be a unique pharmacoldén@bfile.

Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR are novel extendedaséeformulations of two well known and approved AEbBxcarbazepine and topiramate,
respectively. Both formulations are designed tew#pilepsy patients effective therapy, reduced sitects and improved compliance with
once-per-day dosing. We believe that by delivermaye consistent and steady maintenance of bloa é®ncentrations of oxcarbazepine and
topiramate, respectively, Oxtellar XR and TrokeX& can potentially reduce adverse side effectsimupdove tolerability of the drugs, which
can improve compliance and enable patients to k@ better seizure control and fewer breaktigtoseizures as compared to similar
immediate release products. Given that Oxtellaraxig Trokendi XR are based on different drug comgswand different mechanisms of
action, they would target different market segmeamid patient populations within the epilepsy market

The FDA approved our NDA for Oxtellar XR on Octold&, 2012 as adjunctive therapy for partial seizimeadults and in children 6 years to
17 years of age and we launched the product orukgp#, 2013. The FDA granted tentative approvalrokendi XR on June 25, 2012, as
initial monotherapy in patients 10 years of age ald@r with partial onset or primary generalizediteclonic seizures, and as adjunctive
therapy in patients 6 years of age and older vithilar seizures or with seizures associated withriox-Gastaut syndrome. The final approval
for Trokendi XR may not be made effective until thepiration of the marketing exclusivity protectitvat Topamax has regarding safety
information of topiramate in a specific pediatrimpalation, which expires on June 22, 2013. We ateequired to complete any additional
clinical trials for Trokendi XR. In early Decemb@012, the Company submitted to the FDA a requedirial approval as an amendment tc
NDA including a safety data update, a new packagert and packaging configurations for Trokendi &#l was informed that should the F
approve such amendment, it will most likely betia form of a tentative approval because the reyieriod of such amendment would be
expected to conclude in the second quarter pritr¢qlune 22, 2013 expiration of the pediatric @sigity. The Company continues to expect
getting the final approval and commercially laumghirrokendi XR in the third quarter of 2013. If @wee successful in obtaining final FDA
approval, we believe that Trokendi XR will be tlirstfonce-daily topiramate product approved forri@otherapy and adjunct therapy of
epilepsy. We believe that Trokendi XR could, overet, capture a significant share of the topiranpagscriptions, consistent with the
performance of similar extended release produetisttave been introduced in the U.S. epilepsy matkehg the last 15 years.
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Oxtellar XR (extended release oxcarbazepine)

Oxtellar XR is a novel oral onagaily extended release formulation of oxcarbazepiriech we launched on February 4, 2013. The prodas
approved by the FDA on October 19, 2012 as adjuacltierapy of partial seizures in adults and itdebih 6 years to 17 years of age and will
have three years of marketing exclusivity. In addittwo U.S. patents have been issued coveringlfariXR. Oxtellar XR delivers
oxcarbazepine, another effective AED, which is reéeld by Novartis under the brand name Trileptaliaraailable in a generic form.
Trileptal was initially developed and approvedhe tUnited States in 2000. Trileptal is indicatedrfmnotherapy and adjunctive therapy of
epilepsy. It reached peak worldwide sales of $72tlomin 2006, before generic products enteredth®. market in October 2007.(15) With
approximately 3.4 million total oxcarbazepine prggons in 2011 and 3.5 million prescriptions 012, oxcarbazepine represents
approximately 2.8% of total AED prescriptions, acting to data from IMS Health. Oxcarbazepine isative voltage-dependent sodium
channel blocker that, despite its effectivenedsdating epilepsy, is associated with many sideotéfthat tend to limit its use. The side effects
associated with taking oxcarbazepine include, anwthgrs, dizziness, double vision, somnolence,emuatigue and vomiting. Oxtellar XR
has been designed to reduce side effects, resiitingproved patient compliance and tolerability.

With its novel pharmacokinetic profile that delisdower peak plasma concentrations, slower ratepit and smoother and more consistent
blood levels compared to immediate release produch as Trileptal, we believe Oxtellar XR hasgbgential of improving the tolerability of
oxcarbazepine by reducing the side effects expesigtiby patients. This could enable more patienesfaztively tolerate higher doses of
oxcarbazepine, which would permit them to benefitrf the resulting efficacy and greater seizure rmbtihat have been previously reported in
patients at higher doses. In addition, Oxtellar ofiRe-per-day dosing is designed to improve patenipliance compared to the current
immediate release products that are taken multiples per day.

Oxtellar XR Development Program

We submitted an NDA for Oxtellar XR that was aceelpfor filing by the FDA in February 2012 and apgd on October 19, 2012. The
various clinical trials conducted on Oxtellar XRdathat supported the NDA were designed to selecbdst extended release once-per-day
formulation that delivers equivalent levels of osazepine compared to immediate release twice-ggifdleptal, as well as to test the
robustness and consistency of our technology iivetithg the once-per-day formulation across arfatige of product strengths. We also have
scaled up our production of Oxtellar XR through oantract manufacturing organization, or CMO, sitcibmmercial manufacturing facility,
and will scale up commercial production of TrokeX& in preparation for final FDA approval, if reged.

In our pilot clinical trial in 32 healthy subjectshich took place in Canada, Oxtellar XR demonsettat superior adverse event profile when
compared to the immediate release oxcarbazepingahdrileptal. In this trial, a single center, oglabel, randomized, two-way crossover,
two-sequence trial, we compared multiple dose atnation of Oxtellar XR tablets and Trileptal tatd in 32 healthy adult volunteers under
fasting conditions. While the steady-state crossoceeparison trial was designed to evaluate thedststate bioavailability of the different
formulations of oral oxcarbazepine at 1200 mg daestrial also assessed the safety and tolemabilirepeat oral dosing of Oxtellar XR
tablets in healthy subjects at 1200 mg in compariedlrileptal.

(15) Based on sales data as reported in Novartis AG'mAlrReport on Form 20-F for the fiscal year enBedember 31, 2006 and in a
media release issued by Novartis International AGanuary 21, 2008.
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In this trial, the adverse events, or AEs, weresolasd in 30 healthy subjects using a total dailyedof 1200 mg of each of Trileptal and
Oxtellar XR. There were 190 total AEs reportedTadteptal, while Oxtellar XR generated a total aflyp 120 AEs, a reduction of 37%. Of
these, a total of 197 AEs were considered by threipal investigator to be possibly drug relate81 for Trileptal and 66 for Oxtellar XR.
More specifically, Trileptal demonstrated a 36.7&6urrence rate of dizziness as compared to OxtéRawhich demonstrated a 0.0%
occurrence rate in our trial. In other trials, QeieXR demonstrated higher occurrence rates dfidéss. The results from these trials and the
pilot clinical trial are preliminary and based anall populations.

In the pivotal Phase Il trial for Trileptal, refreory patients had increasing reductions in sezagedose levels increased, including 50%
median reduction in seizures at the highest do24@d mg. However, Trileptal is not without a hoBside effects at the highest doses, which
result in many subjects discontinuing treatmentprgimately 67% of subjects at the 2400 mg dosEritéptal and 36% of subjects at the
1200 mg dose discontinued their participation mfttiiel because of the adverse events associatadhe drug.

Epilepsy can be broadly characterized into pastia generalized seizures. Partial seizures ocauspecific location of the brain, affecting the
physical or mental activity controlled by that peutar area of the brain, whereas generalized seszoccur throughout both hemispheres of th
brain at once. Partial seizures may be further isidst into both simple and complex seizures. Tafsrs to the effect of such a seizure on
consciousness; simple seizures cause no interrufatioonsciousness (although they may cause sedstoytions or other sensations), whe|
complex seizures interrupt consciousness to vanyayggees.

The Phase lll trial of Oxtellar XR was a multi-centmultiple-dose, randomized (1:1:1 ratio), dodied, placebo-controlled, three-arm,
parallel group trial in male and female subjec& 165 years of age, inclusive) with refractorytigh epilepsy on at least one and up to three
concomitant AEDs. The trial was completed with paients comprising the intent-to-treat, or ITTpptation and 248 completing the study
across 8 different countries in North America anddpe. Patients were randomized to one of thregnvent groups, and took either Oxtellar
XR (1200 mg/day or 2400 mg/day) or placebo.

The primary objective of the trial was to evalutite efficacy of Oxtellar XR as an adjunctive thgrapthe treatment of seizures of partial
origin in adults with refractory epilepsy on atdeane and up to three other AEDs. The secondgeciies were to primarily assess the safety
and tolerability of adjunctive Oxtellar XR in theeatment of seizures of partial origin in subjeeith refractory epilepsy on at least one and up
to three other AEDs.

The primary endpoint was the median percentagegehfiom baseline in partial seizure frequency @ed&ys. Seizure frequency was assesse
at baseline over 4-8 weeks. Patients had to hgveriexced a minimum of 3 seizures in a 28-day peddoe included in the study. Drug
titration to 1200 mg or 2400 mg occurred over 4 kgagsing increments of 600 mg/week, and then wastaiaed between 12 and 13 weeks.

The median seizure reduction achieved in the sivaly43% for Oxtellar XR 2400 mg/day with a p-va{pgof 0.003 versus placebo (123
patients), 38% for Oxtellar XR 1200 mg/day with @878 versus placebo (122 patients), and 29% &arghlo (121 patients). In North Ameri
the median reduction was 53% (35 patients) for [tXR 2400 mg/day with p=0.006 versus placeb®380 patients) for Oxtellar XR 1200
mg/day with p=0.022 versus placebo, and 13% fargila (41 patients).
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Percent Median Seizure Reduction per 28 Days: All @Quntries
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Secondary endpoints included treatment resporesel{fow many responders ha&0% reduction in partial seizure frequency), and/ neany
patients were seizure-free. At 2400 mg/day, Oxte{RR provided significant treatment response (p£8)Gand seizure-free rates during
treatment (p=0.013) and maintenance (p=0.008) genersus placebo.
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Treatment Response and Seizure-Free Rates (ITT Poladion)

Oxtellar XR Oxtellar XR
1200 mg/day 2400 mg/day Placebo

(n=122) (n=123) (n=121)

Treatment response

n 10¢ 111 117

Responder, n (% 44 (36.) 50 (40.7) 34 (28.)

Non-responder, n (% 65 (53.)) 61 (49.() 83 (68.6)

Pvalueversus placeb 0.07¢ 0.01¢
Seizure-free rates (treatment phase

Subjects with valid diary enti 10¢ 111 117

Seizure free, n (% 6 (4.9 14 (11.9) 4 (3.9

Pvalueversus placeb 0.52¢ 0.01:
Seizure-free rates (maintenance phase

Subjects with valid diary enti 97 88 10¢

Seizure free, n (% 4 (3.9 17 (13.9 7 (5.9

Pvalueversus placeb 0.54¢ 0.00¢

Safety assessments were conducted throughoutuithe $tE rates were similar for patients receivitgcpbo and Oxtellar XR 1200 mg/day
(55.4% and 56.6%, respectively); AE rates werehdljghigher in patients receiving Oxtellar XR 240@/day (69.1%). The most frequently
reported AEs with Oxtellar XR were dizziness, sotanoe, headache, nausea, double vision, and vanitieatment-related AEs occurred in
58.5%, 43.4% and 38.8% of those on Oxtellar XR 2#@0day, Oxtellar XR 1200 mg/day, and placebo,eetpely. Severe AEs occurred in
7.3%, 9.0% and 8.3% of those on Oxtellar XR 240@dag 1200 mg/day, and placebo, respectively. Setveatment-related AEs occurred in
6.5%, 6.6% and 4.1% of those on Oxtellar XR 2400@dag Oxtellar XR 1200 mg/day, and placebo, respelgt Serious AEs occurred in
8.1%, 5.7%, and 5.8% of those on Oxtellar XR 24@@day, Oxtellar XR 1200 mg/day, and placebo, retpelyg. Treatment-related serious
AEs occurred in 4.9%, 0% and 2.5% of those on Gat&R 2400 mg/day, Oxtellar XR 1200 mg/day, anacpbo, respectively. One death
(resulting from ovarian cancer) occurred on placahd no deaths occurred on Oxtellar XR therapy. lkHgo study discontinuation in 12.4%
(n=15) of patients receiving placebo, 16.4% (n=@Q)atients receiving Oxtellar XR 1200 mg/day, &3d1% (n=37) of patients receiving
Oxtellar XR 2400 mg/day.

In summary, Oxtellar XR 2400 mg/day significantbduced partial seizure frequency from baselineunsgptacebo. Seizure frequency reduc
with Oxtellar XR 1200 mg/day was greater than bdtribt separate from placebo. This finding may x@ained by the high placebo response
rate noted in some of the sites outside the U.gisnstudy and is consistent with a general trefritigher placebo response rates observed in
pivotal studies of other new AEDs. Although the @20g/day dose did not reach statistical signifieawben compared to placebo,
concentration response analyses revealed thaRrhg/day dose is effective and, therefore, welsided in the Oxtellar XR approved label
by the FDA as a recommended daily dose. Both Gut&IR doses were generally well tolerated with pw safety signals observed. The
improved tolerability of Oxtellar XR, especially dbses up to 2400 mg/day, may translate to impraddrence and better patient outcomes.

Commercialization Strategy

Oxtellar XR is the only once-daily oxcarbazepinedurct indicated for the treatment of epilepsy i thS. as an adjunctive therapy and
competes against the existing immediate releasarbazepine products on the market. We believeQhgllar XR could, over time, capture a
significant share of the oxcarbazepine prescriptiamket, consistent with the performance of singletended release products that have beer
introduced in the U.S. epilepsy market over the p&s/ears. In early 2013, to
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support the commercial launch of Oxtellar XR, whiehs granted three years of market exclusivityngyRDA, we built a small specialty sales
force of approximately 75 representatives. ThelEsgapresentatives are primarily targeting newists to promote the use of Oxtellar XR as
adjunctive therapy of partial seizures in adultd anchildren 6 years to 17 years of age in thetdthStates. We expanded our agreement with
the CMO to provide for the production of commergjahntities of Oxtellar XR to fulfill expected denththrough the commercial launch of
product.

Trokendi XR (extended release topiramate)

Trokendi XR is a novel oral once-daily extende@ask topiramate product for the treatment of epylephe FDA issued a tentative approval
of Trokendi XR in June 2012, as initial monotherapyatients 10 years of age and older with padiedet or primary generalized tonic-clonic
seizures, and as adjunctive therapy in patientsaBsyof age and older with similar seizures or w@fzures associated with Lennox-Gastaut
syndrome. The final approval for Trokendi XR may he made effective until the period of marketinglesivity protection associated with
safety information regarding a specific pediatmpplation, which expires on June 22, 2013. We atgequired to complete any additional
clinical trials for Trokendi XR. In early Decemb@012, the Company submitted to the FDA a requediral approval as an amendment tc
NDA including a safety data update, a new packagert and packaging configurations for TrokendiafRl was informed that should the F
approve such amendment, it will most likely betia form of a tentative approval because the reyieriod of such amendment would be
expected to conclude in the second quarter pritdrédlune 22, 2013 expiration of the pediatric @siwity. The Company continues to expect
getting the final approval and commercially laumchirrokendi XR in the third quarter of 2013. Topiate is marketed by Johnson & Johnsor
under the brand name Topamax and is also availalBlgeneric form. Topiramate is currently avaiéabhly in immediate release form and is
indicated for monotherapy and adjunctive therapgpfepsy and for the treatment of migraine. Topaneached peak worldwide sales of
$2.7 billion in 2008, before generic products estiethe U.S. market in March 2009.(16) With appraagety 10 million total topiramate
prescriptions in the U.S. in 2011 and 10.6 millprescriptions in 2012, topiramate continues togsent a significant portion of prescriptions
with approximately 8.4% of total prescriptions, aating to data from IMS Health. Topiramate is betié to work in epilepsy through various
mechanisms. It enhances the inhibitory effect ef @ABA (gamma-aminobutyric acid) neurotransmittexttregulates neuronal excitability
throughout the nervous system, blocks the excigattfect of the glutamate neurotransmitter, blottiessodium channel and inhibits the
carbonic anhydrase enzyme. The side effects assdaiath taking topiramate, which have tendednditlits use, include, among others,
dizziness, fatigue, somnolence and slowing of @edagnitive functions. We believe that this creaa@ opportunity for us to offer patients
Trokendi XR as an alternative therapy to immediatease topiramate with an improved once-per-dafiler

Trokendi XR is designed to improve patient compt@and to have a better tolerability profile conaghto the current immediate release
products that are taken multiple times per dayk&nali XR's pharmacokinetic profile delivers loweag plasma concentrations and lower
input rate over an extended time period resultmgnmoother and more consistent blood levels ofaomate during the day compared to
immediate release Topamax. We believe such a enaiitigates blood level fluctuations that are taflicassociated with many of the side
effects or breakthrough seizures that patientssoffier when taking immediate release products. &lséde effects can lead patients to skipping
doses, and such non-compliance could place thémglaér risk for breakthrough seizures.

Trokendi XR was studied in a U.S. Phase I, multieg, open-label, sequentially-designed converslionical trial among patients between the
ages of 18 and 65 having partial-onset or primaryegalized seizures. Prior to enrolling in the gtyhtients were taking topiramate twice-a-
day immediate release

(16) Based on sales data as reported in Johnson & Joknsonual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal yeaded January 3, 2010.

17




Table of Contents

products with total daily regimen that ranged fr8@® mg-400 mg. Patients were first converted tavedent Topamax twice-a-day immediate
release doses for two weeks and then convertea ¢gj@ivalent once daily dose of Trokendi XR for tmore weeks. The study successfully
met its primary objective of showing that TrokeXdR is bioequivalent to Topamax immediate releasepitepsy patients. For example, the
ratio of dose-normalized (200 mg) geometric legstase means Trokendi XR versus Topamax and theif@¥als (Cls) were within the
bioequivalence criteria of 80-125% for Area under €urve (AUC) (101.69, 90% CI; 87.10, 118.72), mmam concentration ¢z, (97.30,

90% CI; 84.50, 112.04), and minimum concentratiqpinq100.59, 90% CI; 83.24, 121.56). Trokendi XR wasoalell tolerated and the

majority of the patients (85.5%) converted from &o@x immediate release to Trokendi XR with no treait related AEs. There were no
serious AEs or deaths and all reported AEs werd toilmoderate. There were no notable differencegizure frequency between the
treatments.

When asked two questions at the end of the studytaheir preference, the sixty-one (61) subjedis wompleted the study responded as
follows:

Which treatment do you prefer? The once-a-day treahent or twice-a-day treatment?
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Does the once-a-day treatment (Trokendi XR) help yoto be more compliant in taking your medication?
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Trokendi XR Development Program

The FDA issued tentative approval of Trokendi XRlime 2012. We pursued a Section 505(b)(2) regylateategy, which allowed us to rely
in our NDA filing on the FDA's findings of safetyid effectiveness of Topamax. The various clinigalg conducted on Trokendi XR were
designed to select the best extended release @madag formulation that delivers equivalent levaisopiramate compared to the immediate
release twice-per-day Topamax product, as welb asst the robustness and consistency of our téotppin delivering the once-per-day
formulation across a full range of product stresgilVe believe that the data generated by our stusdipport our Section 505(b)(2) regulatory
strategy of establishing Trokendi XR as bioequintte Topamax. We also have scaled up productidgheoproduct candidate at our
commercial contract manufacturing facility and haeeducted studies that confirm that the commesaale product is bio-equivalent to the
clinical product that was initially developed at sasearch laboratories.

Commercialization Strategy

If we are successful in obtaining final regulatapproval, we believe that Trokendi XR will be tlistf once-daily topiramate product approvec
in the U.S., as initial monotherapy in patientsyg@rs of age and older with partial onset or pringeneralized tonic-clonic seizures, and as
adjunctive therapy in patients 6 years of age dderavith partial onset or primary generalized tsoionic seizures or with seizures associatec
with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. We believe that Tnok&R could, over time, capture a significant €haf the topiramate prescriptions,
consistent with the performance of similar extendddase products that have been introduced it i8eepilepsy market over the past

15 years. As discussed above, we have built oes sald marketing capabilities in the United Stedeomplete the launch of Oxtellar XR.
Upon the commercial launch of Trokendi XR, assuntaagipt of final approval from the FDA, we exptaxfurther expand our sales and
marketing capabilities later this year. We expanol@dagreement with the CMO to provide for the prcitbn of commercial quantities of
Trokendi XR to prepare for the commercial launci adkendi XR assuming receipt of final approvaltbg FDA. In 2012, two U.S patents
were issued covering the product.

ADHD
Overview

ADHD is a common CNS disorder characterized by bgraentally inappropriate levels of inattentionpbyactivity, and impulsivity. ADHD
affects an estimated 6% to 9% of all school-agklotm and 3% to 5% of adults in the United Stal69.An estimated 50% of children with
ADHD continue to meet criteria for ADHD into adotemce.(18) In 2011, the U.S. market for ADHD priggimn drugs was more than

$4.4 billion, according to data from Datamonito®)(1

(17) Dopheide, J.A.Attention-Deficit-Hyperactivity Disorder: An Updatgublished June 2009 Pharmacotherapy
(18) Floet, A.M.W.Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorderpublished February 2010 Rediatrics in Review

(19) R & D TrendsAttention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorderpublished June 2011, at www.datamonitor.com.
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Diagnosis of ADHD requires a comprehensive clinmaluation based on identifying patients who eitlile core symptoms of inattention,
hyperactivity, and impulsivity. Generally, behavisrsufficiently severe and persistent to causetfanal impairment. Although many children
may be inattentive, hyperactive or impulsive, el of severity and degree of functional impairines well as considerations of what may
behind the underlying symptoms, determine whiclidcih meet the diagnosis and are treated for ADIHIB.estimated that the annual societal
cost of iliness for ADHD is more than $36 billio2Q)

Current Treatment Options

Since Ritalin was introduced, stimulant therapiagehgrown to become the most common form of treatrfee ADHD. Studies indicate that
approximately 80% of ADHD patients respond to stamts.(21) A key difference between older and newval stimulants is the duration of
action. Most of the older stimulants, representipgroximately 35% of total oral stimulant presddps based on IMS Health data, are
immediate release products that last approximdteily hours, requiring multiple administrations thghout the day. In contrast, most of the
recently launched products, representing approxin®5% of total oral stimulant prescriptions basedMS Health data, are extended releas
formulations that last up to twelve hours or more.

While stimulant treatments calm and improve thecemtration of ADHD patients, these drugs have tsmwn to have various side effects
including loss of appetite, insomnia and, to adeskegree, cardiovascular effects. Stimulant treatmare controlled substances and can be
associated with social stigma and the potentiahbrse. Approximately 30% of patients with ADHD aom-responsive to or non-tolerant of
treatment with stimulants.(22) Non-stimulants offysicians an alternative ADHD therapy, includfogpatients who have coexisting
conditions, such as conduct disorder, major depestsorder, or bipolar disorder, that are commiagdated for stimulant use based on the risk
for stimulant abuse.

(20) Pelham, W.E.The Economic Impact of Attention-Deficit/HyperaityiDisorder in Children and Adolescentpublished July 2007 in
Journal of Pediatric Psychology

(21) Swanson, J.MAttention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and hypiestic disorder, published February 1998 ithe Lancetind Budur,
K., Non-Stimulant Treatment for Attention Deficit Hypetivity Disorder, published July 2005 iRsychiatry.

(22) Wigal, S.B. Efficacy and Safety Limitations of Attention-Defldiperactivity Disorder Pharmacotherapy in Childrand Adults

published August 2009 iBNS Drugsand Budur, K.Non-Stimulant Treatment for Attention Deficit Hypetivity Disorder, published
July 2005 inPsychiatry.
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Coexisting Conditions

Studies show that as many as 67% of children wive BdDHD may have coexisting conditions such as sfjmmal defiant disorder, conduct
disorder, anxiety disorder and depression.(23)titeon, it has been estimated that approximat&it 2f children with ADHD also exhibit
persistent conduct problems, such as impulsiveesgipn.(24) Untreated, these serious conduct prabtan place patients at risk of persisten
aggressive and argicial behavior, such as knowingly destroying propehysically attacking people and bullying. Thgmtients also face
increased risk of suicidal behavior, and are ah higk of entering the juvenile justice system degteloping substance abuse problems later ir
adulthood.

Aggression is usually divided into two subtypesdatory (i.e., "cold") aggression, which can becdbsd as goal-oriented, controlled and/or
planned, and impulsive or affective (i.e., "hotjgeession, which can be described as reactiveannptl and/or uncontrolled. Patients with
ADHD who exhibit aggression commonly demonstrate"tiot," or impulsive, type of aggression. For thpatients, this "hot" aggression is
generally recurrent, occurs outside of a justifiadibcial context, has intensity, frequency, duratipseverity that is disproportionate to its
triggers and causes distress and impairment tpdtient. Impulsive aggression represents a brogdjosy of maladaptive, aggressive
behaviors that can complicate the management of BDdditism, bipolar disorder, posgumatic stress disorder and other psychiatriordess

Current Treatments for Impulsive Aggression in Patits with ADHD

Currently, there are no approved medications feating impulsive aggression in patients with ADHIDe current treatment options for
impulsive aggression in patients with ADHD inclysgychosocial interventions, such as school- orlfatrased behavioral therapies, which
usually not wholly effective. In the large, multsiMultimodal Treatment Study of Children with ADHR5) a seminal clinical trial designed
by experts from key stakeholder communities sudh@®ational Institute of Mental Health, researshebserved that after 14 months of ei
ADHD medication-only or a regimen that combined ADIhedication with behavioral interventions, 44%fudse children with ADHD (or
26% of the total sample size in the trial) who &itieid initial aggression still had what can be dibgd as impulsive aggression at the end o
trial, demonstrating that psychosocial intervergiamy not work for a large percentage of childréth wWDHD who exhibit aggressive
behaviors.

In response, doctors have also tried to addresgthiup with off-label use of prescription medignsuch as mood stabilizers, stimulants and
anti-psychotic drugs. Results have varied, butpsyichotic drugs appear to have the best therappaténtial. Unfortunately, many of these
agents are associated with adverse effects indumtiesity, lipid abnormalities, and diabetes, whgcbf particular concern when treating
pediatric populations.

(23) Floet, A.M.W.,Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorderpublished February 2010 Rediatrics in Review

(24) Jensen, P.SConsensus Report on Impulsive Aggression as a Sgmitross Diagnostic Categories in Child Psychialmyplications
for Medication Studiespublished March 2007 idournal of the American Academy of Child and Adtdes Psychiatry

(25) The MTA Cooperative Groug@ 14-month randomized clinical trial of treatmetragegies for attention-deficit/hyperactivity distar,
published December 1999 Archives of General Psychiatry
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Our Psychiatry Portfolio

Our psychiatry portfolio includes three productdigiates for the treatment of impulsive aggressiopatients with ADHD, ADHD or its
coexisting conditions and one product candidatelépression, each of which is designed to bringoimgmt advancements in therapy.

SPN-810 (molindone hydrochloride)

We are developing SPN-810 (molindone hydrochloexieended release formulation) as a novel treatfioeminpulsive aggression in patients
with ADHD. We initiated a Phase Ilb trial of SP84-0 in the United States in June 2011, for whichreeeived preliminary results in Noveml|
2012. The trial's primary objective was to studgethdifferent doses of SPN-810 ranging from 12 migday to 54 mg per day depending on
patients' weight. The study accomplished its objestof establishing a dose range at which the greffective and confirmed the efficacy of
SPN-810 in the treatment of impulsive aggressioAliiD patients weighing 30 kg or more. Based ondffeacy demonstrated by the low
and medium doses in this study across several mesaguthese patients, we have decided to advéegerogram into later stage development
We are continuing to analyze the full dataset iptdend plan to subsequently meet with the FDAisouss next steps in the development
program and the design and protocol for Phasditilical trials of SPN-810. If approved by the FD&PN-810 could be the first product
available to address this serious, unmet medicad.n@&/e submitted INDs for SPN-810 in 2008 and 2009.

We are studying SPN-810, which contains molindoy@rdchloride, as a treatment of impulsive aggressigatients with ADHD. Molindone
hydrochloride was previously marketed in the Uni&dtes as an anti-psychotic to treat schizophnamir the trade name Moban. Molindone
hydrochloride is unusual among anti-psychoticsat tt is less likely to be associated with weigain. In addition, we believe the lower doses
tested for the proposed indication of impulsiveraggion should be more easily tolerated than thleenidoses approved to treat schizophrenie
SPN-810's low potential to cause weight gain lasd® believe that SPN-810 could be an attractareitlate among the anti-psychotic drugs
for the effective treatment of impulsive aggressiopatients with ADHD. Although initially we aresdeloping SPN-810 as a treatment of
impulsive aggression, if we are successful in destrating the effectiveness of SPN-810 for the meatt of impulsive aggression in patients
with ADHD, we may then look to develop the prodaahdidate for the treatment of other patient papma that have impulsive aggression,
such as autism and bipolar disorder.

SPN-810 Development Program

We have completed five clinical trials for SPN-8it;luding a Phase lla U.S. trial in which we telstiee safety and tolerability of SPN-810,
immediate release molindone hydrochloride, in pasisvith ADHD who suffer from serious persistenhdact problems. This open-label, dose
ranging trial randomized 78 children, 6 to 12 yegfrage, into one of four treatment groups, whigrewiven four different doses of immedi
release molindone hydrochloride, between 10 mgdénahg per day, depending on weight, three timesyaoder a six-week treatment period,
after 2-5 weeks of titration. SPN-810 was well tated in the trial, with no clinically meaningfuh@nges in standard hematology, clinical
chemistry values, vital signs or electrocardiograntzCG, results. Besides safety and tolerabikigeasments, the primary outcome measure
was the change in the Nisonger Child Behavior Ratiarm-Typical Intelligence Quotient, or NCBRF-TI€gnduct problem subscale scores
from baseline to endpoint in the ITT population. BRF-TIQ is a well established instrument that hesrbused for assessing child and
adolescent behavior. Scores improved after basiliat treatment groups. By visit 12, after 6 week treatment, the mean reduction from
baseline values for each treatment group was 77088 and 14.3, in groups 1, 2, 3 and 4, respalgtirepresenting decreases of 34%, 34%,
32% and 55%, respectively. In addition, the diffee between group 1 and group 4 was statisticajhjficant (p< 0.041) at all time points
except visit 2 and the greatest improvement inescor
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on the NCBRF-TIQ conduct problem subscale was segroup 4, which was the highest-dose group (b#e@n reduction). The below chart
summarizes the mean change in NCBRF-TIQ condudti@mo subscale observed in our Phase lla trial.

NCBRF-TIQ Conduct Problem Subscale:
Mean Change From Baseline (ITT Population)

0

4 4

5 == Treatment 1

_3 == Treatment 2
== Treatment 3

== Treatment 4

IMPROVEMENT
Mean Change From Baseline
&

Baseline o 3 4 5 6 7 8 g 10 11 12
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NCBRF-TIQ Conduct Problem Subscale:
Mean Change from Baseline in ITT Population

Secondary outcomes included changes in other ADiDcanduct problem scales, as described in the tadbw. SPN-810 demonstrated
improved scores over time in all treatment grouwp#) more marked improvements in higher-dose grahpa in lower-dose groups as set out
in greater detail in the table below.

% Improvement from Baseline to Last Visit,
Secondary Outcome Measures (ITT Population)

Treatment Groups
Group 1 Group 2 Group 3 Group 4
Outcome Measure n=20 n=19 n=19 n=20

CGI-S

% Improvemen 23% 21% 27% 36%
SNAP-IV Subscales

ADHD Inattention

% Improvemen 24% 31% 34% 3%
ADHD Hyperactivity/Impulsivity

% Improvemen 28% 27% 28% 41%
ADHD-Combined

% Improvemen 26% 2% 31% 40%
ODD

% Improvemen 34% 33% 28% 51%

CGI-S=Clinical Global ImpressioBeverity Scale, an assessment tool to rate theigestthe condition; ODD=0ppositional Defiant Digler,
a coexisting condition of ADHD; SNAP-IV=Swanson, I8lo and Pelham Questionnaire, a commonly used szaheasure ADHD.

In June 2011, we initiated a Phase IIb multicemerdomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled timathe United States in pediatric subjects 6
to 12 years of age diagnosed with ADHD and impelsiggression that is not controlled by optimal stamt and behavioral therapy. The
primary objective of the study was to assess tfezéfeness of SPN-810, extended release, at tiffeeent doses in reducing impulsive
aggression after at least three weeks of treatriiéetprimary endpoints were the effect in reduémpulsive aggression as measured by
change in the score of the Retrospective—Modifi@ér©Aggression Scale, or R-MOAS, and the ratesofission. Secondary endpoints
include measurement of the effectiveness of SPNeBilGlinical Global Impression and ADHD scales &l &s evaluation of the safety and
tolerability of the drug. In addition, we are exypihg the potential added advantages of an exteneledse formulation, such as greater
compliance and, therefore, effectiveness in schgelchildren and lower unwanted side effects erpatient variability. Patients who
completed the study were offered the opportunityaiotinue into an opelabel phase of six months duration. We receivedrpirary results it
November 2012

For all patients, low and medium doses of SPN-810 met the effi@ampoint of rate of remission of aggression andvelostatistical
significance versus placebo with p-values of 0.808 0.043 and percent of patients wittVI®AS remission of 51.9% and 40.0%, respecti
The low and medium doses showed a reduction iredoorthe R-MOAS of 62.6% and 57.9%, respectiveligh p-values of 0.071 and 0.115.
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For patients of 30 kg or more in weig, the low and medium doses of SPN-810 showed stafisignificance versus placebo on the change i
R-MOAS primary endpoint with p-values of 0.024 &n@49, and high percent reduction in the R-MOASesof 80.9% and 75.2%,
respectively. In addition, both doses resulteceimission of aggression with statistical significawersus placebo with p-values of 0.004 and
0.021 with percent of patients with R-MOAS remissaf 66.7% and 53.3%, respectively. The low dose alet the secondary endpoints of
Clinical Global Impression, or CGl, for Severitydaimprovement, and of the Swanson, Nolan and PeRatimg Scale, or SNAPY, rating for
Oppositional Defiant Disorder with statistical sifigance versus placebo with p-values of 0.00719@.8nd 0.039, respectively, and
improvements of 41.3%, 34.5% and 49.3%. The higdedbd not show statistically significant efficaagross any of these measures.

For patients under 30 kg in weig, while the low and medium doses showed improvesewntr placebo in the primary endpoints and the
SNAP-IV rating for Oppositional Defiant Disordehgt studied doses did not show statistical sigmfieaversus placebo on efficacy measures.
Coupled with the fact that the high dose did navslefficacy with statistical significance, this wpected result leads us to believe that the
most effective doses are those that achieve cqtagma concentrations (related to body weight) dioanot exceed a level beyond which some
sort of saturation threshold is reached.

Efficacy in Patients2 30 kg on Low to Medium Doses

Primary Efficacy Endpoints

(Treatment vs. placebo in ITT population) Placebo Low Dose Medium Dose High Dose

R-MOAS Change Overall (% improveme! (38.5) (62.€) (57.9 (39.9)
Patients (<30kg (35.9) (42.9) (44.2) (33.79)
Patients = 30kg) (41.5) (80.9) (75.2) (44.4)

R-MOAS Remission Overall (% of patient (20.0 (51.9 (40.0 (32.9)
Patients (<30kg (25.0 (33.9 (26.7) (21.9)
Patients & 30kg) (16.7) (66.7) (53.9) (41.2)

R-MOAS=Retrospective-Modified Overt Aggression ¢&-MOAS Change=from Baseline (Visit 5) to EndpdMisit 10); R-MOAS
Remission=Score af 10 (LOCF=Last Observation Carried Forward) at Erialp@/isit 10)

Efficacy in Patients= 30 kg on Low to Medium Doses

Primary Efficacy Endpoints

(Treatment vs. placebo in ITT population) Placebo Low Dose Medium Dose High Dose

R-MOAS Change Overall (% improveme! (38.5) (62.€) (57.9 (39.7)
Patients (<30kg (35.9) (42.9) (44.2) (33.79)
Patients = 30kg) (41.5) (80.9) (75.2) (44.2)

R-MOAS Remission Overall (% of patient (20.0 (51.9 (40.0 (32.9)
Patients (<30kg (25.0 (33.9) (26.7) (21.9)
Patients = 30kg) (16.7) (66.7) (53.9) (41.2)

R-MOAS=Retrospective-Modified Overt Aggression ¢&-MOAS Change=from Baseline (Visit 5) to EndpdMisit 10); R-MOAS
Remission=Score af 10 (LOCF=Last Observation Carried Forward) at Ernalp@/isit 10)
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Statistical Significance in Patients 30 kg on Low Dose

Secondary Efficacy Endpoints Low Dose Medium Dose High Dose
(Treatment vs. placebo in ITT population) P-value P-value P-value
CGI-Severity Overal 0.13: 0.30¢ 0.24¢
Patients (<30kg 0.4z 0.83¢ 0.94¢
Patients = 30kg) 0.00: 0.11% 0.12¢
CGl-Improvement Overa 0.17¢ 0.061 0.88¢
Patients (<30kg 0.49¢ 0.66¢ 0.75¢
Patients = 30kg) 0.017 0.02¢ 0.65¢
SNAF-IV—ODD Subscale Overa 0.061 0.12: 0.661
Patients (<30kg 0.63¢ 0.17¢ 0.607
Patients = 30kg) 0.03¢ 0.17¢ 0.861

CGI=Clinical Global Impression; SNAP-IV=Swanson,|&lvand Pelham, ADHD Rating Scale; ODD=0Oppositiddafiant Disorder

Efficacy in Patients= 30 kg on Low Doses

Secondary Efficacy Endpoints

(Treatment vs. placebo in ITT population) Placebo Low Dose Medium Dose High Dose
CGlI-Severity Overall (% improvemer 19.€ 28.2 25.F 26.7
Patients (<30kg 22.¢ 17.C 22.4 23.¢
Patients = 30kg) 15.¢€ 41.: 31.1 29.t
CGl-Improvement Overall (% improvemer 15.1 20.C 28.1 18.2
Patients (<30kg 15.1 6.2 23.t 12.t
Patients = 30kg) 15.1 34.5 35.t 21.2
SNAP-IV—ODD Subscale Overall (%
improvement 18.C 34.4 30.: 21.4
Patients (<30kg 12.¢ 17.4 23.2 17.¢
Patients & 30kg) 21.t 49.2 39.5 24.2

CGI=Clinical Global Impression; SNAP-IV=Swanson,|alvand Pelham, ADHD Rating Scale; ODD=0Oppositiddafiant Disorder

We will be conducting further analyses of the fidkaset including analyzing the pharmacokinetic @marmacodynamic relationship from the
pharmacokinetic data generated from the studyr@wsdoses for patients in different weight graups

SPN-810 was well tolerated throughout the studgsall doses. The two serious AEs that occurred wet drug related. One patient in the
low dose arm and two patients in the medium dosehad severe AEs that were considered either ggssildlefinitely related to the drug. Six
patients in total discontinued the study becauskksf in the active treatment arms: one in low dbse;in medium dose; and three in high
dose. Analysis of all safety and clinical lab daés not yet been completed, though SPN-810 seatel/e a good safety and tolerability
profile.
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Safe and Well Tolerated

Number (%) of Patients with: Placebo Low Dose Medium Dose High Dose
Any adverse event (AE 18 (58.) 11 (37.9 18 (60.) 21 (67.)
Adverse reactiol 7 (22.¢ 6 (20.%) 11(36.) 13 (419
Severe AE! 0 (0.0 1(3.9 4 (13.9) 1(3.2
Severe Adverse Reacti 0 (0.0 1(3.9 2 (6.7) 0 (0.0
Any serious AE (SAE 0 (0.0 0 (0.0 0 (0.0 1(3.9)
Serious Adverse Reacti 0 (0.0 0 (0.0 0 (0.0 0 (0.0
AEs leading to
discontinuatior 1(3.9 1(3.9 2 (6.7) 3(9.9)

Adverse Reaction=those AEs considered possiblefinitely study drug related, according to inveatay

Safe and Well Tolerated

Adverse Reaction (%) of Patients Placebo Low Medium High

Decreased appeti 0 0 3.3 =
Increased appetit 3.2 6.C 6.7 6.5
Sedatior 6.5 6.¢ 6.7 6.5
Somnolence 3.2 0 0 6.t
Fatigue 0 0 0 9.7
Dystonia 0 0 6.7 0

Adverse Reactions in 5% of patients across Titration & Maintenance Risio

SPN-812

We are developing SPN-812, which is currently im$thll development, as a novel non-stimulant treatrfor ADHD. SPN-812 is a selective
norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor that we beliegald be more effective and have a better side effiexfile than other non-stimulant
treatments for ADHD. The active ingredient in SPN2&as an extensive safety record in Europe, wiharas previously marketed for many
years as an ardepressant. SPN-812 has not been developed akeéterhin the United States and, therefore, it wanéldtonsidered and
reviewed by the FDA as an NCE. We submitted one fdiC5PN-812 in 2010.

SPN-812 would provide an additional option to tee fion-stimulant therapies currently available. hgbeve that SPN-812 could be more
effective than other non-stimulant therapies duigstdifferent pharmacological profile. Due to ddsmonstrated efficacy as an anti-depressant,
SPN-812, if studied in that specific patient popiolaand shown to be effective, may exhibit incezhbenefit in up to an estimated 40% of
ADHD patients who also suffer from major depres<g@®) We are developing an intellectual propertgipon around the novel synthesis
process for this product candidate, its novel ns®#DHD and its novel delivery with extended release

(26) Biederman, JNew Insights Into the Comorbidity Between ADHD Mtajor Depression in Adolescent and Young Adult Hema
published in April 2008 idournal of the American Academy of Child and Adm#es Psychiatrand Report of CME Institute of
Physicians Postgraduate Press, Inc., publishedigust 2008 idournal of Clinical Psychiatry
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SPN-812 Development Program

We completed a proof-of-concept Phase Ila U.Siadirtrial of SPN-812 in adults for the treatmeh®&®HD in 2011, in which SPN-812 was
well tolerated and demonstrated a statisticallpificant improvement over placebo as a treatmen&f@dHD. The trial met the primary
endpoints of safety and tolerability, and showedistically significant median reduction versusgelao in both investigator-rated and patient-
rated ADHD symptom scores. The trial was a randedhizlouble-blind, placebo-controlled trial in 5218l with a current diagnosis of ADHD
(26 subjects per treatment group).

Patients in the active arm were administered SPN&8h single dose level three times a day overvigeks, after a one-week titration phase.
The primary endpoint was safety, and SPN-812 waw/stio be safe and well tolerated by patients. S¢wndary endpoints included: the
efficacy of SPN-812 as measured by Total ADHD SympScore on the Conners' Adult ADHD Rating Scat€;AARS, a commonly-used
measurement for ADHD in adults, as rated by eadhefnvestigators and the patients, and the éffaatss of SPN-812 when compared to
placebo as determined by changes in the CGI—Impnew, or CGI-I, score. Patients in the active gracpieved overall significant median
reductions from baseline in investigator-rated C/AARtal ADHD symptom scores by study end, of 1fs versus 6.0 points for placebo
(p=0.0414) and in self-rated CAARS total symptorores by study end, of 10.5 points versus 1.0 facgtho (p=0.0349). With respect to the
other secondary endpoint of CGI-I scores, patiersbited a trend, although not statistically sfgpaint, toward larger median reductions in
scores from baseline versus placebo.

Given the positive results of this Phase lla triad, are focused on developing an extended releaswmifation that will be the subject of a futt
Phase llb trial.

SPN-809

We are developing SPN-809 as a novel once-dailgiymocandidate for the treatment of depression.-88Nis based on the same active
ingredient as SPN-812. We currently have an opéhfid SPN-809 as a treatment of depression, thieatidn for which the active ingredient
in SPN-809 was approved and marketed in Europmémy years. Depression is a serious and commoasdis&fecting approximately

121 million people worldwide.(27) Based on IMS Hkalata, the worldwide market for anti-depressan&pproximately $12 billion.

SPN-809 is a norepinepherine reuptake inhibitor jaresents an opportunity to offer a differewmiibtreatment option for patients suffering
from depression in the United States. Initial marksearch suggests that psychiatrists would 6Keatve such a once-daily option at their
disposal to treat various patients. Because SPNz80&ins the same active ingredient as 8RR-we expect that many of our activities rel
to the development of SPN-812 will also benefitdegelopment of SPN-809.

Other Product Candidates
We have additional product candidates in varioagest of early development that cover a range of @isk&ders.
Our Proprietary Technology Platforms

We have a successful track record of developinghproducts by applying proprietary technologiekrnown drugs to improve existing
therapies and enable the treatment of new indicgtiOur key proprietary technology platforms inéuicrotrol, Solutrol and EnSoTrol.
These technologies create novel customized prquofites designed to meet efficacy needs, more eoi@nt and less frequent

(27) World Health Organizatiorgpilepsy: aetiogy, epidemiology and progngdismct Sheet No. 165, revised February 2001.
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dosing, enhanced patient compliance, and improsledability in certain specific applications. Ouohkd portfolio of technologies and
extensive expertise in this area, built over the&t g8 years, enable us to develop products thatahamically difficult to formulate and by
design are harder for others to copy. We have eyedlour technologies in the development of ourdggaoducts, as well as in our current
product portfolio.

Microtrol (multiparticulate delivery platform)

Microtrol is based on the use of coated and undoauati-particulates that can be filled into capsules, aistered as a sprinkle, or compres
into tablets as varying ratios to achieve novetamized release profiles. The following approved ararketed products incorporate our
Microtrol technology:

. Sanctura XR (trospium chloride), a treatment foeractive bladder;

. Oracea (doxycycline), a treatment for inflammatesions of rosacea,;
. Carbatrol (carbamazepine), an anti-epilepsy treatme

. Equetro (carbamazepine), a treatment for bipokswrdier; and

. Adderall XR (mixed amphetamine salts), a stimulabHD treatment.

We do not expect the above products to contritutaut future financial position. Carbatrol, Equedired Adderall XR are legacy products that
were developed by us when we were formerly Shitgokatories. In addition, in April 2008, we monetizbe revenues underlying the future
royalty streams relating to Sanctura XR and Ordgemansferring certain of our royalty payment tgyand other license rights for such
products to TCD Royalty Sub LLC, or Royalty Subekthange for $63 million. We primarily reinvestbeé proceeds from this transaction i
our research and development activities. In Decer2®#1, we sold 100% of our equity ownership intesén Royalty Sub. See "Manageme
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &websults of Operations—History of our Company" aradeNLO of the audited financial
statements for additional details regarding the shRoyalty Sub.

Solutrol (matrix delivery platform’

Solutrol is a matrix delivery system that can delipoorly soluble, highly soluble, and pH dependsmhpounds in a reproducible and comy.
manner. Solutrol has been incorporated into Intgguanfacine), a nonstimulant ADHD treatment, whichurrently licensed to and marketed
by Shire plc. In April 2009, this license becambyfpaid up when we sold to Shire the right to igegoyalties and milestone payments owed
to us for $36.9 million, which we primarily reinves into our research and development activities.

EnSoTrol (osmotic delivery syster

EnSoTrol is comprised of a solubility enabled canel other agents surrounded by a semi-permeabléoraamwith a laser-drilled hole. When
EnSoTrol is introduced to the contents of the gastestinal tract, it will induce solubilization ttie core contents via fluid intake across the
membrane coating. The solubilized core contentsheme released through the laser-drilled hole atbegosmotic gradient, thus yielding a
surface-area controlled constant release profil&drol has been tested in several clinical trialduding Phase Il trials conducted by United
Therapeutics for an oral formulation of treprogtiiethanolamine, or treprostinil that is the suabjef an NDA.

In June 2006, we entered into a license agreemiémUmited Therapeutics Corporation, or United HEpeutics, for the worldwide
development and commercialization of an oral foatiah of treprostinil, which utilizes EnSoTrol ftre treatment of pulmonary arterial
hypertension, or PAH, as well as for other indimasi. Under the terms of the license agreement,ave heceived
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pre-commercial milestone payments of $1.5 milli@emaining milestone payments to us could totabugpproximately $6.0 million, which
includes milestone payments that could total $2i0om based on the satisfaction of developmenestibnes of oral treprostinil in PAH and up
to approximately $4.0 million for the developmehtdditional treprostinil products for a secondi@adion. If United Therapeutics receives
approval to market and sell an oral formulatiortreprostinil, we will be entitled to receive royiek in the single digits based on net sales
worldwide. On October 23, 2012, the FDA issued mpiete response letter declining approval of tteepct. We do not expect to receive any
royalties for this oral formulation unless and Ufitial marketing approval from the FDA is receivadd United Therapeutics launches this
product. Our license agreement with United Theripswill expire, on a country-by-country and pratibyproduct basis, 12.5 years from-
first commercial sale of each product in such couriinited Therapeutics may terminate, at its aptibhe agreement for a technical, strategic
or marketrelated cause after giving us a reasonable opportincure. We may terminate the agreement igrdfaving launched a product i
country, United Therapeutics or its sublicenseedtitinues the sale of such product for a prolomugribd of time for reasons unrelated to fc
majeure, regulatory or safety issues. In additgiter party may terminate the agreement for theerizd, uncured breach by the other party

in certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency & tther party.

Other Technologies

We also have proprietary techniques for identifylie@d molecules and optimizing their oral deliveonsisting of ProScreen, ProPhile and
OptiScreen technologies. ProScreen is a predistiveen for lead candidates that warrant oral dsliveroPhile is a suite of in silico modeling
tools that enables multivariate analysis and phaakiaetic prediction. OptiScreen is a technologyftomulation optimization including
solubility or permeability enhancement leading tal ®ioavailability improvement. We believe thaistluite of technologies enables us to
optimize the delivery and the development of emgstthemical entities and marketed products.

Sales and Marketing

We have built our sales and marketing capabilitidbe United States to launch Oxtellar XR anduasag receipt of final approval from the
FDA, Trokendi XR. Additionally, there are plansftather expand our sales and marketing capabiliéitss this year. Having two epilepsy
products that can be promoted to the same physatidience would allow us to leverage our commeiofahstructure with these prescribers.
Once we have obtained approval for any of our ptbdandidates in our psychiatry portfolio, we aiptite adding additional sales force
members who will be dedicated to marketing our ptcy products.

Manufacturing

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilitiesthe production of any of our product candidditegond Phase Il clinical trials, nor do we
have plans to develop our own manufacturing opamatfor Phase Il clinical materials or commergedducts in the foreseeable future. We
currently depend on thirdarty CMOs for all of our required raw materialslairug substance for our preclinical research &inétal trials. We
do not have contractual relationships for the conctabmanufacture of all our product candidates. Fokendi XR, Oxtellar XR and our
product candidates, we currently rely on singledtpiarty suppliers for raw materials including dsugpstance and single manufacturers for the
final commercial products. We currently employ e resources and as needed third-party conssitamhanage our manufacturing
contractors.

For both Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR, we have eatkeinto agreements with leading CMOs headquartierdibrth America for the
manufacture of the final commercial products. Th#fgr a comprehensive range of contract manufamjuaind packaging services and have
successfully handled
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the scale up of Oxtellar XR to a commercial prodhrcscale and will scale up commercial productibimkendi XR in preparation for
commercialization of this product, assuming finBlAapproval.

Competition

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industrieaykly competitive. A number of multinational ph@aceutical companies as well as large
biotechnology companies are pursuing the developofesr are currently marketing pharmaceutical pictd in the anti-epilepsy and ADHD
markets on which we are focusing.

Epilepsy

There are currently over 15 branded products, disaw¢heir generic counterparts, on the U.S. ntaridicated to treat some form of epilepsy.
Several NCEs have entered the epilepsy marketdimgjuPotiga, Vimpat and Banzel. Another NCE, Stadesuld be approved later in 2013
and enter the market thereafter. Based on IMS Rgaéiscription data from 1994 to 2005 for NCE lghasfor seizure disorders, such NCEs,
on average, experienced slow market penetratioracteaized by a 0.58% to 1.1% market share poimt ga an annual basis. We believe this
is because physicians are often reluctant to charsable patient's existing therapy and risk akiteough seizure in their patients.

Oxtellar XR competes with all immediate releaseaskazepine products including Trileptal and relagederic products. We are not aware of
any other company that is currently developingx@erded release oxcarbazepine anti-epileptic pradutbe United States. In addition, we
believe that Oxtellar XR's once-daily formulatiaries a drug delivery challenge specific to oxcadpine that must be overcome by all
potential competitors. We are aware of companies kndve modified-release oxcarbazepine productstieatnarketed outside of the United
States but, to our knowledge, such products arbéeiog pursued for the U.S. market. These modifedelase oxcarbazepine products include
Apydan, which is developed by Desitin Arzneimi@ahbH, and requires twice-daily administration.

If final approval is received, Trokendi XR will cqrate with all immediate release topiramate produnctisiding Topamax and related generic
products. We are aware that Upsher-Smith Laboegphnc., or Upsher-Smith, conducted a Phaseiilicell trial for an extended release
topiramate product, which it has described as tnally developed program for the management sy in adults using its proprietary
formulation technology. If this product candidageapproved by the FDA before Trokendi XR, then WpsBmith could obtain three years of
marketing exclusivity, which would significantly ldg our entry into the U.S. market.

ADHD

Competition in the U.S. ADHD market has increasdtth the commercial launch of several products gerg years, including the launch of
generic versions of branded drugs, such as AddéRallShire plc is one of the leaders in the U.S HiDmarket with three products: Adderall
XR, an extended release stimulant treatment dedigmprovide oncelaily dosing; Vyvanse, a stimulant prodrug prodaanched in 2007; ar
Intuniv, a non-stimulant treatment launched in Nober 2009. Other stimulant products for the treatnoé ADHD in the U.S. market include
the following once-daily formulations: Concerta; tdéate CD; Ritalin LA; Focalin XR; and Daytranah@t non-stimulants are Strattera and
Kapvay. We are also aware of clinical developméfatres by several large pharmaceutical companiekiding Eli Lilly, Otsuka America, Inc.,
BMS, AstraZeneca plc and Abbott Laboratories toeligy additional treatment options for ADHD.
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Intellectual Property and Exclusivity
Overview

We have been building and continue to build owliattual property portfolio relating to our prodsiand product candidates, including
Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR. We seek patent prategtwhere appropriate, in the United States atafiationally for our products and
product candidates. Our policy is to actively s&eRrotect our proprietary position by, among otitémgs, filing patent applications in the
United States and abroad (including Europe, Caaadacertain other countries when appropriate)irglab proprietary technologies that are
important to the development of our business. VBe edly on trade secrets, know-how, continuingrieébgical innovation and in-licensing
opportunities to develop and maintain our proprietssition. We cannot be sure that patents wiljianted with respect to any of our pending
patent applications or with respect to any pateptieations filed by us in the future, nor can veedurre that any of our existing patents or any
patents that may be granted to us in the futureb&icommercially useful in protecting our techrglo

Our success will depend significantly on our apilit obtain and maintain patent and other proprygpaotection for the technologies and
products we consider important to our businessrtkbur patents, preserve the confidentiality ofttade secrets and operate our business
without infringing the patents and proprietary tigbf third parties.

We have established and continue to build propsigtasitions for Oxtellar XR, Trokendi XR, our pip® product candidates and technolog
in the United States and abroad.

Patent Portfolio

Our extended release oxcarbazepine patent portfofi@ntly includes four U.S. patents, two of whatdver Oxtellar XR. We have also
obtained two patents for extended release oxcaplireez@ Europe, one patent in Canada and one patdm¢xico. In addition, we have certain
pending U.S. and foreign patent applications thatirected to various extended release formulatammtaining oxcarbazepine. The issued
U.S. patents covering Oxtellar XR will expire in220 We own all of the issued patents and the pgraiplications.

In addition to the patents and patent applicatieteting to Oxtellar XR, we currently have two Ugatents that cover Trokendi XR. We have
one patent issued in Europe for extended relegs&toate and have certain pending U.S. and fongigent applications in Canada and other
countries that relate to the U.S. patents direttiadrious extended release formulations contaitopgamate. The two issued U.S. patents wil
expire in 2027 and 2029, respectively. We own fihe issued patents and pending applications.

Our patent portfolio also contains patent applarairelating to our other pipeline products. Weehtavo families of pending U.S. non-
provisional and foreign counterpart patent applice relating to our SPN-810 product candidateeat if issued, from the applications could
have terms expiring from 2029 to 2031. With regardur SPN-812 product candidate, we have thrediémof pending U.S. non-provisional
and foreign counterpart patent applications. Patéhissued, from the applications could expi@nir2029 to 2033.

The U.S. patent system permits the filing of primrial and non-provisional patent applications. A4poovisional patent application is
examined by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Offic&lSPTO, and can mature into a patent once the @S#Iermines that the claimed
invention meets the standards for patentabilityprévisional patent application is not examineddatentability, and automatically expires

12 months after its filing date. As a result, aysmnal patent application cannot mature into gp& The requirements for filing a provisional
patent application are not as strict as thoseilfagfa non-provisional patent application. Prowisal applications are often used, among other
things, to establish an early filing date for asdpent non-provisional patent application. Thetef individual
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patents depends upon the legal term of the paiteti® countries in which they are obtained. In hoasintries in which we file, the patent term
is 20 years from the earliest date of filing a pwavisional patent application. In the United S¢ate patent's term may be lengthened by pater
term adjustment, or PTA, which compensates a pag¢diot administrative delays by the USPTO in gramt patent. In view of a recent court
decision, the USPTO is under greater scrutiny i@ggtits calculations where the USPTO erred inudaking the PTA for the patents in
guestion denying the patentee a portion of thenpaéem to which it was entitled. Alternativelypatent's term may be shortened if a patent is
terminally disclaimed over another patent.

The filing date of a non-provisional patent apiiga is used by the USPTO to determine what infdiomais prior art when it considers the
patentability of a claimed invention. If certaimtérements are satisfied, a non-provisional paaeptication can claim the benefit of the filing
date of an earlier filed provisional patent apglima. As a result, the filing date accorded by phevisional patent application may supersede
information that otherwise could preclude the pabitity of an invention.

The term of a patent that covers an FDA-approved dnay also be eligible for patent term extens@wrRTE, which permits patent term
restoration as compensation for the patent tertrdimsng the FDA regulatory review process. ThedpRrice Competition and Patent Term
Restoration Act of 1984, or the Hatch-Waxman Ameents, permits a PTE of up to five years beyoncettgration of the patent. The length
of the PTE is related to the length of time thegdisiunder regulatory review. Patent extension caartend the remaining term of a patent
beyond a total of 14 years from the date of prodpgiroval and only one patent applicable to an@amat drug may be extended. Similar
provisions are available in Europe and other forgigisdictions to extend the term of a patent twters an approved drug. In the future, if
when our pharmaceutical products receive FDA oeiotbgulatory approval, we may be able to applyPf6Es on patents covering those
products. Depending upon the timing, duration gret#ics of FDA approval of our SPN-812 productdidiate and issuance of a U.S. patent
covering SPN-812 based on a U.S. patent applicationr portfolio, we may obtain a U.S. patent tisatligible for limited patent term
restoration.

Other Intellectual Property Rights

We seek trademark protection in the United Statelsigternationally where available and when appeder We have filed for trademark
protection for several marks, which we use in catina with our pharmaceutical research and devetyroollaborations as well as products.
We are the owner of various U.S. federal trademeglistrations (® and registration applications (™), including thédaing marks referred t
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to &gglile U.S. intellectual property laws: "Supernus®icrotrol®," "Solutrol®,"
"ProScreen®," "OptiScreen®," "ProPhile®," "TrokentiR™," "Oxtellar XR™," and the registered Superflsarmaceuticals logo.

From time to time, we may find it necessary or pntdo obtain licenses from third party intelledtpioperty holders. Where licenses are
readily available at reasonable cost, such liceasesonsidered a normal cost of doing businessthiar instances, however, we may use the
results of freedom-to-operate inquiries and inteamalyses to guide our early-stage research aveay &reas where we are likely to encounter
obstacles in the form of third party intellectuabperty. For example, where a third party holdsvaht intellectual property and is a direct
competitor, a license might not be available on m@mtially reasonable terms or available at all. sive to identify potential third party
intellectual property issues in the early stagesusfresearch programs, in order to minimize thst aod disruption of resolving such issues.

To protect our competitive position, it may be res@gy to enforce our patent rights through litigathgainst infringing third parties. Litigation
to enforce our own patent rights is subject to uadeties that cannot be quantified in advancehéncase of an adverse outcome in litigation,
we could be
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prevented from commercializing a product or usiagain aspects of our technology platforms as altre$ patent infringement claims assertec
against us. This could have a material adversetadfe our business. In addition, litigation invalgiour patents carries the risk that one or r

of our patents will be held invalid (in whole orpart, on a claim-by-claim basis) or held unenfahte. Such an adverse court ruling could
allow third parties to commercialize products oe teschnologies that are similar to ours, and tleenpete directly with us, without payment to
us. See "Risk Factors—If we are sued for infringimgllectual property rights of third partieswiill be costly and time consuming, and an
unfavorable outcome in that litigation would haveaterial adverse effect on our business."

In-Licensing Arrangements
Afecta Pharmaceuticals, Inc

We have entered into two license agreements widti@&fPharmaceuticals, Inc., or Afecta, pursuantiich we obtained an exclusive optior
evaluate Afecta's CNS pipeline and to obtain exetusorldwide rights to selected product candidaiteduding an exclusive license to SPN-
810. Under the terms of the license agreement$iawve paid Afecta $550,000 in license fees and toifespayments and may pay up to an
additional $300,000 upon the achievement of certalastones. If a product candidate is successfidyeloped and commercialized, we will
be obligated to pay royalties to Afecta based drsakes worldwide in the low-single digits. Unlésaminated by us or Afecta for material
breach or bankruptcy, by Afecta for our discontiimraof development and commercialization actigtier by us for convenience, the license
agreements will continue in full force and effentacountry-by-country basis until six months frtma discontinuation of the commercial sale
and collection of revenues for the Afecta product.

Rune Healthcare Limitec

In June 2006, we entered into a purchase and gedement with Rune Healthcare Limited, or Rune,relvee obtained the exclusive
worldwide rights to a product concept from Rune3&N-809. Under the terms of the agreement, we pakeRune a £25,000 up-front fee. If
we receive approval to market and sell any prodoased on the Rune product concept, we will begateid to pay royalties to Rune based on
net sales worldwide in the low-single digits. Uslésrminated by us or Rune for material breactRbge for our discontinuation of
development or commercialization activities relgtio a product based on the Rune product conceptyilvbe obligated to pay royalties to
Rune on a country-by-country basis until the eadiga) ten years from the date of first commdrsade of a product based on the Rune
product concept, or (b) the market entry in sualméxy of any product utilizing the Rune productdiy entity other than us, our affiliates or
our licensees.

Confidential Information and Inventions Assignmerigreements

We require our employees, temporary employees ansluttants to execute confidentiality agreementsmupe commencement of
employment, consulting or collaborative relatiopshwith us. These agreements provide that all denfial information developed or made
known during the course of the relationship wittheskept confidential and not disclosed to thirdipa except in specific circumstances. The
agreements provide that all inventions resultimgrfrwork performed for us or relating to our busiasd conceived or completed by the
individual during employment or assignment, as iepple, shall be our exclusive property to the Bfermitted by applicable law.

We seek to protect our products, product candidatdsour technologies through a combination ofigatdrade secrets, proprietary knbaw,
FDA exclusivity and contractual restrictions onafiisure.
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Government Regulation
Product Approval

Government authorities in the United States afederal, state and local level, and other countagtensively regulate, among other things
research, development, testing, manufacture, guadittrol, approval, labeling, packaging, storageprdkeeping, promotion, advertising,
distribution, marketing, export and import of pratiisuch as those we are developing. Our tentatamroved products and product
candidates, including Trokendi XR, must receivalfimpproval from the FDA before they may be marttddgally in the United States.

U.S. Drug Development Process

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs uttdeFederal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FD&#d through implementation of
regulations. The process of obtaining regulatoryrayals and ensuring compliance with appropriatkefal, state, local and foreign statutes
regulations requires the expenditure of substatitisd and financial resources. Failure to complihwie applicable U.S. requirements at any
time during the product development process, agbnorocess, or after approval, may subject an egplito administrative or judicial
sanctions. These sanctions could include the FEBAUsal to approve pending applications, withdragfadn approval, a clinical hold, warning
letters, product recalls, product seizures, prodetention, total or partial suspension of prodarctir distribution, injunctions, fines, refusals of
government contracts, restitution, disgorgemeriat or criminal penalties.

The process required by the FDA before a drug neamarketed in the United States generally invottiesollowing:

. completion of preclinical laboratory tests, aalmtudies and formulation studies according to dGloaboratory Practices
regulations;

. submission to the FDA of an IND, which must becaffective before human clinical trials may begin;

. performance of adequate and well-controlled huntiaical trials according to Good Clinical Practices GCP, to establish the

safety and efficacy of the proposed drug for iteridled use;
. submission to the FDA of an NDA for a new drug;

. satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectiortlod manufacturing facility or facilities at whichet drug is produced to assess
compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practjee cGMP; and

. FDA review and approval of the NDA.

The testing and approval process require substaintia, effort and financial resources and we cat@ocertain that any approvals for our
product candidates will be granted on a timely fiaéat all.

Once a pharmaceutical product candidate is idedtfior development, it enters the preclinical tegttage. Preclinical tests include laboratory
evaluations of product chemistry, toxicity, formiige and stability, as well as animal studies. AiDIsponsor must submit the results of the
preclinical tests, together with manufacturing mfiation, analytical data and any available clingtada or literature, to the FDA as part of the
IND. The sponsor must also include a protocol dlatgiamong other things, the objectives of th&ahclinical trial, the parameters to be used
in monitoring safety and the effectiveness critévide evaluated if the initial clinical trial lemdtself to an efficacy evaluation. Some preclih
testing may continue even after the IND is subrditiehe IND automatically becomes effective 30 dafysr receipt by the FDA, unless the
FDA places the clinical trial on a clinical holdthin that 30-day time period. In such a case, M2 $ponsor and the FDA must resolve
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any outstanding concerns before the clinical @l begin. Clinical holds also may be imposed leyRBA at any time before or during trials
due to safety concerns or non-compliance.

All clinical trials must be conducted under the eyision of one or more qualified investigatorsagtordance with GCP regulations. These
regulations include the requirement that all reseaubjects provide informed consent. Furthernatitutional review board, or IRB, must
review and approve the plan for any clinical thafore it commences at any institution. An IRB ddass, among other things, whether the
risks to individuals participating in the trialseaminimized and are reasonable in relation to grated benefits. The IRB also approves the
information regarding the clinical trial and thensent form that must be provided to each clinigal subject or his or her legal representative
and must monitor the clinical trial until completed

Once an IND is in effect, each new clinical protaemod any amendments to the protocol must be stduitio the IND for FDA review, and to
the IRBs for approval. Protocols detail, among othiags, the objectives of the clinical trial, dwg procedures, subject selection and exclu
criteria, and the parameters to be used to mositbject safety.

Human clinical trials for product candidates angid¢glly conducted in three sequential phases tlagt overlap or be combined:

. Phase I. The product is initially introduced into healthyman subjects and tested for safety, dosage nalerabsorption,
metabolism, distribution and excretion. In the caksome products for severe or life-threatenirggdses, especially when the
product may be too inherently toxic to ethicallyradister to healthy volunteers, the initial humasting may be conducted in
patients.

. Phase Il. Phase Il trials involve investigations in a liedtpatient population to identify possible adverfects and safety risk
to preliminarily evaluate the efficacy of the pratifor specific targeted diseases and to deterahisage tolerance and optimal
dosage and schedule.

. Phase Ill. In Phase llI, clinical trials are undertakenuatfier evaluate dosage, clinical efficacy and gafean expanded
patient population at geographically dispersedadadirtrial sites. These trials are intended toldsth the overall risk/benefit rat
of the product and provide an adequate basis fpriatory approval and product labeling.

Phase I, Phase Il and Phase Il testing may nobb®leted successfully within any specified peribdt all. Progress reports detailing the
results of the clinical trials must be submittedeatst annually to the FDA and safety reports rhessubmitted to the FDA and the investigator:
for serious and unexpected side effects. The FDB@®sponsor may suspend or terminate a clini@lat any time on various grounds,
including a finding that the research subjectsaiigmts are being exposed to an unacceptable hesdttSimilarly, an IRB can suspend or
terminate approval of a clinical trial at its intstion if the clinical trial is not being conductedaccordance with the IRB's requirements oré
drug has been associated with unexpected serioastbaatients.

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usuabmplete additional animal studies and must alselde additional information about the
chemistry and physical characteristics of the povdandidate and finalize a process for manufaoguitie product in commercial quantities in
accordance with cGMP requirements. The manufagysincess must be capable of consistently produgiradjty batches of the product
candidate and, among other things, the manufactoust develop methods for testing the identityeragth, quality and purity of the final
product. Additionally, appropriate packaging mustdelected and tested and stability studies musbbgucted to demonstrate that the produc
candidate does not undergo unacceptable detedoratier its shelf life.

During the development of a new drug, a sponsor Ineagble to request a Special Protocol AssessmeSRA, the purpose of which is to
reach agreement with the FDA on the Phase Il cdini
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trial protocol design and analysis that will forhetprimary basis of an efficacy claim. An SPA iirded to provide assurance that if the
agreed upon clinical trial protocol is followedethlinical trial endpoints are achieved, and theiefavorable risk-benefit profile, the data may
serve as the primary basis for an efficacy clairaupport of an NDA. However, SPA agreements arertptarantee of an approval of a proi
candidate or any permissible claims about the mbdandidate. In particular, SPAs are not bindingtee FDA if previously unrecognized
public health concerns arise during the performaridie clinical trial, other new scientific conosrregarding the product candidate's safety ¢
efficacy arise, or if the sponsoring company feal€omply with the agreed upon clinical trial prodd

U.S. Review and Approval Processes

The results of product development, preclinicatligs and clinical trials, along with descriptiorfdlee manufacturing process, analytical tests
conducted on the drug, proposed labeling and ogievant information, are submitted to the FDA ag pf an NDA for a new drug, request
approval to market the product.

As an alternate path to FDA approval, particulélymodifications to drug products previously apgd by the FDA, an applicant may submit
an NDA under Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA. Sect8@5(b)(2) was enacted as part of the Hatch-Waxfmaandments, and permits the
submission of an NDA where at least some of therination required for approval comes from clinigals not conducted by or for the
applicant and for which the applicant has not atgdia right of reference. The FDA interprets Sectio5(b)(2) of the FDCA to permit the
applicant to rely upon the FDA's previous findimfsafety and effectiveness for an approved produat FDA requires submission of
information needed to support any changes to aiquely approved drug, such as published data orstedies conducted by the applicant,
including bioavailability or bioequivalence studies clinical trials demonstrating safety and efifegness. The FDA may then approve the nev
product candidate for all or some of the labeléatibns for which the referenced product has beencaed, as well as for any new indication
sought by the Section 505(b)(2) applicant.

The submission of an NDA is subject to the paynoéist substantial user fee; a waiver of such fee beagbtained under certain limited
circumstances. For example, the agency will waieedpplication fee for the first human drug apgiarathat a small business or its affiliate
submits for review.

In addition, under the Pediatric Research Equity @003, or PREA, which was reauthorized underRbod and Drug Administration Safety
and Innovation Act of 2012, an NDA or supplemenatoNDA must contain data to assess the safetgHiactiveness of the drug for the
claimed indications in all relevant pediatric supplations and to support dosing and administraioreach pediatric subpopulation for which
the product is safe and effective. The FDA may gdaferrals for submission of data or full or palrtvaivers. Unless otherwise required by
regulation, PREA does not apply to any drug foimatication for which orphan designation has beemtgd. Pursuant to the FDA's approve
Oxtellar XR, we must conduct four pediatric pasdrketing studies; however, the FDA granted a wdiwethe pediatric study requirements
ages bhirth to one month and a deferral for subissf post-marketing assessments for children 1tmmn6 years of age.

Section 505(b)(2) New Drug Applicatior

To the extent that a Section 505(b)(2) NDA reliascbnical trials conducted for a previously appedvdrug product or the FDA's prior findin
of safety and effectiveness for a previously appdosirug product, the Section 505(b)(2) applicanstnsubmit patent certifications in its
Section 505(b)(2) application with respect to aayepts for the approved product on which the appbia relies that are listed in the FDA's
publication, Approved Drug Products with Therape@&quivalence Evaluations,
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commonly referred to as the Orange Book. Specifictie applicant must certify for each listed pdténhat (1) the required patent information
has not been filed; (2) the listed patent has expif3) the listed patent has not expired, but @dpire on a particular date and approval is not
sought until after patent expiration; or (4) ttetdd patent is invalid, unenforceable or will netibfringed by the proposed new product. A
certification that the new product will not infriaghe previously approved product's listed patetihat such patent is invalid or unenforceable
is known as a Paragraph IV certification. If th@légant does not challenge one or more listed patitmough a Paragraph IV certification, the
FDA will not approve the Section 505(b)(2) NDA aiggtion until all the listed patents claiming tlegarenced product have expired. Further,
the FDA will also not approve, as applicable, at®acs05(b)(2) NDA application until any non-patenxtclusivity, such as, for example, five-
year exclusivity for obtaining approval of an NGEree year exclusivity for an approval based on okwical trials, or pediatric exclusivit
listed in the Orange Book for the referenced procduas expired.

If the Section 505(b)(2) NDA applicant has provideBaragraph IV certification to the FDA, the apatit must also send notice of the
Paragraph IV certification to the owner of the refeeed NDA for the previously approved product esldvant patent holders within 20 days
after the Section 505(b)(2) NDA has been accepieflling by the FDA. The NDA and patent holdersyntaen initiate a patent infringement
suit against the Section 505(b)(2) applicant. UderFDCA, the filing of a patent infringement lavitswithin 45 days of receipt of the
notification regarding a Paragraph IV certificatimmomatically prevents the FDA from approving 8extion 505(b)(2) NDA for 30 months
beginning on the date the patent holder receivésemr until a court deems the patent unenforegafvalid or not infringed, whichever is
earlier. Moreover, in cases where a Section 508)I@fplication containing a Paragraph IV certificatis submitted after the fourth year of a
previously approved drug's five year exclusivityipg and the patent holder brings suit within 4§siaf notice of certification, the 30-month
period is automatically extended to prevent apgrof/¢he Section 505(b)(2) application until theelthat is seven and one-half years after
approval of the previously approved reference pcadthe court also has the ability to shorten agthaen either the 30 month or the seven an
one-half year period if either party is found rmbe reasonably cooperating in expediting thedttan. Thus, the Section 505(b)(2) applicant
may invest a significant amount of time and expenghe development of its product only to be sabfe significant delay and patent litigati
before its product may be commercialized. Altenslsi, if the NDA applicant or relevant patent haldi®es not file a patent infringement
lawsuit within the specified 45 day period, the FB¥ay approve the Section 505(b)(2) applicatiomgttame.

Notwithstanding the approval of many products lyBDA pursuant to Section 505(b)(2) over the lagt years, some pharmaceuti
companies and others have objected to the FDAgspiretation of Section 505(b)(2). If the FDA chasgs interpretation of Section 505(b)(2),
or if the FDA's interpretation is successfully daaged in court, this could delay or even prevheatRDA from approving any Section 505(b
NDA that we submit

We pursued a regulatory strategy pursuant to Sebldd(b)(2) in connection with our NDA submissidas Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR. In
the NDA submissions for our other product candisiatee intend to follow the development and apprgathway permitted under the FDCA
that we believe will maximize their commercial opipities.

FDA Review of New Drug Applications

The FDA reviews all NDAs submitted to ensure tihalytare sufficiently complete for substantive rewlgefore it accepts them for filing. The
FDA may request additional information rather tla@oept an NDA for filing. In this event, the NDA stilbe re-submitted with the additional
information. The re-submitted application alsolibjsct to review before the FDA accepts it fomi@i Once the submission is accepted for
filing, the FDA begins an in-depth substantive esvi The FDA reviews an
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NDA to determine, among other things, whether alpcbis safe and effective for its intended usewhdther its manufacturing is cGI-
compliant to assure and preserve the product'sitgestrength, quality and purity. Before apprayian NDA, the FDA will inspect the facility
or facilities where the product is manufacturede ADA will not approve an application unless itetatines that the manufacturing processes
and facilities are in compliance with cGMP requigarts and adequate to assure consistent produdttbe product within required
specifications. The FDA may refer the NDA to aniadwy committee for review, evaluation and recomdaion as to whether the application
should be approved and under what conditions. Aisaty committee is a panel of independent expehts provide advice and
recommendations when requested by the FDA on msaiféemportance that come before the agency. Th& BDot bound by the
recommendation of an advisory committee.

The approval process is lengthy and difficult amel EDA may refuse to approve an NDA if the appliealgulatory criteria are not satisfied or
may require additional clinical data or other data information. Even if such data and informai®aubmitted, the FDA may ultimately
decide that the NDA does not satisfy the critesiadpproval. Data obtained from clinical trials a always conclusive and the FDA may
interpret data differently than we interpret thensadata. The FDA will issue a complete responserldtthe agency decides not to approve the
NDA in its present form. The complete responsetaisually describes all of the specific deficiesdhat the FDA identified in the NDA. Tl
deficiencies identified may be minor, for exampéuiring labeling changes, or major, for exampeuiring additional clinical trials.
Additionally, the complete response letter mayudel recommended actions that the applicant midgattta place the application in a condition
for approval. If a complete response letter isaslsihe applicant may either resubmit the NDA, adsiing all of the deficiencies identified in
the letter, withdraw the application, or requesbaportunity for a hearing.

If a product receives regulatory approval, the apar may be significantly limited to specific dises and dosages or the indications for use
may otherwise be limited, which could restrict twenmercial value of the product. Further, the FD&ymequire that certain contraindications,
warnings or precautions be included in the prodatotling. In addition, the FDA may require Phased$sting which involves clinical trials
designed to further assess a drug's safety anctigéieess after NDA approval and may require tgsaéind surveillance programs to monitor
safety of approved products that have been comaized.

Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclusivi

Depending upon the timing, duration and specificB@A marketing approval of our product candidatsne of our U.S. patents may be
eligible for limited patent term extension undes thatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amentinmermit a patent restoration
term of up to five years as compensation for patnm lost during product development and the FBgufatory review process. However,
patent term restoration cannot extend the remaitging of a patent beyond a total of 14 years froengroduct's approval date. The patent terr
restoration period is generally one-half the tineeaten the effective date of an IND and the sulionisdate of an NDA plus the time between
the submission date of an NDA and the approvahaf application. Only one patent applicable to gpraved drug is eligible for the extension
and the application for the extension must be stibthprior to the expiration of the patent and witsixty days of approval of the drug. The
USPTO, in consultation with the FDA, reviews angayes the application for any patent term extamsiorestoration. In the future, we inte

to apply for restorations of patent term for sorhewr currently owned or licensed patents to ademdife beyond their current expiration
dates, depending on the expected length of theealitrials and other factors involved in the fgiof the relevant NDA.
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Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA casaatielay the submission or the approval of cedpjplications. The FDCA provides a five-
year period of nc-patent marketing exclusivity within the United ®fto the first applicant to gain approval of d@dANfor an NCE. A drug is
an NCE if the FDA has not previously approved atheonew drug containing the same active pharmazdunngredient, or API, or active
moiety, which is the molecule or ion responsibletfe action of the drug substance. During thewesteity period, the FDA may not accept for
review an abbreviated new drug application, or ANBAa Section 505(b)(2) NDA submitted by anothmmnpany for another version of such
drug where the applicant does not own or have @ right of reference to all the data requireddpproval. However, the FDCA will not
prevent the submission or approval of anotherSelttion 505(b)(1) NDA, but such an NDA applicantulebbe required to conduct its own
preclinical and adequate, well-controlled cliniti#ls to demonstrate safety and effectivenesshEura Section 505(b)(2) application may be
submitted after four years if it contains a Parpgr/ certification. The FDCA also provides threzays of marketing exclusivity for an NDA,
Section 505(b)(2) NDA or supplement to an exist\ipA if new clinical investigations, other than bi@édlability studies, that were conducted
or sponsored by the applicant are deemed by the el essential to the approval of the applicat®rch clinical trials may, for example,
support new indications, dosages, routes of adtrétisn or strengths of an existing drug, or fareav use, if new clinical investigations that
were conducted or sponsored by the applicant @ezrdimed by the FDA to be essential to the appro¥éthe application. This exclusivity,
which is sometimes referred to as clinical invesiign exclusivity, prevents the FDA from approvimg application under Section 505(b)(2) for
the same conditions of use associated with thedtieveal investigations before the expiration ofeb years from the date of approval. Such
threeyear exclusivity, however, would not prevent therapal of another application if the applicant sitisra Section 505(b)(1) NDA and h
conducted its own adequate, well-controlled clihidals demonstrating safety and efficacy, nor Watiprevent approval of a generic product
or Section 505(b)(2) product that did not incorpeithe exclusivity-protected changes of the apptalrelg product. The FDCA, FDA
regulations and other applicable regulations arii¢gipe provide incentives to manufacturers to e@enabdified, non-infringing versions of a
drug to facilitate the approval of an ANDA or otlagaplication for generic substitutes.

Pediatric exclusivity is another type of exclughiit the United States. Pediatric exclusivity, idgted, provides an additional six months of
exclusivity to be attached to any existing exclitgite.g., three or five year exclusivity) or pat@notection for a drug. This six month
exclusivity, which runs from the end of other exsility protection or patent delay, may be grantagdal on the voluntary completion of a
pediatric trial in accordance with an FDA-issuedrift¥n Request" for such a trial. The current peaiaxclusivity provision was reauthorized
in September 2007.

Pos-Approval Requirements

Any drugs for which we receive FDA approval arejeabto continuing regulation by the FDA, includjragmong other things, record-keeping
requirements, reporting of AEs with the productyiding the FDA with updated safety and efficacfoimation, product sampling and
distribution requirements, complying with certalaatronic records and signature requirements antpbong with FDA promotion and
advertising requirements. In September 2007, thwelleed Drug Administration Amendments Act of 200&svenacted, giving the FDA
enhanced post-marketing authority, including théhauity to require post-marketing studies and chiitrials, labeling changes based on new
safety information, and compliance with risk evdiloias and mitigation strategies approved by the FDie FDA strictly regulates labeling,
advertising, promotion and other types of informaton products that are placed on the market. Dmagsbe promoted only for the approved
indications and in accordance with the provisiohthe approved label. Further, manufacturers ofgmnust continue to comply with cGMP
requirements, which are extensive and require densble time, resources and ongoing investmemsgare compliance. In addition, changes
to the manufacturing process generally require
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prior FDA approval before being implemented andceotigpes of changes to the approved product, ssietdding new indications and
additional labeling claims, are also subject taHer FDA review and approval.

Drug manufacturers and other entities involvedchanhanufacturing and distribution of approved draigsrequired to register their
establishments with the FDA and certain state agenand are subject to periodic unannounced itigmscby the FDA and certain state
agencies for compliance with cGMP and other lavwe GGMP requirements apply to all stages of theufsanturing process, including the
production, processing, sterilization, packagiadpeling, storage and shipment of the drug. Manufacs must establish validated systems to
ensure that products meet specifications and regylatandards, and test each product batch qriot to its release. We rely, and expect to
continue to rely, on third parties for the prodantof clinical quantities of our product candidatésture FDA and state inspections may
identify compliance issues at the facilities of eantract manufacturers that may disrupt produatiodistribution or may require substantial
resources to correct.

The FDA may withdraw a product approval if comptarwith regulatory standards is not maintained prablems occur after the product
reaches the market. Later discovery of previousknewn problems with a product may result in resizns on the product or even complete
withdrawal of the product from the market. Furthbg failure to maintain compliance with regulatoeguirements may result in administrai
or judicial actions, such as fines, warning lettéidds on clinical trials, product recalls or sg&s, product detention or refusal to permit the
import or export of products, refusal to approvadiag applications or supplements, restrictionsnamketing or manufacturing, injunctions or
civil or criminal penalties.

From time to time, legislation is drafted, introédcand passed by the United States Congress thidt significantly change the statutory
provisions governing the approval, manufacturind ararketing of products regulated by the FDA. Bareple, in July 2012, the Food and
Drug Administration Safety and Innovation Act wameted, expanding drug supply chain requiremerdssarengthening FDA's response to
drug shortages, among other things. In additiometw legislation, the FDA regulations and policies aften revised or reinterpreted by the
agency in ways that may significantly affect ousibess and our products. It is impossible to ptesiether further legislative or FDA
regulation or policy changes will be enacted orlengented and what the impact of such changesyifraay be.

Foreign Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States,wiltbe subject to a variety of foreign regulatiogoverning clinical trials and commercial
sales and distribution of our product candidatethéoextent we choose to clinically evaluate ofr @&y products outside of the United States.
Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a progdwa must obtain approval of a product by the calple regulatory authorities of foreign
countries before we can commence clinical trialsmarketing of the product in those countries. Tpgraval process varies from country to
country and the time may be longer or shorter thahrequired for FDA approval. The requirementgegning the conduct of clinical trials,
product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vagat]y from country to country. As in the Unitechf&ts, post-approval regulatory
requirements, such as those regarding product raetw&, marketing, or distribution would apply toygroduct that is approved outside the
United States.

Third-Party Payor Coverage and Reimbursement
In both the United States and foreign markets atility to commercialize our product candidatescassfully, and to attract commercialization
partners for our product candidates, depends mifgignt part on the availability of adequate fic& coverage and reimbursement from third

party
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payors, including, in the United States, governmalgpayors such as the Medicare and Medicaid progjramnaged care organizations, and
private health insurers. Medicare is a federallydied program managed by the Centers for Medicateveaticaid Services, or CMS, through
local fiscal intermediaries and carriers that adstém coverage and reimbursement for certain healéhitems and services furnished to the
elderly and disabled. Medicaid is an insurance fanogfor certain categories of patients whose incantkassets fall below state defined level
and who are otherwise uninsured that is both fdigeand state funded and managed by each statefetieeal government sets general
guidelines for Medicaid and each state createsfapesgulations that govern its individual prograBach payor has its own process and
standards for determining whether it will cover aatburse a procedure or particular product. Reigayors often rely on the lead of the
governmental payors in rendering coverage and naisetment determinations. Therefore, achieving favier CMS coverage and
reimbursement is usually a significant gating iskuwesuccessful introduction of a new product. Thenpetitive position of some of our
products will depend, in part, upon the extentmferage and adequate reimbursement for such pmédadtfor the procedures in which such
products are used. Prices at which we or our custe®seek reimbursement for our product candidaede subject to challenge, reduction or
denial by the government and other payors.

The United States Congress and state legislatuagsfrom time to time, propose and adopt initiadiaémed at cost containment, which could
impact our ability to sell our products profitabRor example, in March 2010, President Obama sigmtedaw the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act as amended by the HealthcadeEatucation Affordability Reconciliation Act of 201which we refer to collectively as t
Health Care Reform Law, a sweeping law intenddoréaden access to health insurance, reduce oraonite growth of healthcare spending,
enhance remedies against fraud and abuse, addaresparency requirements for healthcare and hiesitihance industries, impose new taxes
and fees on the health industry and impose additio@alth policy reforms. Effective October 1, 20t Health Care Reform Law revises the
definition of "average manufacturer price" for refpmy purposes, which could increase the amouMedicaid drug rebates to states once the
provision is effective. Further, beginning in 201e new law imposes a significant annual fee anganies that manufacture or import
branded prescription drug products. Substantial pewisions affecting compliance have also beemteda which may require us to modify
our business practices with healthcare practitenafe will not know the full effects of the Healftare Reform Law until applicable federal
and state agencies issue regulations or guidarder time new law. Although it is too early to detarenthe effect of the Health Care Reform
Law, the new law appears likely to continue thespoge on pharmaceutical pricing, especially undemMedicare program, and may also
increase our regulatory burdens and operating .cleteeover, in the coming years, additional changrdd be made to governmental
healthcare programs that could significantly imghetsuccess of our product candidates.

The cost of pharmaceuticals continues to genetdustantial governmental and third party payor igerWe expect that the pharmaceutical
industry will experience pricing pressures duen®trend toward managed healthcare, the increasingnce of managed care organizations
and additional legislative proposals. Our resultsperations could be adversely affected by curaswk future healthcare reforms.

Some third party payors also require pre-approfzabwerage for new or innovative devices or drugréipies before they will reimburse
healthcare providers that use such therapies. Wigleannot predict whether any proposed cost-comiant measures will be adopted or
otherwise implemented in the future, the announcemeadoption of these proposals could have anahtverse effect on our ability to
obtain adequate prices for our product candidatdsoaerate profitably.
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Other Healthcare Laws and Compliance Requirements

In the United States, our activities are potentialibject to regulation by various federal, staieé lncal authorities in addition to the FDA,
including the CMS, other divisions of the U.S. Depeent of Health and Human Services (e.g., thed®ftif Inspector General), the U.S.
Department of Justice and individual U.S. Attoroéfices within the Department of Justice, and staté local governments. These regulation:
include:

. the federal healthcare program anti-kickback, laich prohibits, among other things, persons femticiting, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, ittduce either the referral of an individual, foritem or service or the
purchasing or ordering of a good or service, foiclwipayment may be made under federal healthcagrgms such as the
Medicare and Medicaid programs;

. federal false claims laws which prohibit, amongeotthings, individuals or entities from knowinglygsenting, or causing to be
presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Mddioar other government reimbursement programsétefalse or
fraudulent, and which may apply to entities likewtsch provide coding and billing advice to custame

. the federal Health Insurance Portability and Acaability Act of 1996, which prohibits executing eh@me to defraud any
healthcare benefit program or making false statésretating to healthcare matters and which algmas certain requirements
relating to the privacy, security and transmissibmdividually identifiable health information;

. the federal transparency requirements under thétHeare Reform Law requires manufacturers of drdgsices, biologics, at
medical supplies to report to the Department ofltieend Human Services information related to ptigsi payments and other
transfers of value and physician ownership anddtment interests;

. the FDCA, which among other things, strictly regetadrug product marketing, prohibits manufactuben: marketing drug
products for off-label use and regulates the distion of drug samples; and

. state law equivalents of each of the above fddaws, such as anti-kickback and false claimslawich may apply to items or
services reimbursed by any thiparty payor, including commercial insurers, andestaws governing the privacy and security
health information in certain circumstances, mahytich differ from each other in significant wagad often are not preemp
by federal laws, thus complicating compliance affor

Employees

As of February 28, 2013, we employed 193 full-tiemeployees, up from 110 full-time employees as afddeber 31, 2012. Approximately 54
employees are engaged in research developmenitiastand 139 are in administrative, business agraknt and sales and marketing
positions. We consider relations with our employtedse good. None of our employees are represdaytedabor union.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. Before making an investment decision,sfwmuld carefully consider the ris
described below with all of the other informatioa imclude in this report and the additional infortiza in the other reports we file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"@®f@ommission"). These risks may result in matdvéain to our business and our
financial condition and results of operations. histevent, the market price of our common stock aealine and you could lose part or all
your investmeni

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We are dependent on the commercial success of @R and Trokendi XR which may never be succedlsfegommercialized.

To date, we have expended significant time, ressjr@nd effort on the development of Oxtellar XK @nokendi XR, and a substantial
majority of our resources are now focused on themercial launch in the United States of our appdomeduct, Oxtellar XR, which
commenced on February 4, 2013, and preparing éocdimmercial launch of our tentatively approveddprt, Trokendi XR, which we
anticipate to occur in the third quarter of 2018.0% our other product candidates are in earltages of development and subject to the risl
failure inherent in developing drug products. Aatingly, our ability to generate significant produevenues in the near term will depend
almost entirely on our ability to successfully coemaialize Oxtellar XR and our ability to succesbfubtain final marketing approval for and
commercialize Trokendi XR. We may not sell TrokeK& in the United States until the FDA grants finadrketing approval and, therefore,
our planned commercial launch of Trokendi XR in thated States could experience unanticipated detayproblems and may be prohibited
altogether, notwithstanding its tentative apprdmathe FDA.

Our ability to successfully commercialize OxtelKkiR and Trokendi XR will depend on, among other ¢isinour ability to:

. maintain commercial manufacturing arrangements thitld-party manufacturers for Oxtellar XR and Teokli XR;

. produce, through a validated process, sufficielatlge quantities and inventory of our productseonmit successful
commercialization;

. build and maintain a wide variety of internalesa distribution and marketing capabilities suéfit to build commercial sales of
our products;

. establish collaborations with third parties for tmmmercialization of our products in countriesside the United States, and
such collaborators' ability to obtain regulatorglaaimbursement approvals in such countries;

. secure widespread acceptance of our products flysigians, health care payors, patients and thecaletbmmunity;

. properly price and obtain adequate coverage antbrgsement of the product by governmental autlesrifprivate health
insurers, managed care organizations and otherplairty payors;

. maintain compliance with ongoing FDA labelingckaging, storage, advertising, promotion, recoegk®y, safety and other
post-market requirements; and

. manage our growth and spending as costs and exgielcsease due to commercialization.

There are no guarantees that we will be successdmpleting these tasks. Successful commerctaizavill also depend on whether we can
adequately protect against and effectively
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respond to any claims by holders of patents aneratttellectual property rights that our productsinge their rights, whether any
unanticipated adverse effects or unfavorable pitplievelops in respect of our products, as wethasemergence of new or existing products
as competition, which may be proven to be mordadity effective and cost-effective. If we are ufeato successfully complete these tasks, w
may not be able to commercialize Trokendi XR i@ty manner, or at all, in which case we may bahle to generate sufficient revenues to
sustain and grow our business.

In addition, we have begun, and will need to camirninvesting substantial financial and managemesdurces to build out our commercial
infrastructure and to recruit and train sufficiadditional qualified marketing, sales and othespenel in support of our commercial launch of
Oxtellar XR and preparation for the commercial lgtunf Trokendi XR. We have committed and will conhthiese additional resources priol
obtaining final approval of Trokendi XR from the RDIf we are unable to successfully obtain finalABpproval of Trokendi XR or complete
these activities, or experience unanticipated detayproblems, our costs could substantially ireeesnd our business, financial condition and
results of operations will be adversely affectedadidition, we have certain revenue expectatiotis iespect to the sale of Oxtellar XR and
Trokendi XR. If we cannot successfully commercialand achieve those revenue expectations witheegp®©xtellar XR and Trokendi XR,
this would result in a material adverse impact onanticipated revenues and liquidity.

Moreover, even as we launch Oxtellar XR and if weeable to timely launch Trokendi XR, their conttucommercial success will be largely
dependent on the ability of third-party manufactsi@nd collaborators. They may not deploy the nessuwe would like them to, and our
revenue would then suffer. In addition, we coulddme embroiled in disputes with these parties diggrthe terms of any agreements, their
performance or intellectual property rights. Angplite could disrupt the sales of our products aveérgely affect our reputation and revenue.
In addition, if any of our manufacturing or collabtion partners fail to effectively perform undemr @rrangements for any reason, we may nof
be able to find a suitable replacement partner imely basis, or at all, or on acceptable terms.

Adoption of Oxtellar XR or Trokendi XR may be slaw limited for a variety of reasons including comiieg branded and generic therapie
or safety issues. If either Oxtellar XR or TrokendiR is not successful in gaining broad commercial@ptance, our business would be
harmed.

The rate of adoption of Oxtellar XR and, if approv®y the FDA, Trokendi XR will be dependent on savéactors including our ability to
educate and increase physician awareness of theditseand cost-effectiveness of our products redatid competing therapies. The degree of
market acceptance of any of our approved produadidates among physicians, patients, health cgrerpand the medical community will
depend on a number of factors, including:

. acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy;

. relative convenience and ease of administration;

. the prevalence and severity of any adverse siéetsff

. availability of alternative treatments;

. pricing and cost effectiveness;

. the effectiveness of our sales and marketing céipaind strategies; and
. ability to obtain sufficient third-party coveragereimbursement.

In addition, Oxtellar XR and, if approved by the &ADr'rokendi XR will be subject to continual revidwy the FDA, and we cannot assure you
that newly discovered or developed safety issuéiswati arise. With the use of any newly marketedgdby a wider patient population, serious
AEs may occur from time to time that initially dotrappear to relate to the drug itself. Any safssyies could cause us to
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suspend or cease marketing of our approved prodtaaise us to modify how we market our approvedymts, subject us to substantial
liabilities and adversely affect our revenues andrfcial condition. In the event of a withdrawaleither Oxtellar XR or Trokendi XR from the
market, our revenues would decline significantlg anr business would be seriously harmed and dailld

We have rapidly expanded our operations to suppbg commercial launch of Oxtellar XR and will comtue to do so to support increased
commercialization of Oxtellar XR and, if approved tthe FDA, Trokendi XR, which has significantly imeased our costs, and until we
achieve economies of scale, we will incur negatimargins on sales of Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR.

We have and expect to continue to significantlyéase our investment in commercial infrastructwe.will need to effectively manage the
expansion of our operations and facilities and iooiet to grow our infrastructure to commercializet@ar XR and, if approved by the FDA,
Trokendi XR. We must effectively manage our supgigin and distribution network, all of which reasrstrict planning in order to meet
production timelines. In addition to the 75 salegpe we hired to launch Oxtellar XR, we continuetldl marketing and sales personnel, and
personnel in all other areas of our operationsgtvkirains our existing managerial, operationafricial and other resources. As a result of th
scaling of our commercial operations, we expedht¢ar negative margins on any sales of Oxtellarat/, if approved by the FDA, Trokendi
XR until we are able to generate significant satdame. We will also need to maintain our commeénaianufacturing arrangements with third
parties for any approved product to avoid the &fsgvenue from potential sales of such produad, aaversely impact its market acceptanc
we fail to manage the growth in our systems andquerel appropriately and successfully in orderctieve our commercialization plans for
Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR, our revenues couldeuénd our business could be harmed.

We are dependent on the success of our product adetds, which may never receive regulatory approwabe successfully commercialized.

To date, we have expended significant time, regsyr@nd effort on the development of our productimiates, and a substantial majority of
resources are now focused on the commercializafi@xtellar XR, and planning for the commercialinatof our tentatively approved prodt
Trokendi XR, in the United States. All of our otlpduct candidates are in earlier stages of dpwsdmt and subject to the risks of failure
inherent in developing drug products. Accordinglyr ability to generate significant product revenirethe near term will depend almost
entirely on our ability to successfully commerdaliOxtellar XR and our ability to successfully abténal marketing approval for and
commercialize Trokendi XR. Trokendi XR has receitewtative approval from the FDA and may never tmmmercialized until we receive
final marketing approval from the FDA.

Our ability to successfully commercialize any of puoducts candidates will depend on, among othiags, our ability to:

. receive marketing approvals from the FDA and sinfidaeign regulatory authorities;

. produce, through a validated process, sufficielatlge quantities of our product candidates to pesonicessful
commercialization;

. establish commercial manufacturing arrangemwittsthird-party manufacturers;

. build and maintain strong sales, distributiod amarketing capabilities sufficient to launch comnaie sales of our product
candidates;

. establish collaborations with third parties for tmmercialization of our product candidates inrtaas outside the United

States, and such collaborators' ability to obtagutatory and reimbursement approvals in such ciasnt
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. secure acceptance of our product candidates frgsigans, health care payors, pharmacies, wholesadatients and the
medical community;

. successfully complete our clinical trials; and

. manage our spending as costs and expensessaaiaa to commercialization and clinical trials.

There are no guarantees that we will be succeissidmpleting these tasks. If we are unable to es&ftilly complete these tasks, we may not
be able to commercialize Oxtellar XR, Trokendi XRaay of our other product candidates in a timegnmer, or at all, in which case we may
be unable to generate sufficient revenues to suatad grow our business. In addition, if we experéunanticipated delays or problems,
development costs could substantially increasecamdusiness, financial condition and results adrafions will be adversely affected.

We have limited sales and marketing experience agsburces, and we may not be able to effectivelykatand sell our products or produ
candidates, if approved, in the United States.

We have built our sales and marketing capabilitidbe United States to launch Oxtellar XR anduasag receipt of final approval from the
FDA, Trokendi XR. Additionally, there are plansftother expand our sales and marketing capabilitiees this year. We have limited sales
marketing experience and have been building suphahitities by investing significant amounts of firtdal and management resources. We
have committed and will commit additional resourttedevelop internal sales and marketing capadsligirior to any confirmation that
Trokendi XR has received final approval from theA=&r any other of our product candidates have lmgmroved by the FDA. We believe that
net proceeds from the November 2012 stock offetimggther with cash on hand, will be sufficienfund the commercialization of Oxtellar
XR, and complete development and fund the expematmercialization of Trokendi XR if approved by thBA. We commenced the
commercial launch of Oxtellar XR in February 2018 anticipate the commercial launch of Trokendi t§Rccur during the third quarter of
2013 assuming the receipt of final approval byRBe&\. If final FDA approval or the commercial launohTrokendi XR is delayed for any
reason, we could incur significant additional exggprior to being able to realize any revenueghBy we could face a number of additional
risks in establishing internal sales and marketimpgbilities, including:

. we may not be able to attract talented and qudliiersonnel to build an effective marketing or sd¢ece capability;

. the cost of establishing a marketing and salesfoapability may not be justifiable in light of thevenues generated by Oxtellar
XR, Trokendi XR if it receives final approval, anyaof our product candidates if approved by the FBid

. our direct sales and marketing efforts may rostccessful.

If we are unable to establish adequate sales arkethey capabilities or are unable to do so im@ety manner, we may not be able to generat:
product revenues and may never become profitable.

The commercial success of our products and prodcahdidates, if approved, depends upon attaining kedracceptance by physicians,
patients, thirc-party payors and the medical community.

Physicians may not prescribe Oxtellar XR, Trokex@i if approved by the FDA, or any of our produahdidates if approved by the FDA, in
which case we would not generate the revenues tigpate. Market acceptance of any of our prodoctgroduct candidates by physicians,
patients, third-party payors and the medical conitgutepends on, among other things:

. our ability to provide acceptable evidence dégaand efficacy;
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. acceptance by physicians and patients of each prodgproduct candidate as a safe and effectiadrtrent;

. perceived advantages of our products or productidates over alternative treatments;

. relative convenience and ease of administratiasuofproducts or product candidates compared tdiegireatments;

. any labeling restrictions placed upon each produgtroduct candidate in connection with its apptova

. the prevalence and severity of the adverse siéetsfbf each of our products or product candidates;

. the clinical indications for which each of oupgucts or product candidates are approved, inatudny potential additional

restrictions placed upon each product or produatiickte in connection with its approval;

. prevalence of the disease or condition for wigiabh product or product candidate is approved,;
. the cost of treatment in relation to alternativwatments, including generic products;
. the extent to which each product or product cartdidaapproved for inclusion on formularies of hitalp and managed care

organizations;

. any negative publicity related to our or our conitpes' products or product candidates, including assult of any related
adverse side effects;

. the effectiveness of our or any current or fatcollaborators' sales, marketing and distribusimategies;
. pricing and cost effectiveness; and
. the availability of adequate reimbursement hisdtparties.

For example, new AEDs that were introduced in tlaeket as NCEs historically have not quickly gaisaghificant market share against
existing molecules in the epilepsy market, becqilgesicians are often reluctant to change a stadtient's existing therapy (even for an NCE)
and risk a breakthrough seizure or tolerabilityéssin their patients. Although Oxtellar XR and;aimmercially launched, Trokendi XR, are
not NCEs, they would be subject to the risk tha/till not be able to gain significant market #hagainst existing AEDSs. If our products or
product candidates do not achieve an adequatedéagekceptance by physicians, third-party payors @atients, we may not generate sufficien
revenues from these products or product candidatescome or remain profitable on a timely bagiat all.

Final marketing approval of Trokendi XR, or any ajur product candidates by the FDA or other regulaycauthorities may be delayed,
limited, or denied, any of which would adverselyffexdt our ability to generate operating revenues.

Our business depends on the successful develomdr@ommercialization of our products and prodacididates. We are not permitted to
market any of our product candidates in the Un8&attes until we receive approval of an NDA from Bi2A, or in any foreign jurisdiction un
we receive the requisite approvals from such jictgth. Satisfaction of regulatory requirementsitgly takes many years, is dependent upon
the type, complexity and novelty of the product aeguires the expenditure of substantial resouiescannot predict whether or when we
will obtain regulatory approval to commercializer guoduct candidates and we cannot, thereforeqirttk timing of any future revenues fri
these product candidates, if any.
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With respect to Trokendi XR, we submitted an NDAlenSection 505(b)(2) of the FDCA, which allowstaisely in our submissions on the
existing data from the NDA of Topamax. Section H)&) was enacted as part of the Hatghxman Amendments, and permits the submis
of an NDA where at least some of the informatioquieed for approval comes from clinical trials moinducted by or for the applicant and for
which the applicant has not obtained a right ofmerfice. The FDA interprets Section 505(b)(2) ofRBXCA to permit the applicant to rely up
the FDA's previous findings of safety and effeatigss for an approved product. The FDA requires sgiom of information needed to supp
any changes to a previously approved drug, suglulished data or new studies conducted by theécgpylor clinical trials demonstrating
safety and effectiveness. The FDA could refusepfiy@ve our current NDA submission, or require ddddl information to sufficiently
demonstrate safety and effectiveness. For examgl@itially submitted an NDA for Trokendi XR indaary 2011, but the FDA refused to 1
the NDA and raised questions relating to chemiatrg manufacturing control issues. Although, the Fizéepted the NDA for filing in
November 2011, it granted only tentative approweallfrokendi XR in June 2012 citing the need foluson on the product's label of certi
pediatric safety information of the reference listiug Topamax, which is the subject of marketingesivity until June 2013. There can be nc
assurance that the FDA will grant final approvabaf NDA when this marketing exclusivity expiresatrany time thereafter.

The FDA has substantial discretion in the drug apalrprocess, including the ability to delay, limitdeny approval of a product candidate for
many reasons. For example, the FDA:

. could determine that we cannot rely on Secti@®(b)(2) for any of our product candidates;

. could determine that the information provided byuas inadequate, contained clinical deficienciestberwise failed to
demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of aoyioproduct candidates for any indication;

. may not find the data from bioequivalence studie¥ar clinical trials sufficient to support the soission of an NDA or to
obtain marketing approval in the United Stateduidiog any findings that the clinical and other efits of our product
candidates outweigh their safety risks;

. may disagree with our trial design or our intetption of data from preclinical studies, bioe@l@nce studies and/or clinical
trials, or may change the requirements for apprevah after it has reviewed and commented on thigador our trials;

. may determine that we have identified the wrongnezice listed drug or drugs or that approval ofSeation 505(b)(2)
application for Trokendi XR, or any of our othepguct candidates, is blocked by patent or non-pateciusivity of the
reference listed drug or drugs;

. may identify deficiencies in the manufacturinggesses or facilities of third-party manufactuseith which we enter into
agreements for the supply of the API used in oadpct candidates;

. may identify deficiencies in the manufacturing psses or facilities of third-party manufacturerthwyhich we enter into
agreements for the manufacturing of our productictates;

. may approve our product candidates for fewer orenfiatited indications than we request, or may gegpyroval contingent on
the performance of costly post-approval clinicells;

. may change its approval policies or adopt neyulaions; or

. may not approve the labeling claims that wedweliare necessary or desirable for the successfuhercialization of our
product candidates.

Notwithstanding the approval of many products yBDA pursuant to Section 505(b)(2), over theflwstyears, some pharmaceuti
companies and others have objected to the FDAgspiretation of Section 505(b)(2). If the FDA chas@s interpretation of Section 505(b)(2),
or if the FDA's interpretation is successfully daaged in court, this could delay or even prevaatEDA from
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approving any Section 505(b)(2) application thatswbmit. Any failure to obtain regulatory approeélour product candidates would
significantly limit our ability to generate reversjeand any failure to obtain such approval foohthe indications and labeling claims we deen
desirable could reduce our potential revenues.

Our trials may fail to demonstrate acceptable levef safety, efficacy or any other requirementsanfr product candidates, which could
prevent or significantly delay regulatory approvi

We may be unable to sufficiently demonstrate tlietgand efficacy of our product candidates to wbtagulatory approval. We must
demonstrate with substantial evidence gatherectihaontrolled studies, and to the satisfactiothef FDA with respect to approval in the
United States (and to the satisfaction of simigyulatory authorities in other jurisdictions wittsspect to approval in those jurisdictions), that
each product candidate is safe and effective feriughe target indication. The FDA may requirdaisonduct or perform additional studies or
trials to adequately demonstrate safety and effioatich could prevent or significantly delay oeceipt of regulatory approval and,
ultimately, the commercialization of that produahdidate.

In addition, the results from the trials that wednaompleted for our product candidates may notbkcated in future trials, or we may be
unable to demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacobtain the requisite regulatory approvalsdor product candidates. A number of
companies in the pharmaceutical industry have sedfsignificant setbacks in advanced developmeet) after promising results in earlier
trials. If our product candidates are not showhdaafe and effective, our clinical developmengpams could be delayed or might be
terminated.

Our products and product candidates may cause umddse side effects or have other properties thiatit their commercial potential or
delay or prevent their regulatory approval.

Undesirable side effects caused by any of our miockndidates could cause us or regulatory autbstid interrupt, delay or halt development
and could result in the denial of regulatory appidyy the FDA or other regulatory authorities, gadential products liability claims. Any
undesirable side effects that are caused by anymgbroduct candidates could have a material adweffect upon that product candidate's
development program and our business as a whole.

Immediate release oxcarbazepine and topiramatg,annpounds upon which Oxtellar XR and Trokendia¢R based, respectively, are knc
to cause various side effects, including dizzinpasesthesia, headaches, cognitive deficiencids aimemory loss and speech impediment,
digestive problems, somnolence, double vision, igalgenlargement, nausea, weight gain, and fatigihe.use of Oxtellar XR and Trokendi
XR may cause similar side effects as comparedeto thference products, or may cause additiondiféerent side effects.

If these products cause side effects or if anyufpmoduct candidates receive marketing approvel,vee or others later identify undesirable
side effects caused by the product candidate, dauof potentially significant negative consequenoeuld result, including:

. regulatory authorities may withdraw approvals @& froduct candidate or otherwise require us to tia&eapproved product off
the market;

. regulatory authorities may require additionatmiags, or a narrowing of the indication, on thedurct label;

. we may be required to create a medication goidining the risks of such side effects for distrion to patients;

. we may be required to modify the product in savag’;
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. the FDA may require us to conduct additional chhicials or costly postrarketing testing and surveillance to monitor thfety
or efficacy of the product;

. sales of approved products may decrease signifigant
. we could be sued and held liable for harm catsgatients; and
. our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achiewingaintaining the commercial success of our petsland product candidates and could
substantially increase commercialization costs.

If other versions of extended or controlled releagecarbazepine or topiramate are approved and sgstally commercialized, especially
an extended or controlled release topiramate arpiteptic drug is approved before Trokendi XR reces$vfinal approval, our business would
be materially harmed.

Other third parties may seek approval to manufactund market their own versions of extended releasarbazepine or topiramate anti-
epileptic drugs in the United States. If any ofstaparties obtain FDA approval of an extended seléapiramate product before we do, they
may be entitled to three years of marketing exeltysiSuch exclusivity would, for example, delaytbommercialization of Trokendi XR and,
as a result, we may never achieve significant maskare for this tentatively approved product. Gouently, revenues from product sales of
these products would be similarly delayed and ausirtess, including our development programs, andily prospects would suffer. For
example, we are aware that Upsher-Smith's USL2&®1fded release topiramate) is in Phase Il clirdexelopment for the treatment of
epilepsy in adults and its NDA may have been fdeds being prepared for filing. If Upsher-SmitkdSL255 product is approved by the FDA
before Trokendi XR, then Upsher-Smith may obtane¢hyears of marketing exclusivity based on itsseh# clinical trial, which would
significantly delay our entry into the U.S. markigven if Trokendi XR is approved before USL255, way not be entitled to any marketing
exclusivity and, other than under circumstanceshich third parties may infringe or are infringiogr patents, we may not be able to prevent
the submission or approval of another full NDA &y competitor's extended or controlled releasiaomte product candidate, including
USL255. In addition, we are aware of companies afgomarketing modified-release oxcarbazepine ptsdudside of the United States, such
as Apydan, which is developed by Desitin Arzneieti@mbH and requires twice-daily administrationcdimpanies with modified-release
oxcarbazepine products outside of the United Staiesue or obtain approval of their products wittie United States, such competing
products may limit the potential success of OxteXR in the United States, and our business anditdyrprospects would be materially
impaired. Accordingly, if any third party is suce@d in obtaining approval to manufacture and matkeir own versions of extended release
oxcarbazepine or topiramate in the United Statesimay not be able to recover expenses incurredninaction with the development of or
realize revenues from Oxtellar XR or Trokendi XR.

If we do not obtain marketing exclusivity for ourrpduct candidates, our business may suff

Under the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, three yearsaoketing exclusivity may be granted for the appt@fanew and supplemental NDAs,
including Section 505(b)(2) applications, for, amather things, new indications, dosage forms,a®of administration, or strengths of an
existing drug, or for a new use, if new clinical@stigations that were conducted or sponsored dwpiplicant are determined by the FDA tc
essential to the approval of the application. Ehxislusivity, which is sometimes referred to asiclhinvestigation exclusivity, prevents the
FDA from approving an application under Section ®)&) for the same conditions of use associated thie new clinical investigations beft
the expiration of three years from the date of apgk. Such exclusivity, however, would not prevéitg approval of another application if the
applicant submits a Section 505(b)(1) NDA and taslacted its own adequate, well-controlled clinicials demonstrating safety and
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efficacy, nor would it prevent approval of a gengaoduct or Section 505(b)(2) product that didinobrporate the exclusivity-protected
changes of the approved drug product. Under theHataxman Amendments, newly-approved drugs andatidins may also benefit from a
statutory period of non-patent marketing exclugivithe Hatch-Waxman Amendments provide five-yearkaigng exclusivity to the first
applicant to gain approval of an NDA for an NCE amiag that the FDA has not previously approvedathgr drug containing the same active
API, or active moiety, which is the molecule resgibie for the action of the drug substance. AltHopgptection under the Hatch-Waxman
Amendments will not prevent the submission or aparof another full Section 505(b)(1) NDA, suchMBA applicant would be required to
conduct its own preclinical and adequate, well-cated clinical trials to demonstrate safety anfdetiveness. While the FDA granted a three
year marketing exclusivity period for Oxtellar XfRe FDA has not yet determined whether it will drararketing exclusivity for Trokendi X
and we cannot assure you that we will receive aeh snarketing exclusivity from the FDA for TrokendR or any of our product candidates.
If we are unable to obtain marketing exclusivity éair products or product candidates, then our @iitgqes may obtain approval of competing
products more easily than if we had such markegiajusivity, and our future revenues could be redupossibly materially.

Delays or failures in the completion of testing ofir product candidates would increase our costs ateday or limit our ability to generat
revenues.

Delays or failures in the completion of clinicahts for our product candidates could significamlise our product development costs. We do
not know whether current or planned trials willdmmpleted on schedule, if at all. The commenceraedtcompletion of clinical development
can be delayed or halted for a number of reasankiding:

. difficulties obtaining regulatory approval to commee a clinical trial or complying with condition®posed by a regulatory
authority regarding the scope or term of a clintcal,

. delays in reaching or failure to reach agreemeraameptable terms with prospective clinical redearganizations, or CROs,
and trial sites, the terms of which can be sulifpetxtensive negotiation and may vary significaaiiyong different CROs and
trial sites;

. insufficient or inadequate supply or quantity gfraduct candidate for use in trials;

. difficulties obtaining IRB or ethics committee appal to conduct a trial at a prospective site;

. challenges recruiting and enrolling patients tdipgate in clinical trials for a variety of reasnncluding competition from

other programs for the treatment of similar cordisi;
. severe or unexpected drug-related side effectsriexped by patients in a clinical trial;

. difficulty retaining patients who have initiatactlinical trial but may be prone to withdraw doeside effects from the therapy,
lack of efficacy or personal issues; and

. clinical holds imposed by the FDA.

Clinical trials may also be delayed as a resuftrobiguous or negative interim results. In additiimical trials may be suspended or
terminated by us, an IRB or ethics committee owarggthe clinical trial at a trial site (with regpeo that site), the FDA or other regulatory
authorities due to a number of factors, including:

. failure to conduct the clinical trial in accorda with regulatory requirements or the trial poots;

. observations during inspection of the clinica@ltoperations or trial sites by the FDA or othegulatory authorities that
ultimately result in the imposition of a clinicabldl;
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. unforeseen safety issues; or

. lack of adequate funding to continue the trial.

In addition, failure to conduct the clinical trial accordance with regulatory requirements or tia protocols may also result in the inability to
use the data to support product approval. Formastathe efficacy demonstrated by SPN-810 in itstmecent Phase Ilb study was not
statistically significant for all efficacy measures the study. Additionally, changes in regulatoeguirements and guidance may occur, and w
may need to amend clinical trial protocols to reffilnese changes. Amendments may require us tbmesaur clinical trial protocols to
institutional review boards or ethics committeasré®xamination, which may impact the costs, tinbnguccessful completion of a clinical
trial. In addition, many of the factors that causelead to, a delay in the commencement or conpletf clinical trials may also ultimately le

to the denial of regulatory approval of our prodeatdidates. If we experience delays in completigor if we terminate any of our clinical
trials, our ability to obtain regulatory approvat our product candidates may be materially harraad,our commercial prospects and abilit
generate product revenues will be diminished.

We expect intense competition and, if our compestdevelop or market alternatives for treatmentsaonfr target indications, our commercii
opportunities will be reduced or eliminated.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bidip@dvancing technologies, intense competitiod arstrong emphasis on proprietary
therapeutics. We face competition from a numbesooirces, some of which may target the same inditsias our products and product
candidates, including large pharmaceutical comgasimaller pharmaceutical companies, biotechnotogypanies, academic institutions,
government agencies and private and public reséastitutions. The availability of competing prodsievill limit the demand and the price we
are able to charge for any of our products or pcodandidates that are commercialized unless waldesto differentiate them. We anticipate
that we will face intense competition when our pretdcandidates are approved by regulatory autberénd we begin the commercialization
process for our products. For instance, there aee 16 branded products, as well as their genetnterparts, on the U.S. market indicated to
treat epilepsy. In addition, several NCEs haveredtéhe epilepsy market including Potiga, Vimpal &anzel. Another NCE, Stedesa, coul
approved later in 2013 and enter the market theneadh addition, competition in the ADHD marketthe United States has increased with the
commercial launch of several products in recentsjéacluding the launch of generic versions ofnldied drugs such as Adderall XR. As a
result, we may not be able to recover expensesrietin connection with the development of our preicdcandidates or realize revenues from
any commercialized product.

In addition to already marketed competing produgtspelieve certain companies are developing qiheatucts which could compete with our
product candidates should they be approved by aémyl authorities. For example, according to Dataitoo, as of April 2010, there were 47
compounds in preclinical and clinical developmentdpilepsy across the United States, Japan, Fr&@erenany, Italy, Spain and the United
Kingdom. Datamonitor reported that approximatelywiSe in latestage (Phase Il or later) clinical trials as ofeJ2011. We are also aware t
Upsher-Smith's USL255 (extended release topiranmta)Phase Il clinical development for the traant of epilepsy in adults and its NDA
may have been filed or is being prepared for filiiguccessful, such competing product could lithé potential success of Trokendi XR, and
our growth prospects would be materially impaidedaddition, we are aware of companies who are gtary outside of the United States
modified-release oxcarbazepine products, such gdap which is developed by Desitin Arzneimittel @hand requires twice-daily
administration. We are also aware that Qsymia,rahdsug containing ER topiramate and another AdPdyvailable in extended release for
treatment of weight management. If companies withlified-release oxcarbazepine products outsideefinited States obtain approval for
their products within the United States, then stmmpeting products may limit the potential sucadgSxtellar XR. Further, new
developments, including the development of
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other drug technologies, may render our productiickates obsolete or noncompetitive. As a resultpoaducts and product candidates may
become obsolete before we recover expenses incarmshnection with their development or realizeereues from any commercialized
product.

Further, many competitors have substantially greate

. capital resources;

. research and development resources and experiankaling personnel and technology;

. drug development, clinical trial and regulatoggources and experience;

. sales and marketing resources and experience;

. manufacturing and distribution resources anceérpce;

. name recognition; and

. resources, experience and expertise in prosecatid enforcement of intellectual property rights.

As a result of these factors, our competitors matgio regulatory approval of their products mongidly than we are able to or may obtain
patent protection or other intellectual properghts that limit or block us from developing or coemtializing our product candidates. Our
competitors may also develop drugs that are mdeetéfe, more useful, better tolerated, subjedeteer or less severe side effects, more
widely prescribed or accepted or less costly thans and may also be more successful than us infaetoung and marketing their products. If
we are unable to compete effectively with the paislof our competitors or if such competitors arecgessful in developing products that
compete with any of our product candidates thabamoved, our business, results of operationantiial condition and prospects may be
materially adversely affected. Mergers and acqaisitin the pharmaceutical industry may resultiaremore resources being concentrated at
competitors. Competition may increase further essalt of advances made in the commercial applitabif technologies and greater
availability of capital for investment.

Our products and our product candidates, if theycedve regulatory approval, may be subject to regtans or withdrawal from the market
and we may be subject to penalties if we fail tongdy with regulatory requirements.

Even if U.S. regulatory approval is obtained, tiARmay still impose significant restrictions on @guct's indicated uses or marketing or
impose ongoing requirements for potentially copthgt-approval studies. Our product candidates walsid be, and our approved product and
our collaborators' approved products are, subeohgjoing FDA requirements governing the labelpagkaging, storage, advertising,
promotion, recordkeeping and submission of safaty@her post-market information. In addition, miatturers of drug products and their
facilities are subject to continual review and pdit inspections by the FDA and other regulatoharities for compliance with cGMP
regulations. If we, our collaborators or a regutai@uthority discovers previously unknown problemith a product, such as side effects of
unanticipated severity or frequency, or problenmthhe facility where the product is manufactur@degulatory authority may impose
restrictions on that product or the manufactureeiuding requiring withdrawal of the product frohetmarket or suspension of manufacturing.
If we or our collaborators, or our or our collakbtora' approved products or product candidateshyentanufacturing facilities for our or our
collaborators' approved products or product candgdfail to comply with applicable regulatory reguments, a regulatory authority may:

. issue warning letters or untitled letters;

. impose civil or criminal penalties;
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. suspend regulatory approval;

. suspend any ongoing bioequivalence and/or cliticas;

. refuse to approve pending applications or supplésrierapplications filed by us;

. impose restrictions on operations, including cosyv manufacturing requirements, or suspensiomafyzction; or
. seize or detain products or require us to initeaproduct recall.

In addition, our product labeling, advertising gmmdmotion of our approved product, and our tenédyiapproved product and our product
candidates upon FDA approval, are subject to régylaequirements and continuing regulatory reviétve FDA strictly regulates the
promotional claims that may be made about presongiroducts. In particular, a product may not benpoted for uses that are not approve:
the FDA as reflected in the product's approvedliabePhysicians may nevertheless prescribe outymrts and, upon receiving FDA approval,
our product candidates to their patients in a matira is inconsistent with the approved label. FIA and other authorities actively enforce
the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotidioff-label uses, and a company that is foundaeehimproperly promoted off-label uses
may be subject to significant sanctions. The fddgrgernment has levied large civil and criminalefs against companies for alleged imprope
promotion and has enjoined several companies frogaging in off-label promotion. If we are foundhave promoted off-label uses, we may
be enjoined from such off-label promotion and bee@ubject to significant liability, which would hevan adverse effect on our reputation,
business and revenues, if any.

If we fail to produce our products and product caigdtes in the volumes that we require on a timebsts, or fail to comply with stringer
regulations applicable to pharmaceutical drug maragturers, we may face delays in the development emehmercialization of our product
and product candidates.

We do not currently own or operate manufacturirgiitees for the production of any of our productsproduct candidates beyond Phase Il
clinical trials, nor do we have plans to develop ewn manufacturing operations for Phase Il clihimaterials or commercial products in the
foreseeable future. We currently depend on thindypsontract manufacturers for the supply of thdsAer our products or product candidates,
including drug substance for our preclinical reskaand clinical trials. For Oxtellar XR and TrokéxdR, we currently rely on single suppliers
for raw materials including API and single manufmets to produce and package final dosage formg.fétare curtailment in the availability
of raw materials could result in production or atbelays with consequent adverse effects on usddlition, because regulatory authorities r
generally approve raw material sources for pharni#ezd products, changes in raw material suppleay result in production delays or higher
raw material costs.

The manufacture of pharmaceutical products requigesficant expertise and capital investment,udahg the development of advanced
manufacturing techniques and process controls.nRdaeutical companies often encounter difficultremianufacturing, particularly in scaling
up production of their products. These problem#uishe manufacturing difficulties relating to prodiact costs and yields, quality control,
including stability of the product and quality asmce testing, shortages of qualified personneledsas compliance with federal, state and
foreign regulations. If we are unable to demonstsaability in accordance with commercial requiratseor if our manufacturers were to
encounter difficulties or otherwise fail to compijth their obligations to us, our ability to obtdiDA approval and market our products and
product candidates would be jeopardized. In addigmy delay or interruption in the supply of atiali trial supplies could delay or prohibit the
completion of our bioequivalence and/or clinic#ls, increase the costs associated with conduotimdpioequivalence
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and/or clinical trials and, depending upon theqekof delay, require us to commence new trialsgatificant additional expense or to terminate
a trial.

Manufacturers of pharmaceutical products need naptp with cGMP requirements enforced by the FDAotlgh their facilities inspection
programs. These requirements include, among dtiveg, quality control, quality assurance and ttaéntenance of records and
documentation. Manufacturers of our products awdiyct candidates may be unable to comply with tie€dP requirements and with other
FDA and foreign regulatory requirements. A failtwecomply with these requirements may result iediand civil penalties, suspension of
production, suspension or delay in product apprgwalduct seizure or recall, or withdrawal of protdapproval. If the safety of any of our
products or product candidates is compromised dé&lure to adhere to applicable laws or for ottersons, we may not be able to obtain
regulatory approval for such product candidateuocsssfully commercialize such products or prodaadidates, and we may be held liable
any injuries sustained as a result. Any of thes®fa could cause a delay in clinical developmeetgulatory submissions, approvals or
commercialization of our products or product caatid, entail higher costs or result in our beinghlmto effectively commercialize our
product candidates. Furthermore, if we fail to @bthe required commercial quantities on a timedgib from our suppliers and at commerci
reasonable prices, we may be unable to meet defoandr approved products or product candidated veould lose potential revenues.

If the FDA or other applicable regulatory authoriéis approve generic products that compete with ahguwr products or product candidate
the sales of those products or product candidatesild be adversely affected.

Once an NDA, including a Section 505(b)(2) applaatis approved, the product covered thereby besoai'listed drug" which can, in turn,
be cited by potential competitors in support ofrappl of an ANDA. The FDCA, FDA regulations and ettapplicable regulations and policies
provide incentives to manufacturers to create niedlifnon-infringing versions of a drug to faciléahe approval of an ANDA or other
application for generic substitutes. These manufacs might only be required to conduct a relayiveéxpensive study to show that their
product has the same active ingredient(s), dosarge, Strength, route of administration, and cowoditi of use, or labeling, as our product
candidate and that the generic product is bioedgiivdo ours, meaning it is absorbed in the body@tsame rate and to the same extent as ot
product candidate. These generic equivalents, whigst meet the same quality standards as brandedhpbeuticals, would be significantly
less costly than ours to bring to market and corgsathat produce generic equivalents are genemblly to offer their products at lower prices.
Thus, after the introduction of a generic competitosignificant percentage of the sales of anpdbed product is typically lost to the generic
product. Accordingly, competition from generic egalents to our product candidates would materiatlyersely impact our revenues,
profitability and cash flows and substantially lirour ability to obtain a return on the investmemtshave made in our product candidates.

We intend to rely on thirdparty collaborators to market and commercialize guoduct candidates outside of the United Statebpvmay fail
to effectively commercialize our product candidates

Outside of the United States, we currently plaatitize strategic partners or contract sales fqred®re appropriate, to assist in the
commercialization of our product candidates, ifrappd. We currently possess limited resources aaylnot be successful in establishing
collaborations or co-promotion arrangements on@atatde terms, if at all. We also face competitiomur search for collaborators and co-
promoters. By entering into strategic collaboragion similar arrangements, we will rely on thirdtpes for financial resources and for
development, commercialization, sales and marketimyregulatory expertise. Our collaborators méytdadevelop or effectively
commercialize our product candidates because thieyat obtain the necessary regulatory approvady, litk adequate financial or other
resources or they decide to focus on other invssti Any failure of our
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third-party collaborators to successfully marked aammercialize our product candidates outsidéefinited States would diminish our
revenues and harm our results of operations.

Limitations on our patent rights relating to our mducts and product candidates may limit our ability prevent third parties from competir
against us.

Our success will depend on our ability to obtaid araintain patent protection for our proprietarghteologies and our product candidates,
preserve our trade secrets, prevent third pames fnfringing upon our proprietary rights and agerwithout infringing upon the proprietary
rights of others. To that end, we seek patent ptiote in the United States and internationallydar product candidates. Our policy is to
actively seek to protect our proprietary positign &mong other things, filing patent applicationdtie United States and abroad (including
Europe, Canada and certain other countries wheroppate) relating to proprietary technologies the important to the development of our
business.

The strength of patents in the pharmaceutical imgusvolves complex legal and scientific questi@msl can be uncertain. Patent applications
in the United States and most other countries anéidential for a period of time until they are fished, and publication of discoveries in
scientific or patent literature typically lags astdiscoveries by several months or more. As altiesa cannot be certain that we were the first
to conceive inventions covered by our patents amtlimg patent applications or that we were the firdile patent applications for such
inventions. In addition, we cannot be certain that patent applications will be granted, that aasued patents will adequately protect our
intellectual property or that such patents will betchallenged, narrowed, invalidated or circumeént

We also rely upon unpatented trade secrets, unieat&now-how and continuing technological innovatio develop and maintain our
competitive position, which we seek to protectpamt, by confidentiality agreements with our emgley and our collaborators and consultants
We also have agreements with our employees andtsdleonsultants that obligate them to assign theéntions to us. It is possible that
technology relevant to our business will be indejegrly developed by a person that is not a parsutdh an agreement. Furthermore, if the
employees and consultants that are parties to tggeements breach or violate the terms of theseagents, we may not have adequate
remedies, and we could lose our trade secretsghrsuch breaches or violations. Further, our temteets could otherwise become known or
be independently discovered by our competitors. failyre to adequately prevent disclosure of oadér secrets and other proprietary
information could have a material adverse impaabwnbusiness.

In addition, the laws of certain foreign countrigisnot protect proprietary rights to the same ebeiin the same manner as the United States
and therefore, we may encounter problems in prioigeind defending our intellectual property in agrtforeign jurisdictions.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual propertyights of third parties, it will be costly and timconsuming, and an unfavorable outcome
that litigation would have a material adverse effean our business.

Our commercial success depends upon our abilitytEadbility of our collaborators to develop, mautfire, market and sell their approved
products and our product candidates and use opriptary technologies without infringing the pragtery rights of third parties. Numerous
U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patglications, which are owned by third partiesseki the fields in which we and our
collaborators are developing product candidategshAgharmaceutical industry expands and more fsatea issued, the risk increases that ou
collaborators' approved products and our produntlickates may give rise to claims of infringementtef patent rights of others. There may be
issued patents of third parties of which we areemity unaware, that may be infringed by our cadiabors' approved products or Oxtellar XR,
Trokendi XR or any of our product
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candidates, which could prevent us from being bmmercialize Oxtellar XR, Trokendi XR or anyafr product candidates, respectively.
Because patent applications can take many yeassue, there may be currently pending applicatwinish may later result in issued patents
that our collaborators' approved products or oadpct candidates may infringe.

We may be exposed to, or threatened with, futtigation by third parties alleging that our collahtors' approved products or our products or
product candidates infringe their intellectual pedy rights. If one of our collaborators' approygdducts or our products or product candid

is found to infringe the intellectual property rigtof a third party, we or our collaborators cobédenjoined by a court and required to pay
damages and could be unable to commercialize tblicaple approved products and product candidatéesss we obtain a license to the pat

A license may not be available to us on acceptalias, if at all. In addition, during litigatiorhé patent holder could obtain a preliminary
injunction or other equitable relief which couldpibit us from making, using or selling our appréyeoducts, pending a trial on the merits,
which may not occur for several years.

There is a substantial amount of litigation invalyipatent and other intellectual property rightthim pharmaceutical industry generally. If a
third party claims that we or our collaboratorgiimje its intellectual property rights, we may faceumber of issues, including, but not limited
to:

. infringement and other intellectual property clawtsich, regardless of merit, may be expensive and-tonsuming to litigate
and may divert our management's attention fromcoue business;

. substantial damages for infringement, which vag/have to pay if a court decides that the prodtigsue infringes on or
violates the third party's rights, and, if the ddimds that the infringement was willful, we colé ordered to pay treble
damages and the patent owner's attorneys' fees;

. a court prohibiting us from selling Oxtellar XR,0kendi XR, or any product candidate approved inftiere, if any, unless the
third party licenses its rights to us, which inst required to do;

. if a license is available from a third party, may have to pay substantial royalties, fees antgrenss-licenses to our intellectual
property rights; and

. redesigning Oxtellar XR, Trokendi XR, or anyaafr product candidates so they do not infringe ciwimay not be possible or
may require substantial monetary expenditures iamel t

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect ofoece our patents, which could be expensive, tinemsuming and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents. To count&irigement or unauthorized use, we may be requodie infringement claims, which can
be expensive and time consuming. For example, e@aolved in the following matters related to Raegh 1V Certification Notice Letters
that we have received in connection with our callalbors' products. In connection with an ANDA, ad@maph IV Certification Notice Letter
notifies the FDA that one or more patents listethenFDA's Approved Drug Product List (Orange Boiskalleged to be invalid, unenforceable
or will not be infringed by the ANDA product.

. Sanctura XR Litigation. We are involved in a patent infringement matiedfin response to three Paragraph IV Certifigatio
Notice Letters that we received in June 2009, Ndyem2009 and April 2010 regarding an ANDA submittedhe FDA by each
of Watson Laboratories, Inc., Sandoz Inc. and Pekitlaboratories, Inc., respectively, requestingrapal to market and sell
generic versions of Sanctura XR trospium chloridiereded release capsules, a product that is manuéacand sold by
Allergan, Inc., which is the marketing partner afd®
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Pharmaceuticals Solutions Inc. The ANDA filers g#ld in their respective original notice lettersttie5. Patent

Number 7,410,978 issued to us is invalid, unenfaozand/or will not be infringed by the respectbeenpany's manufacture,
use or sale of the product described in its ANDArsission. Our patent covers extended-release fationk containing
trospium chloride and expires on February 1, 2@28l,is licensed to Endo Pharmaceuticals SolutioasHach of the ANDA
filers subsequently amended their respective ndgiters to include other U.S. patents relatedaiocBira XR trospium chloride
(specifically, U.S. Patent Nos. 7,759,359; 7,768;63781,448; and 7,781,449). In March 2012, thetowled that the
defendants' proposed products infringe the paiergsit and that the patents-in-suit are invalitleAgan, Inc. and Endo
Pharmaceuticals Solutions Inc. filed an appeal,thad-ederal Circuit heard argument on June 142 2De Federal Circuit
issued a Rule 36 summary affirmance of the Dis€@imtirt's decision that the patents were invalidame 18, 2012.

Allergan, Inc. and Endo Pharmaceuticals Solutiowes filed a petition for writ of certiorari on Sephber 17, 2012, which was
denied by the U.S. Supreme Court on October 152 20&reby declining to disturb the earlier judidiading that the patents
are invalid. We do not expect the resulting enfrgampetitive generic products to have a matedaksase effect on our current
business.

. Oracea Litigation. We are involved in a patent infringement casfih the District of Delaware in response to Paply IV
Certification Notice Letters that we received irpfenber 2011 and September 2012 regarding an ANIbfited to the FDA
by Amneal Pharmaceuticals LLC, requesting appravaharket and sell generic versions of Oracea (§0mmediate release,
10 mg delayed release doxycycline), a productithatanufactured and sold by Galderma Laboratori¢s, Amneal alleged its
notice letters that U.S. Patent Nos. 7,749,53er532 patent, and 8,206,740, or the '740 patdrith are both assigned to us,
are invalid, unenforceable and/or will not be infed by the manufacture, use or sale of the pragksatribed in its ANDA. In
addition, in October 2010, we received a complainteclaratory judgment from Mylan Pharmaceutidats, or Mylan,
alleging invalidity of the '532 patent. This casaswried in July 2011 in the District of Delawafée district court held that
Mylan infringed certain claims of the patent, ahdttthe patent claims are valid. This district ¢al@cision is currently being
appealed by Mylan; Lupin Limited and Lupin Pharméasls, Inc.; and Impax Laboratories, Inc. to th&. Court of Appeals
for the Federal Circuit. The '532 patent and tH@ Fatent cover once-daily formulations of doxyaye] including their methods
use in treating rosacea and processes regardiimgpthparation. Both patents expire on Decembe209y and are licensed to
Galderma Laboratories, L.P. We intend to suppoftt&ena Laboratories, L.P. in these matters. Weat@Rrpect an adverse
decision in the foregoing matters will have a matexdverse effect on our current business.

. Intuniv Litigation. We are involved in several patent infringemerioas in district courts throughout the United 8&itwhich
were filed in response to Paragraph IV Certificatidotice Letters that we received in March, AprileOctober 2010, and
February, March and October 2011, regarding ANDdtsnsitted to the FDA requesting approval to market sell generic
versions of Intuniv, a product that is manufactuaed sold by Shire LLC. The defendants in thesesase Teva
Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. and Teva Pharmaceutichidtries, Ltd; Actavis Elizabeth LLC and Actais;.; Watson
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Watson Laboratories, Inceriéfh Watson Pharma, Inc. and ANDA, Inc.; Impax &abories, Inc.;
Sandoz Inc. and Mylan Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Miria. The ANDA filers allege that our U.S. Patdluts. 6,287,599 and
6,811,794 are invalid, unenforceable and/or witl m@ infringed by the manufacture, use or saldefroduct described in its
ANDA submissions. A bench trial was held on Septenity-20, 2012 in the District of Delaware in tlese against defendants
Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc.; Teva Pharmaceudtidaistries, Ltd.; Actavis Elizabeth LLC; and Acieunc. No decision h¢
yet been issued by the district court in that cBswr to the trial in the District of Delaware,iBhLLC settled all claims against
defendants Anchen
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Pharmaceutical, Inc., Anchen Inc. and TWi Pharmticals, Inc. in connection with TWi's ANDA for a geric version of
Intuniv. Our patents cover extended-release fortimrla containing guanfacine hydrochloride, with kst patent expiration in
July 2022. Both of these patents are licensed e $hC. We intend to support Shire LLC in its eff®to contest this matter.
We do not expect an adverse decision in the foregwiatter will have a material adverse effect onaurent business.

In any infringement proceeding including the foregp a court may decide that a patent of ours tsvalid or is unenforceable, or may refus
stop the other party from using the technologysitié on the grounds that our patents do not chedaethnology in question. An adverse re
in any litigation or defense proceedings couldgng or more of our patents at risk of being inwatid or interpreted narrowly and could put
our patent application at risk of not issuing.

Interference proceedings brought by the USPTO neaydzessary to determine the priority of inventiaith respect to our patents and patent
applications or those of our collaborators. An unfable outcome could require us to cease usinggtttenology or to attempt to license rights
to it from the prevailing party. Our business cobédharmed if a prevailing party does not offeaudigense on terms that are acceptable to us.
Litigation or interference proceedings may fail aeden if successful, may result in substantiatscand distraction of our management and
other employees. We may not be able to preventgabo with our collaborators, misappropriation af proprietary rights, particularly in
countries where the laws may not protect thosdsigh fully as in the United States.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amounisobdery required in connection with intellectuabperty litigation, there is a risk that some
of our confidential information could be compronud®y disclosure during this type of litigation.dddition, there could be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motiosh@r interim proceeding or developments. If sities analysts or investors perceive these
results to be negative, it could have a substaatiaérse effect on the price of our common stotler& can be no assurance that our produ
product candidates will not be subject to the seske.

We depend on collaborators to work with us to deyglmanufacture and commercialize their and our phacts and product candidates.

We have a license agreement with United Therapetdicase one of our proprietary technologies foorh formulation of treprostinil
diethanolamine, or treprostinil, for the treatmehPAH, as well as for other indications. This d@imulation was the subject of an NDA for
PAH submitted by United Therapeutics and accepiefiling by the FDA in February 2012. On Octob&; 2012, United Therapeutics
received a complete response letter from the FDalirdag to approve the product. Accordingly, wermt expect to receive any royalties for
this formulation in this indication unless and ufitial marketing approval from the FDA is receivadd until United Therapeutics launches
product. We are entitled to receive milestonesrandlties for use of this formulation in other indtions. If we materially breach any of our
obligations under the license agreement, howeverauld lose the potential to receive any futusally payments thereunder, which could be
financially significant to us.

We also have license agreements with Especificeisdbil, S.A., DE C.V. and we may enter into addalcollaborations in the future. Our
future collaboration agreements may have the effelitniting the areas of research and developrigaittwe may pursue, either alone or in
collaboration with third parties. Much of the paiahrevenues from these future collaborations w@ysist of contingent payments, such as
payments for achieving development milestones ayadlties payable on sales of developed products.miiitestone and royalty revenues that
we may receive under these collaborations will dejpgoon our collaborators' ability to successfdivelop, introduce, market and
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sell new products. Future collaboration partnerg fad to develop or effectively commercialize prerds using our products, product
candidates or technologies because they, amongtbthgs:

. may change the focus of their development and cawialization efforts or may have insufficient resces to effectively
develop our product candidates. Pharmaceuticabartdchnology companies historically have re-evi@daheir development
and commercialization priorities following mergarsd consolidations, which have been common in tegears in these
industries. The ability of some of our product daiatks to reach their potential could be limiteduf future collaborators
decrease or fail to increase development or comaiation efforts related to those product cantida

. may decide not to devote the necessary resoureetodnternal constraints, such as limited persbwita the requisite scientifi
expertise or limited cash resources, or the bthigf other drug development programs may haveleghigelihood of obtaining
marketing approval or may potentially generateeatgr return on investment;

. may develop and commercialize, either aloneithr others, drugs that are similar to or competitivith the product candidates
that are the subject of their collaborations wish u

. may not have sufficient resources necessary tg taerproduct candidate through clinical developmerarketing approval and
commercialization;

. may fail to comply with applicable regulatoryqtgérements;
. may not be able to obtain the necessary maikegaprovals; or
. may breach or terminate their arrangement wéth u

If collaboration partners fail to develop or efigety commercialize our products or product cantiddor any of these reasons, we may not b
able to replace the collaboration partner with haopartner to develop and commercialize the produproduct candidate under the terms of
the collaboration. Further, even if we are ablesace the collaboration partner, we may not e tmbdo so on commercially favorable terms
As a result, the development and commercializatfahe affected product or product candidate ctn@dlelayed, curtailed or terminated
because we may not have sufficient financial resssipor capabilities to continue development andnaerialization of the product candidate
on our own, which could adversely affect our resoftoperations.

We rely and will continue to rely on outsourcing @ngements for certain of our activities, includinginical research of our product
candidates and manufacturing of our compounds angduct candidates beyond Phase Il clinical trials.

We rely on outsourcing arrangements for some ofagtivities, including manufacturing, preclinicaidaclinical research, data collection and
analysis, and electronic submission of regulatiinygfs. We may have limited control over thesedtparties and we cannot guarantee that the
will perform their obligations in an effective atichely manner. Our reliance on third parties, idéhg third-party CROs and CMOs entails
risks including, but not limited to:

. non-compliance by third parties with regulatory auality control standards;

. sanctions imposed by regulatory authorities if commis supplied or manufactured by a third partypbapor manufacturer fail
to comply with applicable regulatory standards;

. the possible breach of the agreements by thesGR@MOs because of factors beyond our contrdi@insolvency of any of

these third parties or other financial difficultiésbor unrest, natural disasters or other facdiersely affecting their ability to
conduct their business; and
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. termination or non-renewal of an agreement by hirel pparties, at a time that is costly or inconesnifor us, because of our
breach of the manufacturing agreement or basete@ndwn business priorities.

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilitiesthe production of any of our products or prodtarididates beyond Phase Il clinical tri
nor do we have plans to develop our own manufagjusperations for Phase Il clinical materials omenercial products in the foreseeable
future. We currently depend on third-party CMOsdbrof our required raw materials and drug subsaor our preclinical research and
clinical trials. For Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XRgveurrently rely on single suppliers for raw madks;iincluding API, and expect to rely on
third-party suppliers and manufacturers for thalftommercial products. If any of these vendorsiable to perform its obligations to us,
including due to violations of the FDA's requirertsegrour ability to meet regulatory requirement@mjected timelines and necessary quality
standards for successful manufacture of the varegsired lots of material for our development anthmercialization efforts would be
adversely affected. Further, if we were requirediange vendors, it could result in delays in egutatory approval efforts and significantly
increase our costs. Accordingly, the loss of angwfcurrent or future third-party manufacturersoppliers could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operationsyfife condition and prospects.

We have entered into supply agreements for botlel@xtXR and Trokendi XR with leading CMOs headdesed in North America for the
manufacture of the final commercial products. Hogrethere is a risk that the counterparties todteggeements will not perform their
respective obligations or will terminate these agrents. In addition, we do not have contractuatieiships for the manufacture of
commercial supplies of all of our product candidafehe number of third-party manufacturers withékpertise, required regulatory approvals
and facilities to manufacture drug substance amal firug product on a commercial scale is limifBaerefore, we may not be able to enter intc
such arrangements with third-party manufactureestimely manner, on acceptable terms or at allufeato secure such contractual
arrangements would harm the commercial prospecisuioproduct candidates, our costs could increasieour ability to generate revenues
could be delayed.

We have in-licensed or acquired a portion of ourté@tiectual property necessary to develop certairoaf psychiatry product candidates, and
if we fail to comply with our obligations under angf these arrangements, we could lose such intallet property rights.

We are a party to and rely on several arrangenvettighird parties, such as those with Afecta anh&® which give us rights to intellectual
property that is necessary for the developmenedhn of our product candidates including SPN-848 SPN-809, respectively. In addition,
we may enter into similar arrangements in the ft@ur current arrangements impose various devedaproyalty and other obligations on
If we materially breach these obligations or if étize or Rune fail to adequately perform their reipe®bligations, these exclusive
arrangements could be terminated, which would téswur inability to develop, manufacture and gethducts that are covered by such
intellectual property.

Even if our product candidates receive regulatorgmoval in the United States, we or our collaboredanay never receive approval
commercialize our product candidates outside of theited States.

In order to market any products outside of the &thfbtates, we must establish and comply with nuaseaad varying regulatory requirements
of other jurisdictions regarding safety and efficafpproval procedures vary among jurisdictions aad involve product testing and
administrative review periods different from, anéater than those in the United States. The timeired to obtain approval in other
jurisdictions might differ from that required totain FDA approval. The regulatory approval prodessther jurisdictions may include all

the risks detailed above regarding FDA approvaheUnited States as well as other risks. For e¥anggislation analogous to
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Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA in the United Statekich relates to the ability of an NDA applicaatuse published data not developed by
such applicant, may not exist in other countriagelritories where data is not freely available,way not have the ability to commercialize
products without negotiating rights from third pestto refer to their clinical data in our regulgtapplications, which could require the
expenditure of significant additional funds.

In addition, regulatory approval in one jurisdictidoes not ensure regulatory approval in anothéralfailure or delay in obtaining regulatory
approval in one jurisdiction may have a negatifeatfon the regulatory processes in others. Fattuabtain regulatory approvals in other
jurisdictions or any delay or setback in obtaingugh approvals could have the same adverse effeteded above regarding FDA approva
the United States. As described above, such efiiechsde the risks that any of our product candidahay not be approved for all indications
requested, which could limit the uses of our proadandidates and have an adverse effect on theimagscial potential or require costly post-
marketing studies.

Guidelines and recommendations published by variamuganizations can reduce the use of our productalgroduct candidates.

Government agencies promulgate regulations andeinés directly applicable to us and to our prodwetd product candidates. In addition,
professional societies, practice management grqupste health and science foundations and orgéinizs involved in various diseases from
time to time may also publish guidelines or recomdaions to the health care and patient communiesommendations of government
agencies or these other groups or organizationsrefaie to such matters as usage, dosage, roattnghistration and use of concomitant
therapies. Recommendations or guidelines suggetingeduced use of our products or product cabelidar the use of competitive or
alternative products that are followed by patientd health care providers could result in decreasedf our products or product candidates.

We are subject to uncertainty relating to paymemtreimbursement policies which, if not favorablerfour products or product candidates,
could hinder or prevent our commercial success.

Our ability or our collaborators' ability to sucsfdly commercialize our products and product cdats, including Oxtellar XR and Trokendi
XR, will depend in part on the coverage and reirsborent levels set by governmental authoritiesgpgiealth insurers, managed care
organizations and other third-party payors. Asrashold for coverage and reimbursement, third-paatyors generally require that drug
products have been approved for marketing by th&.Rird-party payors also are increasingly chalieg the effectiveness of and prices
charged for medical products and services. Govenhaghorities and these third-party payors hatesgited to control costs, in some
instances, by limiting coverage and the amouneishbursement for particular medications or encongthe use of lower-cost generic AEDSs.
We cannot be sure that reimbursement will be abtglbor any of the products that we develop anckihbursement is available, the level of
reimbursement. Reduced or partial payment or reisgrnent coverage could make our products or prathratidates, including Oxtellar XR
and Trokendi XR, less attractive to patients arebgribing physicians. We also may be required Hmse products or product candidates at a
discount, which would adversely affect our abitityrealize an appropriate return on our investnrenur products or product candidates or
compete on price.

We expect that private insurers and managed cgeniations will consider the efficacy, cost effeehess and safety of our products or
product candidates, including Oxtellar XR and TmodieXR, in determining whether to approve reimbuarsat for such products or product
candidates and at what level. Because each thitgl-payor individually approves payment or reimlament, obtaining these approvals can b
a time consuming and expensive process that ceglgne us to provide scientific or clinical suppfart the use of each of our products or
product candidates separately to
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each third-party payor. In some cases, it could sdveral months or years before a particular f@ivesurer or managed care organization
reviews a particular product, and we may ultimateyunsuccessful in obtaining coverage. Our congustgenerally have larger organizations
as well as existing business relationships withdtpiarty payors relating to their products. Ouribess would be materially adversely affected
if we do not receive approval for reimbursemenbwf products or product candidates from privateress on a timely or satisfactory basis.
Our products and product candidates, may not bsidered cost-effective, and coverage and reimbweémay not be available or sufficient
to allow us to sell our products or product cantéidan a profitable basis. Our business would laésadversely affected if private insurers,
managed care organizations, the Medicare prograsther reimbursing bodies or payors limit the irdiens for which our products or product
candidates will be reimbursed to a smaller set thatelieve they are effective in treating.

In some foreign countries, particularly Canada @redcountries of Europe, the pricing of prescriptpinarmaceuticals is subject to strict
governmental control. In these countries, priciegatiations with governmental authorities can tsikgo 12 months or longer after the receipt
of regulatory approval and product launch. To abfavorable reimbursement for the indications sowghpricing approval in some countries,
we may be required to conduct a clinical trial tbatpares the cost-effectiveness of our producpsaiuct candidates to other available
therapies. If reimbursement for our products odpit candidates is unavailable in any country incivineimbursement is sought, limited in
scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfgclevels, our business could be materially hatme

In addition, many managed care organizations naigothe price of products and develop formularibElestablish pricing and
reimbursement levels. Exclusion of a product frofarenulary can lead to its sharply reduced usaghémmanaged care organization's patient
population. If our products or product candidatesret included within an adequate number of foarigk or adequate payment or
reimbursement levels are not provided, or if thoskcies increasingly favor generic products, owarket share and gross margins could be
negatively affected, which would have a materialeade effect on our overall business and finareadition.

We expect to experience pricing pressures duectpaltential healthcare reforms discussed elsewhéhés Annual Report on Form 10-K, as
well as the trend toward programs aimed at reduleéajth care costs and the increasing influendealfth maintenance organizations and
additional legislative proposals.

We face potential product liability exposure, anfisuccessful claims are brought against us, we niagur substantial liabilities.

The use of our product candidates in clinical $riahd the sale of any of our products expose tieetask of product liability claims. Product
liability claims might be brought against us by somers, healthcare providers or others sellingloeravise coming into contact with our
products and product candidates. If we cannot Sstakly defend ourselves against product liabititgims, we could incur substantial
liabilities. In addition, product liability claimshay result in:

. decreased demand for any product or productidatedthat has received approval and is being cawialzed,;
. impairment of our business reputation and expotuadverse publicity;

. withdrawal of bioequivalence and/or clinicabtrparticipants;

. initiation of investigations by regulators;

. costs of related litigation;

. distraction of management's attention from our prinbusiness;
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. substantial monetary awards to patients or ottemelnts;
. loss of revenues; and
. the inability to commercialize any of our produandidates for which we obtain marketing approval.

Our product liability insurance coverage for otnidlal trials is limited to $10 million per clairmd $10 million in the aggregate, and covers
bodily injury and property damage arising from olimical trials, subject to industry-standard teymsnditions and exclusions. Our insurance
coverage may not be sufficient to reimburse usafor expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreovartanse coverage is becoming
increasingly expensive, and, in the future, we matybe able to maintain insurance coverage atsonedle cost or in sufficient amounts to
protect us against losses. We have expanded auaimse coverage to include the sale of commerctalyzts prior to the commercialization
our products. On occasion, large judgments have Ae@rded in class action lawsuits based on dhagshiad unanticipated side effects. A
successful product liability claim or series oficia brought against us could cause our stock peickecline and, if judgments exceed our
insurance coverage, could decrease our cash aedsativaffect our business.

Ouir failure to successfully develop and market prads or product candidates would impair our abilitg grow.

As part of our growth strategy, we intend to depedad market additional product candidates. Weparsuing various therapeutic
opportunities through our pipeline. We may spenatsa years completing our development of any paldr current or future internal product
candidate, and failure can occur at any stage pftuct candidates to which we allocate our ressinsay not end up being successful. In
addition, because our internal research capakilitie limited, we may be dependent upon pharmae¢gtbmpanies, academic scientists and
other researchers to sell or license productsabmt@ogy to us. The success of this strategy deppacdly upon our ability to identify, select,
discover and acquire promising pharmaceutical prbdandidates and products.

The process of proposing, negotiating and impleingra license or acquisition of a product candidmtapproved product is lengthy and
complex. Other companies, including some with saufislly greater financial, marketing and sale®ueses, may compete with us for the
license or acquisition of product candidates amt@ged products. We have limited resources to ifleand execute the acquisition or in-
licensing of third-party products, businesses actiiologies and integrate them into our curremagifucture. Moreover, we may devote
resources to potential acquisitions or in-licensipgortunities that are never completed, or we fadyo realize the anticipated benefits of
such efforts. We may not be able to acquire thiatsitp additional product candidates on termswleafind acceptable, or at all.

In addition, future acquisitions may entail numeraperational and financial risks, including:

. exposure to unknown liabilities;

. disruption of our business and diversion of our aggament's time and attention to develop acquiredyats or technologies;
. incurrence of substantial debt, dilutive issuemnof securities or depletion of cash to pay fouésitions;

. higher than expected acquisition and integratiosts;

. difficulty in combining the operations and pamsel of any acquired businesses with our operagoiispersonnel;

. increased amortization expenses;
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. impairment of relationships with key suppliers astomers of any acquired businesses due to chamgemagement and
ownership; and

. inability to motivate key employees of any acquibesinesses.

Further, any product candidate that we acquire ragyire additional development efforts prior to enercial sale, including extensive clinical
testing and approval by the FDA and applicableifpreegulatory authorities. All product candidasee prone to risks of failure typical of
pharmaceutical product development, including thesgbility that a product candidate will not be winao be sufficiently safe and effective -
approval by regulatory authorities.

Healthcare reform measures could hinder or preventr product candidates' commercial succe

The U.S. government and other governments haverskmmificant interest in pursuing healthcare refoGovernment-adopted reform
measures could adversely impact the pricing oftheate products and services in the United Stategernationally and the amount of
reimbursement available from governmental agermiegher third-party payors. The continuing effafshe U.S. and foreign governments,
insurance companies, managed care organizationsthaedpayors of health care services to contaieduce healthcare costs may adversely
affect our ability to set prices for any approvedduct candidate which we believe are fair, andatility to generate revenues and achieve
maintain profitability.

In both the United States and some foreign jurisahs, there have been a number of legislativeragdlatory proposals and initiatives to
change the health care system in ways that cotddtadur ability to sell any approved product ptaifly. Some of these proposed and
implemented reforms could result in reduced reiraborent rates for our products, which would advgraéct our business strategy,
operations and financial results. For example, aré¥i 2010, President Obama signed into law a kgisl overhaul of the U.S. healthcare
system, known as the Patient Protection and Aftdel@€are Act of 2010, as amended by the HealtreasleEducation Affordability
Reconciliation Act of 2010. These laws and thegutations, which we refer to collectively as theatlle Care Reform Law, may have far
reaching consequences for biopharmaceutical corapéike us. As a result of the Healthcare Reformv, Lsubstantial changes could be made
to the current system for paying for healthcarthanUnited States, including changes made in dadektend benefits to those who currently
lack insurance coverage or changing coverage paeasn&xtending coverage to a large populationdceubstantially change the structure of
the health insurance system and the methodologyefmbursing medical services and drugs. Thesetsiral changes could entalil
modifications to the existing system of private @ayand government programs, such as Medicare atickid, creation of a government-
sponsored healthcare insurance source, or someiratiob of both, as well as other changes. Resiring} the coverage of medical care in the
United States could impact the reimbursement fes@ibed drugs, including our products and prodantlidates. If reimbursement for our
approved products is substantially less than weeip the future, or rebate obligations associatigl them are substantially increased, our
business could be materially and adversely impacted

In September 2007, the Food and Drug Administratiorendments Act of 2007 was enacted, giving the FDAanced post-marketing
authority, including the authority to require posarketing studies and clinical trials, labeling mbas based on new safety information, and
compliance with risk evaluations and mitigatiorastgies approved by the FDA. In July 2012, the Farwai Drug Administration Safety and
Innovation Act was enacted, expanding drug suppdircrequirements and strengthening FDA's respndaig shortages, among other
things. The FDA's exercise of this authority corddult in delays or increased costs during prodagelopment, clinical trials and regulatory
review, increased costs to assure compliance waigirgpproval regulatory requirements, and potentidticti®dns on the sale and/or distributi
of any approved product candidates.
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Future federal and state proposals and healthrefoams could limit the prices that can be charfpedhe product candidates that we develop
and may further limit our commercial opportunityui@esults of operations could be materially adelgraffected by the Health Care Reform
Law by reducing the amounts that private insurdlispaly and by other health care reforms that magbacted or adopted in the future.

We will need to increase the size of our organipatiand we may experience difficulties in managiggowth.

We will need to manage our anticipated growth amwldased operational activity. Our personnel, systand facilities currently in place may
not be adequate to support this future growth. idure financial performance and our ability to quete effectively will depend, in part, on «
ability to effectively manage any future growth.reed to effectively execute our growth strategpyuires that we:

. manage our regulatory approvals and clinicalgreffectively;

. manage our internal development efforts effetyiwhile complying with our contractual obligat®to licensors, licensees,
contractors, collaborators and other third parties;

. develop internal sales and marketing capabilities;

. commercialize our product candidates;

. improve our operational, financial and managementrols, reporting systems and procedures; and
. attract and motivate sufficient numbers of talerdgatployees.

This future growth could place a strain on our adstiative and operational infrastructure and neguire our management to divert a
disproportionate amount of its attention away froun day-to-day activities. We may not be able featively manage the expansion of our
operations or recruit and train additional quatifigersonnel, which may result in weaknesses inrdrastructure, give rise to operational
mistakes, loss of business opportunities, lossmfleyees and reduced productivity among remainigleyees. We may not be able to make
improvements to our management information androbaystems in an efficient or timely manner and/rdescover deficiencies in existing
systems and controls. If our management is unabdéféctively manage our expected growth, our egpsmay increase more than expected,
our ability to generate or increase our revenuesdddoe reduced and we may not be able to implem@nbusiness strategy.

We may not be able to manage our business effelstifeve are unable to attract, motivate and retaiey members of our current
management team.

We may not be able to attract or motivate qualifi@hagement and scientific and clinical persorméhé future due to the intense competitior
for qualified personnel among biotechnology, pharewtical and other businesses. Our industry hasreeqred a high rate of turnover of
management personnel in recent years. If we arabietto attract and motivate necessary personradomplish our business objectives, we
may experience constraints that will significanthpede the achievement of our objectives.

We are highly dependent on the development, regylatommercial and financial expertise of our ngemaent, particularly Jack A. Khattar,
our President and Chief Executive Officer. We dboheave any employment agreements with any membeur$enior management team
except Mr. Khattar. If we lose key members of oanagement team, we may not be able to find suitaplacements in a timely fashion, if at
all. We cannot be certain that future managemansttions will not disrupt our operations and geteiconcern among employees and those
with whom we do business.
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In addition to the competition for personnel, oarpgorate officers are located in the greater WagbimD.C. metropolitan area, an area that is
characterized by a high cost of living. As such,omald have difficulty attracting experienced penrsel to our Company and may be required
to expend significant financial resources in ouptayee recruitment efforts.

We also have scientific and clinical advisors whsist us in formulating our product development @limdcal strategies. These advisors are
our employees and may have commitments to, or ¢timgwr advisory contracts with, other entitieattimay limit their availability to us, or
may have arrangements with other companies totassle development of products that may competie aurs.

If we fail to comply with healthcare regulations,encould face substantial penalties and our busineggerations and financial conditiol
could be adversely affected.

As a supplier of pharmaceuticals, certain fedemdl state healthcare laws and regulations pertaioifigaud and abuse and patients' rights are
and will be applicable to our business. We couldldgect to healthcare fraud and abuse and patiaficy regulation by both the federal
government and the states in which we conduct osinkess. The regulations include:

. the federal healthcare program anti-kickback lawiclv prohibits, among other things, persons froticiing, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, itaduce either the referral of an individual, foritam or service or the
purchasing or ordering of a good or service, foichwipayment may be made under federal healthcagrgms such as the
Medicare and Medicaid programs;

. federal false claims laws which prohibit, amongeotthings, individuals or entities from knowinglygsenting, or causing to be
presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Madjacar other third-party payors that are falseraufiulent, and which may
apply to entities like us which provide coding dilling advice to customers;

. the federal Health Insurance Portability and dwttability Act of 1996, which prohibits executiagscheme to defraud any
healthcare benefit program or making false statésmetating to healthcare matters and which algmoses certain requirements
relating to the privacy, security and transmissidmdividually identifiable health information;

. the federal transparency requirements under thétH8are Reform Law requires manufacturers of drdgsices, biologics, ar
medical supplies to report to the Department ofltHeend Human Services information related to ptigsi payments and other
transfers of value and physician ownership anddtment interests;

. the FDCA, which among other things, strictly regetadrug product marketing, prohibits manufactufiensy marketing drug
products for off-label use and regulates the distion of drug samples; and

. state law equivalents of each of the above fedawa, such as anti-kickback, Sunshine Act, andfalaims laws which may
apply to items or services reimbursed by any theidy payor, including commercial insurers, andeskaws governing the
privacy and security of health information in certeircumstances, many of which differ from eachestin significant ways and
often are not preempted by federal laws, thus cmanihg compliance efforts.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangemeirtisthird parties will comply with applicable heattire laws and regulations could be costl
our operations are found to be in violation of afyhe laws described above or any governmentallagigns that apply to us, we may be
subject to penalties, including civil and crimipanalties, damages, fines and the curtailmentstrueturing of our operations. Any penalties,
damages, fines, curtailment or restructuring ofapgrations could
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adversely affect our ability to operate our businasd our financial results. Although compliancegpams can mitigate the risk of investiga
and prosecution for violations of these laws, thksrcannot be entirely eliminated. Any action agtus for violation of these laws, even if we
successfully defend against it, could cause usdarisignificant legal expenses and divert our mgangnt's attention from the operation of oul
business. Moreover, achieving and sustaining campé with applicable federal and state privacyusgcand fraud laws may prove costly.

Our business involves the use of hazardous matariahd we must comply with environmental laws amdjulations, which can be expensi
and restrict how we do business.

Our activities and our third-party manufacturergl auppliers' activities involve the controlledrsige, use and disposal of hazardous material
owned by us. We and our manufacturers and supgaliersubject to federal, state, city and local land regulations governing the use,
manufacture, storage, handling and disposal okthagzardous materials. Although we believe thatséiety procedures we use for handling
and disposing of these materials comply with theadards prescribed by these laws and regulatiomsannot eliminate the risk of accidental
contamination or injury from these materials. la #vent of an accident, local, city, state or fabauthorities may curtail the use of these
materials and interrupt our business operatiomdding our commercialization and research and ldgveent efforts. Although we believe tl
the safety procedures utilized by our tharty manufacturers for handling and disposinghese materials generally comply with the stanc
prescribed by these laws and regulations, we caguarantee that this is the case or eliminateisikeof accidental contamination or injury
from these materials. In such an event, we mayelekllable for any resulting damages and suchlligliould exceed our resources. We do
currently maintain biological or hazardous materiasurance coverage.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds on compliance with various procedural, docurhenbmission, fee payment and
other requirements imposed by governmental pategeacies, and our patent protection could be reducecliminated for non-compliance
with these requirements.

The USPTO and various foreign governmental patgeheies require compliance with a number of procddocumentary, fee payment and
other provisions during the patent process. Theeiguations in which noncompliance can resuéthandonment or lapse of a patent or paten
application, resulting in partial or complete l@gpatent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. brch an event, competitors might be able to entel
the market earlier than would otherwise have bkeercase.

We may be subject to claims that our employees harengfully used or disclosed alleged trade seciftsheir former employers.

We employ individuals who were previously employgather pharmaceutical companies, including ouanpgtitors or potential competitors
and, as such, we may be subject to claims thatrileese employees have used or disclosed tradetsecrother proprietary information of
their former employers. Litigation may be necesgtargiefend against these claims. Even if we areessgful in defending against such claims,
litigation could result in substantial costs andabdistraction to management.

Our business and operations would suffer in the avef system failures.

Despite the implementation of security measuresirdarnal computer systems and those of our cotara and consultants are vulnerable to
damage from computer viruses, unauthorized aconassral disasters, terrorism, war and telecommuinicand electrical failures. Such an
event could cause interruption of our operatioms.dxample, the loss of data from completed or argbioequivalence and/or clinical trials
for our product candidates could result in delaysur regulatory approval efforts and significantigrease our costs. To the extent that any
disruption or security breach
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was to result in a loss of or damage to our datmappropriate disclosure of confidential or piiefary information, we could incur liability
and the development of our product candidates doelldelayed.

We will need to obtain FDA approval of any propospbduct names, and any failure or delay associateith such approval may adversely
impact our business.

Any name we intend to use for our product cand&latidl require approval from the FDA regardlessmfether we have secured a formal
trademark registration from the USPTO. The FDA ¢gliy conducts a review of proposed product naimesjding an evaluation of potential
for confusion with other product names. The FDA mbject to any product name we submit if it beletee name inappropriately implies
medical claims. We have in the past been requoethénge a proposed product name. If the FDA abjecany of our proposed product
names, we may be required to adopt an alternatiweerfor our product candidates. If we adopt anradté/e name, we would lose the benefit
of our existing trademark applications for suchdwet candidate, and may be required to expendfigignt additional resources in an effort to
identify a suitable product name that would qualifder applicable trademark laws, not infringedRisting rights of third parties and be
acceptable to the FDA. We may be unable to bugdaessful brand identity for a new trademark tim&ly manner or at all, which would
limit our ability to commercialize our product cadaktes.

Provisions in our agreement with Shire impose réstive covenants on us, which could limit our aliilito operate effectively in the futur

In 2005, we purchased substantially all of the @ssShire Laboratories Inc. Pursuant to this egrent, we agreed to refrain perpetually from
engaging in any research, formulation developremd]|ytical testing, manufacture, technology asseasor oral bioavailability screening that
relate to five specific drug compounds (amphetariaebamazepine, guanfacine, lanthanum and messaamd any derivative thereof.
Although these various restrictions and covenantasodo not currently impact our product candidatdsusiness, they could in the future lii
or delay our ability to take advantage of busirgggsortunities that may relate to such compounds.

Risks Related to Our Finances and Capital Requirenrds

We have incurred significant operating losses sirm# inception and anticipate that we will incur coinued losses for the foreseeable
future.

In recent years, we have focused primarily on dspiah our current products and product candidatéh,the goal of commercializing these
products and supporting regulatory approval fos¢hgroduct candidates. We have financed our opegafirimarily through private placeme
of convertible preferred stock, our collaboratiomldicense arrangements, the monetization of ceftaiire royalty streams under our existing
licenses for Oracea, Sanctura XR and Intuniv, #te sf our subsidiary, Royalty Sub, which held libense rights to Oracea and Sanctura XR,
borrowing via secured loans and the completionupfinitial public offering in May 2012 and a follean offering in November 2012. We have
incurred significant operating losses since ouejation in 2005. We incurred net losses of approtetye$33.5 million, $38.5 million and

$46.3 million in the years ended December 31, 280&0 and 2012, respectively. We realized net ircofrapproximately $0.5 million and
$53.8 million in the years ended December 31, 20892011, respectively, due to one-time items. fABexember 31, 2012, we had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $86.3 milliGubstantially all of our operating losses resuftech costs incurred in connection with our
development programs and from selling, generalaaministrative costs associated with our operatibos example, the expenses that we
incurred relating to the research and developmi@ixtellar XR and Trokendi XR from inception to Bsuber 31, 2012 are approximately
$53.3 million and $32.5 million, respectively. Wipect our research and development costs to cantmbe substantial and to increase with
respect to
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our product candidates as we advance those produndidates through preclinical studies, clinicalls; manufacturing scale-up and other pre-
approval activities. We expect to incur significantd increasing marketing and selling costs paartd during the commercial launch of our
current products. As a result, we expect to comtitauincur significant and increasing operatingéssfor the foreseeable future. Because of th
numerous risks and uncertainties associated witkldping pharmaceutical products, we are unabf#edict the extent of any future losses or
when, or if, we will become profitable.

Our prior losses, combined with expected futuredgs have had and will continue to have an adeffset on our stockholders' equity and
working capital. Furthermore, since the completour initial public offering in May 2012, we hawecurred additional costs associated with
operating as a public company. As a result, we &qeecontinue to incur significant and increasaqggrating losses for the foreseeable future.
In this regard, the report of our independent tegésl public accounting firm with respect to ounsalidated financial statements as of and for
the period ended December 31, 2012 contains amexiry paragraph stating that there is substaduiaht about our ability to continue as a
going concern. While we believe that the proceddhefollow-on offering, together with our caskast equivalents and marketable securities
and anticipated future product revenues will béigeht to fund the commercialization of OxtellaRXand, if we receive final approval by the
FDA, Trokendi XR, there can be no assurance thawvilldoe able to obtain the additional capital that anticipate needing in order to become
cash flow positive. In addition, we may need toadttadditional funds to develop and commercialigeather product candidates. The
inclusion of a going concern statement by our ausljtour lack of cash resources and our potemigddility to continue as a going concern may
materially adversely affect our share price andatility to raise new capital or to enter into ical contractual relations with third parties.

We may need additional funding and may be unableaése capital when needed, which would force usiday, reduce or eliminate our
product development programs or commercializatidfods.

Developing product candidates, conducting clinidals, establishing manufacturing relationshipd ararketing drugs are expensive and
uncertain processes. Although we believe the pascetthe November 2012 public offering, togethéhwur cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities and anticipated future proowenues, will be sufficient to allow us to futi commercialization of Oxtellar XR, and,
assuming receipt of FDA approval, Trokendi XR, wi# meed to obtain additional capital through eguwfferings, debt financing, payments
under new or existing licensing and research andldpment collaboration agreements, or any comigindhereof, in order to become cash
flow positive and to develop and commercialize &ddal product candidates. If sufficient funds ateptable terms are not available when
needed, we could be required to significantly redogerating expenses and delay, reduce the scppeaiminate one or more of our
development programs, which may have a materia¢@eveffect on our business, results of operagodsinancial condition.

In addition, unforeseen circumstances may ariseupstrategic imperatives could change, causing egsnsume capital significantly faster
than we currently anticipate, requiring us to steelaise additional funds sooner than expectedhd¥e no committed external sources of
funds.

The amount and timing of our future funding requismnts will depend on many factors, including, bott limited to:

. the rate of progress and cost of our trials andrgbhoduct development programs for our productichates;
. the costs and timing of in-licensing additional gwot candidates or acquiring other complementanypamies;
. the timing of any regulatory approvals of ouoghuct candidates;
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. our ability to successfully launch our products &mdontinue to increase the level of sales imtlaeketplace;
. the actions of our competitors and their succesgliing competitive product offerings;

. the costs of establishing sales, marketing, mamurfiag and distribution capabilities for our protkjcand

. the status, terms and timing of any collaboratieensing, co-promotion or other arrangements.

Additional financing may not be available when vezd it or may not be available on terms that arer&ble to us, or at all. In addition, we
may seek additional capital due to favorable matkeditions or strategic considerations, even ifbgbeve we have sufficient funds for our
current or future operating plans. If adequate fuaick not available to us on a timely basis, atlatve may be required to delay, reduce the
scope of or eliminate one or more of our developrpesgrams or our commercialization efforts.

We have never recognized any revenues from our @ates of our products, and we may never achievenaintain profitability.

Our ability to become profitable depends upon duility to generate revenues from sales of our potgland our product candidates. To date,
we have not recognized any significant revenuas foar own sales of our products or product candiland have incurred significant
operating losses. Our historical revenues have perarated through fees for development serviceépaypment for the achievement of
specified development, regulatory and sales mitestpas well as royalties, on product sales of €xraSanctura XR and Intuniv licensed
products. In May 2009, in exchange for a one-tilmep-sum payment, we licensed all of our rightsIfduniv to an affiliate of Shire plc on a
royalty-free, fully paid-up basis. In addition,éonnection with our sale of all of our equity irgsts in Royalty Sub in December 2011, the
purchaser acquired all of our license rights tocBana XR and Oracea. Accordingly, we no longer gatgeany revenues from those products.

Our ability to generate product revenues is depetnaie our ability to successfully commercialize €lktr XR, and, if approved, Trokendi XR.
Our ability to successfully commercialize our prothludepends on, among other things:

. generating revenue from the sale of Oxtellar XR;
. our obtaining final regulatory approval of TrokendR; and
. our manufacturing of commercial quantities of oppved products, including Oxtellar XR, at accbfgaost levels.

After our product candidates are approved for comaiaksale, we anticipate incurring significant tsoassociated with commercialization. It is
possible that we will never have sufficient prodsales revenues to achieve profitability.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly.

We expect our operating results to be subject totgdy and annual fluctuations. We expect thatr@wenues we generate will fluctuate from
quarter to quarter and year to year as a restiteofiming, market acceptance of our products,aandunt of development milestones and
royalty revenues received under our collaboraticenise agreements.

Once we commercialize one or more of our produaisnet loss and other operating results will Bec&d by numerous factors, including:
. variations in the level of expenses relateduodevelopment programs;
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. the success of our bioequivalence and clinicakttizrough all phases of clinical development;
. any delays in regulatory review and approval ofipici candidates in clinical development;
. potential side effects of our future products ttaild delay or prevent commercialization or causeproved drug to be taken

off the market;

. any intellectual property infringement lawsuitwhich we may become involved;

. our ability to establish an effective sales amatketing infrastructure;

. our dependency on third-party manufacturersuiply or manufacture our product candidates;

. competition from existing products or new progubat may emerge;

. regulatory developments affecting our products prodiuct candidates;

. our execution of any collaborative, licensing enikr arrangements, and the timing of payments \ag make or receive under

these arrangements;
. the achievement and timing of milestone paymentieunur existing collaboration and license agregmemd

. the level of market acceptance for any approvedymbcandidates and underlying demand for thatymroand wholesalers'
buying patterns.

Due to the various factors mentioned above, andrstithe results of any prior quarterly period stiawt be relied upon as an indication of ou!
future operating performance. If our quarterly @pieg results fall below the expectations of ineesr securities analysts, the price of our
common stock could decline substantially. Furtheemany quarterly fluctuations in our operatingutessmay, in turn, cause the price of our
stock to fluctuate substantially.

Prior to May 1, 2012 we operated as a private compand therefore, have limited experience operatimga public company and complyir
with public company obligations. Complying with the requirements has increased our costs and requadditional management resourc
and we still may fail to meet all of these obligaris.

We face increased legal, accounting, administratia other costs and expenses as a public com@anypliance with the Sarban&s<dey Act

of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Act of 2010, as well agswf the Securities and Exchange Commission asdadg for example, has resulted in
significant initial cost to us as well as ongoingrieases in our legal, audit and financial compkacosts, particularly after we are no longer ar
"emerging growth company." The Securities Exchafgeof 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, requamong other things, that we file
annual, quarterly and current reports with respeour business and financial condition. Our bazrdirectors, management and other
personnel need to devote a substantial amounteftd these compliance initiatives. Moreover, thedes and regulations make it more
difficult and more expensive for us to obtain diceand officer liability insurance, and requiretasncur substantial costs to maintain the s

or similar coverage.

As a public company, we are subject to Section&0df the Sarbanes-Oxley Act relating to interraiteols over financial reporting and we
expect to incur significant expense and devotetankial management effort toward ensuring compkanith Section 404(a). We currently do
not have an internal audit group, and we will neeHire additional accounting and financial staffrwappropriate public company experience
and technical accounting knowledge. Implementingapropriate changes to our internal controls negyire specific compliance training
our directors, officers and employees, entail sarisdl costs to modify our existing accounting eyss, and take a significant period of time to
complete. Such changes may not, however, be eféeittimaintaining the adequacy of our internal oast and any failure to maintain that
adequacy, or consequent inability to produce

73




Table of Contents

accurate consolidated financial statements or atforts on a timely basis, could increase ouratpey costs and could materially impair our
ability to operate our business. We cannot assouetlyat our internal controls over financial repagtwill prove to be effective.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal control over financial reporting, we may not kable to accurately report our financie
results or prevent fraud. As a result, stockholdemuld lose confidence in our financial and otheuplic reporting, which would harm our
business and the trading price of our common stock.

Effective internal controls over financial repogiare necessary for us to provide reliable findmejports and, together with adequate
disclosure controls and procedures, are designpretent fraud. Any failure to implement requiregnor improved controls, or difficulties
encountered in their implementation could cause digil to meet our reporting obligations. In addlit, any testing by us conducted in
connection with Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes¥DAl, or the subsequent testing by our independsgistered public accounting firm
conducted in connection with Section 404(b) of $aebanes-Oxley Act after we no longer qualify aSeanerging growth company,”" may
reveal deficiencies in our internal controls ovieahcial reporting that are deemed to be materggkmesses or that may require prospective o
retroactive changes to our consolidated finand&kesents or identify other areas for further dttenor improvement. Inferior internal contr
could also cause investors to lose confidence ineported financial information, which could hawv@egative effect on the trading price of
common stock.

We are required to disclose changes made in ogimiak control procedures on a quarterly basis amenmanagement is required to assess the
effectiveness of these controls annually. Howefagras long as we are an "emerging growth companger the recently enacted JOBS Act,
our independent registered public accounting firithiwet be required to attest to the effectivenekeur internal control over financial
reporting pursuant to Section 404. We could beemnefging growth company" for up to five years. Adeépendent assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal controls could defroblems that our management's assessment mighimadetected material weaknesses in ou
internal controls could lead to financial statemmstatements and require us to incur the expemsenadiation.

Our ability to use net operating loss and tax credarryforwards and certain built-in losses to rede future tax payments is limited by
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, and mayshibject to further limitation as a result of theansactions contemplated by the rece
follow-on offering in November 2012.

Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Cbd886, as amended, or the Code, contain ruledithithe ability of a company that
undergoes an ownership change, which is genenajlychange in ownership of more than 50% of itslstoger a thregrear period, to utilize it
net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards@arthin built-in losses recognized in years dfterownership change. These rules generally
operate by focusing on ownership changes involgtogkholders owning directly or indirectly 5% or ra®f the stock of a company and any
change in ownership arising from a new issuancgak by the company. Generally, if an ownershigngfe occurs, the yearly taxable income
limitation on the use of net operating loss anddieedit carryforwards and certain built-in lossegqual to the product of the applicable long
term tax exempt rate and the value of the compatgtk immediately before the ownership change nvdg be unable to offset our taxable
income with losses, or our tax liability with cr&sjibefore such losses and credits expire andftrereould incur larger federal income tax
liability.

In addition, it is possible that the follow-on affeg that occurred in November 2012, either oreadalone basis or when combined with future
transactions, including issuances of new sharesio€ommon stock, will cause us to undergo oneanemadditional ownership changes. In
event, we generally would not be able to use oefghiange loss or credit carryovers or certain tilbsses

74




Table of Contents

prior to such ownership change to offset futureabde income in excess of the annual limitationsasgal by Sections 382 and 383 and those
attributes already subject to limitations as a ltesfuour prior ownership changes may be subjechéoe stringent limitations. As of

December 31, 2012, we had approximately $80.8aniltif federal net operating loss carryforwards. e had federal and state research an
development tax credit carryforwards of approxirya$a.6 million available to offset future taxabieome. These federal and state net
operating loss and federal and state tax crediyfawards will begin to expire at various dateginaing in 2025, if not utilized. In 2011, we
completed a study to assess whether an ownersaigethas occurred, or whether there have beenpteuttivnership changes since our
inception. Due to the significant costs and comitilex associated with such study, we have not @obitis study in 2012. Accordingly, our
ability to utilize the aforementioned carryforwaiatsd tax credits may be limited. As a result, weymat be able to take full advantage of thes
carryforwards or tax credits for federal and statepurposes.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Our level of indebtedness and debt service obligagi could adversely affect our financial conditioand may make it more difficult for us t
fund our operations

In January 2011, we entered into a secured cradiiity pursuant to a loan and security agreemerdrag Oxford Finance Corporation, as
collateral agent and lender, and Compass Horizowlifg Company LLC, as lender, which was subsequantiended in December 2011, and
promissory notes issued in favor of each lend@vigmg for term loans of up to an aggregate of.@34illion. On January 26, 2011, we drew
down our initial $15.0 million of term loans undsur secured credit facility and on December 30,128& drew down the second $15.0 milli
All obligations under our secured credit faciligaecured by substantially all of our existinggandy and assets (excluding our intellectual
property) and by a pledge of the capital stoclsobject to certain exceptions, our U.K. subsidamry any future subsidiary. This debt financ
may create additional financial risk for us, partély if our business or prevailing financial maticonditions are not conducive to paying off
or refinancing our outstanding debt obligationsaturity. This indebtedness could also have imporagative consequences, including:

. we will need to repay our debt by making payreaitinterest and principal, including a final pagmhof $750,000 representing
2.5% of the aggregate principal amount of the tie@ns borrowed under our secured credit facilitjiolr will reduce the
amount of money available to finance our operations research and development efforts and othmergécorporate activities;

. we may have difficulty obtaining financing in thetdire for working capital, capital expendituresjuisitions or other purposes;

. our failure to comply with the restrictive covensirt our loan and security agreement could reaudhni event of default that, if
not cured or waived, would accelerate our obligatmrepay this indebtedness, and the lenders s@gl to enforce their
security interests in the assets securing suclbtedeess; and

. we will be charged a prepayment premium of 2iD@e prepay the debt within 15 months after thepetive amortization dates
of the term loans, and a prepayment premium of 1fG¥ch prepayment is made thereafter.

To the extent additional debt is added to our curdebt levels, the risks described above woulcemse.
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We may not have cash available to us in an amoufisient to enable us to make interest or princibpayments on our indebtedness when
due.

Since our inception in 2005, we have generatedewenue from product sales and have incurred siogmifioperating losses. As of

December 31, 2012, we had an accumulated defigi86f3 million. We expect to continue to incur lestses and have negative cash flow fron
operating activities for the foreseeable futurgvascontinue to develop and seek marketing appifovalur product candidates. As a result, we
may not have sufficient funds, or may be unablartange for additional financing, to pay the amsuhie on our outstanding indebtedness
under our secured credit facility. Further, funasf external sources may not be available on ecaadijnacceptable terms, if at all. For
example, if we raise additional funds through dmdliation, licensing or other similar arrangemeittsiay be necessary to relinquish potenti
valuable rights to our product candidates or tetdgies, or to grant licenses on terms that ardanairable to us. If adequate funds are not
available when and if needed, our ability to makeriest or principal payments on our debt obligetizvould be significantly limited, and we
may be required to delay, significantly curtailedminate one or more of our programs.

Failure to satisfy our current and future debtgdiions under our secured credit facility coulditeim an event of default and, as a result, our
lenders could accelerate all of the amounts duthdrevent of an acceleration of amounts due uodiesecured credit facility as a result of an
event of default, we may not have sufficient fundsnay be unable to arrange for additional finagdmrepay our indebtedness. In addition,
our lenders could seek to enforce their securtigrasts in the collateral securing such indebtesines

We are subject to a number of restrictive covenantsich, if breached, could have a material adverdgect on our business and prospects.

Our secured credit facility imposes operating ati@torestrictions on us. Such restrictions wileatf and in many respects limit or prohibit our
ability and the ability of our U.K. subsidiary aady future subsidiary to, among other things:

. dispose of certain assets;

. change our lines of business;

. engage in mergers or consolidations;

. incur additional indebtedness;

. create liens on assets, including our intellectmaperty;

. pay dividends and make distributions on or repusetaur capital stock; and
. engage in certain transactions with affiliates.

Our secured credit facility also includes certaistomary representations and warranties and affivenaovenants. Our failure to comply with
the restrictions contained in our secured creditifg, if not cured by us or waived by our lendecsuld result in an event of default. All
obligations under our secured credit facility azewsed by substantially all of our existing properhd assets (excluding our intellectual
property) and by a pledge of the capital stoclsobject to certain exceptions, our U.K. subsidamy any future subsidiary. In the event of a
default under our secured credit facility, our lergdcould take various actions, including the aaredion of all amounts due under our secured
credit facility and all actions permitted to beeakby a secured creditor, which could have a natadverse effect on our business or prosg
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In certain circumstances we could be required toypdamages if we fail to perform our obligations uadthe license agreements related
Sanctura XR and Oracet

In December 2011, we sold 100% of our equity owmipriterests in Royalty Sub. In accordance withtérms of the sale, we retained certair
duties and obligations under two licensing agregmeiated to Sanctura XR and Oracea. If we faid@dorm the continuing duties and
obligations under these licensing agreements, webwaaequired to indemnify the purchaser of Roy8ltp for damages arising due to such
failure. For example, pursuant to these agreemamgtfiave an obligation to use commercially reaskenetforts to preserve, maintain, and
maximize the commercial value of our licensed patenvering Sanctura XR and Oracea, which includeobligation to pay patent office
maintenance fees in order to keep these patefisde. If we fail to pay such patent office mairdene fees, these patents may expire and
Royalty Sub's royalty stream from such patents taeyinate. In such a scenario, we may be called tppay damages to the purchaser of
Royalty Sub due to the loss of patent licensingnere that Royalty Sub would have received fronstie of Sanctura XR and Oracea.

Risks Related to Securities Markets and Investmerih Our Stock
Future sales of our common stock may depress oocktprice.

Sales of our common stock, or the perception imthaeket that the holders of a large number of shiartend to sell shares, could reduce the
market price of our common stock which would impair ability to raise future capital through théesaf additional equity securities. We he
outstanding 30,621,869 shares of common stock Beoémber 31, 2012, of which approximately 15,996 ,2hares are restricted securities
that may be sold only in accordance with the resegdtrictions under Rule 144 of the Securities éfct933, as amended. In addition, as of
December 31, 2012, we had outstanding options itchpse 569,911 shares of common stock and wat@ptgchase 42,083 shares of
common stock that, if exercised, will result ingbeadditional shares becoming available for salerge portion of these shares and option:
held by a small number of persons and investmerdsuMoreover, certain holders of shares of comatook will have rights, subject to some
conditions, that require us to file registratioatstnents covering the shares they currently holth mclude these shares in registration
statements that we may file for ourselves or osti@ckholders.

We have also registered all common stock subjegptions outstanding or reserved for issuance uode2005 Stock Plan, 2012 Equity
Incentive Plan and 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Riaaggregate of 2,341,875 and 213,273 sharearafommon stock are reserved for
future issuance under the 2012 Equity Incentive Blzd the 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, ridsggcThese shares may now be fre
sold in the public market upon issuance. If a largmber of these shares are sold in the public eattke sales could reduce the trading price
of our common stock.

We have never paid dividends on our capital staahkd because we do not anticipate paying any castidéinds in the foreseeable future,
capital appreciation, if any, of our common stocklibe your sole source of gain on an investmentanr common stock.

We have paid no cash dividends on any of our ckaskeapital stock to date, and we currently intencdetain our future earnings, if any, to
fund the development and growth of our businessd@/mot anticipate paying any cash dividends oncoammon stock in the foreseeable
future. As a result, capital appreciation, if aofypur common stock will be your sole source ohgair the foreseeable future. There is no
guarantee that shares of our common stock will@pate in value or even maintain the price at wisicghstockholders have purchased their
shares.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publislesearch or reports or publish unfavorable researhreports about our business, our sto
price and trading volume could declin

The trading market for our common stock will dep@mgart on the research and reports that secaidtiéndustry analysts publish about us,
business, our market or our competitors. We curérave very limited research coverage by securdied industry analysts. If securities or
industry analysts presently covering our businessat continue such coverage or if additional séiesror industry analysts do not commence
coverage of our Company, the trading price forsiack would be negatively impacted. In the evenbliin securities or industry analyst
coverage, if one or more of the analysts who cousmowngrades our stock, our stock price wouldlyiklecline. If one or more of these
analysts ceases to cover us or fails to regularbliph reports on us, interest in our stock cowddrdase, which could cause our stock price or
trading volume to decline.

The concentration of our capital stock ownershipttviour directors and their affiliated entities andur executive officers will limit your
ability to influence certain corporate matters.

Our directors and their affiliated entities, and executive officers beneficially own, in the aggmée, approximately 78.8% of our outstanding
common stock. As a result, these stockholdersaltectively able to significantly influence or coot all matters requiring approval of our
stockholders, including the election of directonsl @pproval of significant corporate transactiamshsas mergers, consolidations or the sale o
all or substantially all of our assets. The con@itin of ownership may delay, prevent or detehange in control of our Company even when
such a change may be in the best interests of stonkholders, impede a merger, consolidation, tadeor other business combination
involving us, or could deprive our stockholdersaaofopportunity to receive a premium for their conmnstock as part of a sale of our Company
or our assets and might adversely affect the pliagainarket price of our common stock.

Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documentsceDelaware law could delay or prevent a change ohtrol which could negatively
impact the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation dmdaws, as amended, may have the effect of delayiq@yeventing a change of control. These
provisions include the following:

. Our board of directors is divided into three classerving staggered three-year terms, such thatlinoembers of the board will
be elected at one time. This staggered board ateiprevents stockholders from replacing the ebiirgrd at a single
stockholders' meeting.

. Our board of directors has the right to elect doesto fill a vacancy created by the expansiothefboard of directors or the
resignation, death or removal of a director, wipocbvents stockholders from being able to fill vazias on our board of
directors.

. Our board of directors may issue, without statélbr approval, shares of preferred stock. Thetatd authorize preferred stock

makes it possible for our board of directors taéspreferred stock with voting or other rights cefprences that could impede
the success of any attempt to acquire us.

. Stockholders must provide advance notice to noraimatividuals for election to the board of direstor to propose matters that
can be acted upon at a stockholders' meeting. &unttre, stockholders may only remove a member oboard of directors for
cause. These provisions may discourage or detetemfal acquiror from conducting a solicitationpzbxies to elect such
acquiror's own slate of directors or otherwisemafitng to obtain control of our Company.

. Our stockholders may not act by written consentaAssult, a holder, or holders, controlling a migjoof our capital stock
would not be able to take certain actions outside siockholders' meeting.
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. Special meetings of stockholders may be called bylthe chairman of our board of directors or aarigj of our board of
directors. As a result, a holder, or holders, adlitrg a majority of our capital stock would not &ble to call a special meeting.

. A supermajority (75%) of the voting power of outslang shares of our capital stock is required temanor repeal or to adopt
any provision inconsistent with certain provisiariur certificate of incorporation and to amend by-laws, which make it
more difficult to change the provisions describbd\ee.

In addition, we are governed by the provisions eft®®n 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Lahich may prohibit certain business
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdrewr outstanding voting stock. These and othevisions in our certificate of
incorporation, our bylaws and in the Delaware Gah€prporation Law could make it more difficult fstockholders or potential acquirers to
obtain control of our board of directors or iniéatctions that are opposed by the then-currenthafatirectors.

We may not be able to maintain an active public rkeirfor our common stock.

There was no public market for our common stockmo the closing of our initial public offering May 2012. We cannot predict the exten
which investor interest in our Company will allow to maintain an active trading market on The NASD@Ilobal Market or otherwise or how
liquid that market might become. If an active palsiarket is not sustained, it may be difficult you to sell your shares of common stock at a
price that is attractive to you, or at all. Furthem inactive market may also impair our abilityagse capital by selling shares of our common
stock and may impair our ability to enter into stgac partnerships or acquire companies or progpotgluct candidates or technologies by
using our shares of common stock as consideration.

To the extent outstanding stock options or warramt® exercised, there will be dilution to new intess.

As of December 31, 2012, we had options to purcB89¢911 shares of common stock outstanding, wiénaise prices ranging from $0.40 to
$12.92 per share and a weighted average exeregeqir$5.72 per share. Upon the vesting of eadhexe options, the holder may exercise
or her options, which would result in dilution tovestors. You will also experience dilution if vesue additional shares of common stock u
the warrants that we issued to our lenders. Asesfeinber 31, 2012, the lender warrants to purch&§&Q shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $4.00 per share and 23,333 slod@smmon stock at an exercise price of $5.00share remain outstanding.

The price of our common stock may fluctuate subdiaity.

The market price for our common stock is likelybtovolatile, in part because our common stock leas Ipreviously traded publicly for only a
short time. In addition, the market price of oumtoon stock may fluctuate significantly in respots@ number of factors, including:

. the commercial performance of Oxtellar XR, Tno#{ieXR, or any of our product candidates that ree@narketing approval;

. plans for, progress in and results from clinicell$rof our product candidates generally;

. FDA or international regulatory actions, includiactions on regulatory applications for any of oroduct candidates;

. announcements of new products, services or tecimdpcommercial relationships, acquisitions oeottvents by us or our
competitors;

. market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biatetdigy sectors;
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. fluctuations in stock market prices and tradinguwoés of similar companies;

. variations in our quarterly operating results;

. changes in accounting principles;

. litigation or public concern about the safety of potential products;

. actual and anticipated fluctuations in our quaytegerating results;

. deviations in our operating results from théneates of securities analysts;

. additions or departures of key personnel,

. sales of large blocks of our common stock, idilg sales by our executive officers, directors sigdificant stockholders;
. any third-party coverage and reimbursement psifor our product candidates, and

. discussion of us or our stock price in the fitiahor scientific press or in online investor commties.

The realization of any of the risks described st "Risk Factors" could have a dramatic and nzdtedverse impact on the market price of
our common stock. In addition, class action litigathas often been instituted against companieshBecurities have experienced periods of
volatility. Any such litigation brought against asuld result in substantial costs and a diversiomanagement attention, which could hurt our
business, operating results and financial condition

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located at 1888t Gude Drive, Rockville, Maryland 20850, whereoccupy approximately 44,500 squ
feet of laboratory and office space. Our lease texpires in April 30, 2018 with an option for adiyear extension. In January 2013, we signe
a lease for approximately 11,900 square feet i¢@8pace in an adjacent building located at 159§ Bude Drive, Rockville, MD 20850 with
a co-terminus lease term date of April 30, 2018.0#keve that these facilities are sufficient for present operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We were involved in a patent infringement mattkxdiin response to three Paragraph IV Certificahlotice Letters that we received in June
2009, November 2009 and April 2010 regarding an ANiDbmitted to the FDA by each of Watson Labora®rinc., Sandoz Inc. and
Paddock Laboratories, Inc., respectively, requgsdijpproval to market and sell generic versionsawicBira XR trospium chloride extended
release capsules, a product that is manufactur@da@d by Allergan, Inc., which is the marketingtpar of Endo Pharmaceuticals

Solutions Inc. In March 2012, the court ruled tthegt defendants' proposed products infringe thenpsia-suit and that the patents-in-suit are
invalid. Allergan, Inc. and Endo Pharmaceuticaltusons Inc. filed an appeal, and the Federal Girgeard argument on June 14, 2012. The
Federal Circuit issued a Rule 36 summary affirmasfabe District Court's decision that the patemése invalid on June 18, 2012.

Allergan, Inc. and Endo Pharmaceuticals Solutiowes filed a petition for writ of certiorari on Sephber 17, 2012, which was denied by the
U.S. Supreme Court on October 15, 2012, thereblynileg to disturb the earlier judicial finding thtte patents are invalid.

From time to time and in the ordinary course ofibess, we are subject to various claims, chargddidggation. For example, we may be
required to file infringement claims against thiraties for the infringement of our patents. Fadiddnal information regarding the patent
litigation matters in which
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we are involved, please see "Risk FactMs-may become involved in lawsuits to protect dosse our patents, which could be expensive,
consuming and unsuccessful."

Although the outcome of litigation cannot be prégitwith certainty and some lawsuits, claims orcpenlings may be disposed of unfavorably
to us, we do not believe the outcome of any suigation, individually or in the aggregate, willlma material adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASE OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Our common stock has been listed on The NASDAQ &lMarket under the symbol "SUPN" since May 1, 2@£2or to that date, there was
no public trading market for our common stock. Téleowing table sets forth for the periods indichtle high and low intra-day sales prices
per share of our common stock as reported on tisel&¢pGlobal Market.

High Low
Second Quarter 2012 (from May 1, 20. $ 15.2C $ 4.3C
Third Quartel $ 16.6¢ $ 8.7C
Fourth Quarte $ 14.9¢ $ 6.7¢

On December 31, 2012, the closing price of our comstock on The NASDAQ Global Market was $7.17 giaare. As of December 31, 20
we had 41 holders of record of our common stocle dttual number of common stockholders is grehter the number of record holders, anc
includes stockholders who are beneficial ownerswhose shares are held in street name by brokersther nominees. This number of
holders of record also does not include stockhsladrose shares may be held in trust by other estiti

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocapital stock and we do not currently anst#pdeclaring or paying cash dividends
our capital stock in the foreseeable future. Weenuty intend to retain all of our future earnindgsany, to finance operations. Additionally, our
ability to pay dividends on our common stock isitad by restrictions on the ability of our subsigiand us to pay dividends or make
distributions, including restrictions under thentsrof the agreements governing our indebtednessadgitional information, see
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finarn€@idition and Results of Operations." Any futuréederination relating to our dividend
policy will be made at the discretion of our boafdlirectors and will depend on a number of factorsluding future earnings, capital
requirements, financial conditions, future prospgcontractual restrictions and covenants and édwtors that our board of directors may d
relevant.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following table sets forth selected consoliddieancial data that is qualified in its entirely and should be read in conjunction with
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iaihdition and Results of Operations" and our coitlstéd financial statements and notes
thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Reporni-10-K. The consolidated financial data as of &aber 31, 2011 and 2012 and for the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and aed derived from our audited consolidated finahstatements appearing elsewhere

this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical uéis are not necessarily indicative of future ogarg results. You should read this selected
consolidated financial data in conjunction with thections entitled "Capitalization" and "Managemegifliscussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" and our coitlstéd financial statements and related notesinalluded elsewhere in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31
2010 2011 2012
(in thousands, except shar
and per share date’

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data

Revenue: $ 106 $ 80: ¢ 1,48(
Operating Expense
Research and developm 35,14¢ 30,62° 23,517
Selling, general and administrati 5,08( 7,92¢ 20,13:
Total operating expens 40,22¢ 38,55¢ 43,64¢
Operating loss from continuing operatic (40,12 (37,757 (42,169
Other income (expense
Interest incomt 107 31 12C
Interest expens — (1,86€) (3,57
Other 542 117 (660)
Loss from continuing operations before income t: (39,479 (39,470 (46,289
Income tax benefi 39¢ 16,24" —
Loss from continuing operatiol (39,079 (23,229 (46,289
Discontinued operation
Income from discontinued operations, net of 612 2,18¢ —
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, néax — 74,85 —
Income from discontinued operatic 612 77,04( —
Net (loss) incomi (38,467) 53,81t (46,289
Cumulative dividends on Series A convertible pnefd
stock (3,430 (3,430 (1,149
Net (loss) income attributable to common
stockholder: $ (41,89) $ 50,38: % (47,427
(Loss) Income per common sha
Basic and dilute:
Continuing operation $ (26.77) $ (16.60) $ (2.72)
Discontinued operatior 0.3¢ 47.9¢ —
Net (loss) incom $ (26.3¢) $ 31.3¢ $ (2.72)
Weighted average number of common she
Basic and dilutet 1,587,96: 1,605,32. 17,440,91
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Year Ended December 31
2010 2011 2012
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and matketab

securities $ 32,70¢ $ 48,54« $ 88,50¢
Restricted cash and cash equivalents and marketablgities 1,714 24¢ 27¢
Working capital 24,60° 30,62¢ 68,75¢
Total asset 47,00¢ 53,73( 93,98¢
Notes payable, including current porti — 29,48t 22,89°
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operatic 75,00( — —
Accumulated defici (93,786  (39,97)  (86,25Y
Total stockholders' equity (defici (44,320) 9,44: 57,57(
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

You should read the following discussion and anglysour financial condition and results of opeosis together with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto agpg elsewhere in this Annual Report on Forn-K. In addition to historical information,
some of the information in this discussion and gsialcontains forwardiboking statements reflecting our current expeotatiand involves ris
and uncertainties. For example, statements regardr expectations as to our plans and strategyforbusiness, future financial
performance, expense levels and liquidity sourced@warc-looking statements. Our actual results and théntipof events could differ
materially from those discussed in our forwdodking statements as a result of many factorduding those set forth under the "Risk Factc
section and elsewhere in this report.

Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company focusettweloping and commercializing products for tieatiment of central nervous system
CNS diseases. Our two lead products are OxtellanX@RTrokendi XR both of which are neurology praduor the treatment of epilepsy. The
Food & Drug Administration, or FDA, granted fingd@oval for Oxtellar XR (extended-release oxcarpams) on October 19, 2012 and we
launched this product commercially on Februaryd,2 Additionally, on November 15, 2012, the FDAmfed Oxtellar XR a three-year
marketing exclusivity period. We may be able toortpevenue from prescriptions which are sold mfihst quarter in the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q that we will file for the quarter endeohd 30, 2013.

Trokendi XR (extended-release topiramate) receigathtive approval from the FDA on June 25, 2012 may not receive final approval until
after the expiry of marketing exclusivity associhteith safety information of Topamax's NDA in a sifie pediatric population. In early
December, 2012, the Company submitted to the FP#gaest for final approval as an amendment to thé Mcluding a safety data update, a
new package insert and packaging configuration3fokendi XR and was informed that should the F@pprave such amendment, it will mu
likely be in the form of a tentative approval besathe review period of such amendment would be@eg to conclude in the second quarter
prior to the June 22, 2013 expiration of the peiaxclusivity. The Company continues to expedtigg the final approval and commercially
launching Trokendi XR in the third quarter of 2013.

We intend to market both products through our ind®sales force. We hired approximately 75 safg®sentatives for the commercial launch
of Oxtellar XR and we may expand this sales foocevier 100 sales representatives over the nexhsixhs to support the launch of Trokendi
XR later this year.

In addition to our two lead products, we have adpob pipeline with several lead product candida®aN-810 (molindone hydrochloride) is
being developed as a treatment for impulsive aggrasn patients with ADHD and completed a Phabdribl that showed positive topline
results. We expect to advance this program intr lstge clinical development after we meet withRBDA. Our plans for SPN-810 involve a
continued, in-depth analysis of the full datasetrfithe Phase IlIb trial along with plans to meehwilite FDA to discuss the next steps in the
development program and the design and protocdtliase Il clinical trials.

SPN-812 is being developed as a non-stimulantitresatt for ADHD. SPN-812 completed a Phase Ila poyo€oncept trial in 2011 and we are
currently focused on developing an extended rel@assulation that will be the subject of a futurkale Ilb trial.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The significant accounting policies and basis elspntation for our consolidated financial stateman¢ described in Note 3 "Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies". The preparatidroar financial statements in accordance with d&herally accepted accounting principles
requires (GAAP) us to make estimates and assurmptiat affect the reported amounts of assetslitiabj revenue, expenses and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiesun financial statements. Actual results couldatifrom those estimates.

We believe the following accounting policies antireates to be critical:

Inventories.  We carry inventories at the lower of cost orkeausing the first-in, first-out method. AlthoughDecember 31, 2012 inventory
is 100% raw materials, in the future inventory eslwvill include materials, labor, overhead and otheect and indirect costs. Inventory is
evaluated for impairment through considerationagtdrs such as lower of cost or market, net realézaalue, expiry and obsolescence. Our
inventories have values that do not exceed eitffacement cost or net realizable value. We bel@xtellar XR and Trokendi XR have
limited risk of obsolescence or expiry based onntiaeket research we used to project future demaddased on anticipated product dating.

We capitalize inventories produced in preparatmmcbmmercial launches when it becomes probableataged product candidates will rece
regulatory approval and the related costs willdmwerable through the commercial sale of the mbdiccordingly, we began to capitalize
inventories for Trokendi following the June 25, 2Ggntative approval from the FDA and for OxteldR following the October 19, 2012 final
approval from the FDA. Prior to capitalization, ttests of manufacturing drug product is recognipesearch and development expense in
the period the cost is incurred. Therefore, martufaty costs incurred prior to capitalization aneluded in research and development; such
costs incurred after capitalization are includedast of sales.

Deferred Revenur  We have entered into collaboration agreemenitste both Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR commereidi outside of the
U.S. These agreements generally include an up-ficerise fee and ongoing milestone payments upgathievement of specific events. We
believe the milestones meet all of the necessitgrierto be considered substantive and therefooeld be recognized as revenue when and i
occurred. For the up-front license fee, we havienaded the service period of the contract and ecegnizing this payment as revenue on a
straight-line basis over this service period.

Revenue Recogniti—Product Sales. We anticipate recognizing revenue from prodades during 2013. Revenue from product salesbeill
recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangesrists, delivery has occurred and title of thedpict and associated risk of loss has
passed to the customer, the price is fixed or detable, collection from the customer has beenamasly assured and all performance
obligations have been met and returns can be rabsoestimated. Product sales are recorded netonfials for estimated rebates, chargebs
discounts, co-pay assistance and other accrudledtieely, "sales deductions") as well as estirdgteoduct returns.

Our products will be distributed through wholessland pharmaceutical distributors. Each of thesalegllers and distributors will take title
and ownership of the product upon physical reagfiphe product and then distribute our productheopharmacies. Though these distributors
will be invoiced concurrent with the product shiptheve will be unable to recognize revenue upoprskent until such time as we can
reasonably estimate and record accruals for saldsations and product returns
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utilizing historical information and market resdaprojections. Specific consideration for salebath Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR are:

. Rebates. Allowances for rebates include mandated discountier the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program as wealkgstiated
discounts with commercial health-care providerdod®es are amounts owed after the final dispenditigegoroducts to a benefit
plan participant and are based upon contractuakeagents or legal requirements with the public s€etg. Medicaid) and
private sector benefit providers. The allowancerédrates is based on statutory and contractuabaiscates and expected
utilization. Our estimates for expected utilizatiofirebates are based in part on third party madssarch. Rebates are genet
invoiced and paid quarterly in arrears so thatterual balance consists of an estimate of the atregpected to be incurred for
the current quarter's activity, plus an accruahbe¢ for known prior quarters' unpaid rebatesctifia future rebates vary from
estimates, we may need to adjust prior period atsrwhich would affect revenue in the period gtiatment.

. Chargebacks. Chargebacks are discounts that occur when caettracistomers purchase directly from an intermgdiar
distributor or wholesaler. Contracted customerdctviosurrently consist primarily of Public Healthr8iee institutions and
Federal government entities purchasing via the fe@&pply Schedule, generally purchase the progiugtdiscounted price.
The distributor or wholesaler, in turn, chargeskbiide difference between the price initially paidthe distributor or wholesaler
and the discounted price paid to the distributovbolesaler by the customer. The allowance foritistor/wholesaler
chargebacks is based on known sales to contrauttdroers.

. Distributor/Wholesaler deductionsU.S. specialty distributor and wholesalers aferefl various forms of consideration
including allowances, service fees and prompt payrdiscounts. Distributor allowances and serviesfarise from contractual
agreements with distributors and are generallyragmage of the purchase price paid by the didoilstand wholesalers.
Wholesale customers are offered a prompt pay digdon payment within a specified period.

. Co-pay assistance Patients who have commercial insurance and negtgi eligibility requirements may receive co-pay
assistance from the Company. Liabilities for co-pagistance will be based on actual program ppaticin and estimates of
program redemption using data provided by thirdypadministrators.

. Returns. Sales of our products are not subject to a gérighd of return; however, the Company will accepbduct that is
damaged or defective when shipped directly fromveairehouse or for expired product up to 12 montitssequent to its expiry
date. Product that has been used to fill patieeggriptions is no longer subject to any right afine.

Although we have not recognized any revenue to fdatsales of our own products, we anticipate da@agn 2013 and each of these rebates,
chargebacks and other discounts will have an effiethe timing and amount of revenue recognizeghinperiod.

Research and Development Expen:

Research and development expenditures are expaasadurred. Research and development costs plyncansist of employee-related
expenses, including salaries and benefits; expensesed under agreements with contract reseaigdingzations, investigative sites, and
consultants that conduct the Company's clinicaldrithe cost of acquiring and manufacturing chhicial materials; the cost of manufacturing
materials used in process validation, to the exteattthose materials are manufactured prior teivétg regulatory approval for those products
and are not expected to be sold commercially,ifeeslcosts that do not have an alternative futises related depreciation and other allocated
expenses; license fees for and milestone paymelated to in-licensed products and technologies;
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stock-based compensation expense; and costs asslogith non-clinical activities and regulatory apyals.

Stock-Based Compensation

Employee stoclbased compensation is measured based on the estifaatvalue on the grant date. The grant datevidue of options grante
is calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pgaimodel, which requires the use of subjective aggioms including volatility, expected term,
risk-free rate, and the fair value of the undedyaommon stock. For awards that vest based oncgeceinditions, the Company recognizes
expense using the straight-line method less estufatfeitures. The Company has awarded non-vesbett. Prior to the Company's IPO the
estimated fair value of these awards was deternahétke date of grant based upon the estimateddhie of the Company's common stock.
Subsequent to the Company's IPO, the fair valueetommon stock is based on observable marketric

For stock option grants and non-vested stock stitgguerformance-based milestone vesting, the Compecords the expense over the
remaining service period when management deterntirmschievement of the milestone is probable. &dement evaluates when the
achievement of a performance-based milestone Isapte based on the relative satisfaction of théopmance conditions as of the applicable
reporting date.

The Company records the expense for stock optiantgito non-employees based on the estimateddhie wf the stock option using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair vabfenon-employee awards is re-measured at eachtieg@eriod. As a result, stock
compensation expense for non-employee awards witing is affected by subsequent changes in thedhie of the Company's common
stock.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2011 Bedember 31, 2012

Year Ended
December 31, Increase/
2011 2012 (decrease)
(in thousands)
Revenues
Development and milestone reven $ 80: $ 1,48( 667
Total revenue 802 1,48(
Operating Expense
Research and developm 30,62} 23,51° (7,110
Selling, general and administrati 7,92¢ 20,13: 12,20«
Total operating expens 38,55¢ 43,64¢
Operating loss from continuing operatic (37,757 (42,169
Interest income and other income (expense) 14¢ (540 (68¢)
Interest expens (1,86¢€) (3,579 1,70¢
Total other expens (2,719 (4,11
Loss from continuing operations before income t: (39,470 (46,289
Income tax benefi 16,24" — (16,245
Loss from continuing operatiol (23,22Y) (46,289
Discontinued operation
Income from discontinued operations, net of 2,18¢ — 2,18¢
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, néao 74,85: — 74,85:
Income from discontinued operatic 77,04( —

Net income (loss $ 53,81 $ (46,289

Revenue

Our revenues were approximately $1.5 million far lear ended December 31, 2012 compared to $0i8mfibr the same period in 2011,
representing an increase of $0.7 million. Thiséase is primarily attributable to one-time milegt@ayments of $1.1 million as well as the
recognition of previously deferred up-front licermeyments of $0.4 million received under our liceagreements with Stendhal in 2012.

Research and Development Expe

Our research and development expenses were $2Bdnrfor the year ended December 31, 2012, comptré30.6 million for the same
period in 2011, a decrease of $7.1 million or 23¥is decrease was primarily attributable to a desen clinical trial costs for Oxtellar XR of
approximately $6.5 million and approximately $2.®2lion for Trokendi XR, offset by increases in mdacturing and validation costs and
general expenses.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

Our selling, general and administrative expenseg $20.1 million for the year ended December 3122€mpared to $7.9 million for the
same period in 2011, representing an increasebajately $12.2 million or approximately 154%.i¥imcrease is mainly due to an increast
in sales and marketing costs, associated with prepéor commercial launches of Oxtellar XR, whiatcurred in February
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2013, and Trokendi XR, which is anticipated to agcsubject to obtaining final marketing approvadpected to occur during the third quarter
of 2013, respectively.

Interest Income and Other Income (Expense),

Interest income and other income (expense), netawaxpense of approximately $0.5 million for teayended December 31, 2012 compare
to income of approximately $0.1 million for the saperiod in 2011, representing a change of $0.[fomilThe change is primarily the result
the change in fair value of the derivative waritiility during the year ended December 31, 2042@mpared to the year ended Decembe
2011.

Interest Expens

Interest expense was approximately $3.6 milliontfieryear ended December 31, 2012, compared tandillién for the same period in 2011.
This increase is primarily due to the drawdownhaf $econd $15.0 million under our secured credilifinin December 2011, resulting in this
additional amount of indebtedness being outstandimbaccruing interest throughout 2012.

Loss from continuing operatiol

Loss from continuing operations was $46.3 millionthe year ended December 31, 2012, comparetbgsaf $39.5 million for the same
period in 2011. This increase is primarily duehe increase in interest expense and sales and tingrkests offset by the decrease in clinical
trial costs.

Income from discontinued operatic

Income from discontinued operations was $77.0 amilfior the year ended December 31, 2011. There m@eetivities related to discontinued
operations in 2012 from the sale of TCD Royalty SulC in December 2011.
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Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2011 #redYear Ended December 31, 2010

Year Ended
December 31, Increase/
2010 2011 (decrease)
(in thousands)
Revenues
Development and milestone reveni $ 10€ $ 80: % 697
Total revenue 10€ 803
Operating Expense
Research and developme 35,14¢ 30,62} (4,527)
Selling, general and administrati 5,08( 7,92¢ 2,84¢
Total operating expens 40,22¢ 38,55¢
Operating loss from continuing operatic (40,127  (37,75)
Interest income and other income
(expense), ne 64¢ 14¢ (501)
Interest expens — (1,86¢) (1,86€)
Loss from continuing operations before
income taxe: (39,479 (39,470
Income tax benefi 39¢ 16,24* 15,84¢
Loss from continuing operatiol (39,079 (23,229

Discontinued operation
Income from discontinued operations, net

tax 612 2,18¢ 1,57¢
Gain on disposal of discontinued operatio

net of tax — 74,85 74,85:
Income from discontinued operatic 612 77,04(
Net income (loss $ (38,4679 $ 53,81t

Revenue

Our revenues were approximately $0.8 million far ylear ended December 31, 2011 compared to appadin®0.1 million for the same
period in 2010, representing an increase of $0llfomi This increase was principally attributabtea one-time milestone payment of $0.8 in
2011 under our license agreement with United Thrarags.

Research and Developme

Our research and development expenses were $3llidhrfor the year ended December 31, 2011 comptr&35.1 million for the same
period in 2010, representing a decrease of appeteign$4.5 million or approximately 13%. This dease was attributable to a decrease in
clinical trial costs of approximately $4.8 milli@s the Phase lll trial for Oxtellar XR was substdiyt completed by the first quarter of 2011.

Selling, General and Administrative

Our selling, general and administrative expenseag %@.9 million for the year ended December 31, 12€dmpared to $5.1 million for the same
period in 2010, representing an increase of apprately $2.8 million or approximately 56%. This iaase was mainly due to an increase in
marketing costs during the year ended Decembe2(@®ll1 associated with preparing for commercial laesoof Oxtellar XR and Trokendi XR
in 2013.
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Interest Income and Other Income (Expense),

Interest income and other income (expense), neth@dsmillion for the year ended December 31, 2€drhpared to $0.6 million for the same
period in 2010, representing a decrease of $0.tomilThe decrease was primarily the result ofdefal grant credit received in 2010 under the
federal Qualifying Therapeutic Discovery Projeabdham, which was created in March 2010 as pati@Patient Protection and Affordability
Care Act of 2010.

Interest Expens

Interest expense was $1.9 million for the year dridecember 31, 2011 which primarily consisted téiiest expense associated with our
secured credit facility, together with the amottii@a of the associated deferred financing coststhadlebt discount arising from the allocation
of fair value to the preferred stock warrants iskimeconnection with our term loans. There wasmerest expense from continuing operations
for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Loss from continuing operatiol

Loss from continuing operations was $23.2 millionthe year ended December 31, 2011 comparedossaf $39.1 million for the same
period in 2010. This decrease was primarily dutnéoincome tax benefit to continuing operation$b8.2 million in 2011 generated from the
sale of TCD.

Income from discontinued operatic

Income from discontinued operations was $77.0 amilfor the year ended December 31, 2011 compar$@.6million for the same period in
2010, representing an increase of approximately4$filion. This increase was due to a gain on slECD Royalty Sub of approximately
$74.9 million, net of taxes, calculated as the aggte of the fair value of consideration of $27illion and the carrying value of Royalty Sub's
assets and liabilities, less its fees and expedskstionally, in 2011, we realized increased rdyakvenues of approximately $1.0 million fr
Oracea and Sanctura XR for the year ended DeceBib@011. For additional details on our discontthoperations, refer to Note 10 to our
consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our working capital at December 31, 2012 was $68IBon, an increase of $38.2 million compared to aorking capital of $30.6 million at
December 31, 2011. Our working capital increase2Dit? as a result of the net proceeds of $47.6amiffom our May 2012 Initial Public
Offering and net proceeds of $46.6 million from #ade of common stock in our follow-on offeringNlovember 2012. These increases were
offset by the use of cash reserves to fund ouratipgr expenses as we continued our clinical deveday programs and increased our sales,
marketing and manufacturing activities in preparafor the commercial launches of Oxtellar XR amdkendi XR in 2013.

We expect to continue to incur significant saled ararketing expenses in 2013 related to the laumoh®xtellar XR and of Trokendi XR,
assuming receipt of final marketing approval. Idiidn, we expect to incur substantial expensestedlto our research and development
efforts, primarily related to preclinical activiiend our development efforts for SPN-810 and SPN-8

The Company's current operating assumptions, wigithct management's best estimate of future revand operating expenses, indicate the
current cash on hand, including the cash procesmsved from the common stock offerings in 2012udth be sufficient to fund operations as
currently planned into the fourth quarter of 20IBe Company will need to raise additional caphabtigh either a public offering of its
common stock, a private placement offering of sgsécurities, issuance of a debt instrument, orcamgbination thereof, to fund deficits in
operating cash flows and continue
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its business operations as currently planned. Hewékiere can be no assurance that such finandlhigenavailable to the Company at any
given time or available on favorable terms. Theetygpming, and terms of financing selected by tlen@any will be dependent upon the
Company's cash needs, the availability of financogrces, and the prevailing conditions in therfoial markets.

In the event the Company does not gain accesdditauhl funding, the Company will likely revisesitommercial plans for Oxtellar XR and
Trokendi XR, its planned clinical trials, other @dspment activities, capital expenditure plans, tnedscale of its operations, until it is able to
obtain sufficient financing to do so, or pursueesthlternatives. If the Company is required to sigantly reduce operating expenses and di
reduce the scope of, or eliminate one or moresadétvelopment programs, these events could hawaexial adverse effect on the Company's
business, results of operations and financial ¢adi

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual gdions and commitments as of December 31, 20kZfdxas noted below):

Less than 1-3 3-5 Greater than
Contractual Obligations 1 Year Years Years 5 Years Total
(% in thousands)

Secured Credit Facility(2 $ 11,80¢ $ 1141¢ $ — 3 — $ 23,22
Interest on Secured Credit Faci

(1) 1,971 1,392 — — 3,36:
Operating leases(: 96¢€ 1,98¢ 2,07( 354 5,37¢
Purchase obligations(. 3,41( — — — 3,41(
Total(4) $ 18,15¢ $ 14,797 $ 2,07C $ 354 $ 35,377

(1)  Annual interest expense is currently $2.0 million®23.2 million of principal outstanding currently.

(2)  Our commitments for operating leases relate tdease of copiers and office and laboratory spacg# Becember 31,
2012.

(€)) Relates primarily to agreements and purchesers with contractors for the conduct of clinitiédls and other research
and development and marketing activities.

(4)  This table does not include (a) any milestone paymehich may become payable to third parties ulidense
agreements as the timing and likelihood of suchhmats are not known, (b) any royalty payments ital tharties as the
amounts, timing and likelihood of such paymentsraseknown and (c) contracts that are enteredimtbe ordinary
course of business which are not material in thgrexgate in any period presented ab

We have obtained exclusive licenses from thirdiparfor proprietary rights to support the produmtdidates in our psychiatry portfolio. Under
license agreements with Afecta, we have an exausption to evaluate Afecta's CNS pipeline andii@io exclusive worldwide rights to
selected product candidates, including an exclusiease to SPN-810. We do not owe any future rroles payments for SPN-810. We will
also be obligated to pay royalties to Afecta basedet sales worldwide of our product candidatedbénlowsingle digits. We have also ente
into a purchase and sale agreement with Rune, wiebtained the exclusive worldwide rights to aduct concept from Rune. There are no
future milestone payments owing to Rune underabireement. If we receive approval to market andasgl products based on the Rune
product concept for SPN-809, we will be obligategay royalties to Rune based on net sales worklwidhe low single digits.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

There were no off-balance sheet arrangements dthengear ended December 31, 2012 that have oeasenably likely to have, a current or
future effect on our financial condition, changedinancial condition, revenues or expenses, resilbperations, liquidity, capital expenditu
or capital resources that is material to our irgere

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standardsrddq&ASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASQ)1-04 Fair Value Measureme
(Topic 820)(ASU 2011-04), which contains amendments to achiewemon fair value measurement and disclosures$h GAAP and
International Financial Reporting Standards. ASW12204 explains how to measure fair value for finah@porting. The guidance does not
require fair value measurements in addition to¢hmseady required or permitted by other Topic® plovisions of ASU 2011-04 became
effective January 1, 2012. The adoption of ASU 204did not have a material effect on the Compary'solidated results of operations,
financial position or liquidity.

Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012

The JOBS Act permits an "emerging growth compaimghsas ours to take advantage of an extendedticanpieriod to comply with new or
revised accounting standards applicable to publiopanies. We have chosen to "opt out” of this [gioni and, as a result, we will comply with
new or revised accounting standards as requiret Wiey are adopted. This decision to opt out ofetktended transition period under the
JOBS Act is irrevocable.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK.

The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve our capital to fund operations. 8e aeek to maximize income from our
investments without assuming significant risk. @yposure to market risk is confined to our cashaash equivalents. As of December 31,
2012, we had unrestricted cash, cash equivalemtsmarketable securities of $88.5 million. We do ergage in any hedging activities agains
changes in interest rates. Because of the shont+reaturities of our cash, cash equivalents and etabke securities, we do not believe that an
increase in market rates would have any significapact on the realized value of our investments.dt/ not have any foreign currency or
other derivative financial instruments.

We contract with contract research organizatiorsiavestigational sites globally. We may be subjedtuctuations in foreign currency rate:
connection with these agreements, primarily wigpeet to Euro denominated currencies. We do najéedr foreign currency exchange rate
risk. A hypothetical 10% appreciation in Euro exuha rates against the U.S. dollar from prevailiragkat rates would have increased our net
loss by approximately $559,000 for year ended Déegr81, 2012. Conversely, a hypothetical 10% deéptieo in Euro exchange rates agains
the U.S. dollar from prevailing market rates wohtle decreased our net loss by approximately $689¢J the year ended December 31,
2012. We do not believe that inflation and changiriges over the years ended December 31, 2010 @01 2012 had a significant impact on
our consolidated results of operations.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. asadrbber 31, 2011 and 2012, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, celmepsive income (loss), changes in stockholdgtstye(deficit), and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 32.2hese financial statements are the resporigibilithe Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform a @fuithe Company's internal control over financigborting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company's internal contr@rdinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnéxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesars significant estimates made by managementewaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedliove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Supernus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2011 and, 20fPthe consolidated results of its operatiomsitsncash flows for the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2012, in conformity Wwit8. generally accepted accounting principles.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that Supernus Pharmaceuticalsyilhcontinue as a going concern. As
more fully described in Note 2, the Company hasiired recurring operating losses and negative ffasls from operations and will require
additional capital to fund operations. These coond raise substantial doubt about the Companylisyalo continue as a going concern.
Management's plans in regard to these matterdsoelascribed in Note 2. The 2012 financial statesido not include any adjustments to
reflect the possible future effects on the recobiity and classification of assets or the amowmtd classification of liabilities that may result
from the outcome of this uncertainty.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

McLean, Virginia
March 15, 2013
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Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share amounts)

December 31

2011 2012
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 48,54¢ $ 40,30:
Marketable securitie — 48,20¢
Marketable securiti—restrictec 24F 27¢
Accounts receivabl — 11
Interest receivabl — 664
Inventory — 1,152
Prepaid expenses and otl 46€ 98¢
Deferred financing costs, curre 144 144
Total current assets 49,39¢ 91,74
Property and equipment, r 1,31C 1,421
Purchased patents, r 91z 683
Other asset 55 55
Deferred financing costs, lo-term 2,05¢ 89
Total assets $ 53,73( $ 93,98¢
Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expel $ 11,767 $ 10,66¢
Deferred revenu 23z 50¢
Secured notes payable, net of discc 6,77¢ 11,80¢
Total current liabilities 18,77( 22,98:
Deferred revenue, net of current port 465 30¢
Secured notes payable, net of current portion éswbdnt 22,71 11,08¢
Other nor-current liabilities 1,39¢ 1,50¢
Supplemental executive retirement p 24E 27¢
Warrant liability 697 251
Total liabilities 44,28 36,41¢

Stockholders' equity
Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.001 pawes-49,625,000 and
65,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 201 2Gi2,
respectively; 49,000,000 and zero shares issuedatsthnding at
December 31, 2011 and 2012 and respectively; agtgdiguidation
preference of $69,520 and zero at December 31, 20d 2012,
respectively 49 —
Common stock, $0.001 par value—62,625,000 and 080000 shares
authorized at December 31, 2011 and 2012, respdgtil,662,321 anc
30,621,869 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&thp2011 and

2012, respectivel 2 31
Additional paic-in capital 49,36: 143,85:
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li 1 (57)
Accumulated defici (39,97) (86,259

Total stockholders' equit 9,44: 57,57(
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 53,73( $ 93,98¢

See accompanying notes.
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Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Revenue: $ 10€ $ 80% $ 1,48(
Costs and expens

Research and developm 35,14¢ 30,62} 23,515

Selling, general and administrati 5,08( 7,92¢ 20,13:
Total costs and expens 40,22¢ 38,55¢ 43,64¢
Operating loss from continuing operatic (40,127 (37,757 (42,169
Other income (expense

Interest incomy 107 31 12C

Interest expens — (1,86€) (3,575

Other income (expens 542 117 (660)
Total other income (expens 64¢ (1,719 (4,115
Loss from continuing operations before income tax

benefit (39,479 (39,470 (46,289
Income tax benefi 39¢ 16,24" —
Loss from continuing operatiol (39,079 (23,229 (46,289
Discontinued Operation
Income from discontinued operations, net of 612 2,18¢ —
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, néax — 74,85 —
Income from discontinued operatic 612 77,04( —
Net (loss) incomi (38,467) 53,81t (46,289
Cumulative dividends on Series A convertible pnefd

stock (3,430 (3,430 (1,149

Net (loss) income attributable to common stockhed $ (41,89 $  50,38: $ (47,427

Net (loss) income per common she
Basic and dilutel

Continuing operation $ (26.77) $ (16.60) $ (2.72)

Discontinued operatior 0.3¢ 47.9¢ —

Net (loss) incom $ (26.3¢) $ 31.3¢ $ (2.72)
Weighte-average number of common shai

Basic and dilutet 1,587,96 1,605,32. 17,440,91

See accompanying notes.
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Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks)

(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,
2010 2011 2012
Net (loss) incom $ (38,467 $ 53,81f $ (46,289
Other comprehensive (loss) incon
Unrealized net (loss) gain on marketable secul 2 1 (58)
Other comprehensive (loss) incol 2 1 (58
Comprehensive (loss) incor $ (38,465 $ 53,81¢ $ (46,34

See accompanying notes.
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Balance,
December 31
2009
Exercise of

stock
options
Stock-based
compensati
Net loss
Other
comprehen
income
(loss)

Balance,
December 31
2010
Exercise of

stock
options
Stockbased
compensati
Net income
Other
comprehen
income
(loss)

Balance,
December 31
2011
Stock-based

compensati
Issuance of
Employee
Stock
Purchase
Plan share
Exercise of
stock
options
Warrant
Exercise
Issuance of
common
stock, net ¢
underwriter
discount
and offering
costs
Conversion of
preferred
stock to
common
stock
Net loss
Other
comprehen
income
(loss)

Balance,
December, 31
2012

Consolidated Statements of Changes in StockholderSquity (Deficit)

Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

(in thousands, except share data)

Series A C tibl Accumulated Total
roferred Stock — Common Stock  Additional Other Stockholders’
Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount Shares  Amount  Capital Income (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)
(in thousands)
49,000,00 $ 48  1584,01 $ 2$ 4911 $ 2 8 (55,32) $ (6,15€)
— — 8,75( — 4 — — 4
— — — — 297 — — 297
— — — — — — (38,467) (38,467
= = = = = @ = @
49,000,00 48 1,592,76: 2 49,41t — (93,78¢) (44,32()
— — 69,55¢ — 29 — — 29
— — — — (82) — — (82)
— — — — — — 53,81t 53,81t
— — — — — 1 — 1
49,000,00 48 1,662,32. 2 49,36 1 (39,979 9,44%
— — — — 44 — — 44°
— — 36,721 — 22t — — 22°
— — 159,26: — 26E — — 26%
— — 64,30¢ — 1,15¢ — — 1,15¢
— — 16,449,25 17 92,36¢ — — 92,38.
(49,000,00) (49 12,249,99 12 37 — — —
— — — — — — (46,28 (46,28
— — — — — (58) — (598)
— $ — 30,621,86 $ 31 $ 14385 $ (57 ¢ (86,259 $ 57,57(

See accompanying notes.
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Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Operating activities
Net (loss) incom $ (38,467 $ 53,81t $ (46,289
Income from discontinued operatic (612) (77,04() —
Loss from continuing operatiol (39,079 (23,22Y) (46,289
Adjustments to reconcile (loss) income from contiguperations to net cash used in
operating activities
Gain on sale of property and equipm (54) (25) —
Change in fair value of warrant liabili — 85 71C
Unrealized loss (gain) on marketable secur 2 1 (57
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,18¢ 87¢ 871
Income tax benef (399) (16,24%) —
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debtdunt — 21¢ 33C
Stocl-based compensation expel 297 (82) 442
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl 284 44 (11)
Interest receivabl 22C 114 (664)
Inventory — — (1,159
Prepaid expenses and other as 74 (247) (51¢€)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and suppldregrtaitive retirement ple 5,211 (959) (2,099
Deferred revenu — 697 12C
Other nor-current liabilities 64 53¢ 10¢
Net cash used in operating activities from contigubperation: (32,19) (38,20¢) (47,199
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activitiem discontinued operatiol (352) 2,021 —
Net cash used in operating activitie (32,549 (36,185 (47,199
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of marketable securi (32,78) (17,890 (97,679
Sales and maturities of marketable secur 58,89¢ 26,87( 49,46¢
Purchases of property and equipment, (299 (68E5) (75%)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activifiesn continuing operatior 25,82¢ 8,29t (48,959
Net cash provided by disposal/sale of discontimysetations — 25,607 —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activitie 25,828 33,90: (48,959
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common si 4 29 100,73}
Proceeds from issuance of secured notes pa — 30,00( —
Repayments of secured notes payi — — (6,775
Financing costs and underwriters discot (1,34 (975) (6,049
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activifieen continuing operatior (1,34) 29,054 87,91¢
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activifiesn discontinued operatiol 397 (1,967 —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (944) 27,087 87,91¢
Net change in cash and cash equival (7,665) 24,80« (8,249
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 31,40 23,74( 48,54
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 23,74C $ 48,54. $ 40,30:
Supplemental cash flow informatic
Cash paid for intere-Continuing operation $ — $ 1412 $ 2,93¢
Noncash financial activity
Conversion of preferred stoi $ — % — % 48
Issuance of warran $ — $ 61z $ —
Exercise of warrant $ — % — $ 1,15¢

See accompanying notes.

101




Table of Contents

Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012
1. Organization and Nature of Operations

Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the Company) wasporated in Delaware on March 30, 2005, and coneee operations on December 22,
2005. The Company is a specialty pharmaceuticapamy focused on developing and commercializing petslfor the treatment of central
nervous system diseases, including neurologicapagdhiatric disorders. The Company has two praéguyeproducts and several proprietary
product candidates in clinical development thatrasisl the epilepsy and attention deficit hyperagtidisorder markets.

The Company is currently focused on the commeumztibn of Oxtellar XR (formerly known as SPN-804idahe anticipated
commercialization of Trokendi XR (formerly known 8®N-538). Oxtellar XR received final approval frtime Food and Drug Administration
(FDA) on October 19, 2012 and the Company begarcdhamercial launch of this product on FebruaryQL 2 Accordingly, the Company h
not yet generated any revenues from product sateagh December 31, 2012. In addition, TrokendiréBeived tentative approval from the
FDA on June 25, 2012. Except for profits earne@df9 and 2011 due to non-recurring transactiomsCiimpany has incurred net losses from
operations since its inception. The Company hadlass$) income of approximately $(38.5) million,338 million, and $(46.3) million during
the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2€8d@kctively. The net income in 2011 was primarilg ¢tb a gain on the sale of TCD
Royalty Sub LLC (TCD) of approximately $74.9 millionet of taxes, being reported as discontinuedadpas (see Note 10). The Company
has financed its operations primarily through tale ©f equity securities, issuance of debt instmisieand amounts received under its royalty
and development agreements. Management expecttiogeosses to continue for the foreseeable futaté one or more of its products are
established in the marketplace. The Company wélrne obtain additional capital through equity dffgs, debt financings and/or payments
under new or existing licensing and research andldpment collaboration agreements (see Note 2).

The Company's operations are subject to certdis Aaad uncertainties. The risks include the sucoksar product launches, receipt of final
FDA approval for Trokendi XR, negative outcome fifiical trials, inability or delay in completinginical trials or obtaining regulatory
approvals, changing market conditions for prodbetisg developed by the Company, more stringentlaggny environment, the need to retain
key personnel and protect intellectual propertgdpict liability, and the availability of additionehpital financing on terms acceptable to the
Company.

2. Management's Plans as to Continuing as a Goingo@cern

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd on a going-concern basis, which contempth&esealization of assets and
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal courselafsiness. Since inception, the Company has induared continues to incur, significant losses
from operations. The Company needs to raise additicapital to continue its business operationsuagently planned and to fund deficits in
operating cash flows.

As described more fully in Note 9, the Company ddown $30.0 million under a secured credit faci{tye Facility) during 2011. There is no
remaining borrowing capacity under the Facility. described in Note 10, during 2011, the Compang abllof its equity interest in its wholly-
owned subsidiary, TCD, for consideration consistifig cash receipt of $27.0 million and contingemisideration of $3.0 million to be
received in the future if certain criteria are miet.described in Note 11, during 2012 the Companymeted an initial public offering, raising
approximately
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2. Management's Plans as to Continuing as a Goingo@cern (Continued)

$47.6 million, net of expenses and a follow-on cammstock offering raising approximately $46.6 roitlji net of expenses. The Company
funded operations during 2012 principally througl tise of proceeds from the 2011 draws under tbiéitiFacash received from the sale of
TCD, and proceeds received from the public offesinfits common stock.

The Company's current operating assumptions, wigithct management's best estimate of future revand operating expenses, indicate the
current cash on hand, including the cash procesmsvwed from the common stock offerings in 2012udth be sufficient to fund operations as
currently planned into the fourth quarter of 20IBe Company will need to raise additional capiabtigh either a public offering of its
common stock, a private placement offering of ggsitcurities, issuance of a debt instrument, orcmmybination thereof, to fund deficits in
operating cash flows and continue its businessatipgis as currently planned. However, there camdoassurance that such financing will be
available to the Company at any given time or add on favorable terms. The type, timing, and gaoffinancing selected by the Company
will be dependent upon the Company's cash neegls\hilability of financing sources, and the prémgiconditions in the financial markets.

In the event the Company does not gain accesdditauhl funding, the Company will likely revisesitommercial plans for Oxtellar XR and
Trokendi XR, planned clinical trials, other deveaiognt activities, capital expenditure plans, andsttade of its operations, until it is able to
obtain sufficient financing to resume planned oflens or pursue other alternatives. If the Compiamgquired to significantly reduce
operating expenses and delay, reduce the scope @fminate one or more of its development progratimnese events could have a material
adverse effect on the Company's business, reduligepations and financial condition. There cambessurance that the Company will be

to adjust the scale of its operations and redwscegéerating cash needs to allow operations to meatintil additional financing can be secured.

These factors could significantly limit the Compangbility to continue as a going concern. Therfgial statements do not include any
adjustments relating to recoverability and clasaifon of recorded asset amounts or the amountslassification of liabilities that might be
necessary should the Company be unable to continerdstence.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentatiol

The Company's consolidated financial statementadecthe accounts of Supernus PharmaceuticalsainttSupernus Europe Ltd., and
included the accounts of TCD, its wholly-owned sdiasy, through December 14, 2011, the date trmQbmpany sold 100% of its equity
interests in TCD. These are collectively refermdhé¢rein as "Supernus” or "the Company." All sigmaifit intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation.Jdmpany's consolidated financial statements haea prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in thetdthStates (U.S. GAAP). The Company currently digsran one business segment.

The assets and liabilities related to TCD havetifleble cash flows that are largely independenthef cash flows of other groups of assets an
liabilities, and the Company does not have sigaiftacontinuing involvement with the related produéccordingly, the remaining assets and
liabilities, and
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the results of operations, related to TCD are prteskas discontinued operations for all periodh@accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Accrued compensation and interest fagébpproximately $1.5 million and $0.1 milliorespectively, as of December 31, 2011
previously classified in our consolidated balartveet as separate line items have been reclasaifi¢ééhcluded within "accounts payable and
accrued expenses"” to conform to current periodepitesion.

Reverse Stock Spl

All share and per share amounts have been retvectidjusted to give effect to a one-for-four neseestock split of the Company's common
stock effected on April 9, 2012.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in edaoce with U.S. GAAP requires the Company to nedténates and judgments in certain
circumstances that affect the reported amountsgsta, liabilities, revenues and expenses, angtdetlisclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. In preparing these consolidated fin@hstatements, management has made its best éstiavad judgments of certain amounts
included in the financial statements, giving duesideration to materiality. On an ongoing basie,@lompany evaluates its estimates, inclu
those related to revenue recognition, fair valuassiets, convertible preferred stock and commaik ssbock options and warrants, income
taxes, preclinical study and clinical trial accsiahd other contingencies. Management basesiitsatss on historical experience or on variou:
other assumptions, including information receivexhf its service providers and independent valuatmwsultants, which it believes to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual resoltisl differ from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all investments in highlyitifinancial instruments with an original maturdaf/three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

Marketable Securitie:

Marketable securities may consist of investments.®B. Treasuries, various U.S. governmental agdeby securities, corporate bonds and
other fixed income securities. Management classifie Company's investments as available-for-Saieh securities are carried at estimated
fair value, with any unrealized holding gains ades reported, net of any tax effects reportedcasmulated other comprehensive income,
which is a separate component of stockholderstgdrealized gains and losses, and declines irevjallged to be other-than-temporary, if
any, are included in consolidated results of ope@nat A decline in the market value of any avaiafur-sale security below cost that is deeme:
to be other-than-temporary results in a reductiofair value, which is charged to earnings in fexiod, and a new cost basis for the security |
established. Dividend and interest income is remghas interest income when earned. The costoofities sold is calculated using the
specific identification method. The Company plaaksnvestments with highly rated government owvpté sector financial institutions whose
debt is rated as investment grade.
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Marketable Securitie—Restricted

The Company has established the Supernus Supplentemicutive Retirement Plan (SERP) for the solpase of receiving funds for two
executives from a previous SERP and providing dicoimg deferral program under the Supernus SERFofAddecember 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2012, the estimated fair value ofib&ual fund investment securities within the SERBpproximately $245,000 and $279,000
respectively, has been recorded as restricted itadnleesecurities. A corresponding noncurrent ligbis also included in the consolidated
balance sheets to reflect the Company's obligdtiothe SERP. The Company has not made, and hpkans to make, contributions to the
SERP. The securities can only be used for purpafsgaying benefits under the SERP.

Accounts Receivabl

Accounts receivable are reported in the consolaiatdance sheets at outstanding amounts, lessoavaakte for doubtful accounts if necess
The Company extends credit without requiring cellat The Company writes off uncollectible recetesbwhen the likelihood of collection is
remote. The Company evaluates the collectabilitgazfounts receivable on a regular basis. An allceawhen needed, is based upon various
factors including the financial condition and payrkistory of customers, an overall review of cdiiens experience on other accounts, and
economic factors or events expected to affect éutatlections experience. No allowance was recoeseaf December 31, 2011 or 2012.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@npany to concentrations of credit risk consigigpally of cash, cash equivalents, account:
receivable and marketable securities. The countiéepare various corporations and financial initins of high credit standing.

Substantially all of the Company's cash and caslvabpnts are maintained with well known, U.S. aoet U.S. financial institutions and
corporations. Deposits held with banks may exchedtount of insurance provided on such deposéretally, these deposits may be
redeemed upon demand and, therefore, managem@udsethey bear minimal risk.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of an asset or liability should es@nt the price that would be received to sellssetzor paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants. Such aimss to sell an asset or transfer a liabiligy @ssumed to occur in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability.okdimgly, fair value is determined based on a hlgptital transaction at the measurement ¢
considered from the perspective of a market pasiti rather than from a reporting entity's perspect

The Company reports assets and liabilities thatramasured at fair value using a three-level faueaierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used
to measure fair value. This hierarchy maximizesube of
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observable inputs and minimizes the use of unoldéavinputs. The three levels of inputs used tosmesafair value are as follows:

. Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted pricestiva markets for identical assets or liabilitieattthe Company has the ability
to access at the measurement date.

. Level 2—nputs are quoted prices for similar assets ardilili@s in active markets, quoted prices for idealt or similar assets
liabilities in markets that are not active, inpatier than quoted prices that are observable asdset or liability (interest rates,

yield curves, etc.) and inputs that are derivedgipially from or corroborated by observable madegta by correlation or other
means (market corroborated inputs).

. Level 3—Unobservable inputs that reflect the Company's agsumptions, based on the best information availatluding th
Company's own data.

In accordance with the fair value hierarchy destibbove, the following tables show the fair valithe Company's financial assets and
liabilities that are required to be measured atvfalue, in thousands:

Fair Value Measurements ai
December 31, 201

Significant
Total Carrying Quoted Prices Other Significant
Value at in Active Observable Unobservable
December 31, Markets Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 48,54 $ 48,54 $ — 3 —
Marketable securiti-restricted 24~ — 24k —
Total assets at fair valt $ 48,78¢ $ 48,54 $ 24t % —
Liabilities:
Warrant liability $ 697 $ — % — % 697
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Fair Value Measurements ai
December 31, 2012

Significant
Total Carrying Quoted Prices Other Significant
Value at in Active Observable Unobservable
December 31, Markets Inputs Inputs
2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 40,30: $ 31561 $ 8,741 $ —
Marketable securitie 48,20¢ — 48,20¢ —
Marketable securitie—restricted 27¢ — 27¢ —
Total assets at fair valt $ 88,787 $ 31,567 $ 57,22t $ —
Liabilities:
Warrant liability $ 251 $ — 3 — 3 251

The Company's Level 1 assets include money maunkeisfand U.S. Treasuries and government agencysdebtities with quoted prices in
active markets. At December 31, 2012, Level 2 a3setude mutual funds in which the SERP assetinaested, commercial paper, and
corporate bonds and other fixed income securitiegel 2 securities are valued using thiyarty pricing sources that apply applicable ingute
other relevant data into their models to estimaievialue.

Level 3 liabilities include the fair market valueautstanding warrants to purchase Common Stoakrded as a derivative liability. Prior to the
IPO on May 1, 2012, these warrants provided thiet tig purchase the Company's Series A convertitdfepred stock (Series A Preferred
Stock) that were converted to the right to purcasmmon Stock upon the completion of the IPO. Roazompletion of the IPO, the fair val
of the preferred stock warrant liability was calteld using a probability-weighted expected retuodeh (PWERM). Subsequent to completion
of the IPO, the fair value of the common stock wattiability was calculated using a Monte-Carlmsiation on a Black-Scholes model with
the following assumptions:

Exercise Prict $4 - $5 per shar
Volatility 80%
Stock Price as of December 31, 2( $7.17 per shar
Term 8.1- 9.0 year:
Dividend Yield 0.0%
Risk-Free Rate 1.6%- 1.8%

Significant changes to these assumptions wouldtrigsimcreases/decreases to the fair value obtitetanding warrants.
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Changes in the fair value of the warrants are neizegl as Other income (expense) in the Consolidata@ments of Operations. The following
table presents information about the Company's comstock warrant liability as of December 31, 200@]1 and 2012, in thousands:

Year Ended
December 31, 2011

and 2012
Balance at December 31, 2C $ —
Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock warran 612
Changes in fair value of warrants included in eaga 85
Balance at December 31, 2C 697
Exercise of warrants (credited to paid in capi (1,15€)
Changes in fair value of warrants included in eaga 71C
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 251

(1) Upon consummation of the Company's Initial iRuDffering, the warrants to purchase Series Afdétred Stock
were converted to warrants to purchase common s

The carrying amounts of other financial instrumemsluding accounts receivable, accounts payatdeagcrued expenses, and secured notes
payable approximate fair value due to their shematmaturities.

Inventory

Inventories, which are recorded at the lower ot cosnarket, include materials, labor, and otheectiand indirect costs and are valued using

the first-in, first-out method. The Company cap#tes$ inventories produced in preparation for conma¢taunches when it becomes probable

that the related product candidates will receigpilatory approval and that the related costs walrdcoverable through the commercial sale of
the product.

Inventory is evaluated for impairment through cdesation of factors such as the net realizableeydawer of cost or market, obsolescence,
and expiry. Inventories do not have carrying valinres exceed either cost or net realizable value.

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Upaement or sale, the cost of assets disposed offencelated accumulated depreciation are
removed from the accounts and any resulting galosw is credited or charged to operations. Repaidsmaintenance costs are expensed as
incurred.
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Depreciation and amortization are computed usiagthaight-line method over the following averageful lives:

Computer equipmer 3 years

Software 3 years

Lab and office equipmel 5-10 years

Furniture 7 years

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of lease term or useful |

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist primarily of purchasedita. Patents are carried at cost less accumuwdatedization, which is calculated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lokthe patents, generally estimated to be tensy@dre carrying value of the patents is assesse
for impairment annually during the fourth quartéeach year, or more frequently if impairment irdars exist. There were no indicators of
impairment identified at December 31, 2011 or 2012.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs consist of financing sgation costs incurred by the Company in conneatiith the sale of nomecourse notes issu
by TCD (see Note 9), financing costs incurred ly@mpany in connection with the closing of the @any's term loans (see Note 9) and
legal, accounting and other costs incurred in cotioie with preparing for the Company's stock ofigs. The Company amortized deferred
financing costs associated with the non-recoursesnantil December 14, 2011, at which time the rewourse notes were assumed by the
purchaser of TCD (see Note 10). The Company anexrtieferred financing costs associated with teemdver the term of the related debt
using the effective interest method. Upon compietibits IPO and upon completion of the follow-difecing, the Company reclassified all
previously deferred financing costs related todfferings as a charge against proceeds received.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets consist primarily of purchasegpis and property and equipment. The Company sesése recoverability of its long-lived
assets whenever events or changes in circumstamtieate that the carrying amount of an asset nwdya recoverable. If indications of
impairment exist, projected future undiscountechdimsvs associated with the asset are comparetktodrrying amount to determine whether
the asset's value is recoverable. Evaluating fpairment requires judgment, including the estimmatibfuture cash flows, future growth rates
and profitability and the expected life over whidsh flows will occur. Changes in the Company'sriass strategy or adverse changes in
market conditions could impact impairment analysed require the recognition of an impairment chageal to the excess of the carrying
value of the londived assets over its estimated fair value. Forydmrs ended December 31, 2011 and 2012, the Cgndedermined that the
was no impairment of the Company's long-lived asset

109




Table of Contents

Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
Years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cornihued)
Preclinical Study and Clinical Trial Accruals and Deferred Advance Payments

The Company estimates preclinical study and clinit@ expenses based on the services performezlipat to contracts with research
institutions, investigators, and clinical reseanchanizations that conduct these activities obétsalf. In recording service fees, the Company
estimates the time period over which the relatedices will be performed and compares the levedftdrt expended through the end of each
period to the cumulative expenses recorded and @atgnmade for such services and, as appropriatejescadditional service fees or defers
any non-refundable advance payments until theagls¢rvices are performed. If the actual timinthefperformance of services or the level of
effort varies from the estimate, the Company wdjust its accrual or deferred advance payment daugly. If the Company later determines
that it no longer expects the services associattdannonrefundable advance payment to be rendtére@ddvance payment will be charged to
expense in the period that such determination dema

Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the liability method of acctog for income taxes. Under this method, defeteedassets and liabilities are determined
based on differences between financial reportirdjtar reporting bases of assets and liabilitiesarrdneasured using enacted tax rates and
laws that are expected to be in effect when therdihces are expected to reverse. Valuation alloesare established to reduce deferred tax
assets to the amounts expected to be realized.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positioritsinonsolidated financial statements when it @erikely-than-not that the position will
be sustained upon examination by the tax authsriSech tax positions must initially and subsedyee measured as the largest amount c
benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihoodedfig realized upon ultimate settlement with theaathority assuming full knowledge of the
position and relevant facts. The Company's pokdpirecognize any interest and penalties relatécbme taxes in income tax expense.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenues have been generated thecollghoration and research and development agrasmEmese agreements include fees
for development services provided to customersineangs for achievement of specified developmentyleggry and sales milestones, and to a
lesser extent, upfront license payments, which cwapghe Company's development and milestone reyeasuwell as royalties on product si
of licensed products, Oracea, Sanctura XR, anchimtwhich comprise the Company's royalty reverRyalty revenue related to these
products are included as a component of discortilperations in the consolidated statement of djpesin the years ended December 31,
2010 and 2011. There were no royalties receivatd frontinuing operations in any of years ended Déegr81, 2010, 2011, or 2012. The
Company records any amounts received in advansereices performed as deferred revenue and reasythiz amount as revenue ratably
the period it is earned.
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Multiple Element Arrangemen

For arrangements entered into with multiple elemethe Company evaluates whether the componemagobf arrangement are separate
elements based on certain criteria. Accordinglyeneies from collaboration agreements are recogriasdd on the performance requirements
of the agreements. The Company recognizes revehaa persuasive evidence of an arrangement exadigerd; has occurred or services have
been rendered, the fee is fixed and determinabt&callection is reasonably assured.

Non-refundable license fees are recognized as rewshaa the Company has a contractual right to recaied payment, the contract price is
fixed or determinable, the collection of the resigitreceivable is reasonably assured, and the Coyripas no further significant performance
obligations in exchange for the license.

As of January 1, 2011, the Company adopted Accogr8tandard Update (ASU) No. 2009-R&venue Recoghnition (Topic 605)—Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangements: a consensuedfASB Emerging Issues Task Fo(ASU No. 2009-13) which was codified in ASC 605-
25. ASU No. 2009-13 establishes a selling-pricedn@y for determining the selling price of eachneént within a multiple-deliverable
arrangement. Specifically, the selling price assifjto each deliverable is to be based on vendaifgpebjective evidence (VSOE) if
available; third-party evidence, if VSOE is unaghlk; and estimated selling prices if neither VS@Ehird-party evidence is available. In
addition, ASU No. 2009-13 eliminates the residuatmod of allocating arrangement consideration astead requires allocation using the
relative selling price method. The adoption of ARW. 2009-13 did not impact the Company's consadididinancial statements, as the
Company did not enter into or modify any multiplereent arrangements during 2011. The Company eteslureew or materially modified
multiple element arrangements pursuant to the gaielin ASC 605-25.

Product Sale:

The Company will record revenue from product salben persuasive evidence of an arrangement edaltgsery has occurred and title of the
product and associated risk of loss has passéntoustomer, the price is fixed or determinabléection from the customer has been
reasonably assured, all performance obligations baen met and returns can be reasonably estinRrzdlict sales are recorded net of
accruals for estimated rebates, chargebacks, ditgato-pay assistance and other accruals (calidgti"sales deductions") and returns.

. Rebates. Allowances for rebates include mandated discountier the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program as wealkgstiated
discounts with commercial health-care providerdod®es are amounts owed after the final dispenditigegoroducts to a benefit
plan participant and are based upon contractuaeagents or legal requirements with public sectay. (dedicaid) and private
sector benefit providers. The allowance for rebadmsed on statutory and contractual discouasrand expected utilization.
Estimates for expected utilization of rebates asel in part on third party market research. Relae generally invoiced and
paid quarterly in arrears so that the accrual li@l@onsists of an estimate of the amount expeotbd incurred for the current
quarter's activity, plus an accrual balance fonm@rior quarters' unpaid rebates. If
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actual future rebates vary from estimates, we nedrio adjust prior period accruals, which wouféctfrevenue in the period
of adjustment.

. Chargebacks. Chargebacks are discounts that occur when caettacistomers purchase directly from an intermgdiar
distributor or wholesaler. Contracted customerschvisurrently consist primarily of Public Healthr8iee institutions and
Federal government entities purchasing via the ree&upply Schedule, generally purchase the progiugtdiscounted price.
The distributor or wholesaler, in turn, chargeskiide difference between the price initially paidthe distributor or wholesaler
and the discounted price paid to the distributovbolesaler by the customer. The allowance foritistor/wholesaler
chargebacks is based on known sales to contraastdrers.

. Distributor/Wholesaler deductions and discountd.S. specialty distributors and wholesalers dfered various forms of
consideration including allowances, service feas@ompt payment discounts. Distributor allowanaed service fees arise
from contractual agreements with distributors amedgenerally a percentage of the purchase priaklpathe distributors and
wholesalers. Wholesale customers are offered arpay discount for payment within a specified péri

. Co-pay assistance Patients who have commercial insurance and negti eligibility requirements may receive co-pay
assistance. Liabilities for co-pay assistance bélbased on actual program participation and essraf program redemption
using data provided by third-party administrators.

. Returns. Sales of our products are not subject to a gérighd of return; however, the Company will acceppduct that is
damaged or defective when shipped directly fromveairehouse or for expired product up to 12 montitssequent to its expiry
date. Product that has been used to fill patieegqriptions is no longer subject to any right afine.

Our products will be distributed through wholessland specialty distributors. Each of these distdis will take title to and ownership of the
product upon physical receipt of the product arsdritiute these products to pharmacies. Until tieegaifficient history of product sales, the
Company cannot make a reasonable estimate of &ithure product returns, expected rebates and ebauaks, or expected sales deductions
from the eventual sale of these products to hemléhproviders. Therefore, the Company will not rdaevenue based upon the shipment of
product to the distributors, even though the distiors are invoiced upon product shipment. InstdaCompany will recognize revenue at the
time the prescription of our product is filled aselivered to the patient end-user until such timé aan reasonably estimate expected sales
deductions and returns, at which time the Compaifiyoegin to recognize revenue at the time of shépbof product to the distributors.

On February 4, 2013, the Company launched Oxt&IRyrits first commercial product. We anticipate thench of Trokendi XR to occur
during the third quarter of 2013, pending receifiraal approval from the FDA.
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Milestone Payment

Milestone payments have been recognized as reweher the collaborative partner acknowledges corgpiedif the milestone and substantive
effort was necessary to achieve the milestone.@naty 1, 2011, the Company adopted ASU No. 201®R&Venue Recognition-Milestone
Method (ASU No. 2010-17) which was codified in A805-28. Under this guidance, management may rezegaivenue contingent upon the
achievement of a milestone in its entirety in teeiqd in which the milestone is achieved only & thilestone meets all the criteria within the
guidance to be considered substantive. Substamiiiestone payments are recognized upon achieveofigingé milestone only if all of the
following conditions are met:

. the milestone payments are non-refundable;

. achievement of the milestone involves a degreékfand was not reasonably assured at the incepfitire arrangement;

. substantive effort on the Company's part is invdliveachieving the milestone;

. the amount of the milestone payment is reasonahielation to the effort expended or the risk aisged with achievement of

the milestone; and,

. a reasonable amount of time passes betweerptfrent license payment and the first milestone paynas well as between et
subsequent milestone payment.

Determination as to whether a payment meets thremfentioned conditions involves management's judgniieany of these conditions are 1
met, the resulting payment would not be considaredbstantive milestone, and therefore the reguttayment would be considered part of the
consideration for the single unit of accounting antbrtized over the appropriate period. The adopticASU No. 2010-17 did not have a
material impact on the Company's consolidated testiloperations, financial position, or liquidity.

The Company's recorded milestone revenues wer@@dpmately, $0.0, $0.8 million, and $1.1 million éhy the years ended December 31,
2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. During the yeaded December 31, 2011 and 2012, after the anfoptiASU No. 2010-17, the Company
recorded revenues upon achievement of the milesésthe Company concluded that the milestone wlast@ntive in accordance with its
accounting policy.

Research and Development Co

Research and development expenditures are expassedurred. Research and development costs plynearisist of employee-related
expenses, including salaries and benefits; expensesed under agreements with contract reseaigdingzations, investigative sites, and
consultants that conduct the Company's clinicaldrithe cost of acquiring and manufacturing chhicial materials; the cost of manufacturing
materials used in process validation, to the exteattthose materials are manufactured prior teivérg regulatory approval for those products
and are expected to be sold commercially, facilibests that do not have an alternative future nesgted depreciation and other allocated
expenses; license fees for and milestone paymelated to in-licensed products and technologies;
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stock-based compensation expense; and costs asslogith non-clinical activities and regulatory apyals.
Stock-Based Compensation

Employee stoclbased compensation is measured based on the estifaatvalue on the grant date. The grant datevidue of options grante
is calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pgaimodel, which requires the use of subjective aggioms including volatility, expected term,
risk-free rate, and the fair value of the undedyaommon stock. For awards that vest based oncgeceinditions, the Company recognizes
expense using the straight-line method less estifatfeitures. The Company has awarded non-vesstadt. Prior to the Company's IPO the
estimated fair value of these awards was deternahétke date of grant based upon the estimateddhie of the Company's common stock.
Subsequent to the Company's IPO, the fair valueetommon stock is based on observable marketric

For stock option grants and non-vested stock stitpgmerformance-based milestone vesting, the Compecords the expense over the
remaining service period when management deterntirmschievement of the milestone is probable. &dement evaluates when the
achievement of a performance-based milestone lzapte based on the relative satisfaction of théopmance conditions as of the applicable
reporting date.

The Company records the expense for stock optiantgito non-employees based on the estimateddie wf the stock option using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair vabfenon-employee awards is re-measured at eachtieg@eriod. As a result, stock
compensation expense for non-employee awards witing is affected by changes in the fair valuthefCompany's common stock.

Warrant Liability

In January 2011, the Company entered into a seaueatit facility pursuant to a loan and securityesgnent with certain lenders, which was
subsequently amended in December 2011, providingefon loans of up to an aggregate of $30.0 milliarconnection with the drawdown of
$15.0 million under the secured credit facility famuary 26, 2011, the Company issued to its lendanants to purchase an aggregate of
375,000 shares of the Company's Series A Pref&tazk at an exercise price of $1.00 per share vildreants became exercisable immediatel
and expire on January 26, 2021. Upon completicdh@Company's IPO on May 1, 2012, the lender wésreonverted into warrants to
purchase 93,750 shares of Common Stock at an sggydce of $4.00 per share. These warrants aceded as a derivative liability and, as
such, the Company reflects the warrant liabilityaat value in the consolidated balance sheets.fainevalue of this derivative liability is re-
measured at the end of every reporting period hadhange in fair value is reported in the consbdid statements of operations as other
income (expense). On October 5, 2012, a holdercesest warrants to purchase an aggregate of 75/td@sof common stock via a cashless
net share settlement election in accordance wéhdhms of the agreement, pursuant to which wessiue warrant holder 49,137 shares of
common stock. As of December 31, 2011 and Deceihe2012, the fair value of the outstanding wassavds estimated to be approximately
$460,000 and $114,000, respectively. The chanfgrinvalue of approximately $85,000 and $506,008 been recorded in other income
(expense) in the
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Company's consolidated statements of operationthéoyear ended December 31, 2011 and 2012, résggct

In connection with the drawdown of the second $18ildon under the secured credit facility on Ded®n30, 2011, the Company issued to its
lenders warrants to purchase an aggregate of 208jtdres of the Company's Series A Preferred $tbak exercise price of $1.50 per share.
The warrants became exercisable immediately annlee@p December 30, 2021. Upon completion of then@any's IPO on May 1, 2012, the
warrants converted into warrants to purchase 49%888es of Common Stock at an exercise price @03%r share. These warrants are
recorded as a derivative liability and, as such,Gompany reflects the warrant liability at faituain the consolidated balance sheets. The fa
value of this derivative liability is re-measuredtae end of every reporting period and the chandair value is reported in the consolidated
statements of operations as other income (expe@seQctober 5, 2012, a holder exercised warranpsitohase an aggregate of 26,667 share:
of common stock via a cashless net share settleaheetion in accordance with the terms of the apeg, pursuant to which we issued the
warrant holder 15,172 shares of common stock. A3emlember 31, 2011 and 2012, the fair value obtitstanding warrants was estimated to
be approximately $237,000 and $137,000, respeytifdle change in fair value of approximately $200,0as been recorded in other income
(expense) in the Company's consolidated statenoéizerations for the year ended December 31, 2012.

The terms of the warrant agreements provide fowfdoound" anti-dilution adjustment for the warraimtsertain situations whereby the
Company sells or issues (a) shares at a pricenpee ess than the exercise price of the warranih) equity-linked financial instruments with
strike prices less than the exercise price of tagamts. As a result of this "down round" provisitre warrants continue to be classified as
derivative liabilities.

Subsequent to the completion of its IPO, which oexlion May 1, 2012, the fair value of the Commaock warrants is determined using a
Black-Scholes model within a Monte-Carlo framewdrke Monte-Carlo simulation is a generally acceptiadistical method used to estimate
fair value based on the application of subjectissuaptions, consistently applied for each periocluiding the probability, timing and
magnitude of the Company's issuance of additiooalmon stock in future financings or raising capital debt issuance. This valuation is
computed at the end of each fiscal quarter tocefienditions at each valuation date until the wats are exercised or they expire. In addition
to assumptions regarding future equity financirgssideration is also given to the current stodkepranticipated stock volatility going
forward, and the anti-dilution provisions embeddethe warrant agreements.

Earnings (Loss) Per Shar

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is detethbigalividing earnings (loss) attributable to conmstockholders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during the@gewithout consideration of common stock equiveeBiluted earnings (loss) per share
is computed by dividing the earnings (loss) attidile to common stockholders by the weighted-averagnber of common share equivalents
outstanding for the period. The treasury stock meis used to determine the dilutive effect of @@mmpany's stock option grants, potential
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) awards andm&and the if-converted method is used to deterithie dilutive effect
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of the Company's Series A Preferred Stock. Thefolig common stock equivalents were excluded irctieulation of diluted earnings (loss)
per share because their effect would be anti-gidutis applied to the loss from continuing operatias of December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Series A Preferred Stoc 12,249,99 12,249,99 4,049,86.
Warrants to purchase Series A Prefe

Stock/Common Stoc — 143,74¢ 21,09(
Stock options, Non-Vested Stock

Options and ESPP Awart 767,42¢ 598,10¢ 256,93¢

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncemel

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standardsf@q&ASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (A30)104, Fair Value Measureme
(Topic 820) (ASU 2011-04), which contains amendrag¢atachieve common fair value measurement anébdises in U.S. GAAP and
International Financial Reporting Standards. ASW1204 explains how to measure fair value for finaheporting. The guidance does not
require fair value measurements in addition toehaiseady required or permitted by other Topics Provisions of ASU 2011-04 became
effective January 1, 2012. The adoption of ASU 2041id not have a material effect on the Compaty'ssolidated results of operations,
financial position or liquidity.

4. Unrestricted Marketable Securities
Unrestricted marketable securities held by the Camgpwvere as follows, in thousands:

At December 31, 2012:

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Available for Sale Cost Gains Losses Value
Corporate debt securitit $ 48,25¢ $ 19 (54) $ 48,20¢

The Company has not experienced any other-thanammplosses on its marketable securities andicestirmarketable securities.
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5. Inventory
Inventories consist of the following, in thousands:

December 31

2011 2012
Raw materials $ — $ 1,152
Work-in-process — —
Finished good — —

$ — $ 1,152

There were no inventory reserves at December 31, 26d 2012. As of December 31, 2012 the Compadyédworded approximately
$0.9 million of inventory related to raw materi&ds Trokendi XR, which has received tentative apatdrom the FDA. We anticipate
recovering these amounts through future produetsail Trokendi XR upon receipt of final approval.

6. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the followingthiousands:

December 31

2011 2012
Computer equipmer $ 58 $ 61t
Software 20¢ 20¢
Lab equipment and furnitul 3,46¢ 3,89¢
Leasehold improvemen 1,48¢ 1,77¢

5,74¢ 6,49¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (4,436 (5,07¢)

$ 131C $ 1,421

Depreciation expense on property and equipmerthfoyears ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 204 2ppsoximately $959,000,
$650,000, and $642,000, respectively.

7. Purchased Patents

In connection with a purchase agreement with Statmratories, Inc., the Company acquired certaterga in 2005. The following sets forth
the gross carrying amount and related accumulatexttezation of the patents, in thousands:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201,
Weighted- Gross Gross
Average Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Life Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Purchased paten 10.C $ 2,29 $ 1,38C $ 2,292 $ 1,60¢

Amortization expense for the years ended Decembg2@®L0, 2011 and 2012 was approximately $229,808 gear. The estimated annual
aggregate amortization expense through Decemb&(35,
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7. Purchased Patents (Continued)

is $229,000. The net book value of intangible asastof December 31, 2011 and 2012 was approxiyrded million, and $0.7 million,
respectively.

8. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued Liabilities are comprised of the followitand is included within the accounts payable amdwes expenses line item on the
consolidated balance sheets), in thousands:

December 31

2011 2012

Accrued Clinical Trial Cost $ 6,501 $ 3,33t
Accrued Compensatic 1,543 2,49:
Interest Payabl 13¢ 213
Other Accrued Liabilitie! 1,08¢ 1,82(

$ 9,27¢ $ 7,86(

Accrued clinical trial costs consist primarily ofviestigator fees, contract research organizationcss and laboratory costs. Other accrued
expenses consist primarily of marketing, salesraistellaneous accrued expenses.

9. Notes Payable

Secured Notes Payab

In January 2011, the Company entered into a seauestit facility pursuant to a loan and securityezgnent with certain lenders, which was
subsequently amended in December 2011, providingefm loans of up to an aggregate of $30.0 million January 26, 2011 and
December 30, 2011, the Company drew down $15.0omiind $15.0 million, respectively, of term loamgler this secured credit facility. The
term loans bear interest at a fixed rate per anofuiri.0% and will mature on August 1, 2014 and aand, 2015, respectively. Principal and

interest payments are due over the remaining téitmedoans. As of December 31, 2012, the Compamgquired to make the following
principal payments, in thousands:

As of
December 31, 2012
Year ending December 3

2013 $ 11,80¢
2014 10,84
2015 56¢

$ 23,22¢

The Company may voluntarily prepay all, but nosl#san all, outstanding term loans under its setaredit facility at any time, subject to the
payment of a premium. With respect to any prepayniba premium is 5.0%, if such prepayment is maefere the amortization date.¢. , to
reduce a debt by making payments against the pahbalance in installments or regular transfe&t€)% if such
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prepayment is made during the 15-month period #fiezamortization date, and 1.0% if such prepayrnsemade thereafter. Upon the maturity
of any outstanding term loans or the acceleratigorepayment thereof, the Company will also be iregito make a final payment equal to
2.5% of the aggregate principal amount, or $750,00the term loans borrowed under the securedtdallity. This final payment is being
recorded as additional interest expense over theaéthe loans. As of December 31, 2011 and 26#2Company had accrued $0.1 million
and $0.3 million, respectively, related to thisalipayment, included within notes payable on thesotidated balance sheet.

The Company capitalized financing costs of appraéaty $498,000 in issuing the secured notes payaliiieh are being amortized to interest
expense over the term of the debt. The balancefefied financing costs was approximately $378 &4 $233,000 at December 31, 2011 an
2012, respectively. The carrying value of the sedurotes payable at December 31, 2011 and 201&exla debt discount of $514,000 and
$328,000, respectively, related to the estimated/&due of the warrants issued in connection i issuance of the notes. The Company
recorded interest expense related to the secuted payable of approximately $1.5 million and $2i8ion for the year ended December 31,
2011 and 2012, respectively. In addition, amoriirabf debt discount related to notes payable via3 fillion and $0.6 million at

December 31, 2011 and 2012, respectively.

All obligations under the secured credit facilitg @ecured by substantially all of the Companyistieg property and assets (excluding its
intellectual property) and subject to certain exiogys, by a pledge of the capital stock of the Canys U.K. subsidiary and any future
subsidiary. The fair value of the secured noteapkeyapproximates its carrying value as of DecerBheP011 and 2012.

10. Sale of TCD Royalty Sub Reported as DiscontindeOperations

Pursuant to a Unit Purchase Agreement executedegeiber 14, 2011, the Company sold 100% of itsyeguwinership interests in TCD to an
entity affiliated with Orbimed Advisors LLC, one it§ stockholders, hereafter referred to as thectase Transaction." The purchase price
consisted of $27.0 million cash payment, assumpmifal assets and liabilities and a milestone paytof $3.0 million payable within 10 days
of the occurrence of the earlier of the followirgnditions:

. The purchaser receives royalty payments equallgaat $35.1 million, the purchaser has not entereda transaction to sell,
refinance or monetize its equity interests in T@Bd no generic formulations of the products undeglyhe royalty payments
and related license agreements have entered thetnar

. The purchaser receives proceeds in excess aigpegate of (a) $27.0 million, plus (b) the passh price paid by the purchaser,
if any, to acquire a beneficial interest in onarare of the Notes, plus (c) the aggregate redemtiiwe paid by the purchaser,
if any, to redeem any of the Notes, from any tratisa that refinances or liquidates the equityriest¢s in TCD or the Notes.

The purchase price was determined through a cotivegtidding process, involving more than one bidaled multiple rounds of negotiations
between each potential buyer and the Company. Dinep@ny entered into the purchase transaction witbrdity affiliated with OrbiMed
Advisors LLC, which offered the highest purchasegar
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Pursuant to the Purchase Transaction, the Comgagaiyned duties and obligations under certain natelsrelated agreements, including the
Purchase and Sale Agreement, the Residual Licegssefents and the Servicing Agreement, for so &mntlpe notes remain outstanding. The
purchaser assumed all rights and obligations ohthes.

The Company also retained certain duties and ditiggunder the ongoing Servicing Agreement. Them@any will continue to perform these
services in exchange for a quarterly fee of $10,00840,000 annually. These retained duties cbo§iaking commercially reasonable steps
to collect the royalty amounts due and enforcirggridlated provisions under the license agreemimgarticular, the Company is required to
monitor receipt of the royalty payments due underlicense agreements and to confirm that the patgveee received on a timely basis,
calculated properly and made available to the érist

At the time the aforementioned Notes cease to k&tanding, the purchaser must make an electioittterg1) terminate the Servicing
Agreement and execute the New Servicing Agreemrith was contemplated and drafted at the timé@furchase Transaction, or

(2) obtain from the Company the assignment andstesrof all the licensed intellectual property aicof the Company's rights and obligations
under the license agreements subject to certaiditboms described in the Unit Purchase Agreement.

The Company determined it had not retained anydsteor any of the risks and rewards of TCD owmieraor had it guaranteed any paymen
of principal and interest on the Notes. The Comparserving as an agent for the debt holders ichdigging its retained duties. Therefore,
pursuant to ASC 810-10, "Consolidation", the Conypaccounted for the Purchase Transaction as afalsubsidiary and is calculating the
resulting gain as the aggregate of the fair vafusbasideration and the carrying value of TCD'stsand liabilities, less its fees and expenses
Since the assets and liabilities of TCD had id&tilé operations and cash flows that are indepdrfdam the Company and the Company doe
not have a significant continuing involvement witGD operations, the sale of TCD is reported asotiSoued operations in the Company's
consolidated statements of operations. Accordirtbly,gain on the sale of the subsidiary, as wedlrgsresults of operations related to TCD,
presented as discontinued operations in all pepoeisented in the accompanying financial statem&msuld the Company receive the
milestone payment or additional consideration fatirevalue of amounts received, less any related tnd expenses, will be recorded as "gain
on the sale of the subsidiary,” a component ofatisnued operations.

11. Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

Upon consummation of the IPO in May 2012, the 49,000 outstanding shares of Series A Preferreck@totomatically converted to
12,249,998 shares of Common Stock.

Until the Series A Preferred Stock was convertéd shares of common stock, dividends on the Sérieseferred Stock were cumulative and
accrued at a rate per annum of $0.07 per shargcsub adjustment for certain dilutive events. Tampany was not obligated to pay the
dividends unless it declared or paid dividends mnather shares of capital stock or in the evert liduidation, dissolution or winding up of
the Company. As of December 31, 2011 and 2012 eiindd of approximately $20.5 million and $0, respett, had been accumulated.
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Common Stock

The holders of the Common Stock are entitled tovanie for each share of Common Stock held. On M&012, the Company completed its
IPO, in which 10 million shares of the Company'sr@won Stock were sold at a price of $5 per sharéitially, the underwriters of the
Company's IPO exercised the full amount of thegreallotment option resulting in the sale of aniiddal 449,250 shares of the Company's
Common Stock at a price of $5 per share, resuitir@ash proceeds to the Company of $52.3 millidre Tompany realized net proceeds of
$47.6 million from the IPO, after applying finangicosts of approximately $4.7 million.

On December 5, 2012 the Company completed a folowffering, in which 6 million shares of the Comgs Common Stock were sold at a
price of $8 per share. Additionally, the underwstef the Company's follow-on offering exerciseeittover-allotment options in January 2013
resulting in the sale of an additional 239,432 ebaf the Company's Common Stock at a price oféb&lpare, resulting in total cash proceeds
to the Company of $49.9 million. The Company realinet proceeds of $46.6 million from the follow-affering, after applying financing
costs of approximately $3.3 million.

12. Share-Based Payments
Stock Option Plan

The Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2005 Stock(iar2005 Plan), which is stockholder-approvedimiisrthe grant of options, purchase
rights, and awards to its employees, officers,alies, consultants, or advisors for up to 2,000 8itfres of Common Stock. Option awards are
granted with an exercise price equal to the eséithtir value of the Company's Common Stock agthat date; those option awards genel
vest in four annual installments, starting on & Binniversary of the date of grant and haveytar-contractual terms. The 2005 Plan prov
for the issuance of Common Stock of the Companyupe exercise of stock options. A portion of thargs to certain employees vests upon
the achievement of specified Company milestones.

Under the 2005 Plan, if an optionee is terminatectcuse, the Company has the right and optiomitohase, for a period of 180 days from the
termination date, the shares of Common Stock thiermge obtained through the exercise of a stoclonpThe purchase price will equal the
estimated fair market value of the Common Stockmeined by mutual agreement between the Companyhanaptionee. There were no
shares subject to repurchase at December 31, 201@,and 2012. The 2005 Plan was closed in 2012thé& approval of the 2012 Plan and
further options will be granted under the 2005 Plan

During 2012, the Company adopted the Supernus Ritaumicals, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (th@2@lan), which is stockholder-
approved, and provides for the grant of stock oystiand certain other awards, including stock apgtiea rights, restricted and unrestricted
stock, stock units, performance awards, cash aveard®ther awards that are convertible into ormitse based on the Company's common
stock, to the Company's key employees, directoid,cansultants and advisors. The 2012 Plan is dsdi@iad by the Company's Board of
Directors and provides for the issuance of up 59@,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock. @pti@rds are granted with an exercise
price equal to the estimated fair value of the Canys Common Stock at the grant date; those option
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awards generally vest in four annual installmestiarting on the first anniversary of the date @ngrand have ten-year contractual terms. The
2012 Plan provides for the issuance of Common Stéthe Company upon the exercise of stock optiSisck-based compensation
recognized related to the grant of employee andemoployee stock options, and non-vested stock wésllaws:

Year Ended

December 31,
2010 2011 2012

(in thousands)
Research and developme $ 53 $ 63 $ 20¢
Selling, general and administrati 244 (145 131
Total $ 297 $ (82 $ 33¢

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using the Black-Scholes optidaig model using the assumptions in the
following table:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Fair value of common stoc $1.60- $7.04 $2.56- $3.36 $5.07- $12.92
Expected volatility 60.3%- 61.5% 59.1%- 74.7% 68.3%- 71.6%
Dividend Yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected tern 6.25 years 0.41- 6.25 year: 6.25 year:
Risk-free rate 1.65%- 2.72% 0.15%- 2.93% 0.89%- 1.14%
Expected forfeiture rat 5% 0%- 5% 0%- 5%

Fair Value of Common Stock—For all option grants prior to the completion loétCompany's IPO on May 1, 2012, the fair valuthef
Common Stock underlying the option grants was ddtexd by the Board, with the assistance of managem#ich intended all options
granted to be exercisable at a price per shares®than the per share fair value of the Compalyamon Stock underlying those options on
the date of grant. The Company utilized method@sgapproaches and assumptions as set forth Tretttenical Practice Aid, when estimating
the fair value of Common Stock at each grant date.

Given the lack of an active public market for then@non Stock, the Board employed a third-party vadodirm to assist in the determination
of fair value by completing contemporaneous vabredi In the absence of a public market, and asigal stage company with no significant
revenues from product sales, the Company consigeradge of factors to determine the fair markéievaf the Common Stock at each grant
date. The factors include: (1) the achievementinioal and operational milestones by the Comp#2ythe status of strategic relationships
with collaborators, (3) the significant risks adated with the Company's stage of developmentgdg)tal market conditions for life science
companies, particularly similarly situated privatakld, early-stage life science companies, (5)dbmpany's available cash, financial
condition, and results of operations, (6) the mmesént sales of the Company's preferred stock(@nithe preferential rights of the outstanding
preferred stock.
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For option grants that occurred after the Compd®@on May 1, 2012, the fair value of the CommawocE underlying the option grants was
determined based on observable market prices d@dnepany's Common Stock.

Expected Volatility —Volatility is a measure of the amount by whichreafcial variable such as a share price has fltetiugistorical

volatility) or is expected to fluctuate (expectematility) during a period. The Company does nointain an internal market for its shares and
its shares are not traded privately. The Companyidentified several public entities of similaresizomplexity, and stage of development and
accordingly, historical volatility has been caldeldusing the volatility of these companies. Thengany will continue to use the guideline
peer group volatility information until the histoail volatility of its own Common Stock is relevdantmeasure expected volatility for future
option grants.

Dividend Yield —The Company has never declared or paid dividendshas no plans to do so in the foreseeable future.

Expected Term—This is the period of time that the options grardesl expected to remain unexercised. Options gidrgee a maximum ter
of ten years. The Company determines the averggected life of stock options according to the "difigrl method" as described in Staff
Accounting Bulletin 110, which is the mid-point beten the vesting date and the end of the contrigetra. Over time, management will track
estimates of the expected life of the option teonthst estimates will approximate actual behavéorsimilar options.

Risk-Free Interest Rate—This is the U.S. Treasury rate for the week otheagtion grant during the year, having a term thast closely
resembles the expected term of the option.

Expected Forfeiture Rate—The forfeiture rate is the estimated percentageptibns granted that are expected to be forfaitezthnceled on
an annual basis before becoming fully vested. Thm@any estimates the forfeiture rate based on wemaata with further consideration given
to the class of employees to whom the options \eaated.
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12. Share-Based Payments (Continued)

The following table summarizes stock option acyivinder the 2005 Plan and the 2012 Plan:

Weighted- Weighted-Average
Number of Average Remaining
Options Exercise Price Contractual Term
Outstanding, December 31, 20 664,47¢ $ 1.72 7.8
Granted 144,750 $ 5.8C
Exercisec (69,559 $ 0.4C
Forfeited or expiret (141,56) $ 2.1
Outstanding, December 31, 20 598,10¢ $ 2.7t 7.71
Granted 188,13t $ 10.7:
Exercisec (159,269 $ 1.67
Forfeited or expire! (57,070 $ 2.4t
Outstanding, December 31, 20 569,91: $ 5.7z2 7.8¢
As of December 31, 201
Vested and expected to vi 564,08! $ 5.72 7.87
Exercisable 200,31 $ 2.11 5.7¢

The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstagdiested and expected to vest, and exercisaldEB@acember 31, 2010 is approximately
$589,000, $585,000 and $463,000, respectively.afgeegate intrinsic value of options outstandirggsted and expected to vest, and
exercisable as of December 31, 2011 is approximn&teB million, $1.8 million and $1.2 million, resgtively. The aggregate intrinsic value of
options outstanding, vested and expected to vedtegercisable as of December 31, 2012 is apprdglyndl.6 million, $1.5 million and

$1.0 million, respectively.

The weighted-average, grant-date fair value ofapystigranted for the years ended December 31, 2010, and 2012 was $1.68, $3.64, and
$6.85 per share, respectively. The total fair valtihe underlying Common Stock related to shanasvested during the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 was approximéiel¢, 000, $113,000, and $218,000, respectively.tdta intrinsic value of options
exercised amounted to approximately $26,000, $282.8nd $748,000, respectively, during the yeadeemecember 31, 2010, 2011 and
2012. As of December 31, 2011 and 2012, the totaaognized compensation expense, net of relatéeitioe estimates, was approximately
$768,000 and $1,651,000, respectively, which then@my expects to recognize over a weighted-avegraged of 3.09 and 3.06 years,
respectively.
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12. Share-Based Payments (Continued)
Stock Purchase Plal

During 2012, the Company adopted the Supernus Ritauticals, Inc. 2012 Employee Stock Purchase (fi@rESPP), which is stockholder-
approved, and permits eligible employees to purisaares of the Company's Common Stock using dfteir tax payroll deductions, subjec
certain conditions. The ESPP is administered byCibepany's Board of Directors and provides forisis@ance of up to 250,000 shares of the
Company's Common Stock. Eligible employees canhase shares, using their payroll deductions, anaount equal to 85% of the lesser of
the fair market value of the stock on (a) the fitay of the option period or (b) the last day & tption period. During the year ended
December 31, 2012, 36,727 shares of the Compaysr®@n Stock were purchased by participating elgédrhployees. The Company
incurred $104,000 of expense for this plan forybar ending December 31, 2012, which is includetiwiresearch and development and
selling, general and administrative expense orctimsolidated statement of operations in the amo$55,000 and $49,000, respectively.
Common Stock reserved for future employee purcbader the ESPP totaled 213,273 shares as of Dec&hp2012.

13. Income Taxes
The components of the income tax benefit were k®adpin thousands:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012

Current
Federal $ — $ 1409 $ —
State — 2,15k —

Deferred
Federal 39¢ — —
State — — —
Total $ 39¢ $ 16,24¢ —

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 arti #@re was a $0.4 million, $16.2 million and &héfit for federal or state income taxes
based on continuing operations, respectively. Ametiation
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13. Income Taxes (Continued)

of the expected income tax benefit computed udiegaderal statutory income tax rate to the Comigagffective income tax rate is as folloy
in thousands:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012

Income tax (benefit) computed at federal
statutory tax rat $ (13,42) $ (13,419 $ (16,270
Permanent item 61 57 39¢
State taxe (2,147 (2,159 (2,487%)
Change in valuation allowan: 16,14« — 18,75«
Uncertain tax positio 19C 12¢ (64)
Research and development cre (1,267 (857) —
Other 36 — (329
Income tax benef $ (399) $ (16,24H $ —

In 2011, the Company recorded pre-tax income fr@oamtinued operations of approximately $93.3 wnilliwhich resulted in income tax
expense from discontinued operations of approxily&®&6.8 million. This income tax expense from distinued operations was completely
offset by a $16.2 million income tax benefit gettedsfrom the 2011 loss from continuing operationd ene utilization of net operating loss
carryforwards.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax sspanagement considers whether it is more litedy not that some or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. The ultimate realaatf the deferred tax assets is dependent upogetheration of future taxable income during
the periods in which the net operating loss (NCdrryforwards are available. Management considasgpted future taxable income, the
scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, amdilable tax planning strategies that can beemginted by the Company in making this
assessment. Based upon the level of historicabteximacome and projections for future taxable ineammer the periods in which the NOL
carryforwards are available to reduce income tpagsble, management has established a full valuatiowance.

As of December 31, 2012, the NOL carryforwards anted to approximately $80.8 million and will begmexpire in various years beginning
in 2025. As of December 31, 2012, the Company kasadble research and development credit carryfae/af approximately $3.9 million,
which expire, if unused, starting 2025. The usthefCompany's NOL carryforwards and research amdloement credits may be restricted
due to changes in Company ownership. Additionalgspite the NOL carryforwards, the Company may leaftgure tax liability due to an
alternative minimum tax or state tax requiremente Company paid no income taxes in the years ebéedmber 31, 2010, 2011 or 2012.
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13. Income Taxes (Continued)

The deferred tax benefit has been entirely offgatdduation allowances. The significant componearithe Company's deferred tax assets
(liabilities) were as follow, in thousands:

As of December 31

2011 2012
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwa $ 1480¢ $ 32,71
Deferred rent cred 514 477
Accrued compensation and r-qualified stock option 48 60
Deferred financing cos 35 —
Depreciation and amortizatic 98 282
Research and development cre 5,01¢ 3,901
Other 9 78¢
Net deferred tax asset before valuation allow: 20,53: 38,22:
Valuation allowanct (20,53) (38,227
Net deferred tax ass $ — $ =

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positiomrsyant to the guidance in FASB ASC Topic 7H@pome TaxesThe Company recognizes
interest and penalties related to uncertain taxipas, if any, in income tax expense. As of Decembtil, 2011 and 2012, the Company did not
accrue any interest related to uncertain tax postiThe Company's income taxes have not beencstbjexamination by any tax jurisdictions
since its inception. Due to NOL and research aneld@ment credit carryforwards, all income tax ratufiled by the Company are subject to
examination by the taxing jurisdictions. The netrmpe during the year ended December 31, 2012ahvatuation allowance of approximately
$17.7 million is primarily due to an increase il tNOL carryforward related to the 2012 net lossnfiapntinuing operations.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoeaingross unrecognized tax benefits is as follawshousands:

Year Ended December 31
2010 2011 2012

Balance as of January $ — $ 64z $ 752
Gross increases related to p-year tax position 452 — —
Gross increases (decrease) related to currentye:

positions 19C 11C (64)

Balance as of December $ 64z $ 75z $ 68¢

The Company believes that any of its uncertairptasitions would not result in adjustments to ifeetive income tax rate because likely
corresponding adjustments to deferred tax assattvib@ offset by adjustments to recorded valuadiltmwances.
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14. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company's lease for office and lab space estdidugh April 2018. Commencing in November 2aih8, current base annual rent will be
increased 2% per annum for the remaining term.d¢mpany may elect to extend the term of the leaisarf additional five-year term. The
lease provides for a tenant improvement allowari@proximately $2.4 million in aggregate. As ofd@enber 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012,
approximately $0.9 million, $1.4 million, and $Inillion, respectively, of the allowance has bedhzeid and included in fixed assets and
deferred rent.

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2010,and 2012 was approximately, $918,000, $906 &0d $906,000, respectively.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgddeating leases as of December 31, 2012 arelaw/$lin thousands:

As of
December 31,

2012

Year ending December 3

2013 $ 96¢€
2014 98t
2015 1,004
2016 1,02t
Thereafte 1,39¢
$ 5,37¢

The Company has obtained exclusive licenses fram plarties for proprietary rights to support threguct candidates in the Company's
psychiatry portfolio. Under license agreements wifacta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Afecta), the Complaay an exclusive option to evaluate
Afecta's CNS pipeline and to obtain exclusive waittk rights to selected product candidates, indgdin exclusive license to SPN-810. The
Company does not owe any future milestone paynfentS8PN-810. The Company will also be obligategdg royalties to Afecta based on
worldwide net sales of each of these productserdiv-single digits. The Company has also entem&gla purchase and sale agreement with
Rune Healthcare Limited (Rune), where the Compdntgined the exclusive worldwide rights to a prodraricept from Rune. There are no
future milestone payments owing to Rune underabirgement. If the Company receives approval to etakd sell any products based on the
Rune product concept for SPN-809, the Companyheilbbligated to pay royalties to Rune based osalets worldwide in the low single
digits.

15. Employee Benefit Plan

On January 2, 2006, the Company established therSup Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharileen fthe 401(k) Plan) for its employees
under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue C@tml€). Under the 401(k) Plan, all full-time emplegavho are at least 21 years old are
eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan. Emplegenay participate starting on the first day ofrtianth following employment. Employees
may contribute up to the lesser of 90% of eligitdenpensation or the applicable limit establishedhgyCode.
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15. Employee Benefit Plan (Continued)

Employees are 100% vested in their contributiorthéo401(k) Plan. The Company matches 100% of ticgmant's contribution for the first 3
of their salary deferral and matches 50% of the 8@ of their salary deferral. As determined by Board, the Company may elect to make a
discretionary contribution not exceeding 60% ofdineual compensation paid to all participating emeés. The Company's contributions to
the 401(k) Plan approximated $254,000, $267,000 %323,000 for the years ended December 31, 2@, 2nd 2012, respectively.

16. Related-Party Transactions

In December 2011, the Company entered into a UnitHase Agreement with Royalty Opportunities S@RDS") (see Note 10). Pursuant to
the Unit Purchase Agreement, the Company sold 100% equity interests in TCD to ROS for a caskrpant of $27.0 million upon closing,
assumption of assets and liabilities, and a patkntilestone payment of $3.0 million payable upoa dccurrence of certain conditions. ROS i
an affiliate of Orbimed Advisors LLC, one of the@pany's Common Stock holders.

17. Collaboration Agreements
United Therapeutics

The Company has a license agreement with Unitedaple@tics to use one of its proprietary technolpe an oral formulation of Remodulin
for the treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertensand potentially for additional indications. ThgbuDecember 31, 2012, the Company has
received $1.5 million in pre-commercial milestorsyments under the agreement. Remaining milestoyragrats to the Company could total
$2.0 million, based on satisfaction of developnmailiéstones of oral treprostinil in PAH and up tgagpximately $4.0 million for the
development of additional treprostinil products #osecond indication. If United Therapeutics reegigpproval to market and sell oral
treprostinil for additional indications and/or aagditional combination products that utilize then@any's technologies, the Company will
receive royalties in the single digits based onsaé#s worldwide. The Company's license agreemihtuwited Therapeutics will expire, on a
country-by-country and product-lgroduct basis, 12.5 years from the first commeadé of each product in such country. United Tppeudc:
may terminate, at its option, the agreement fachnical, strategic or market-related cause afténgithe Company a reasonable opportunity
to cure. The Company may terminate the agreemeaitéfr having launched a product in a country téthiTherapeutics or its sub-licensee
discontinues the sale of such product for a praddngeriod of time for reasons unrelated to forcgeara, regulatory or safety issues. In
addition, either party may terminate the agreenfmmnte material, uncured breach by the other pamty in certain events of bankruptcy or
insolvency of the other party.

Stendhal License

In August 2011, we executed a Development and ksiognAgreement with Especificos Stendhal, S.A.,QF. (Stendhal) that provided
Stendhal an exclusive license to our licensedladtlal property underlying our Oxtellar XR produeatMexico, Venezuela, Colombia and
other select markets in Central and South Amefiiba. agreement included the right to our patentsgpnetary information, and know-how of
our drug-delivery technology and pharmaceuticablpot underlying our Oxtellar XR
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17. Collaboration Agreements (Continued)

product. Stendhal is responsible for all costs @ased with clinical development, approval, comniedization and distribution of the product
the defined territory, which may be expanded upanain events. We have received $750,000 from S&tndhich is being recognized as
revenue on a straight-line basis over the substwothligation period until approval, which is estited to be December 2013. We monitor this
estimate on a quarterly basis to determine if fants circumstances may have changed that wouldresgyrospective adjustment of the
recognition period. We may receive up to $3.0 wmrllin additional milestone payments, based on icerégulatory and commercial milestones
defined in the agreement. As of December 31, 26Q2 million of up-front license payments receivethained recorded as deferred revenue

In September 2012, the Company executed a Develapanel Licensing Agreement (Stendhal License Agesgjrwith Stendhal that provids
Stendhal with an exclusive license of the Compalisensed intellectual property underlying the Tenli XR product in the defined territory.
The license included the right to the Company'simiat proprietary information, and know-how of @empany's drug-delivery technology and
pharmaceutical product underlying its Trokendi Xf@quct. Stendhal is responsible for all costs a@ased with clinical development, approval,
commercialization and distribution of the producthe defined territory. The Company will receivie&million cash that will be recognized as
revenue in a straight-line basis over its substaribligation period of twelve years. As of Decembg, 2012, approximately $0.5 million of
this amount was recorded as deferred revenue. dhg@ny monitors this estimate on a quarterly hasietermine if facts and circumstances
may have changed that would require a prospectijpestment to the recognition period. The Company negeive up to an additional

$1.8 million in future milestone payments, basedertain milestones defined in the Stendhal Licekgeement.
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18. Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

Quarterly financial information for fiscal 2012 a@@11 are presented in the following table, in gands, except per share data:

15t Quarter 2" Quarter 3™ Quarter 4™ Quarter

2012
Revenue $ 20€ ¢ 91 $ 91 ¢ 1,09(
Total costs and expens 8,08¢ 9,34¢ 12,38: 13,83
Loss from operation (9,277) (20,019 (13,487 (13,519
Net loss (9,277) (10,019 (13,489 (13,51
Net loss per share, basic and dilu (6.05) (0.67) (0.55) (0.57)
2011
Revenue $ — $ 75C $ 11 $ 42
Total costs and expens 9,19¢ 9,14¢ 9,92¢ 10,28¢
(Loss) income from continuing operatic (9,715 (8,940 (10,157 5,581
(Loss) income from discontinued operatic (1,339 1,56: 417 76,39¢
Net (loss) incomu (11,049 (7,377) (9,739 81,97¢
Net (loss) income per share, ba:

continuing operation (6.69) (6.15) (6.90 2.8¢
Net (loss) income per share, ba:

discontinued operatior (0.89 0.9¢ 0.2¢ 46.6¢
Net (loss) income per share, dilut

continuing operation (6.64) (6.15) (6.90 2.34
Net (loss) income per share, dilut

discontinued operatior (0.89 0.9¢ 0.2¢ 37.8(

For the quarter ended December 31, 2011 reponted imcome from continuing operations of $5.6 miili This resulted from a net loss from
continuing operations of $10.6 million offset byea benefit of $16.2 million from the sale of TC@YRlty sub (see Note 10).

19. Subsequent Events

In January 2013, the underwriters of the Compadjlew-on offering (see Note 11) exercised theiepallotment options resulting in the sale
of an additional 239,432 shares of the Companytar@on Stock at a price of $8 per share.

In January 2013, we signed a lease for approximateB00 square feet of office space in an adjalseitding to our existing office space
located at 1500 East Gude Drive, Rockville, MD 2085th a co-terminus lease term date of April 301&.

On February 4, 2013, the Company commercially laaddOxtellar XR.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
CEO/CFO Certifications

Attached to this Annual Report on Form 1@sExhibits 31.1 and 31.2, there are two certifics, or the Section 302 certifications, one
by each of our Chief Executive Officer, or CEO, amudl Chief Financial Officer, or CFO. This Item @Antains information concerning the
evaluation of our disclosure controls and proceslared internal control over financial reportingttisareferred to in the Section 302
Certifications and this information should be réadonjunction with the Section 302 Certificatidios a more complete understanding of the
topics presented.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our CEO and Gf&3,evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosamérals and procedures as of
December 31, 2012. Our disclosure controls andeghaes are designed to provide reasonable assutaidle information required to be
disclosed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K hasrbappropriately recorded, processed, summarizédegorted within the time periods
specified in the Securities and Exchange Commissioifes and forms, and that such information euawlated and communicated to our
management, including our CEO and CFO, to alloveljnulecisions regarding required disclosure. Basethat evaluation, our CEO and Cl
have concluded that our disclosure controls andquhores are effective at the reasonable assureweketd ensure that material information
relating to the company and our consolidated sidr$éd is made known to management, including tB®@nd CFO, on a timely basis and
during the period in which this Annual Report oniadl0-K was being prepared.

Changes in Internal Control

Our management, including our CEO and G#&3,evaluated any changes in our internal conte financial reporting that occurred
during the quarterly period ended December 31, 284& has concluded that there was no change¢hatred during the quarterly period
ended December 31, 2012 that has materially affecteis reasonably likely to materially affectranternal control over financial reporting.

Management Report on Internal Control over Financid Reporting

The management of the Company is respafiblestablishing and maintaining adequate interoatrol over financial reporting. Intern
control over financial reporting is defined in Rdl@a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the SiéiesrExchange Act of 1934, as amended,
as a process designed by, or under the supena§iaur CEO and CFO and effected by the Comparggscof directors, management and
other personnel, to provide reasonable assurageediag the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles and includes those sliand procedures that:

. pertain to the management of records that in redslerdetail accurately and fairly reflect the ti@et®ns and dispositions of the
assets of the Company;

. provide reasonable assurance that transactions@eded as necessary to permit preparation ofiiahstatements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that receipts and expenditures of threg2my are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of manageraed directors of the Company; and
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. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, oselisposition of the
Company's assets that could have a material affetite financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate. All internal control systensmatter how well designed, have
inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systdaisrmined to be effective can provide only reabtmassurance with respect to financial
statement preparation and presentation.

The Company's management assessed the effectivartbesCompany's internal control over financegarting as of December 31, 2012. In
making this assessment, the Company's managenahthescriteria set forth by the Committee of Sjpoimg Organizations of the Treadway
Commission, or COSO, in Internal Control—Integraf@dmework.

Based on our assessment, management believeadtutDecember 31, 2012, the Company's interndtaoowver financial reporting is
effective based on those criteria.

As an Emerging Growth Company, as defined undetetimas of the Jobs Act of 2012, the Company's irddpnt registered public accounting
firm is not required to issue a report on the imé&kicontrol over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

Not applicable.

PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPO RATE GOVERNANCE.

The information required by this item isdmporated by reference to the similarly namedisedf our Proxy Statement for our 2013
Annual Meeting to be filed with the Securities d&thange Commission not later than 120 days aféeeber 31, 2012.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item isdnporated by reference to the similarly namedisedf our Proxy Statement for our 2013
Annual Meeting to be filed with the Securities dthange Commission not later than 120 days aféeeber 31, 2012.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The information required by Item 201(d)R¥gulation S-K is set forth below. The remaindethefinformation required by this Item 12 is
incorporated by reference from our definitive pratgtement for our 2013 Annual Meeting to be filgth the Securities and Exchange
Commission not later than 120 days after Decembgp@12.
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The following table shows the number ofisiies that may be issued pursuant to our equtypensation plans (including individual
compensation arrangements) as of December 31, 2012:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of
securities
remaining
Number of available for
securities to be future issuance
issued upon Weighted average under equity
exercise of exercise price of compensation
outstanding outstanding plans (excluding
options, options, securities

warrants and warrants and
Plan category rights(1) rights(1)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holder: 611,99: $ 5.64
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holder: — — —

Total 611,99 $ 5.64 2,341,87!

reflected in the
first column(2)

2,341,87!

Q) The securities that may be issued are shdtbe €ompany's Common Stock, issuable upon coiored§ outstanding
stock options.

(2)  The securities that remain available for futureigge are issuable pursuant to the 2012 EquityntiveePlan.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this item isanporated by reference to the similarly namedisecif our Proxy Statement for our 2013
Annual Meeting to be filed with the Securities d&xthange Commission not later than 120 days afteebber 31, 2012.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item isanporated by reference to the similarly namedisecif our Proxy Statement for our 2013
Annual Meeting to be filed with the Securities d&xthange Commission not later than 120 days afteebber 31, 2012.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(2)(2) Index to consolidated Financial Statements

The Financial Statements listed in the Index tos@tidated Financial Statements are filed as pattiisfAnnual Report on Form 10-K. See
Part Il, Item 8, "Financial Statement and SuppleiamgnData.™

(2)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

Other financial statement schedules for the yeadg@ December 31, 2011 and 2012 have been omittesl they are either not required, not
applicable, or the information is otherwise incldde the consolidated financial statements or ies1to consolidated financial statements.

(@)(3) Exhibits
The Exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibitémdare attached and incorporated herein by referand filed as part of this report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SecuritBesr 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Acta#4] as amended, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf byutidersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

SUPERNUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ JACK A. KHATTAR

Name: Jack A. Khatta
Title: President and Chief Executi
Officer

Date: March 15, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seearict of 1934, as amended, this report has bigeed by the following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and the datksated below:

Signature Title Date
=lgnature Jdile 2ate

President and Chief Executive Officer
and Director (Principal Executive March 15, 2013
Officer)

/sl JACK A. KHATTAR

Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer and March 15, 2013
Principal Accounting Officer

/sl GREGORY S. PATRICK

/s/ M. JAMES BARRETT, PH.D. Director and Chairman of the Board March 15, 2013

/sl MICHAEL F. BIGHAM

Director March 15, 2013

/s/ FREDERICK M. HUDSON Director March 15, 2013
/sl CHARLES W. NEWHALL, Il Director March 15, 2013
/s/ WILLIAM A. NUERGE Director March 15, 2013
/s/ JOHN M. SIEBERT, PH.D. Director March 15, 2013
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Exhibit
Number

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

3.1

3.2*

4.1*

4.3

4.4*

4.¢

4.7

4.8

10.7

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatibthe Registrant, (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's RegistnaStatement on Form S-1, File
No. 33:-184930, as amended on November 28, 2

Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrantoiporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Registration Statenoenform S-1, File No. 333-184930,
as amended on November 28, 20:

Specimen Stock Certificate evidencing the shafesommon stock (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's RegistneStatement on Form S-1, File
No. 33:-171375, as amended on March 16, 20

Secured Promissory Note, dated as of Januar2@8l, between the Registrant and
Oxford Finance Corporation (incorporated by refeeeto Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 33B3YB, as amended on February 8,
2011.)

Secured Promissory Note, dated as of Januar2@8l, between the Registrant and
Compass Horizon Funding Company LLC (incorporatgedeference to Exhibit 4.3 to
the Company's Registration Statement on Form SlelNe. 3334171375, as amended
February 8, 2011

Form of Amended and Restated Warrant to Purchas 3ssued in connection with 1
Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of Decenthe2(®L1, by and among the
Registrant, Oxford Finance LLC (successor in irgete Oxford Finance Corporation),
as collateral agent and lender and Horizon Crédit C (successor in interest to
Compass Horizon Funding Company LLC), as lendenfiporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's Registration StatenoenForm S-1, File No. 333-171375,
as amended on February 14, 20:

Secured Promissory Note-1 (Term B Loan), datedfd3ecember 30, 2011, between the
Registrant and Oxford Finance LLC (successor ieradt to Oxford Finance
Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form-1, File No. 33-171375, as amended on February 14, 2(

Secured Promissory Note-2 (Term B Loan), datedfd3ecember 30, 2011, between the
Registrant and Oxford Finance LLC (successor ieradt to Oxford Finance
Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form-1, File No. 33-171375, as amended on February 14, 2(

Secured Promissory Note (Term B Loan), datedfd3ecember 30, 2011, between the

Registrant and Compass Horizon Funding Company (ih€brporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.7 to the Company's Registration StatenoenForm S-1, File No. 333-171375,
as amended on February 14, 20:

Form of Warrant to Purchase Stock, issued in eation with the First Amendment to
the Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of Deee 2011, by and among the
Registrant, Oxford Finance LLC (successor in irgete Oxford Finance Corporation)
and Compass Horizon Funding Company LLC (incorpatdtty reference to Exhibit 4.8
to the Company's Registration Statement on Formfle No. 333-171375, as amended
on February 14, 2012

2005 Stock Plan and form agreements thereundeoi(porated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Registration StateroerForm S-1, File No. 33871375
as amended on December 23, 20
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10.5*

10.¢

10.7

10.&

10.¢

10.10F*

10.11t*

10.1%4*

10.1%t*

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (incorpady reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company's Registration Statement on Form SlelNe. 3334171375, as amended
December 23, 2011

Employment Agreement, dated as of December 20520y and between the Registrant
and Jack Khattar (incorporated by reference to liixhD.3 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 33B3'B, as amended on December 23,
2011).

Stock Restriction Agreement, dated December PR52 by and between the Registrant
and Jack Khattar (incorporated by reference toliixhD.4 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 33B3¥B, as amended on December 23,
2011).

Lease, dated as of April 19, 1999, by and betw&RE Acquisitions, LLC and Shire
Laboratories Inc. (incorporated by reference toikix0.5 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 33B3'B, as amended on December 23,
2011).

First Amendment to Lease, dated as of Novemb@002, by and between ARE
Acquisitions, LLC and Shire Laboratories Inc. (inporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
to the Company's Registration Statement on Formfle No. 333-171375, as amended
on December 23, 2011

Second Amendment to Lease, dated as of Decenthe@(®5, by and among ARE-East
Gude Lease, LLC, Shire Laboratories Inc. and SupeRharmaceuticals, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to thmrany's Registration Statement on
Form &-1, File No. 33-171375, as amended on December 23, 2(

Third Amendment to Lease, dated as of Novembe2R40, by and between ARE-East
Gude Lease, LLC and the Registrant (successortémnest to Shire Laboratories Inc.)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to thmrpany's Registration Statement on
Form &-1, File No. 33-171375, as amended on December 23, 2(

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of DecembeP@25, by and among the Registr
and the holders of shares of Series A convertitdéepred stock identified therein, as
amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1®e Company's Registration
Statement on Form-1, File No. 33-171375, as amended on December 23, 2(

Asset Purchase and Contribution Agreement, dasedf December 22, 2005, by and
among the Registrant, Shire Laboratories Inc. dneSlc (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to the Company's Registration Stat&ne Form S-1, File No. 333-
171375, as amended on March 16, 20

Guanfacine License Agreement, dated as of Deeei?d, 2005, by and among the
Registrant, Shire LLC and Shire plc, as amendezb(jporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.11 to the Company's Registration Statgma Form S-1, File No. 333-
171375, as amended on March 16, 20

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of JurkD66, by and between the Registrant
and United Therapeutics Corporation (incorporatgdeference to Exhibit 10.12 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1,Nele333-171375, as amended on

March 16, 2012)

Exclusive Option and License Agreement, dated aspoit 27, 2006, by and between
Registrant and Afecta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (inc@ted by reference to Exhibit 10.13
to the Company's Registration Statement on FormmSlelNo. 333-171375, as amended
on March 16, 2012




Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

Description

10.141*

10.15t*

10.1€*

10.1%

10.1&
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10.21

10.2z*

10.2%
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Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of JWt@08, by and between the Registrant
and Rune Healthcare Limited (incorporated by refeeeto Exhibit 10.14 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1,Nele333-171375, as amended on
March 16, 2012)

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of Novarg2h@007, by and between the
Registrant and Afecta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (inc@ted by reference to Exhibit 10.15
to the Company's Registration Statement on FormmlelNo. 333-171375, as amended
on March 16, 2012

Indenture, dated as of April 15, 2008, by andnmstn TCD Royalty Sub LLC, as issuer
of the non-recourse notes, and U.S. Bank Natioisabaiation, as initial trustee of the
non-recourse notes (incorporated by reference hibix10.16 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 33B3YB, as amended on March 16,
2012).

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of JanR@y®2011, by and among the
Registrant, Oxford Finance Corporation, as colitagent and lender, and Compass
Horizon Funding Company LLC, as lender (incorpaidig reference to Exhibit 10.17
the Company's Registration Statement on Form Sl Ne. 3334171375, as amended
February 8, 2011

First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemeated as of December 30, 2011, by
and among the Registrant, Oxford Finance LLC (ssmmein interest to Oxford Finance
Corporation), as collateral agent and lender, amahi@ass Horizon Funding Company
LLC, as lender (incorporated by reference to ExHibi18 to the Company's Registra
Statement on Form-1, File No. 33-171375, as amended on February 14, 2(

Unit Purchase Agreement, dated December 14, 200 4nd between the Registrant and
Royalty Opportunities S.ar.l (incorporated by refere to Exhibit 10.19 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1,Nele333-171375, as amended on
February 14, 2012

Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporategreference to Exhibit 10.20 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1,Nle333-171375, as amended on
February 14, 201:

Offer Letter, dated June 7, 2005, to Dr. Jones YWaB from the Registrant (incorpora
by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company's Regfion Statement on Form S-1, File
No. 33:-171375, as amended on March 16, 20

Offer Letter, dated June 10, 2005, to Dr. Padrbaria. Bhatt from the Registrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to@wmpany's Registration Statement on
Form &-1, File No. 33-171375, as amended on March 16, 20

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dagbduary 29, 2012, by and
between the Registrant and Jack Khattar (incorpdray reference to Exhibit 10.23 to
the Company's Registration Statement on Form SlelNe. 3334171375, as amended
March 16, 2012)

Consulting Agreement, dated March 13, 2012, by between Paolo Baroldi and the
Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibi2@o the Company's Registration
Statement on Form-1, File No. 33-171375, as amended on March 16, 20

Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2012 Equity IreerRRlan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.25 to the Company's Registration Stat&ne Form S-1, File No. 333-
171375, as amended on April 11, 20!
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Form of Time-Based Incentive Stock Option Agreetnender the Supernus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plandiporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.26 to the Company's Registration Statgoea Form S-1, File No. 333-
171375, as amended on April 11, 201

Form of Non-Statutory Time-Based Stock Option égment under the Supernus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plandiporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.27 to the Company's Registration Stat&noe Form S-1, File No. 333-
171375, as amended on April 11, 20!

Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2012 EmployeekSeocchase Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Company's Regjisin Statement on Form S-1, File
No. 33%-171375, as amended on April 11, 201

Amendment No. 2 to Investor Rights Agreement daieril 6, 2012 by and among the
Registrant and the holders of shares of SeriesnA&artible preferred stock identified
therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1&@¢he Company's Registration
Statement on Form-1, File No. 33-171375, as amended on April 11, 20!

Offer letter to Stefan K.F. Schwabe dated June2P3 2 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's quarterly reportditen Form 10-Q, File No. 001-35518,
on November 2, 2012

Compensatory Arrangements with Executive Offid@gnsorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 and Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's tgrdy report filed on Form 1@, File
No. 001-35518, on November 2, 201.

Commercial Supply Agreement, dated August 23, 28¥2nd among Patheon, Inc. ¢
the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhidif o the Form 8-K filed on
February 7, 2013, File No., 3-171375).

Lease Agreement, dated February 6, 2013, byaandng ARE-1500 East Gude, LLC
and the Compan

Compensatory Arrangements of Certain Executivecdf§.

Code of Ethics

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated &fgrence to Exhibit 21.1 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1,Nle333-184930, as amended on
November 28, 2012

Consent of Ernst & Young LL

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13-14(a).

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRule 13-14(a).

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuaito 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuaito 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 2002

101 INS** XBRL Instance Documen

101 SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

101 CAL*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntn

101 DEP** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe
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101 LAB*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label/Linkbase Docume

101 PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doeni

T Confidential treatment requested under 17 C.F.R0880(b)(4) and 230.406. The confidential portiohthis exhibit
have been omitted and are marked accordingly. ®h&dential portions have been filed separatel\hwlite Securities
and Exchange Commission pursuant toGoafidential Treatment Request.

* Previously filed.

*x Filed herewith.

bl Furnished herewitt







EXHIBIT 10.33
LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (“this Lease”) is made as bist6™ day of February, 2013, between ARE-1500 EA&®JDE, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“Landlord”), dl SUPERNUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware corgtion (“Tenant”).

BASIC LEASE PROVISIONS

Address: Suite 100, 1500 East Gude Drive, Rockville, Mard &850

Premises: That portion of the Project, containing approxinhatiel, 900 rentable square feet, as determined loglload, as shown as the
cross-hatched area on Exhibit A.

Project: The real property on which the building (“Buildigh which the Premises are located, together alittmprovements
thereon and appurtenances thereto as describeghioitEB.

Base Rent: $10,908.33, per mo Rentable Area of Premises: 11,900 sc

Rentable Area of Project: 45,989 sq. Tenan's Share of Operating Expenses: 25.¢

Security Deposit: $ Target Commencement Date: March 1, 2

Rent Adjustment Percentage: :
Base Term: Beginning on the Commencement Dateeaduhg on April 30, 201¢

Permitted Use: office and related uses consistéhtthe character of the Project and otherwiseampliance with the provisions of Section 7

hereof.
Address for Rent Paymer Landlorc’s Notice Address
For checkpayments remit tc 385 E. Colorado Blvd., Suite 2¢
Pasadena, California 911
ARE-1500 East Gude, LL! Attention: Corporate Secreta
P.O. Box 6231¢

Baltimore, MD 2126-62318

For overnight courieremit to:

ARE-1500 East Gude, LL!
M &T Bank

Attn: Box 6231€
Baltimore, MD 2123(

Tenan's Notice Address

1550 East Gude Driv

Rockville, Maryland 2085!

Attention: Executive Directc
Compliance and Facilitie

The following Exhibits and Addenda are attachecdteeand incorporated herein by this referel

[X] EXHIBIT A - PREMISES DESCRIPTIOI [X] EXHIBIT B - DESCRIPTION OF PROJEC
Copyright© 2007, Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc. A
RIGHTS RESERVED. Confidential and Propriet- Do Not

Copy or Distribute. Alexandria and the Alexandriagb are
ALEXANDRIA registered trademarks of Alexandria Real Estatatieguinc.




[X] EXHIBIT C - WORK LETTER [X] EXHIBIT D - COMMENCEMENT DATE
[X] EXHIBIT E - RULES AND REGULATIONS [X] EXHIBIT F - TENANT’'S PERSONAL PROPERT

1. Lease of Premises. Upon and subject to all oféh@g and conditions hereof, Landlord hereby lettse®remises to Tenant
and Tenant hereby leases the Premises from Landlbedportions of the Project which are for the 4eslusive use of tenants of the Project
are collectively referred to herein as the “ComnAseas.” Landlord reserves the right to modify ConmAoeas, provided that such
modifications do not materially adversely affech@at’s use of the Premises for the Permitted Use.

2. Delivery; Acceptance of Premises; Commencement.Datedlord shall use reasonable efforts to makd tleenises availab
to Tenant for Tenant's Work under the Work Lettéthim 5 days of full execution of this Lease ancha@et's delivery of evidence of the
insurance required hereby and by the Work Lett@elfvery” or “Deliver”). If Landlord fails to timeg} Deliver the Premises, Landlord shall not
be liable to Tenant for any loss or damage reguitierefrom, and this Lease shall not be void edatole except as provided herein. If
Landlord does not Deliver the Premises within 6@sdaf the Target Commencement Date for any reaimr than Force Majeure Delays, this
Lease may be terminated by Landlord or Tenant bigamrnotice to the other, and if so terminatecelifier, neither Landlord nor Tenant shall
have any further rights, duties or obligations urtties Lease, except with respect to provisionscilexpressly survive termination of this
Lease. As used herein, “Tenant’s Work” has the rimggset forth in the Work Letter and “Force Majelrelays” means delays arising by
reason of any Force Majeure (as defined in Se@bn If neither Landlord nor Tenant elects to voitsthease within 5 business days of the
lapse of such 60 day period, such right to void théase shall be waived and this Lease shall remdirdl force and effect.

The “Commencement Date” shall mean the date ofLibése. The “Rent Commencement Date” shall be Aufyua013. Upon request
of Landlord, Tenant shall execute and deliver atamiacknowledgment of the Commencement Date,Rest' Commencement Date” and the
expiration date of the Term when such are estadgfisi the form of the “Acknowledgement of CommeneeftrDate” attached to this Lease as
Exhibit D; provided however, that Tenant'’s failure to execute and deliver sacknowledgment shall not affect Landlord’s righéseunder.
The “Term” of this Lease shall be the Base Terngefed above in the Basic Lease Provisions aadetiension Term that Tenant may elect
pursuant to Section 3¢ereof.

Except as set forth in the Work Letter, if appliealfi) Tenant shall accept the Premises in theirdition as of the Commencement
Date, subject to all applicable Legal Requireméassdefined in Sectionereof); (ii) Landlord shall have no obligation fomy defects in the
Premises; and (iii) Tenant’s taking possessiomefRremises shall be conclusive evidence that Textaepts the Premises and that the
Premises were in good condition at the time pogsesgs taken. Any occupancy of the Premises byaiiehefore the Commencement Date
shall be subject to all of the terms and conditiohthis Lease.

Tenant agrees and acknowledges that neither Lahdtmrany agent of Landlord has made any represemtar warranty with respect
to the condition of all or any portion of the Prems or the Project, and/or the suitability of thenfises or the Project for the conduct of
Tenant’s business, and Tenant waives any impliedanty that the Premises or the Project are s@ithdsithe Permitted Use. This Lease
constitutes the complete agreement of LandlordTardhnt with respect to the subject matter heredfsaipersedes any and all prior
representations, inducements, promises, agreemersrstandings and negotiations which are notagoed herein. Landlord in executing this
Lease does so in reliance upon Tenant's repregamgatvarranties, acknowledgments and agreementaioed herein.
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3. Rent.

€) Base Rent. The first month’s Base Rent shall beashaepayable on delivery of an executed copy &flteiase to Landlord.
Beginning on the Rent Commencement Date, Tenafitpshato Landlord in advance, without demand, eb@nt, deduction or set-off,
monthly installments of Base Rent on or beforefitst day of each calendar month during the Termebg in lawful money of the United
States of America, at the office of Landlord foypeent of Rent set forth above, or to such othesqeor at such other place as Landlord may
from time to time designate in writing. Payment8ake Rent for any fractional calendar month dbalbrorated. The obligation of Tenant to
pay Base Rent and other sums to Landlord and tlgatibns of Landlord under this Lease are indepenabligations. Tenant shall have no
right at any time to abate, reduce, or set-off Rewyt (as defined in Section) Blue hereunder except for any abatement as maygressly
provided in this Lease.

(b) Additional Rent. In addition to Base Rent, Tenagreas to pay to Landlord as additional rent (“Audial Rent”):
(i) Tenant’s Share of “Operating Expenses” (asrifiin_Section %, and (ii) any and all other amounts Tenant assumnagrees to pay under
the provisions of this Lease, including, withomiliation, any and all other sums that may becongetgureason of any default of Tenant or
failure to comply with the agreements, terms, cewes and conditions of this Lease to be performyeddmant, after any applicable notice and
cure period.

4, Base Rent Adjustments. Base Rent shall be increasedch anniversary of the first day of the fisdtmonth during the
Term of this Lease (each an “Adjustment Date”) hylitiplying the Base Rent payable immediately befareh Adjustment Date by the Rent
Adjustment Percentage and adding the resulting atrtoithe Base Rent payable immediately before sufhstment Date. Base Rent, as so
adjusted, shall thereafter be due as provided meBgise Rent adjustments for any fractional calendanth shall be prorated.

5. Operating Expense Payments. Landlord shall detiv@ienant a written estimate of Operating Expeff@sesach calendar
year during the Term“Annual Estimate”), which may be revised by Landidrom time to time during such calendar year. Begig on the
Rent Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay Landlomt defore the first day of each calendar montiinduthe Term hereof an amount eg
to 1/12th of Tenant's Share of the Annual EstimByments for any fractional calendar month shalbtorated.

The term “Operating Expenses” means all costs apdreses of any kind or description whatsoever ieclior accrued each calendar
year by Landlord with respect to the Project (idahg, without duplication, Taxes (as define(Section 9), reasonable reserves consistent
good business practice for future repairs and cephents, and capital repairs and improvements &@adrover the lesser of 7 years and the
useful life of such capital items), excluding only:

(a) the original construction costs of the Project sgmbvation prior to the date of this Lease andscobtorrecting defects in
such original construction or renovation;

(b) capital expenditures for expansion of the Project;

(c) interest, principal payments of Mortgage (as defimeSection 27 debts of Landlord, financing costs and amortoatf
funds borrowed by Landlord, whether secured or cunssl and all payments of base rent (but not takegerating expenses) under any grc
lease or other underlying lease of all or any portf the Project;

(d) depreciation of the Project (except for capital ioygements, the cost of which are includable in @peg Expenses);
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(e) advertising, legal and space planning expenseseasihg commissions and other costs and expens@sed in procuring
and leasing space to tenants for the Project, dirojuany leasing office maintained in the Projéete rent and construction allowances for
tenants;

) legal and other expenses incurred in the negotiaicenforcement of leases;

(9) completing, fixturing, improving, renovating, pamy, redecorating or other work, which Landlord p&gr or performs for
other tenants within their premises, and costoafecting defects in such work;

(h) costs of utilities outside normal business hould smtenants of the Project;

0] costs to be reimbursed by other tenants of theePrroy Taxes to be paid directly by Tenant or oteeants of the Project,
whether or not actually paid;

) salaries, wages, benefits and other compensatidrigafficers and employees of Landlord who areassigned in whole or
in part to the operation, management, maintenanoepair of the Project;

(k) general organizational, administrative and overhmeds relating to maintaining Landlosdxistence, either as a corporat
partnership, or other entity, including generalpooate, legal and accounting expenses;

() costs (including attorneys’ fees and costs of e@itint, judgments and payments in lieu thereof)rieclin connection with
disputes with tenants, other occupants, or progettnants, and costs and expenses, includingfiegs, incurred in connection with
negotiations or disputes with employees, consigtanainagement agents, leasing agents, purchasatgagees of the Building;

(m) costs incurred by Landlord due to the violationLaydlord, its employees, agents or contractorsigrt@nant of the terms
and conditions of any lease of space in the Pragjeany Legal Requirement (as defined in Section 7

(n) penalties, fines or interest incurred as a redulandlord’s inability or failure to make paymerfttaxes and/or to file any
tax or informational returns when due, or from Liand's failure to make any payment of Taxes reqlit@be made by Landlord hereunder
before delinquency;

(0) overhead and profit increment paid to Landlordoosubsidiaries or affiliates of Landlord for goa®d/or services in or to
the Project to the extent the same exceeds the ebstich goods and/or services rendered by uiaséfi third parties on a competitive basis;

(P) costs of Landlord’s charitable or political contritons, or of fine art maintained at the Project;

(@) costs in connection with services (including eliedty), items or other benefits of a type which amd standard for the Proje
and which are not available to Tenant without Sjiecharges therefor, but which are provided tothaptenant or occupant of the Project,
whether or not such other tenant or occupant isipally charged therefor by Landlord;

(n costs incurred in the sale or refinancing of thejéut;

(s) net income taxes of Landlord or the owner of artgrgst in the Project (except to theextent suchinoeime taxes are in
substitution for any Taxes payable hereunder) chiae, capital




stock, gift, estate or inheritance taxes or angfel] state or local documentary taxes imposechagtiie Project or any portion thereof or
interest therein; and

® any expenses otherwise includable within Operdiirgenses to the extent actually reimbursed by psrsether than tenants
of the Project under leases for space in the Projec

Within 90 days after the end of each calendar {@asuch longer period as may be reasonably regdjyitandlord shall furnish to
Tenant a statement (an “Annual Statement”) showirrgasonable detail: (a) the total and Tenantar&lof actual Operating Expenses for the
previous calendar year, and (b) the total of Teéagrggyments in respect of Operating Expenses fohn gear. If Tenant’s Share of actual
Operating Expenses for such year exceeds Tenanttagnts of Operating Expenses for such year, tbessxshall be due and payable by
Tenant as Rent within 30 days after delivery ohsfionual Statement to Tenant. If Tenant’'s paymehtSperating Expenses for such year
exceed Tenant’s Share of actual Operating Expdoseasich year Landlord shall pay the excess to iewéhin 30 days after delivery of such
Annual Statement, except that after the expiratiorgarlier termination of the Term or if Tenantiinquent in its obligation to pay Rent,
Landlord shall pay the excess to Tenant after déuyall other amounts due Landlord.

The Annual Statement shall be final and bindingrupenant unless Tenant, within 30 days after Tésaateipt thereof, shall contest
any item therein by giving written notice to Lanalpspecifying each item contested and the redsmefor. Operating Expenses for the
calendar years in which Tenant’s obligation to sttherein begins and ends shall be prorated. Nwteibhding anything set forth herein to the
contrary, if the Project is not at least 95% ocedpdn average during any year of the Term, Ten&ft&ge of Operating Expenses for such yeze
shall be computed as though the Project had be#nd@gupied on average during such year.

Tenant’s Share” shall be the percentage set forthdé Basic Lease Provisions as Tenant's Shareeasmably adjusted by Landlord
for changes in the physical size of the PremiseékeProject occurring thereafter . Landlord mayitdply increase Tenast'Share for any ite
of expense or cost reimbursable by Tenant thate®la a repair, replacement, or service that litsraily the Premises or only a portion of the
Project that includes the Premises or that varifs @ccupancy or use. Base Rent, Tenant's Sha@pefating Expenses and all other amounts
payable by Tenant to Landlord hereunder are coliglgtreferred to herein as “Rent.”

6. Intentionally Deleted.

7. Use. The Premises shall be used solely for the iRedJse set forth in the Basic Lease Provisiamsl in compliance with
all laws, orders, judgments, ordinances, regulationdes, directives, permits, licenses, coveramrdgestrictions now or hereafter applicabl
the Premises, and to the use and occupancy tharekitling, without limitation, the Americans Witisabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et
seq. (together with the regulations promulgatedyant thereto, “ADA”) (collectively, “Legal Requireents” and each, a “Legal
Requirement”). Tenant shall, upon 5 days’ writtetice from Landlord, discontinue any use of thenfises which is declared by any
Governmental Authority (as defined_in Sectiohtaving jurisdiction to be a violation of a Ledg@¢quirement. Tenant will not use or permit
Premises to be used for any purpose or in any nmahatewould void Tenant's or Landlord’s insuranicerease the insurance risk, or cause th
disallowance of any sprinkler or other credits. d@rshall not permit any part of the Premises tade as a “place of public accommodation”
as defined in the ADA or any similar legal requiesth Tenant shall reimburse Landlord promptly ugemand for any additional premium
charged for any such insurance policy by reasoreafint’s failure to comply with the provisions bfg Section or otherwise caused by
Tenant’s use and/or occupancy of the Premises.ntevikh use the Premises in a careful, safe ang@ronanner and will not commit or permit
waste, overload the floor or structure of the Pe&sj subject the Premises to use that would dathederemises or obstruct or interfere with
the rights of Landlord or other tenants or occupaftthe Project, including conducting or givingioe of any auction, liquidation, or going ¢
of business sale




on the Premises, or using or allowing the Prentisé® used for any unlawful purpose. Tenant skalse any equipment or machinery to be
installed in the Premises so as to reasonably ptesaeinds or vibrations from the Premises fromrmediteg into Common Areas, or other space
in the Project. Tenant shall not place any mackineequipment weighing 500 pounds or more in arughe Premises or transport or move
such items through the Common Areas of the Prajett the Project elevators without the prior vaiittconsent of Landlord. Except as may be
provided under the Work Letter, Tenant shall nathewut the prior written consent of Landlord, uke Premises in any manner which will
require ventilation, air exchange, heating, gasarst, electricity or water beyond the existing cé#tgasf the Project as proportionately allocated
to the Premises based upon Tenant's Share asyfwralished for the Permitted Use.

(a) Modifications to Common Areas. Landlord shall, asGperating Expense (to the extent such Legal Rexpaint is generally
applicable to similar buildings in the area in whtbe Project is located) or at Tenant's experséhé extent such Legal Requirement is
applicable solely by reason of Tenant's, as contptrether tenants of the Project, particular Ushe® Premises) make any alterations or
modifications to the Common Areas or the exterfathe Building that are required by Legal Requiretseincluding the ADA. Tenant, at its
sole expense, shall make any alterations or mediifios to the interior of the Premises that areiired by Legal Requirements (including,
without limitation, compliance of the Premises wiitle ADA). Notwithstanding any other provision harto the contrary, Tenant shall be
responsible for any and all demands, claims, li@dsl, losses, costs, expenses, actions, causesiofi, damages or judgments, and all
reasonable expenses incurred in investigatinggstieg the same (including, without limitationas®nable attorneys’ fees, charges and
disbursements and costs of suit) (collectively gifs”) arising out of or in connection with Legaddliirements, and Tenant shall indemnify,
defend, hold and save Landlord harmless from aathagany and all Claims arising out of or in cocti@ with any failure of the Premises to
comply with any Legal Requirement.

8. Holding Over. If, with Landlord’s express writtenrisent, Tenant retains possession of the Prenfieeghee termination of
the Term, (i) unless otherwise agreed in such &rittonsent, such possession shall be subject tediabte termination by Landlord at any tii
(i) all of the other terms and provisions of thisase (including, without limitation, the adjustrhefiBase Rent pursuant to Sectioheteof)
shall remain in full force and effect (excludingyaaxpansion or renewal option or other similar tighoption) during such holdover period,
(iii) Tenant shall continue to pay Base Rent indheount payable upon the date of the expiratiozaoiier termination of this Lease or such
other amount as Landlord may indicate, in Landi®sile and absolute discretion, in such writterseaty and (iv) all other payments shall
continue under the terms of this Lease. If Tenamtains in possession of the Premises after theagiqui or earlier termination of the Term
without the express written consent of Landlord), {&nant shall become a tenant at sufferance upotetms of this Lease except that the
monthly rental shall be equal to 150% of Rent fie&fduring the last 30 days of the Term, and (Bjdnt shall be responsible for all damages
suffered by Landlord resulting from or occasiongdlenant’s holding over, including consequentiahdges. No holding over by Tenant,
whether with or without consent of Landlord, slwdkerate to extend this Lease except as otherwmessly provided, and this Sectiosiall
not be construed as consent for Tenant to retaiegssion of the Premises. Acceptance by LandloReof after the expiration of the Term or
earlier termination of this Lease shall not regukh renewal or reinstatement of this Lease.

9. Taxes. Landlord shall pay, as part of Operatingdfises, all taxes, levies, fees, assessments archgoental charges of any
kind, existing as of the Commencement Date or #fteeenacted (collectively referred to as “Taxest)posed by any federal, state, regional,
municipal, local or other governmental authorityagency, including, without limitation, quasi-pubtgencies (collectively, “Governmental
Authority”) during the Term, including, without litation, all Taxes: (i) imposed on or measured biased, in whole or in part, on rent
payable to (or gross receipts received by) Landlorder this Lease and/or from the rental by Larttifrthe Project or any portion thereof, or
(ii) based on the square footage, assessed vahtb@rmeasure or evaluation of any kind of
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the Premises or the Project, or (iii) assessethposed by or on the operation or maintenance opanyon of the Premises or the Project,
including parking, or (iv) assessed or imposeddnyat the direction of, or resulting from Legal R@ements, or interpretations thereof,
promulgated by any Governmental Authority, or fwpibsed as a license or other fee, charge, taxssmsament on Landlord’s business or
occupation of leasing space in the Project. Landioay contest by appropriate legal proceedingamheunt, validity, or application of any
Taxes or liens securing Taxes. Taxes shall notidehny net income taxes imposed on Landlord exoepe extent such net income taxes are
in substitution for any Taxes payable hereundeanif such Tax is levied or assessed directly ag&msant, then Tenant shall be responsible
for and shall pay the same at such times and in swamner as the taxing authority shall require.ai¢shall pay, prior to delinquency, any and
all Taxes levied or assessed against any persooaéy or trade fixtures placed by Tenant in thenflses, whether levied or assessed agains
Landlord or Tenant. If any Taxes on Tenant's peaspnoperty or trade fixtures are levied againgtdlard or Landlord’s property, or if the
assessed valuation of the Project is increasedviajua attributable to improvements in or altenasi¢o the Premises, whether owned by
Landlord or Tenant and whether or not affixed t® thal property so as to become a part theredifighidhan the base valuation on which
Landlord from time-to-time allocates Taxes to alidnts in the Project, Landlord shall have thetyight not the obligation, to pay such Taxes.
Landlord’'s determination of any excess assessedtiah shall be binding and conclusive, absent faanerror. The amount of any such
payment by Landlord shall constitute Additional Rdue from Tenant to Landlord immediately upon dedia

10. Parking. Subject to all Legal Requirements, For@geMre, a Taking (as defined_in Sectionb&ow) and the exercise by
Landlord of its rights hereunder, Tenant shall h#seeright, in common with other tenants of thej@bpro rata in accordance with the rent:
area of the Premises and the rentable areas &frtiect occupied by such other tenants, to patkdse areas designated for non-reserved
parking, subject in each case to Landlord’s rutesr@gulations. Landlord may allocate parking sparaong Tenant and other tenants in the
Project pro rata as described above if Landlorérdgines that such parking facilities are becomimgvded. Landlord shall not be responsible
for enforcing Tenant’s parking rights against amyd parties, including other tenants of the Prbjec

11. Utilities, Services. The hours of operation of Breject are 24 hours per day, 7 days per weeknDwch periods, Landlord
shall provide, subject to the terms of this Secfi@n janitorial services to the Common Areas, watkscteicity, heat, light, power, telephone,
sewer, and other utilities (including gas and §ipeinklers to the extent the Project is plumbedstarh services), and refuse and trash collectio
(collectively, “Utilities”). Landlord shall pay, a®perating Expenses or subject to Tenant’s reingmesnt obligation below, for all Utilities
used on the Premises, all maintenance chargedifiield, and any storm sewer charges or otherlaincharges for Utilities imposed by any
Governmental Authority or Utility provider, and atgxes, penalties, surcharges or similar charggedn. Landlord may cause, at Tenant's
expense, any Utilities to be separately meterezharged directly to Tenant by the provider; prodidbowever, that as part of the Tenant
Improvements described in the Work Letter, Tenhatlsnstall a separate electrical meter to meagsreonsumption of electricity within the
Premises. Tenant shall pay directly to the Utilitpvider, prior to delinquency, any separately meztdJtilities and services which may be
furnished to Tenant or the Premises during the T@enant shall pay, as part of Operating Experitgeshare of all charges for jointly metered
Utilities based upon consumption, as reasonablgradghed by Landlord. No interruption or failuredfilities, from any cause whatsoever of
than Landlords willful misconduct, shall result in eviction oomstructive eviction of Tenant, termination of thisase or the abatement of R
Tenant agrees to limit use of water and sewer tmabrestroom use.

12. Alterations and Tenant's Property. Any alteraticadditions, or improvements made to the Premises oy behalf of
Tenant, including additional locks or bolts of digd or nature upon any doors or windows in theni¥ses, but excluding installation, removal
or realignment of furniture systems (other thanaeah of furniture systems owned or paid for by Liand) not involving any modifications to
the structure or connections (other than by ordipéugs or jacks) to Building Systems

7




(as defined in_Section )3 “Alterations”) shall be subject to Landlord’siqrwritten consent, which may be given or withhigld.andlord’s

sole discretion if any such Alteration affects #tieicture or Building Systems, but which shall ot¥ise not be unreasonably withheld or
delayed. If Landlord approves any Alterations, LUandl may impose such conditions on Tenant in cotioeaevith the commencement,
performance and completion of such Alterations asdlord may deem appropriate in Landlord’s reaslendilscretion. Any request for
approval shall be in writing, delivered not lesartll5 business days in advance of any proposedrgotisn, and accompanied by plans,
specifications, bid proposals, work contracts amzhsother information concerning the nature and ebthe alterations as may be reasonably
requested by Landlord, including the identities aralling addresses of all persons performing warkupplying materials. Landlord’s right to
review plans and specifications and to monitor troiation shall be solely for its own benefit, anaindlord shall have no duty to ensure that
such plans and specifications or construction cgmyith applicable Legal Requirements. , Tenantlstalse, at its sole cost and expense, all
Alterations to comply with insurance requirementd avith Legal Requirements and shall implementsasale cost and expense any alteration
or modification required by Legal Requirements assallt of any Alterations. Before Tenant beging Atieration, Landlord may post on and
about the Premises notices of non-responsibilitgyant to applicable law. Tenant shall reimbursedl@rd for, and indemnify and hold
Landlord harmless from, any expense incurred bydlard by reason of faulty work done by Tenant srcibntractors, delays caused by such
work, or inadequate cleanup.

Tenant shall furnish security or make other arramg@s satisfactory to Landlord to assure paymarthimcompletion of all
Alterations work free and clear of liens, and spativide (and cause each contractor or subcontréxfarovide) certificates of insurance (in
form and substance satisfactory to Landlord; for@ORD 28 [2006/07] is not satisfactory to Landloia) workers’ compensation and other
coverage in amounts and from an insurance compaisfactory to Landlord protecting Landlord agaiknesbility for personal injury or
property damage during construction. Upon comptetibany Alterations, Tenant shall deliver to Lardt (i) sworn statements setting forth
the names of all contractors and subcontractorsdidh¢he work and final lien waivers from all suobntractors and subcontractors; and @3 “
built” plans for any such Alteration.

Other than (i) the items, if any, listed on Exhibitittached hereto, (ii) any items agreed by Laxdlowriting to be included on
Exhibit F in the future, and (iii) any trade fixes, machinery, equipment and other personal piyppettpaid for out of the Tl Fund (as defined
in the Work Letter) which may be removed withouttenal damage to the Premises, which damage shabpmired (including capping or
terminating utility hook-ups behind walls) by Tendnring the Term (collectively, “Tenant’s Propéjtyall property of any kind paid for with
the TI Fund, all Alterations, real property fixtgréouilt-in machinery and equipment, built-in casekvand cabinets and other similar additions
and improvements built into the Premises so agtoime an integral part of the Premises (collegtjvshstallations”)shall be and shall remz
the property of Landlord during the Term and foliogvthe expiration or earlier termination of therffie shall not be removed by Tenant at any
time during the Term and shall remain upon anduseesdered with the Premises as a part thereafdordance with Sectia8 following the
expiration or earlier termination of this Leasepyided, however, that Landlord shall, at the time its approvasoth Installation is requested,
notify Tenant if it has elected to cause Tenametoove such Installation upon the expiration olieatrermination of this Lease. If Landlord so
elects, Tenant shall remove such Installation uperexpiration or earlier termination of this Leasel restore any damage caused by or
occasioned as a result of such removal, includirfigen removing any of Tenant’s Property which wasied, wired or otherwise connected
to any of the Building Systems, capping off allls@onnections behind the walls of the Premisesrepdiring any holes. During any such
restoration period, Tenant shall pay Rent to Lamtls provided herein as if said space were otseragcupied by Tenant.

13. Landlord’s Repairs. Landlord, as an Operating Egpeshall maintain all of the roof, facade, lobtlynmon restrooms,
common electrical room, and exterior, parking atitleoCommon Areas of the Project, including plungbifire sprinklers, elevators and all
other building systems serving




the Premises and other portions of the Projecti{tiyg Systems”), in good repair, reasonable weat tar and uninsured losses and damage
caused by Tenant, or by any of Tenant's agentgasts, employees, invitees and contractors (colielgt “Tenant Parties”) excluded. Losses
and damages caused by Tenant or any Tenant Paityoshrepaired by Landlord, to the extent not ¢edeby insurance, at Tenant’s sole cost
and expense. Landlord reserves the right to staldiBg Systems services when necessary (1) by reasaccident or emergency, or (ii) for
planned repairs, alterations or improvements, whieh in the judgment of Landlord, desirable oressary to be made, until said repairs,
alterations or improvements shall have been comgletandlord shall have no responsibility or lidghifor failure to supply Building Systems
services during any such period of interruptiormgvisted, however, that Landlord shall, except in case of emergen@ke a commercially
reasonable effort to give Tenant 24 hours advantiesof any planned stoppage of Building Systeemsises for routine maintenance, repairs
alterations or improvements. Tenant shall promgithe Landlord written notice of any repair requit®dLandlord pursuant to this Section,
after which Landlord shall have a reasonable opditt to effect such repair. Landlord shall notlladle for any failure to make any repairs or
to perform any maintenance unless such failurd pleasist for an unreasonable time after Tersawtitten notice of the need for such repair
maintenance. Tenant waives its rights under arg stalocal law to terminate this Lease or to msikeh repairs at Landlord’s expense and
agrees that the parties’ respective rights witpeesto such matters shall be solely as set fathih. Repairs required as the result of fire,
earthquake, flood, vandalism, war, or similar canfsgamage or destruction shall be controlled lectidn 18.

14. Tenant's Repairs. Subject to SectionhE3eof, Tenant, at its expense, shall repair, oepdend maintain in good condition all
portions of the interior of the Premises, includingthout limitation, HVAC serving the Premisest®ées, doors, ceilings, interior windows,
interior walls, and the interior side of demisinglis. Such repair and replacement may include abgxpenditures and repairs whose benefit
may extend beyond the Term. Should Tenant fail ai@rany such repair or replacement or fail to na@inthe Premises, Landlord shall give
Tenant notice of such failure. If Tenant fails tovanence cure of such failure within 10 days of Uardis notice, and thereafter diligently
prosecute such cure to completion, Landlord mafjoparsuch work and shall be reimbursed by TenathiwilO days after demand therefor;
provided, however, that if such failure by Tenant creates or coutghte an emergency, Landlord may immediately conemenre of such
failure and shall thereafter be entitled to recdtercosts of such cure from Tenant. Subject téiGex17and 18, Tenant shall bear the full
uninsured cost of any repair or replacement togary of the Project that results from damage cabgeienant or any Tenant Party and any
repair that benefits only the Premises.

€)) HVAC Unit. Tenant, at its expense, shall at alldsrduring the Term maintain with qualified contoastmaintenance and
repair contracts (“Maintenance Contracts”) for theftop mounted HVAC unit exclusively serving theeRises. The Maintenance Contracts
shall be in form and content reasonably satisfgdmt andlord. Landlord shall be a third party biésiary of the Maintenance Contracts and,
within 30 days after Landlord’s request, Tenantlsteliver a copy of the Maintenance Contracts &mdlord.

15. Mechanic’s Liens. Tenant shall discharge, by bondtlerwise, any mechanic’s lien filed against®memises or against the
Project for work claimed to have been done fomaterials claimed to have been furnished to, Tewéhin 10 days after the filing thereof, at
Tenant’s sole cost and shall otherwise keep thmBes and the Project free from any liens arisimgod work performed, materials furnished
or obligations incurred by Tenant. Should Tenaittéadischarge any lien described herein, Landkdndll have the right, but not the obligati
to pay such claim or post a bond or otherwise gi®giecurity to eliminate the lien as a claim agditis to the Project and the cost thereof ¢
be immediately due from Tenant as Additional R&ntenant shall lease or finance the acquisitionflite equipment, furnishings, or other
personal property of a removable nature utilized bgant in the operation of Tenant’s business, iiewarrants that any Uniform Commercial
Code Financing Statement filed as a matter of publtord by any lessor or creditor of Tenant wilba its face or by exhibit thereto indicate
that such Financing Statement is applicable onhgtoovable personal property of Tenant
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located within the Premises. In no event shalldtiéress of the Project be furnished on the statewihrout qualifying language as to
applicability of the lien only to removable persbpeoperty, located in an identified suite heldTgnant.

16. Indemnification. Tenant hereby indemnifies and agr® defend, save and hold Landlord harmless &othagainst any and
all Claims for injury or death to persons or damtagproperty occurring within or about the Premjsessing directly or indirectly out of use or
occupancy of the Premises or a breach or defaulielmant in the performance of any of its obligasitiereunder, unless caused solely by the
willful misconduct or gross negligence of Landlokéndlord shall not be liable to Tenant for, anchdiet assumes all risk of damage to,
personal property (including, without limitatiomsk of records kept within the Premises). Tenamiéun waives any and all Claims for injury
Tenant's business or loss of income relating tosargh damage or destruction of personal propargyuding, without limitation, any loss of
records). Landlord shall not be liable for any dgesarising from any act, omission or neglect gftemant in the Project or of any other third

party.

17. Insurance. Landlord shall maintain all risk progeahd, if applicable, sprinkler damage insuranogedag the full
replacement cost of the Project or such lesserrageeamount as Landlord may elect providedh coverage amount is not less than 90% of
such full replacement cost. Landlord shall furtheycure and maintain commercial general liabilitgurance with a single loss limit of not less
than $2,000,000 for bodily injury and property dgmavith respect to the Project. Landlord may, butdt obligated to, maintain such other
insurance and additional coverages as it may desmssary, including, but not limited to, flood, Bommental hazard and earthquake, loss or
failure of building equipment, errors and omissiaestal loss during the period of repair or rethnid), workers’ compensation insurance and
fidelity bonds for employees employed to performveres and insurance for any improvements instddiedenant or which are in addition to
the standard improvements customarily furnishetdoydlord without regard to whether or not suchraeele a part of the Project. All such
insurance shall be included as part of the Opeagd&Eixpenses. The Project may be included in a btgniey (in which case the cost of such
insurance allocable to the Project will be deteediby Landlord based upon the insurer’s cost cafiosis).

Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall maidtaing the Term: all risk property insurance withsiness interruption and extra
expense coverage, covering the full replacementafaal property and improvements installed orceld in the Premises by Tenant at Tenant’
expense; workers’ compensation insurance with s tlgan the minimum limits required by law; emplogdiability insurance with such limi
as required by law; and commercial general ligbitisurance, with a minimum limit of not less thg2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily
injury and property damage with respect to the Bses The commercial general liability insurancigycshall name Landlord and Alexandria
Real Estate Equities, Inc., and its and their rethpe members, officers, directors, employees, garg and agents (collectively, “Landlord
Parties”), as additional insureds; insure on augeaice and not a claims-made basis; be issuealsbyance companies which have a rating of
not less than policyholder rating of A and finahciaegory rating of at least Class X in “Best’'surance Guide”; shall not be cancelable for
nonpayment of premium unless 30 days prior writtetice shall have been given to Landlord from tigirer; contain a hostile fire
endorsement and a contractual liability endorsenserd provide primary coverage to Landlord (anyiqyolssued to Landlord providing
duplicate or similar coverage shall be deemed exoesr Tenant’s policies). Copies of such poli¢ieseequested by Landlord), or certificates
of insurance (in form and substance satisfactobyatodlord; form ACORD 28 [2006/07] is not satisfagt to Landlord) showing the limits of
coverage required hereunder and showing Landloeh alditional insured, along with reasonable exddeof the payment of premiums for
applicable period, shall be delivered to Landloydlenant upon commencement of the Term and updmreaewal of said insurance. Tenant’
policy may be a “blanket policy” with an aggregptr location endorsement which specifically prositleat the amount of insurance shall not
be prejudiced by other losses covered by the poliepant shall, at least 5 days prior to the exjpineof such policies, furnish Landlord with
renewal certificates.

10

In each instance where insurance is to name Lathd®an additional insured, Tenant shall upon eritequest of Landlord also
designate and furnish certificates so evidencingdl@ard as additional insured to: (i) any lendet.ahdlord holding a security interest in the
Project or any portion thereof, (ii) the landlonader any lease wherein Landlord is tenant of thépeoperty on which the Project is located, if
the interest of Landlord is or shall become thad ¢énant under a ground or other underlying leaiseer than that of a fee owner, and/or
(iii) any management company retained by Landlorcheinage the Project.

The property insurance obtained by Landlord andafieshall include a waiver of subrogation by theuners and all rights based upon
an assignment from its insured, against Landlor@iesrant, and their respective officers, directersployees, managers, agents, invitees and
contractors (“Related Parties”), in connection vétty loss or damage thereby insured against. Ngitmgy nor its respective Related Parties
shall be liable to the other for loss or damagesediby any risk insured against under propertyrarsze required to be maintained hereunder,
and each party waives any claims against the gidugy, and its respective Related Parties, for soshor damage. The failure of a party to
insure its property shall not void this waiver. déord and its respective Related Parties shalbediable for, and Tenant hereby waives all
claims against such parties for, business inteion@nd losses occasioned thereby sustained bynTenany person claiming through Tenant
resulting from any accident or occurrence in orrugfie Premises or the Project from any cause weagsolf the foregoing waivers shall
contravene any law with respect to exculpatory exgents, the liability of Landlord or Tenant shalldeemed not released but shall be
secondary to the other’s insurer.

Landlord may require insurance policy limits torbésed to conform with requirements of Landloréeder and/or to bring coverage
limits to levels then being generally required efwtenants within the Project.

18. Restoration. If, at any time during threrm, the Project or the Premises are damageestroyed by a fire or other insured
casualty, Landlord shall notify Tenant within 6Qydafter discovery of such damage as to the anufutithe Landlord reasonably estimates it
will take to restore the Project or the Premisesa@plicable” Restoration Peric”). If the Restoration Period is estimated to exceethtths



(“Maximum Restoration Period”},andlord may, in such notice, elect to terminaie llease as of the date that is 75 days afterdte
of discovery of such damage or destruction; pravideowever, that notwithstanding Landlord’s election to restolrenant may elect to
terminate this Lease by written notice to Landldedivered within 5 business days of receipt of Aaeofrom Landlord estimating a Restoration
Period for the Premises longer than the Maximuntdrason Period. Unless either Landlord or Tenan¢ékects to terminate this Lease,
Landlord shall, subject to receipt of sufficiensimance proceeds (with any deductible to be tremeacurrent Operating Expense), promptly
restore the Premises (excluding the improvemetalied by Tenant or by Landlord and paid for bydi&), subject to delays arising from the
collection of insurance proceeds, from Force Magewents or as needed to obtain any license, deaa other authorization of any kind
required to enter into and restore the Premisegisby any Governmental Authority having jurisdictiover the use, storage, handling,
treatment, generation, release, disposal, removaoediation of Hazardous Materials (as defineSeation 30 in, on or about the Premises
(collectively referred to herein as “Hazardous Mials Clearances”); provided, howevahat if repair or restoration of the Premisesads
substantially complete as of the end of the MaxinRmstoration Period or, if longer, the Restoraf@mniod, Landlord may, in its sole and
absolute discretion, elect not to proceed with seglair and restoration, in which event Landlordllsbe relieved of its obligation to make st
repairs or restoration and this Lease shall tertaina of the date that is 75 days after the ldtdf)aliscovery of such damage or destruction, o
(ii) the date all required Hazardous Materials Gieaes are obtained, but Landlord shall retainReyt paid and the right to any Rent payable
by Tenant prior to such election by Landlord or diin

Tenant, at its expense, shall promptly performjestitio delays arising from the collection of irsuce proceeds, from Force Majeure
(as defined in_Section 34events or to obtain Hazardous
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Material Clearances, all repairs or restorationreqtiired to be done by Landlord and shall promggignter the Premises and commence d
business in accordance with this Lease. Notwitliitenthe foregoing, Landlord may terminate this d&# the Premises are damaged during
the last year of the Term and Landlord reasonadtiynates that it will take more than 2 months feaiesuch damage, or if insurance proceed:
are not available for such restoration. Rent dhathbated from the date all required Hazardous atélearances are obtained until the
Premises are repaired and restored, in the proporthich the area of the Premises, if any, whialoisusable by Tenant bears to the total are:
of the Premises, unless Landlord provides Tenatit ether space during the period of repair thauigable for the temporary conduct of
Tenant's business. Such abatement shall be theesoledy of Tenant, and except as provided in_teidi®n 18, Tenant waives any right to
terminate this Lease by reason of damage or cgdoa#.

The provisions of this Lease, including this Settl®, constitute an express agreement between Landfad enant with respect to
any and all damage to, or destruction of, all or part of the Premises, or any other portion ofRhgject, and any statute or regulation whic
now or may hereafter be in effect shall have ndiegton to this Lease or any damage or destrudtiaall or any part of the Premises or any
other portion of the Project, the parties heretaressly agreeing that this SectionsH?s forth their entire understanding and agreemviht
respect to such matters.

19. Condemnation. If the whole or any matgart of the Premises or the Project is tal@rahy public or quasi-public use
under governmental law, ordinance, or regulatiorhyoright of eminent domain, or by private purahaslieu thereof (a “Taking” or “Taken”),
and the Taking would in Landlord’s reasonable judgtreither prevent or materially interfere with @atis use of the Premises or materially
interfere with or impair Landlord’s ownership orevption of the Project, then upon written noticeLlapdlord this Lease shall terminate and
Rent shall be apportioned as of said date. If piattie Premises shall be Taken, and this Leaseti'erminated as provided above, Landlord
shall promptly restore the Premises and the Pragciearly as is commercially reasonable undetitbemstances to their condition prior to
such partial Taking and the rentable square footégiee Building, the rentable square footage effflnremises, Tenant’s Share of Operating
Expenses and the Rent payable hereunder duringngaeired Term shall be reduced to such extentegshma fair and reasonable under the
circumstances. Upon any such Taking, Landlord s¥eatntitled to receive the entire price or awaodifany such Taking without any payment
to Tenant, and Tenant hereby assigns to Landlonafits interest, if any, in such award. Tenantldieale the right, to the extent that same
shall not diminish Landlord’s award, to make a sefgclaim against the condemning authority (batlramdlord) for such compensation as
may be separately awarded or recoverable by Téaantoving expenses and damage to Tenant's tratledis, if a separate award for such
items is made to Tenant. Tenant hereby waives adyakl rights it might otherwise have pursuantng arovision of state law to terminate this
Lease upon a partial Taking of the Premises oPtlogect.

20. Events of Default. Each of the followevents shall be a default (“Default”) by Tenantler this Lease:
(a) Payment Defaults. Tenant shalltfappay any installment of Rent or any other paynmemeunder when due.
(b) Insurance. Any insurance requirebeganaintained by Tenant pursuant to this Leasé Bbalanceled or terminated or shall

expire or shall be reduced or materially changed,amdlord shall receive a notice of nonrenewahimf such insurance and Tenant shall fail to
obtain replacement insurance at least 20 daysdéferexpiration of the current coverage.

(c) Abandonment. Tenant shall abandorPiieenises.
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(d) Improper Transfer. Tenant shall assgyblease or otherwise transfer or attempt trsfea all or any portion of Tenant’s
interest in this Lease or the Premises except piessly permitted herein, or Tenant’s intereshia Lease shall be attached, executed upon, c
otherwise judicially seized and such action isnet#ased within 90 days of the action.

(e) Liens. Tenant shall fail to dischaogetherwise obtain the release of any lien plagazh the Premises in violation of this
Lease within 10 days after any such lien is filgdiast the Premises.

Insolvency Events. Tenant or anyrgméor or surety of Tenant’s obligations hereurstell: (A) make a general assignment
for the benefit of creditors; (B) commence any ¢aseceeding or other action seeking to have aardat relief entered on its behalf as a
debtor or to adjudicate it a bankrupt or insolventseeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustnigatdation, dissolution or composition of
it or its debts or seeking appointment of a reaeitrastee, custodian or other similar official foor for all or of any substantial part of its
property (collectively a “Proceeding for Relief(f) become the subject of any Proceeding for Rellgth is not dismissed within 90 days of
its filing or entry; or (D) die or suffer a legaisdbility (if Tenant, guarantor, or surety is adiindual) or be dissolved or otherwise fail to
maintain its legal existence (if Tenant, guarawotosurety is a corporation, partnership or otheitygn

(9) Estoppel Certificate or Subordinatidgreement. Tenant fails to execute any documenired from Tenant under Sections
23or 27 within 5 days after a second notice requgstirch document.

(h) Default under Related Lease. Tenafaults beyond the expiration of any applicabléagoand cure period under the
Standard Form Multi-Tenant Net Lease (Non-Califajrdated April 19, 1999, as amended, between Tdrnarguccessor in interest to Shire
Laboratories Inc.) and ARE Acquisitions, LLC forepmises located at 1550 East Gude Drive, Rockwilkyland 20850.

0] Other Defaults. Tenant shall faildomply with any provision of this Lease other thhose specifically referred to in this
Section 20 and, except as otherwise expressly provided mesach failure shall continue for a period of Hyslafter written notice thereof
from Landlord to Tenant.

Any notice given under Section 20(ereof shall: (i) specify the alleged defaulf) iemand that Tenant cure such default, (iii) bkein of,

and not in addition to, or shall be deemed to hg,retice required under any provision of appliedlalw, and (iv) not be deemed a forfeiture o
a termination of this Lease unless Landlord eletlierwise in such notice; providéuht if the nature of Tenant's default pursuanbéation 20
(i) is such that it cannot be cured by the paymentaiey and reasonably requires more than 10 dagierég then Tenant shall not be deemec
to be in default if Tenant commences such cureiwihid 10 day period and thereafter diligentlygamutes the same to completion; provided
however, that such cure shall be completed no later tiada¥s from the date of Landlord’s notice.

21. Landlord’s Remedies.

€) Interest. Upon a Default by Tenarebieder, Landlord may, without waiving or releasamy obligation of Tenant
hereunder, make such payment or perform such dctus so paid or incurred by Landlord, togeth&hwnterest thereon, from the date such
sums were paid or incurred, at the annual rateléqu®% per annum or the highest rate permittethtaw(“Default Rate”), whichever is less,
shall be payable to Landlord on demand as AdditiBeamt. Except as expressly set forth in clausdéw, nothing herein shall be construed
to create or impose a duty on Landlord to mitigatg damages resulting from Tenant's Default hereund
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(b) Late Payment Rent. Late payment hbyafi¢to Landlord of Rent and other sums due wilisealLandlord to incur costs not
contemplated by this Lease, the exact amount ofhwill be extremely difficult and impracticable ascertain. Such costs include, but are no
limited to, processing and accounting charges ateddharges which may be imposed on Landlord uaaeMortgage covering the Premises.
Therefore, if any installment of Rent due from Tienia not received by Landlord within 10 days after date such payment is due, Tenant
shall pay to Landlord an additional sum of 6% @& tiverdue Rent as a late charge (provided thatrifeall not be required to pay such late
charge upon the first occurrence of a late payrbgritenant of Rent). The parties agree that thes¢atrge represents a fair and reasonable
estimate of the costs Landlord will incur by reasbfate payment by Tenant. In addition to the #targe, Rent not paid when due shall bear
interest at the Default Rate from the 5th day dfierdate due until paid.

(c) Re-Entry. Landlord shall have théntigmmediately or at any time thereafter, withturther notice to Tenant (unless
otherwise provided herein), to enter the Premiséhout terminating this Lease or being guilty mdfdpass, and do any and all acts as Landlor
may deem necessary, proper or convenient to catedrfault, for the account and at the expensesafiit, any notice to quit or notice of
Landlord’s intention to re-enter being hereby egphg waived, and Tenant agrees to pay to Landlsréidalitional Rent all damage and/or
expense incurred by Landlord in so doing, includirigrest at the Default Rate, from the due daté the date payment is received by
Landlord.

(d) Termination. Upon a Default by Tenhateunder, Landlord shall have the right to teaterthis Lease and Tenant'’s right to
possession of the Premises and, with or withowtlIpgpcess, take possession of the Premises aravesfienant, any occupant and any
property therefrom, using such force as may bessarg, without being guilty of trespass and with@linquishing any rights of Landlord
against Tenant, any naotice to quit, or notice afdlard’s intention to re-enter being hereby exgsessived. Landlord shall be entitled to
recover damages from Tenant for all amounts covedao be paid during the remainder of the Terncéek for the period of any holdover by
Tenant, in which case the monthly rental rate dtateSection &erein shall apply), which may be accelerated bydl@rd at its option, togeth
with (i) all expenses of any proceedings (includibgt not limited to, the expenses set forth inti®ec22(f) below) which may be necessary in
order for Landlord to recover possession of therfiBes, (ii) the expenses of the re-renting of tresri®ses (including, but not limited to, any
commissions paid to any real estate agent, adiveytexpense and the costs of such alterationsirsgpaplacements or modifications that
Landlord, in its sole judgment, considers advisané necessary for the purpose of re-renting),(@hihterest computed at the Default Rate
from the due date until paid; provideowever, that there shall be credited against the amoustich damages all amounts received by
Landlord from such re-renting of the Premises, \aitly overage being refunded to Tenant. Landlordl shao event be liable in any way
whatsoever for failure to re-rent the Premisesrothe event that the Premises are re-rentedafturé to collect the rent thereof under such re-
renting and, except as expressly provided in theviing paragraph, Tenant expressly waives any déithe Landlord to mitigate damages.
act or thing done by Landlord shall be deemed tarbacceptance of a surrender of the Premisesssubsndlord shall execute a written
agreement of surrender with Tenant. Tenant's ligtilereunder shall not be terminated by the exeouif a new lease of the Premises by
Landlord, unless that new lease expressly so statéise event Landlord does not exercise its optioaccelerate the payment of amounts ¢
as provided hereinabove, then Tenant agrees ttodagndlord, upon demand, the amount of damagesrhprovided after the amount of such
damages for any month shall have been ascertginedded, however, that any expenses incurred by Landlord shalldsakd to be a part of
the damages for the month in which they were iremirBeparate actions may be maintained each moathother times by Landlord against
Tenant to recover the damages then due, withouingaintil the end of the term of this Lease toedetine the aggregate amount of such
damages. Tenant hereby expressly waives any ariglai of redemption granted by or under any presefuture laws in the event of Tenant
being evicted or being dispossessed for any cause the event of Landlord obtaining possessiothefPremises by reason of the violation by
Tenant of any of the covenants and conditionsisfltkase.
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Except as expressly provided in this paragraphesra material inducement for Landlord to enter this Lease, Tenant agrees and
acknowledges that Landlord shall have no obligatibatsoever to mitigate any damages resulting fadbefault by Tenant under this Lease.
In case of a Default by Tenant under this Leasadlad’s sole obligation to so mitigate its damages di®lo list the Premises with a licen:
broker. On compliance with such listing requiremegarding the réetting of the Premises after a Default by Tenaatdlord shall be deem
to have fully satisfied Landlord’s obligation totigate damages under this Lease regardless ofantyacy Legal Requirement in effect on the
Commencement Date or at the time of Tenant’s Def&iehant waives and releases, to the fullest ¢xemmissible under any Legal
Requirement, any right to assert in any action agdlord to enforce the terms of this Lease, angrid, counterclaim, or rights of setoff or
recoupment respecting the mitigation of damagelsamglord.

(e) Intentionally Deleted.

() Expenses. Tenant shall pay, as Aaldél Rent and immediately upon written demand ftaandlord, all costs and expenses
incurred by Landlord, including, but not limited tttorneys’ fees, expert witness fees, paralezgd,fother litigation expenses (such as
expenses for photocopying, electronic legal resganed deposition transcripts), and court costoimection with or arising out of any Default
by Tenant under this Lease, including, but nottiahito, any action or proceeding brought by Largltorenforce any obligation of Tenant
under this Lease or the right of Landlord in othte Premises. Such expenses are recoverabldeiet, including appeals and post judgment
actions or proceedings. The giving of a notice efdlt by Landlord shall constitute part of an @etor proceeding under this Lease, entitling
Landlord to reimbursement of such fees and experses if an action or proceeding is not commengedcourt of law and regardless of
whether the Default is cured.

(9) Other Remedies. In addition to theefming, Landlord, at its option, without furthetice or demand to Tenant, shall havt
other rights and remedies provided at law or initgqu

22. Assignment and Subletting.

€) General Prohibition. Without Landlsrgrior written consent subject to and on the d¢tmas described in this Section 22

Tenant shall not, directly or indirectly, voluntigtror by operation of law, assign this Lease orlsate the Premises or any part thereof or
mortgage, pledge, or hypothecate its leaseholdest®r grant any concession or license withinRlamises, and any attempt to do any of the
foregoing shall be void and of no effect. If Tenan& corporation, partnership or limited liabildtgmpany, the shares or other ownership
interests thereof which are not actively tradedrupstock exchange or in the over-the-counter nhaakieansfer or series of transfers whereby
25% or more of the issued and outstanding sharether ownership interests of such corporation @r&pting control is, transferred (but
excepting transfers upon deaths of individual owh&om a person or persons or entity or entitibgctvwere owners thereof at time of
execution of this Lease to persons or entities whre not owners of shares or other ownership isteraf the corporation, partnership or
limited liability company at time of execution dfi$ Lease, shall be deemed an assignment of thiselLieequiring the consent of Landlord as
provided in this Section 22

(b) Permitted Transfers. If Tenant desteassign, sublease, hypothecate or otherwissfénathis Lease or sublet the Premises
then at least 15 business days, but not more thdrnudiness days, before the date Tenant desiressignment or sublease to be effective
(“Assignment Date”), Tenant shall give Landlordaioe (“Assignment Notice”) containing such infortioa about the proposed assignee or
sublessee, including the proposed use of the Pesraisd any Hazardous Materials proposed to be srdd handled, treated, generated in o
released or disposed of from the Premises, thegAsgnt Date, any relationship between Tenant amgtbposed assignee or sublessee, a
material terms and conditions of the proposed assamt or sublease, including a copy of any propaesstgnment or sublease in its final form,
and such other information as Landlord may deermsomably necessary or appropriate to its consiaderathether to grant its consent.
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Landlord may, by giving written notice to Tenanthim 15 business days after receipt of the Assigrietice: (i) grant such consent,

(ii) refuse such consent, in its sole and absaligeretion, if the proposed assignment, hypothenair other transfer or subletting concerns
more than (together with all other then effectiublsases) 50% of the Premises, (iii) refuse suciset, in its reasonable discretion, if the
proposed subletting concerns (together with akkothen effective subleases) 50% or less of theBes (provided that Landlord shall further
have the right to review and approve or disapptbeeproposed form of sublease prior to the effectiate of any such subletting), or

(iv) terminate this Lease with respect to the spheseribed in the Assignment Notice as of the Assignt Date (an “Assignment
Termination”). If Landlord delivers notice of itéeetion to exercise an Assignment Termination, Tesaall have the right to withdraw such
Assignment Notice by written notice to Landlordsoich election within 5 business days after Landdondtice electing to exercise the
Assignment Termination. If Tenant withdraws suclsigement Notice, this Lease shall continue infitte and effect. If Tenant does not
withdraw such Assignment Notice, this Lease, amdiéinm and estate herein granted, shall termirsaté the Assignment Date with respect to
the space described in such Assignment Notice alllaré of Landlord to exercise any such optionetartinate this Lease, or to deliver a timely
notice in response to the Assignment Notice, dfmtleemed to be Landlord’s consent to the propassidnment, sublease or other transfer.
Tenant shall pay to Landlord a fee equal to $1j8G®nnection with its consideration of any AssignmNotice and/or its preparation or
review of any consent documents.

(c) Additional Conditions. As a condititmany such assignment or subletting, whetheootandlord’s consent is required,
Landlord may require:

0] that any assignee or subtenant agmesriting at the time of such assignment or sttbig, that if Landlord gives
such party notice that Tenant is in default unter tease, such party shall thereafter make ali@mgs otherwise due Tenant
directly to Landlord, which payments will be recsivby Landlord without any liability except to cieslich payment against
those due under this Lease, and any such thirgi phall agree to attorn to Landlord or its succesaod assigns should this Le
be terminated for any reason; providdwbwever, in no event shall Landlord or its successorsssigms be obligated to accept
such attornment; and

(i) A list of Hazardous Materials, cédd by the proposed assignee or sublessee tabeaird correct, which the
proposed assignee or sublessee intends to use, Iséodle, treat, generate in or release or dispiosem the Premises, together
with copies of all documents relating to such g$erage, handling, treatment, generation, releadésposal of Hazardous
Materials by the proposed assignee or subtenahteiRPremises or on the Project, prior to the preg@ssignment or subletting,
including, without limitation: permits; approvalgports and correspondence; storage and managefaest plans relating to the
installation of any storage tanks to be installedr under the Project (provided, said installatbtanks shall only be permitted
after Landlord has given its written consent tasdpwhich consent may be withheld in Landlord’sssmhd absolute discretion);
and all closure plans or any other documents reduy any and all federal, state and local Goventatéuthorities for any
storage tanks installed in, on or under the Prdfcthe closure of any such tanks. Neither Temantany such proposed assignee
or subtenant is required, however, to provide Larsivith any portion(s) of the such documents cdairig information of a
proprietary nature which, in and of themselveshdbcontain a reference to any Hazardous Mateviaezardous activities.

(d) No Release of Tenant, Sharing of Egdeents. Notwithstanding any assignment or sitideffenant and any guarantor or
surety of Tenant’s obligations under this Leasdl sthall times remain fully and primarily respobk& and liable for the payment of Rent and
for compliance with all of Tenant’s other obligat®under this Lease. If the Rent due and payab&edublessee or assignee (or a combinatiol
of the rental payable under such sublease or assiginplus any bonus or other
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consideration therefor or incident thereto in amyrf) exceeds the rental payable under this Leastu@ing however, any Rent payable under
this Section) (“Excess Rent”), then Tenant shalbbend and obligated to pay Landlord as AdditidRaht hereunder 50% of such Excess Rer
within 10 days following receipt thereof by TendfifTenant shall sublet the Premises or any panehf, Tenant hereby immediately and
irrevocably assigns to Landlord, as security fondrgt’s obligations under this Lease, all rent from amghssubletting, and Landlord as assic
and as attorney-in-fact for Tenant, or a receigeTenant appointed on Landlord’s application, rnaject such rent and apply it toward
Tenant’s obligations under this Lease; except tnati] the occurrence of a Default, Tenant shallentihe right to collect such rent.

(e) No Waiver. The consent by Landlor@toassignment or subletting shall not relieve Tienaany assignees of this Lease or
any sublessees of the Premises from obtainingahsent of Landlord to any further assignment ofedtibg nor shall it release Tenant or any
assignee or sublessee of Tenant from full and pyinbility under this Lease. The acceptance afitRereunder, or the acceptance of
performance of any other term, covenant, or coowlithereof, from any other person or entity shatllie deemed to be a waiver of any of the
provisions of this Lease or a consent to any stibigtassignment or other transfer of the Premises.

23. Estoppel Certificate. Tenant shalthim 10 business days of written notice from Land)@xecute, acknowledge and deliver
a statement in writing in any form reasonably reiei@ by a proposed lender or purchaser, (i) cartfthat this Lease is unmodified and in full
force and effect (or, if modified, stating the matof such modification and certifying that thisase as so modified is in full force and effect)
and the dates to which the rental and other changepaid in advance, if any, (ii) acknowledgingttthere are not any uncured defaults on the
part of Landlord hereunder, or specifying such diaf any are claimed, and (iii) setting forthcbufurther information with respect to the
status of this Lease or the Premises as may bestmlithereon. Any such statement may be relied bhp@ny prospective purchaser or
encumbrancer of all or any portion of the real gry of which the Premises are a part. Tenantlaraito deliver such statement within such
time shall, at the option of Landlord, be conclesippon Tenant that this Lease is in full force affdct and without modification except as n
be represented by Landlord in any certificate preghdy Landlord and delivered to Tenant for exexuti

24. Quiet Enjoyment. So long as Tenanll gleaform all of the covenants and agreementsiheegjuired to be performed by
Tenant, Tenant shall, subject to the terms ofltk&se, at all times during the Term, have pea@efdlquiet enjoyment of the Premises against
any person claiming by, through or under Landlord.

25. Prorations. All prorations requiredpermitted to be made hereunder shall be madeeobasis of a 360 day year and 30 day
months.

26. Rules and Regulations. Tenant shiadlll 2imes during the Term and any extension thigreomply with all reasonable
rules and regulations at any time or from timeinwetestablished by Landlord covering use of therises and the Project. The current
rules and regulations are attached hereto as Exhili there is any conflict between said ruled asgulations and other provisions of this
Lease, the terms and provisions of this Lease shattol. Landlord shall not have any liability @bligation for the breach of any rules or
regulations by other tenants in the Project andl sbenforce such rules and regulations in ardisioatory manner.

27. Subordination. This Lease and Tenant&rest and rights hereunder are hereby madstaaitibe subject and subordinate at
all times to the lien of any Mortgage now existorghereafter created on or against the ProjediemPremises, and all amendments,
restatements, renewals, modifications, consolidaticefinancing, assignments and extensions thesgtbfout the necessity of any further
instrument or act on the part of Tenant; providadweveithat so long as there is no Default hereunder, i#neght to possession of the
Premises shall not be disturbed by the Holder gfsarch Mortgage. Tenant agrees, at the electidheoHolder of any such Mortgage, to attorn
to any such
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Holder. Tenant agrees upon demand to execute, abidge and deliver such instruments, confirminchssiebordination, and such instrume

of attornment as shall be requested by any suctiddgbrovided any such instruments contain appatenon-disturbance provisions assuring
Tenant’s quiet enjoyment of the Premises as stt forSection 24ereof. Tenant hereby appoints Landlord attornefgdt for Tenant
irrevocably (such power of attorney being couplethwn interest) to execute, acknowledge and deling such instrument and instruments
and in the name of Tenant and to cause any suthiimsnt to be recorded. Notwithstanding the foregpany such Holder may at any time
subordinate its Mortgage to this Lease, withoutafgis consent, by notice in writing to Tenant, dmekeupon this Lease shall be deemed prio
to such Mortgage without regard to their respeatiaes of execution, delivery or recording anchit event such Holder shall have the same
rights with respect to this Lease as though thisskehad been executed prior to the execution,aefgland recording of such Mortgage and hac
been assigned to such Holder. The term “Mortgadedivever used in this Lease shall be deemed todedeeds of trust, security assignment:
and any other encumbrances, and any reference téitlider” of a Mortgage shall be deemed to incltlie beneficiary under a deed of trust.

28. Surrender. Upon the expiration of Teem or earlier termination of Tenant’s right ofggession, Tenant shall surrender the
Premises to Landlord in the same condition as vedeisubject to any Alterations or Installationsmpi¢ted by Landlord to remain in the
Premises, free of Hazardous Materials brought ukept, used, stored, handled, treated, generated irleased or disposed of from, the
Premises by any person other than a Landlord Reotiectively, “Tenant HazMat Operations”) and ieded of all Hazardous Materials
Clearances, broom clean, ordinary wear and teacasuilty loss and condemnation covered by Secti®asad 19 excepted.

Tenant shall immediately return to Landlord all &eynd/or access cards to parking, the Projectpmss or all or any portion of the
Premises furnished to or otherwise procured by fieribany such access card or key is lost, Teshall pay to Landlord, at Landlord’s
election, either the cost of replacing such lostas card or key or the cost of reprogramming teess security system in which such access
card was used or changing the lock or locks opéyesiich lost key. Any TenastProperty, Alterations and property not so remdwedenan
as permitted or required herein shall be deemeddared and may be stored, removed, and dispodaglaindlord at Tenant’'s expense, and
Tenant waives all claims against Landlord for aagndges resulting from Landlord’s retention andispasition of such property. All
obligations of Tenant hereunder not fully perfornasdof the termination of the Term, including thdigations of Tenant under Section 30
hereof, shall survive the expiration or earlientgration of the Term, including, without limitatipmdemnity obligations, payment obligations
with respect to Rent and obligations concerningcthradition and repair of the Premises.

29. Waiver of Jury Trial. TENANT AND LANDORD WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OR TO HAVE A IIRY
PARTICIPATE IN RESOLVING ANY DISPUTE, WHETHER SOUNNG IN CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE, BETWEEN
LANDLORD AND TENANT ARISING OUT OF THIS LEASE OR AN OTHER INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT, OR AGREEMENT
EXECUTED OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR THERANSACTIONS RELATED HERETO.

30. Environmental Requirements.

€) Prohibition/Compliance. Except forddedous Material contained in products customasigd by tenants in de minimus
guantities for ordinary cleaning and office purmskenant shall not permit or cause any party itogbaeny Hazardous Material upon the
Premises or the Project or use, store, handld, feaerate, manufacture, transport, release posisof any Hazardous Material in, on or from
the Premises or the Project without Landlord’s pwatten consent which may be withheld in Landlerdole discretion. Tenant, at its sole «
and expense, shall operate its business in theigremn strict compliance with all EnvironmentaldR#ements and shall remove or remediate
in a manner satisfactory to Landlord any Hazarddaterials released on or from the Project by Tewoariny Tenant Party. Tenant shall
complete and certify disclosure statements as stgddoy Landlord from time to time relating to Tetig use, storage, handling, treatment,
generation, manufacture,
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transportation, release or disposal of Hazardou®iiéds on or from the Premises. As used hergithé term “Environmental Requirements”
means all applicable present and future statudgsilations, ordinances, rules, codes, judgmentgrsmor other similar enactments of any
Governmental Authority regulating or relating taalth, safety, or environmental conditions on, undembout the Premises or the Project, or
the environment, including without limitation, tfalowing: the Comprehensive Environmental Respos®@npensation and Liability Act; the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act; and d# stiad local counterparts thereto, and any reguiator policies promulgated or issued
thereunder, and (ii) the term “Hazardous Materiat€ans and includes any substance, material, wastatant, or contaminant listed or
defined as hazardous or toxic, or regulated byorea$ its impact or potential impact on humansyeais and/or the environment under any
Environmental Requirements, asbestos and petroleainding crude oil or any fraction thereof, natugas liquids, liquefied natural gas, or
synthetic gas usable for fuel (or mixtures of naltgas and such synthetic gas). As defined in Bnwirental Requirements, Tenant is and shal
be deemed to be the “operator” of Tenant's “fagiland the “owner” of all Hazardous Materials brbtign the Premises by Tenant or any
Tenant Party, and the wastes, by-products, oruesidenerated, resulting, or produced therefrom.

(b) Indemnity. Tenant hereby indemnifiesl shall defend and hold Landlord, its officeisectors, employees, agents and
contractors harmless from any and all actions (igiclg, without limitation, remedial or enforcemettions of any kind, administrative or
judicial proceedings, and orders or judgmentsragisiut of or resulting therefrom), costs, claimamnéges (including, without limitatio
punitive damages and damages based upon diminatiaiue of the Premises or the Project, or the tdsor restriction on, use of the
Premises or any portion of the Project), expenisetu@ing, without limitation, attorneys’, consuttis’ and experts’ fees, court costs and
amounts paid in settlement of any claims or acjidirses, forfeitures or other civil, administragivr criminal penalties, injunctive or other
relief (whether or not based upon personal injprgperty damage, or contamination of, or adverectsf upon, the environment, water tables
or natural resources), liabilities or losses (allely, “Environmental Claims”) which arise durimg after the Term as a result of such
contamination. Notwithstanding anything to the cant contained in this Section 30 enant shall not be responsible for, and the
indemnification and hold harmless obligation settfan this paragraph shall not apply to, (1) thegence of any Hazardous Materials in the
Premises that migrated from outside of the Preniigeshe Premises unless the presence of suchrthmeMaterials (i) is the result of a
breach by Tenant of any of its obligations undés tease, or (ii) was caused, contributed to, @cexbated by Tenant or any Tenant Party, or
(2) any Hazardous Materials that existed in therises as of the Commencement Date and were noghadischarged, or released onto the
Premises by Tenant or any Tenant Party. This indfeation of Landlord by Tenant includes, withourhltation, costs incurred in connection
with any investigation of site conditions or angahup, remedial, removal, or restoration work nexfliby any federal, state or local
Governmental Authority because of Hazardous Mdgegeesent in the air, soil or ground water abave,or under the Premises. Without
limiting the foregoing, if the presence of any Halrais Materials on the Premises, the Project oraaljgcent property caused or permitted by
Tenant or any Tenant Party results in any contatioinaf the Premises, the Project or any adjacemtgrty, Tenant shall promptly take all
actions at its sole expense and in accordanceapitlicable law as are necessary to return the Besmihe Project or any adjacent property to
the condition existing prior to the time of sucltamination, provided that Landlord’s approval o€ls action shall first be obtained, which
approval shall not unreasonably be withheld so lamguch actions would not potentially have anyenedtadverse long-term or short-term
effect on the Premises or the Project.

(c) Landlord’s Tests. Landlord shall haeeess to, and a right to perform inspectionstesis of, the Premises to determine
Tenant’s compliance with Environmental Requiremgitdésobligations under this Section 36r the environmental condition of the Premises ¢
the Project. In connection with such testing, ugi@request of Landlord, Tenant shall deliver tadlard or its consultant such ngmneprietary
information concerning the use of Hazardous Mal®iiaor about the Premises by Tenant or any TeRarty. Access shall be granted to
Landlord upon Landlord’s prior notice to Tenant atcuch times so as to minimize, so far as magasonable under the circumstances, any
disturbance to
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Tenant’s operations. Such inspections and testslshaonducted at Landlord’s expense, unless sggections or tests reveal that Tenant ha
not complied with any Environmental Requirementyinich case Tenant shall reimburse Landlord ford@esonable cost of such inspection
and tests. Tenant shall, at its sole cost and eggmomptly and satisfactorily remediate any eminental conditions identified by such tes

in accordance with all Environmental Requiremehéndlord’s receipt of or satisfaction with any enovimental assessment in no way waives
any rights that Landlord may have against Tenant.

(d) Control Areas. Tenant shall be alldvie utilize up to its pro rata share of the HapagiMaterials inventory within any
control area or zone (located within the Premisas)jjesignated from time to time by the applicbiliéding code or other Legal Requirement,
for Hazardous Materials use or storage. As uséldempreceding sentence, Tenant's pro rata shaamyofontrol area or zone located within the
Premises shall be determined based on the rertqbéee footage that Tenant leases within the agigiacontrol area or zone. For purposes of
example only, if a control area or zone contain®Q0 rentable square feet and 2,000 rentable sdeetref a tenant’s premises are located
within such control area or zone (while such premias a whole contains 5,000 rentable square feetipplicable tenant’s pro rata share of
such control area or zone would be 20%.

(e) Tenant’s Obligations. Tenant's obligas under this Section 3hall survive the expiration or earlier terminatifrthis
Lease for the applicable statute of limitationsgeunder federal, state, or local Legal Requiremaring any period of time after the
expiration or earlier termination of this Leaseuiegd by Tenant or Landlord to complete the remdsah the Premises of any Hazardous
Materials (including, without limitation, the rels@and termination of any licenses or permitsiastg the use of the Premises), Tenant shall
continue to pay the full Rent in accordance witl ttease for any portion of the Premises not ®yetandlord in Landlord’s sole discretion,
which Rent shall be prorated daily.

31. Tenant’s Remedies/Limitation of Lidtyil Landlord shall not be in default hereunderass| Landlord fails to perform any of
its obligations hereunder within 30 days after tgritnotice from Tenant specifying such failure éssl such performance will, due to the natur
of the obligation, require a period of time in ese®f 30 days, then after such period of time asasonably necessary). Upon any default by
Landlord, Tenant shall give notice by registeredentified mail to any Holder of a Mortgage coverihe Premises and to any landlord of any
lease of property in or on which the Premises @ratbd and Tenant shall offer such Holder andfodlitad a reasonable opportunity to cure the
default, including time to obtain possession of Bneject by power of sale or a judicial actionuth should prove necessary to effect a cure;
providedlL andlord shall have furnished to Tenant in writthg names and addresses of all such persons who @eeive such notices. All
obligations of Landlord hereunder shall be constrag covenants, not conditions; and, except asbmatherwise expressly provided in this
Lease, Tenant may not terminate this Lease forchreéiLandlord’s obligations hereunder.

All obligations of Landlord under this Lease wi# bbinding upon Landlord only during the periodtsfawnership of the Premises and
not thereafter. The term “Landlord” in this Lead@ls mean only the owner for the time being of firemises. Upon the transfer by such owne
of its interest in the Premises, such owner shaligupon be released and discharged from all dldigaof Landlord thereafter accruing, but
such obligations shall be binding during the Tepomueach new owner for the duration of such ownereership.

32. Inspection and Access. Landlord am@gtents, representatives, and contractors maytaet®remises at any reasonable -
to (a) inspect the Premises, (b) make such repairsay be required or permitted pursuant to théseend for any other business purpose, ar
(c) gain access to the Main Electrical Room (asaieg on Exhibit A attached hereto) for the purpo§eamong other things, reading the
electrical meters contained in such room and perifty maintenance, repair, and replacement actvitiandlord and Landlord’s
representatives may enter the Premises during é&ssimours on not less than 48 hours advance writtgte (except in the case of emergen
in which case no such notice shall be requiredsarath entry may be at any time) for the purposedfeteng any such
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repairs, inspecting the Premises, showing the Res1td prospective purchasers and, during thgéastof the Term, to prospective tenants or
for any other business purpose. Landlord may eraciitable sign on the Premises stating the Premigeavailable to let or that the Project is
available for sale. Landlord may grant easemenagenpublic dedications, designate Common Area<egdte restrictions on or about the
Premises, providethat no such easement, dedication, designatioastriction materially, adversely affects Tenange or occupancy of the
Premises for the Permitted Use. At Landlord’s retuEenant shall execute such instruments as magdessary for such easements,
dedications or restrictions. Tenant shall at allets, except in the case of emergencies, havegheta escort Landlord or its agents,
representatives, contractors or guests while theesae in the Premises, provided such escort dutanaterially and adversely affect
Landlord’s access rights hereunder.

33. Security. Tenant acknowledges and agrees thatigedarices and services, if any, while intendedédter crime may not in
given instances prevent theft or other criminas a&ctd that Landlord is not providing any securégwges with respect to the Premises. Tenan
agrees that Landlord shall not be liable to Tefiantand Tenant waives any claim against Landloitti vespect to, any loss by theft or any
other damage suffered or incurred by Tenant in eotion with any unauthorized entry into the Premiseany other breach of security with
respect to the Premises. Tenant shall be solebhpresible for the personal safety of Tenantfficers, employees, agents, contractors, gaesl
invitees while any such person is in, on or abbatRremises and/or the Project. Tenant shall aarftencost obtain insurance coverage to the
extent Tenant desires protection against such eahaicts.

34. Force Majeure. Landlord shall not responsible ablk for delays in the performance of its obligasilhereunder when caut
by, related to, or arising out of acts of God ketsi, lockouts, or other labor disputes, embargpesrantines, weather, national, regional, or |
disasters, calamities, or catastrophes, inabiitytitain labor or materials (or reasonable suliettherefor) at reasonable costs or failure of, o
inability to obtain, utilities necessary for perfmance, governmental restrictions, orders, limitajagegulations, or controls, natiol



emergencies, delay in issuance or revocation ahipgrenemy or hostile governmental action, tesrariinsurrection, riots, civil
disturbance or commotion, fire or other casualhy ather causes or events beyond the reasonalit®lcoinLandlord (“Force Majeure”).

35. Brokers. Landlord and Tenant each represents an@mia that it has not dealt with any broker, agerdther person
(collectively, “Broker”) in connection with thisansaction and that no Broker brought about thissaation. Landlord and Tenant each hereby
agree to indemnify and hold the other harmless faoh against any claims by any Broker, other tharbroker, if any named in this
Section 35 claiming a commission or other form of comperwaby virtue of having dealt with Tenant or Landlpas applicable, with regard
to this leasing transaction.

36. Limitation on Landlord’s Liability. NOTWITHSTANDINGANYTHING SET FORTH HEREIN OR IN ANY OTHER
AGREEMENT BETWEEN LANDLORD AND TENANT TO THE CONTRRY: (A) LANDLORD SHALL NOT BE LIABLE TO TENANT
OR ANY OTHER PERSON FOR (AND TENANT AND EACH SUCHTBIER PERSON ASSUME ALL RISK OF) LOSS, DAMAGE OR
INJURY, WHETHER ACTUAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL TO: TENANTS PERSONAL PROPERTY OF EVERY KIND AND
DESCRIPTION, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION TRADE FKXTURES, EQUIPMENT, INVENTORY, SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH,
SCIENTIFIC EXPERIMENTS, LABORATORY ANIMALS, PRODUCTSPECIMENS, SAMPLES, AND/OR SCIENTIFIC, BUSINESS,
ACCOUNTING AND OTHER RECORDS OF EVERY KIND AND DESTGPTION KEPT AT THE PREMISES AND ANY AND ALL
INCOME DERIVED OR DERIVABLE THEREFROM; (B) THERE SALL BE NO PERSONAL RECOURSE TO LANDLORD FOR ANY
ACT OR OCCURRENCE IN, ON OR ABOUT THE PREMISES ORISING IN ANY WAY UNDER THIS LEASE OR ANY OTHER
AGREEMENT BETWEEN LANDLORD AND TENANT WITH RESPECTO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND ANY LIABILITY
OF LANDLORD HEREUNDER SHALL BE STRICTLY LIMITED SOELY TO LANDLORD’S INTEREST IN THE PROJECT OR ANY
PROCEEDS FROM SALE OR CONDEMNATION THEREOF
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AND ANY INSURANCE PROCEEDS PAYABLE IN RESPECT OF INDLORD'S INTEREST IN THE PROJECT OR IN CONNECTION
WITH ANY SUCH LOSS; AND (C) IN NO EVENT SHALL ANY ERSONAL LIABILITY BE ASSERTED AGAINST ANY OF
LANDLORD’S OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTRONTRACTORS. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL
LANDLORD OR ANY OF LANDLORD’S OFFICERS, DIRECTOREMPLOYEES, AGENTS OR CONTRACTORS BE LIABLE FOR
INJURY TO TENANT'S BUSINESS OR FOR ANY LOSS OF INGAE OR PROFIT THEREFROM.

37. Severability. If any clause or provision of thisdse is illegal, invalid or unenforceable under ere®r future laws, then and
in that event, it is the intention of the partiesdto that the remainder of this Lease shall natffeeted thereby. It is also the intention of the
parties to this Lease that in lieu of each clauggravision of this Lease that is illegal, invatid unenforceable, there be added, as a part of thi
Lease, a clause or provision as similar in effecutch illegal, invalid or unenforceable clauspmvision as shall be legal, valid and
enforceable. This Lease, including the exhibitackted hereto, constitutes the entire agreemeneketwandlord and Tenant pertaining to the
subject matter hereof and supersedes all prioeageats, understandings, letters of intent, negotist and discussions, whether oral or writ
of the parties, and there are no warranties, reptatons, or other agreements, express or imptiedle to either party by the other party in
connection with the subject matter hereof excepipasifically set forth herein or in the documetidtivered pursuant hereto or in connection
herewith.

38. Signs; Exterior Appearance. Tenant shall not, witttbe prior written consent of Landlord, which nize/granted or
withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion: (i) attaghy awnings, exterior lights, decorations, ballgdiags, pennants, banners, painting or other
projection to any outside wall of the Project, (i§e any curtains, blinds, shades or screens tither_andlord’s standard window coverings,
(iii) coat or otherwise sunscreen the interior xteeor of any windows, (iv) place any bottles, g&ls, or other articles on the window sills,

(v) place any equipment, furniture or other iterhp@rsonal property on any exterior balcony, o} paint, affix or exhibit on any part of the
Premises or the Project any signs, notices, windodoor lettering, placards, decorations, or adsiadg media of any type which can be vie\
from the exterior of the Premises. Interior signsdoors and the directory tablet shall be inscrilpaghted or affixed for Tenant by Landlord at
the sole cost and expense of Tenant, and shafl dsiae, color and type acceptable to Landlordhiig may be placed on the exterior of
corridor walls or corridor doors other than Landlsrstandard lettering. The directory tablet sballprovided exclusively for the display of the
name and location of tenants.

39. Right to Extend Term. Tenant shall have the rightsttend the Term of this Lease upon the follovigrgns and conditions:

(a) Extension Right. Tenant shall have the right (“asien Right”) to extend the term of this LeaseSorears (“Extension
Term”) on the same terms and conditions as thisé ¢ather than Base Rent) by giving Landlord wmittetice of its election to exercise each
Extension Right at least 9 months prior, and ntie¥ahan 12 months prior, to the expiration of Be&se Term of this Lease.

(b) Base Rent. Upon the commencement of the Extensom,TBase Rent shall be payable at the Market @atdefined
below). Base Rent shall thereafter be adjustedach anniversary of the commencement of the ExtanBgsm by a percentage as mutually
agreed to by Landlord and Tenant at the time thekbtdRate is determined, As used herein, “MarkdeRshall mean the then market rental
rate as mutually agreed to by Landlord and Tenahigh shall in no event be less than the Base Baydble as of the date immediately
preceding the commencement of the Extension Tecne@sed by the Rent Adjustment Percentage mullibyesuch Base Rent. In addition,
Landlord may impose a market rent for the parkigbts provided hereunder. If, on or before the dlade is 120 days prior to the expiration of
the Base Term of this Lease, Landlord and Tenav¢ hat agreed on the Market Rate and the rentatgwad during the Extension Term after
negotiating in good
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faith, Tenant shall be deemed to have waived agiyt tb extend the Term of this Lease and the EiderRight shall terminate.

(c) Right Personal. The Extension Right is persondleinant and is not assignable without Landlord’sseai, which may be
granted or withheld in Landlord’s sole discreti@parate and apart from any consent by Landlord tasaignment of Tenant’s interest in this
Lease.

(d) Exceptions. Notwithstanding anything set forth abtwthe contrary, the Extension Right shall noirbeffect and Tenant
may not exercise the Extension Right: (i) during pariod of time that Tenant is in Default undey anovision of this Lease; or (ii) if Tenant
has been in Default under any provision of thisdeed or more times, regardless of whether the Msfate cured, during the 12 month period
immediately prior to the date that Tenant interedexercise the Extension Right, regardless of wdretie Defaults are cured.

(e) No Extensions. The period of time within which tBeension Right may be exercised shall not be elddror enlarged by
reason of Tenant’s inability to exercise the Extem®Right.

() Termination. The Extension Right shall terminatd e of no further force or effect even after Teisatue and timely
exercise of the Extension Right, if, after suchrebee, but prior to the commencement date of thieriston Term, (i) Tenant fails to timely ci
any default by Tenant under this Lease; or (ii)drdrhas Defaulted 3 or more times during the pefrioth the date of the exercise of the
Extension Right to the date of the commencemetii@Extension Term, regardless of whether suchutsfare cured.

40. Miscellaneous.

(a) Notices. All notices or other communications betw#ee parties shall be in writing and shall be deémiuly given upon
delivery or refusal to accept delivery by the adde® thereof if delivered in person, or upon acee@ipt if delivered by reputable overnight
guaranty courier, addressed and sent to the paitibeir addresses set forth above. Landlord amchiit may from time to time by written
notice to the other designate another addreseéaipt of future notices.

(b) Joint and Several Liability. If and when includedhin the term “Tenant,” as used in this instrumehére is more than one
person or entity, each shall be jointly and seVetalble for the obligations of Tenant.

(c) Financial Information. Tenant shall furnish Landlavith true and complete copies of (i) Tenantiost recent audited anni
financial statements within 90 days of the endaufreof Tenant's fiscal years during the Term, {&hant’s most recent unaudited quarterly
financial statements within 45 days of the endaafreof Tenant's first three fiscal quarters of eatfienant’s fiscal years during the Term,
(iii) at Landlord’s request from time to time, updated business plaakiding cash flow projections and/or pro forbaance sheets and incc
statements, all of which shall be treated by Larttles confidential information belonging to Tendiw) corporate brochures and/or profiles
prepared by Tenant for prospective investors, ahdrfy other financial information or summariestthanant typically provides to its lenders
or shareholders.

(d) Recordation. Neither this Lease nor a memorandul@ase shall be filed by or on behalf of Tenardriy public record.
Landlord may prepare and file, and upon requedtamdiord Tenant will execute, a memorandum of lease

(e) Interpretation. The normal rule of constructioritie effect that any ambiguities are to be resobgainst the drafting party
shall not be employed in the interpretation of ttesise or any exhibits or amendments hereto. Wafrday gender used in this Lease shall be
held and construed to
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include any other gender, and words in the singulanber shall be held to include the plural, untegscontext otherwise requires. The
captions inserted in this Lease are for conveniembg and in no way define, limit or otherwise ddéise the scope or intent of this Lease, or
provision hereof, or in any way affect the intetption of this Lease.

) Not Binding Until Executed. The submission by Lardlto Tenant of this Lease shall have no bindorgd or effect, shall
not constitute an option for the leasing of thenfises, nor confer any right or impose any obligegiapon either party until execution of this
Lease by both parties.

(9) Limitations on Interest. It is expressly the inteftandlord and Tenant at all times to comply vatiplicable law governing
the maximum rate or amount of any interest payabler in connection with this Lease. If applicalale is ever judicially interpreted so as to
render usurious any interest called for underltksse, or contracted for, charged, taken, reseoragceived with respect to this Lease, then i
is Landlord’s and Tenant’'s express intent thaeatless amounts theretofore collected by Landlorckédited on the applicable obligation (or,
if the obligation has been or would thereby be praiflll, refunded to Tenant), and the provisiofshis Lease immediately shall be deemed
reformed and the amounts thereafter collectibletneder reduced, without the necessity of the ei@taf any new document, so as to comply
with the applicable law, but so as to permit theokery of the fullest amount otherwise called ferdunder.

(h) Choice of Law. Construction and interpretationto§ _ease shall be governed by the internal lawth@ftate in which the
Premises are located, excluding any principlesooflicts of laws.

0] Time. Time is of the essence as to the performah@enant’s obligations under this Lease.

{ OFAC. Tenant, and all beneficial owners of Tenarg, currently (i) in compliance with and shall ktianes during the Terr
of this Lease remain in compliance with the redafet of the Office of Foreign Assets Control (“*OFA®f the U.S. Department of Treasury
and any statute, executive order, or regulatioatired thereto (collectively, the “OFAC Rules”),)(iiot listed on, and shall not during the Term
of this Lease be listed on, the Specially Desigh&tationals and Blocked Persons List maintaine@BAC and/or on any other similar list
maintained by OFAC or other governmental authgritysuant to any authorizing statute, executive pmteregulation, and (iii) not a person or
entity with whom a U.S. person is prohibited froanducting business under the OFAC Rules.

(k) Incorporation by Reference. All exhibits and addeattached hereto are hereby incorporated intd_t#ase and made a part
hereof. If there is any conflict between such eithibr addenda and the terms of this Lease, sucibiexor addenda shall control.

() No Accord and Satisfaction. No payment by Tenamtoeipt by Landlord of a lesser amount than thatirg installment of
Base Rent or any Additional Rent will be other tlmraccount of the earliest stipulated Base Reshtfadditional Rent, nor will any
endorsement or statement on any check or lettemgganying a check for payment of any Base Rentdalittonal Rent be an accord and
satisfaction. Landlord may accept such check onpeat without prejudice to Landlord’s right to reeothe balance of such Rent or to pursue
any other remedy provided in this Lease.

[ Signatures on next page ]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have exatihis Lease under seal as of the day and ysaafiove written.
TENANT:

SUPERNUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a
Delaware corporatio

By: /sl Jack Khatte

Name: Jack Khatte

Title:  President and CE

LANDLORD:

ARE-1500 EAST GLIDE, LLC.
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: ARE-QRS Corp.
a Maryland corporatior
its managing membe

By: /sl Jackie Clen (SEAL)
Name: Jackie Clen
Title: VP Real Estate Legal Affail

Copyright© 2007, Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc. A

RIGHTS RESERVED. Confidential and Propriet- Do Not

Copy or Distribute, Alexandria and the Alexandriagb are
ALEXANDRIA registered trademarks of Alexandria Real Estatdtieguinc.
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EXHIBIT A TO LEASE
DESCRIPTION OF PREMISES

26




EXHIBIT B TO LEASE
DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT

All that lot or parcel of land located in the 4tke&ion District of Montgomery County, Maryland addscribed as follows:

Parcel I:

Lot numbered Five (5) in Block lettered “A” in tisaibdivision known as “Red Gate Industrial Parkpas plat thereof recorded in Plat Book
102 at Plat 11503, among the Land Records of Man&gg County, Maryland.

Parcel I.D. No.: 4-201-1762126
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EXHIBIT C TO LEASE
WORK LETTER

THIS WORK LETTER (this “Work Letter”) is incorporetl into that certain Lease (the “Lease”) datedf&ebruary ( , 2013 by and
between ARE-1500 EAST GUDE, LLC, a Delaware limitedbility company (“Landlord”), and SUPERNUS PHARMCEUTICALS, INC., a
Delaware corporation (“Tenant”). Any initially cdpiized terms used but not defined herein shalelihe meanings given them in the Lease.

1. General Requirements.

(a) Tenant's Authorized Representative. Tenant deségnatank G. Mottola (“Tenant’s Representative™jresonly person authorized to
act for Tenant pursuant to this Work Letter. Landlshall not be obligated to respond to or act uigpmnrequest, approval, inquiry or
other communication (“Communication”) from or onhladf of Tenant in connection with this Work Letterless such Communication
is in writing from Tenant’'s Representative. Tenaraty change Tenant's Representative at any time npbless than 5 business days
advance written notice to Landlord.

(b) Landlord’s Authorized Representative. Landlord deates Lawrence J. Diamond and Vincent Ciruzzihéegisuch individual acting
alone, “Landlord’s Representative”) as the onlyspes authorized to act for Landlord pursuant te Work Letter. Tenant shall not be
obligated to respond to or act upon any requestoaal, inquiry or other Communication from or oghalf of Landlord in connection
with this Work Letter unless such Communicatiomigvriting from Landlord’s Representative. Landlordy change either Landlord’s
Representative at any time upon not less than iéss days advance written notice to Tenant.

(c) Architects, Consultants and Contractors. Landlord Benant hereby acknowledge and agree that théeatc(“TI Architect”) for the
Tenant Improvements (as defined in Section 2{elpw), the general contractor and any subcomrador the Tenant Improvements
shall be selected by Tenant, subject to Landlaagjzroval, which approval shall not be unreasonaiitlyheld, conditioned or delayed.
Landlord shall be named a third party beneficidrgrmy contract entered into by Tenant with the Telitect, any consultant, any
contractor or any subcontractor, and of any wayramde by any contractor or any subcontractor.

2.  Tenant Improvements.

(a) Tenant Improvements Defined. As used herein, “Temaprovements” shall mean all improvements toRhemises desired by Tenant
of a fixed and permanent nature. Other than funttiedl'| Allowance (as defined below) as providedeire Landlord shall not have
any obligation whatsoever with respect to the filrig of the Premises for Tenant’'s use and occupancy

(b) Tenant's Space Plans. Tenant shall deliver to laadddchematic drawings and outline specificatidis Design Drawings”) detailing
Tenant’s requirements for the Tenant Improvemeiitsinv10 days of the date hereof. Not more thamdygs thereafter, Landlord shall
deliver to Tenant the written objections, questionsomments of Landlord and the Ti Architect wigtyard to the Tl Design Drawing
Tenant shall cause the Tl Design Drawings to beseevto address such written comments and shalbnei$ said drawings to Landlo
for approval within 7 days thereafter. Such proatsdl continue until Landlord has approved thé&€&kign Drawings.
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(c) Working Drawings. Not later than 15 business dajleing the approval of the Tl Design Drawingslbgndlord, Tenant shall cause
the TI Architect to prepare and deliver to Landlédreview and comment construction plans, speaifons and drawings for the
Tenant Improvements (“TI Construction Drawings”hieh Tl Construction Drawings shall be preparedssarfitially in accordance
with the TI Design Drawings. Tenant shall be solelyponsible for ensuring that the Tl Construciivawings reflect Tenant's
requirements for the Tenant Improvements. Landdtiall deliver its written comments on the Tl Counstion Drawings to Tenant not
later than 10 business days after Landlord’s readifhe same; providedhowever, that Landlord may not disapprove any matter that
is consistent with the TI Design Drawings. Tenamd ¢he TI Architect shall consider all such commsantgood faith and shall, within
10 business days after receipt, notify Landlord A@mant proposes to respond to such comments. iBpytes in connection with su
comments shall be resolved in accordance with &2&tid) hereof. Provided that the design reflected infth€onstruction Drawings
is consistent with the Tl Design Drawings, Landletall approve the Ti Construction Drawings subeditby Tenant. Once approved
by Landlord, subject to the provisions_of Sectidmetbw, Tenant shall not materially modify the TIr@truction Drawings except as
may be reasonably required in connection with $iseance of the Tl Permit (as defined in Sectioh B&ow).

(d) Approval and Completion. If any dispute regarding tlesign of the Tenant Improvements is not settiétdn 10 business days after
notice of such dispute is delivered by one partthother, Tenant may make the final decisionnaigg the design of the Tenant
Improvements, provided (i) Tenant acts reasonafdlysaich final decision is either consistent witla@ompromise between Landlcsd’
and Tenant’s positions with respect to such disglijehat all costs and expenses resulting fraw such decision by Tenant shall be
payable out of the Tl Fund (as defined in Secti@ Helow), and (iii) Tenant’s decision will not affebe base Building, structural
components of the Building or any Building systdimswvhich case Landlord shall make the final desi$i Any changes to the TI
Construction Drawings following Landlord’s and Tetia approval of same requested by Tenant shglkbeessed as provided in
Section 4hereof.

3. Performance of the Tenant Improvements.

(a) Commencement and Permitting of the Tenant Improwesnd& enant shall commence construction of the fielmaprovements upao



obtaining and delivering to Landlord a building mpétr(“T1 Permit”) authorizing the construction dfé Tenant Improvements consistent
with the TI Construction Drawings approved by Lamwdl The cost of obtaining the TI Permit shall lagable from the Tl Fund.
Landlord shall assist Tenant in obtaining the Tinfie Prior to the commencement of the Tenant Inmpnoents, Tenant shall deliver to
Landlord a copy of any contract with Tenant’s caators (including the TI Architect), and certifieatof insurance from any contractor
performing any part of the Tenant Improvement enaiteg industry standard commercial general liapilitutomotive liability,
“builder’s risk”, and workers’ compensation insucan Tenant shall cause the general contractorotage a certificate of insurance

naming Landlord, Alexandria Real Estate Equities,,land Landlord’s lender (if any) as additiomaureds for the general contracsor’
liability coverages required above.

(b) Selection of Materials, Etc. Where more than ome tyf material or structure is indicated on the&Cohstruction Drawings approved
by Tenant and Landlord, the option will be withiarfant’'s reasonable discretion if the matter corscra Tenant Improvements, and

within Landlord’s sole and absolute subjective dition if the matter concerns the structural congoas of the Building or any
Building system.

(c) Tenant Liability. Tenant shall be responsible forrecting any deficiencies or defects in the Temampirovements.
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4.

(d) Substantial Completion. Tenant shall substantiadijnplete or cause to be substantially completed &mant Improvements in a good
and workmanlike manner, in accordance with the &rhitt subject, in each case, to Minor Variationd aaormal “punch listitems of ¢
non-material nature which do not interfere with tise of the Premises (“Substantial Completion”Suljstantially Complete”). Upon
Substantial Completion of the Tenant Improvemehgsiant shall require the Tl Architect and the gaheontractor to execute and
deliver, for the benefit of Tenant and Landlordertificate of Substantial Completion in the forfrttee American Institute of
Architects (“AIA”) document G704. For purposes bistWork Letter, “Minor Variations” shall mean ampodifications reasonably
required: (i) to comply with all applicable Legaé&uirements and/or to obtain or to comply with agyuired permit (including the Tl
Permit); (ii) to comport with good design, engiriagr and construction practices which are not niatesr (iii) to make reasonable
adjustments for field deviations or conditions amtered during the construction of the Tenant Improents.

Changes. Any changes requested by Tenant to trenT &nprovements after the delivery and approvaldnydlord of the Tl Design
Drawings, shall be requested and instituted in mtzotce with the provisions of this Sectioartd shall be subject to the written approve
Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonabtiiheld, conditioned or delayed.

(a) Tenant's Right to Request Changes. If Tenant shgliest changes (“Changes”), Tenant shall requektShanges by notifying
Landlord in writing in substantially the same foamthe AIA standard change order form (a “ChangguBst”),which Change Reque
shall detail the nature and extent of any such GaaSuch Change Request must be signed by Teiepiesentative. Landlord shall
review and approve or disapprove such Change Regitégn 10 business days thereafter, provided thaidlord’s approval shall not
be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

(b) Implementation of Changes. If Landlord approvesistbange and Tenant deposits with Landlord any &«@¢ Costs if applicable (
defined in_Section 5(dpelow) required in connection with such Changeyarg may cause the approved Change to be institifitaaly
T1 Permit modification or change is required agsutt of such Change, Tenant shall promptly proviaedlord with a copy of such TI
Permit modification or change.

Costs.

(a) Budget For Tenant Improvements. Before the commmaeaé of construction of the Tenant Improvementsiang shall obtain a
detailed breakdown, by trade, of the costs incuorethat will be incurred, in connection with thesijn and construction of the Tenant
Improvements (“Budget”), and deliver a copy of Budget to Landlord for Landlord’s approval, whidia#i not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed. The Budget shall be based diperi| Construction Drawings approved by Landldfdhe Budget is greater than
the TI Allowance, Tenant shall deposit with Landldine difference, in cash, prior to the commencedroéoonstruction of the Tenant
Improvements, for disbursement by Landlord as desdrin_Section 5(d)

(b) TI Allowance. Landlord shall provide to Tenaneaant improvement allowance(“TI Allowance”) of $gér rentable square foot of
the Premises, or $535,500 in the aggregate. ThdldWance shall be disbursed in accordance with Wbrk Letter. Tenant shall have
no right to the use or benefit (including any rettutto Base Rent) of any portion of the TI Alloveannot required for the construction
of (i) the Tenant Improvements described in th&€dhstruction Drawings approved pursuant to Se@{di or (ii) any Changes
pursuant to Section 4provided, however, that if and to the extent any Tl Allowance rensadfter the completion of the Tenant
Improvements, Tenant shall have the right to usé semaining balance during the balance of the Basm to defray the cost of any
subsequent Alterations made to the Premises irrdagoe with the terms and conditions of the Le@saant shall have no right to any
portion
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of the Tl Allowance that is not disbursed before #xpiration or earlier termination of the Baseriier

(c) Costs Includable in Ti Fund. The Tl Fund shall bedisolely for the payment of design, permits anttruction costs in connection
with the construction of the Tenant Improvements|uding, without limitation, the cost of electriggower and other utilities used in
connection with the construction of the Tenant loy@ments, the cost of preparing the Tl Design Dng&iand the Tl Construction
Drawings, all costs set forth in the Budget, inahgdthe cost of Changes, and Tenant’s voice or ciatéing (collectively, “T1 Costs”).
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaihedein, the Tl Fund shall not be used to purchagdwaniture, personal property or
other non-Building system materials or equipmentluding, but not be limited to, non-ducted biokadisafety cabinets and other
scientific equipment not incorporated into the Tre@Henprovements.

(d) Excess Tl Costs. Landlord shall have no obligattohear any portion of the cost of any of the Tenaaprovements except to the
extent of the Tl Allowance. If at any time and fréinme-to-time, the remaining Tl Costs under the getdexceed the remaining
unexpended TI Allowance, Tenant shall deposit wahdlord, as a condition precedent to Landlsmbligation to complete the Ten:
Improvements, 100% of the then current TI Costxicess of the remaining T1 Allowance (“Excess TI Gs If Tenant fails to depos
or is late in depositing any Excess Tl Costs wigimdllord, Landlord shall have all of the rights aedhedies set forth in the Lease for
nonpayment of Rent (including, but not limitedttee right to interest at the Default Rate and thktrto assess a late charge). For
purposes of any litigation instituted with regamdstich amounts, those amounts will be deemed Rwelatrihe Lease. The TI Allowar
and Excess Tl Costs is herein referred to as thé&tifid.” Funds deposited by Tenant shall be tha fivereafter disbursed to pay Tl
Costs. Notwithstanding anything to the contraryfesgh in this_Section 5(d) Tenant shall be fully and solely liable for TI€® and thi
cost of Minor Variations in excess of the Tl Allomee. If upon Substantial Completion of the Tenampiovements and the payment
all sums due in connection therewith there remaimsundisbursed portion of the Tl Fund, Tenantldfekntitled to such undisbursed
TI Fund solely to the extent of any Excess T1 Caogsosit Tenant has actually made with Landlord.

(e) Payment for Tl Costs. During the course of desigph @nstruction of the Tenant Improvements, Lartidrall pay Tl Costs once a
month against a draw request in Landlord’s stanftard, containing such certifications, lien waivéirscluding a conditional lien
release for each progress payment and unconditienaleleases for the prior month’s progress pawsjeinspection reports and other
matters as Landlord customarily obtains, to themxof Landlord’s approval thereof for payment,later than 30 days following
receipt of such draw request. Upon completion efftenant Improvements (and prior to any final disbment of the Tl Fund), Tenant
shall deliver to Landlord: (i) sworn statementdisgtforth the names of all contractors and fiist subcontractors who did the work
and final, unconditional lien waivers from all suabntractors and first tier subcontractors; (ifbasdlt plans (one copy in print format
and two copies in electronic CAD format) for suan@nt Improvements; (iii) a certification of sulvgtal completion in Form AIA
G704, (iv) a certificate of occupancy for the Preesi and (v) copies of all operation and mainteaananuals and warranties affecting
the Premises.

6. Miscellaneous.

(a) Consents. Whenever consent or approval of eithty arequired under this Work Letter, that pashall not unreasonably withhold,
condition or delay such consent or approval, exasphay be expressly set forth herein to the contra
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(b) Modification. No modification, waiver or amendmaexitthis Work Letter or of any of its conditions rovisions shall be binding upon
Landlord or Tenant unless in writing signed by Uand and Tenant.
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EXHIBIT D TO LEASE
ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF COMMENCEMENT DATE

This ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF COMMENCEMENT DATE is made a$ this day of ,138) between ARE-1500
EAST GUDE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability compaf‘Landlord”), and SUPERNUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INCa, Delaware
corporation (“Tenant”), and is attached to and mageart of. the Lease dated as of February 3 2Q%kase”), by and between Landlord and
Tenant. Any initially capitalized terms used but defined herein shall have the meanings given tinetine Lease.

Landlord and Tenant hereby acknowledge and agegétih Commencement Date of the Base Term of thed & , 2013,
the Rent Commencement Date is 1326and the expirartion date of the Base Term efLthase shall be midnight
on In caseaafonflict between the terms of the Lease andetrag of this Acknowledgement of Commencement Date

this Acknowledgement of Commencement Date shalfrobfor all purposes.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have exaedilhis ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF COMMENCEMENT DATE under
seal to be effective on the date first above writte

TENANT:

SUPERNUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a Delaware corpoat

By: (SEAL)
Name:
Title:

LANDLORD:

ARE-1500 EAST GUDE, LLC
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: ARE-QRS Corp.
a Maryland corporatior
its managing membe

By: (SEAL)
Name:
Title:

Copyright© 2007, Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc. A

RIGHTS RESERVED. Confidential and Propriet- Do Not

Copy or Distribute. Alexandria and the Alexandriagb are
ALEXANDRIA registered trademarks of Alexandria Real Estatatieguinc.
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EXHIBIT E TO LEASE

Rules and Regulations

1. The sidewalk, entries, and driveways of the Pragéatl not be obstructed by Tenant, or any TenartyPor used by them
for any purpose other than ingress and egressttéram the Premises.

2. Tenant shall not place any objects, including amisnoutdoor furniture, etc., in the parking aréasdscaped areas or other
areas outside of its Premises, or on the roof @Poject.

3. Except for animals assisting the disabled, no alsisiaall be allowed in the offices, halls, or cdaris in the Project.

4, Tenant shall not disturb the occupants of the Btaeadjoining buildings by the use of any radigrausical instrument or t
the making of loud or improper noises.

5. If Tenant desires telegraphic, telephonic or otlectric connections in the Premises, Landlordagent will direct the
electrician as to where and how the wires may tredoiced; and, without such direction, no boringuaiting of wires will be permitted. Any
such installation or connection shall be made ath€s expense.

6. Tenant shall not install or operate any steam eregggine or boiler, or other mechanical apparatulse Premises, except as
specifically approved in the Lease. The use ofgaik or inflammable liquids for heating, lightingany other purpose is expressly prohibited.
Explosives or other articles deemed extra hazardbal not be brought into the Project.

7. Parking any type of recreational vehicles is spedllfy prohibited on or about the Project. Exceptthe overnight parking ¢
operative vehicles, no vehicle of any type shalstoeed in the parking areas at any time. In thenethat a vehicle is disabled, it shall be
removed within 48 hours. There shall be no “FoeSal other advertising signs on or about any pankehicle. All vehicles shall be parked in
the designated parking areas in conformity witts@hs and other markings. All parking will be opsarking, and no reserved parking,
numbering or lettering of individual spaces will permitted except as specified by Landlord.

8. Tenant shall maintain the Premises free from rajénsects and other pests.

9. Landlord reserves the right to exclude or expahftbe Project any person who, in the judgment ofdlard, is intoxicated
or under the influence of liquor or drugs or whalsin any manner do any act in violation of thelé&uand Regulations of the Project.

10. Tenant shall not cause any unnecessary labor kpmea Tenant’s carelessness or indifference irpteservation of good
order and cleanliness. Landlord shall not be resipteto Tenant for any loss of property on thenises, however occurring, or for any
damage done to the effects of Tenant by the jandoany other employee or person.

11. Tenant shall give Landlord prompt notice of anyedés in the water, lawn sprinkler, sewage, gasspipkectrical lights and
fixtures, heating apparatus, or any other servipgpnent affecting the Premises.

12. Tenant shall not permit storage outside the Presnieeluding without limitation, outside storagetnfcks and other vehicle
or dumping of waste or refuse or permit any harmfaterials to be placed in any drainage systenamitagy system in or about the Premises.
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13. All moveable trash receptacles provided by thehtdisposal firm for the Premises must be kept éntthsh enclosure areas,
if any, provided for that purpose.

14, No auction, public or private, will be permitted thre Premises or the Project.
15. No awnings shall be placed over the windows inRhemises except with the prior written consentarfdlord.
16. The Premises shall not be used for lodging, slegpircooking or for any immoral or illegal purpogedor any purpose

other than that specified in the Lease. No gamangdogs shall be operated in the Premises.

17. Tenant shall ascertain from Landlord the maximunoamh of electrical current which can safely be uisetthe Premises,
taking into account the capacity of the electrigaing in the Project and the Premises and the :ieédther tenants, and shall not use more
than such safe capacity. Landlord’s consent tartstallation of electric equipment shall not rekelenant from the obligation not to use more
electricity than such safe capacity.

18. Tenant assumes full responsibility for protectihg Premises from theft, robbery and pilferage.

19. Tenant shall not install or operate on the Prenasgsmachinery or mechanical devices of a natutelinectly related to
Tenant’s ordinary use of the Premises and shap k#lesuch machinery free of vibration, noise amdwaves which may be transmitted beyonc
the Premises.
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EXHIBIT F TO LEASE
TENANT'S PERSONAL PROPERTY

None except as set forth bela
NONE
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EXHIBIT 10.34

On January 30, 2013, the Compensation Committ&upérnus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) apa modifications of the
compensation of its executive officers, as follows:

The annual base salary of Jack A. Khattar, the Gmyip President and Chief Executive Officer, wasaased from $450,000 to
$463,500. Mr. Khattar was awarded a 2012 bon@247%,766 and was granted options to purchase 308}res of common stock and a
stock appreciation rights award for 92,000 shafemmmon stock.

The annual base salary of Gregory S. Patrick, thagany’s Vice President and Chief Financial Offjaeas increased from $300,000
to $309,000. Mr. Patrick was awarded a 2012 bofi$d02,450 and was granted options to purchas¥@Ghares of common stock.

The annual base salary of Stefan K.F. Schwabe, RHD., the Company’s Executive Vice President ahidiViedical Officer, was
increased from $330,000 to $332,875. Dr. Schwaheawarded a 2012 bonus of $58,261 and was graptehs to purchase 20,000 share
common stock.

The annual base salary of Padmanabh P. Bhatt, RhédCompany’s Senior Vice President, IntellecRmperty and Chief Scientific
Officer, was increased from $306,000 to $315,180. Bhatt was awarded a 2012 bonus of $96,412 aslgranted options to purchase 80,
shares of common stock.

The annual base salary of James W. Bryan, Ph.® Ctimpany’s Vice President of Business Developnvess,increased from
$250,000 to $257,500. Dr. Bryan was awarded a Dob2s of $73,156 and was granted options to paecii,000 shares of common stock.

Victor Vaughn, Senior Vice President, Sales waschin January 2013. His annual base salary is,$2@5 In addition, he is eligible
to receive an annual target bonus of 30% of hisiahipase salary, prorated for 2013 based on hisngtalate. Mr. Vaughn was also granted
options to purchase 85,000 shares of common stock .

These increases were the result of the Compendatommittee’s annual compensation review for exeeutifficers. These increases
in annual base salary became effective on Jany&91B. Vesting for all stock option grants witlonir annually in equal increments over a
four year period and the exercise price for eaeligs $7.90 per share, based on the closing pfiEebruary 5, 2013, the date of approval of
the grants by the full board of directors. All etlierms and conditions of the Company’s compengaiwangements with these executive
officers remain unchanged.




EXHIBIT 14

CODE OF ETHICS

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is committed torthimtenance of high ethical standards, both intgraad in its dealings with all those with
whom it is involved. This is reinforced by Supernsisong belief in integrity, named as one of Suypest Corporate Values. The following
policy has been adopted in order to provide guidanemployees in several areas of work where atihtlork ethics are or might potentially
be in question. All employees are required to fibélpolicy carefully and to adhere to its prineipland spirit in the daily execution of their
tasks and responsibilities.

2.0 BUSINESS AND SCIENTIFIC INFORMATION

The integrity and success of the business of SugdPharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) is depahdpon the accuracy of the Company’s
records and business information. The Company’setivdders, directors, employees, consultants, tslieuppliers and the public cannot make
informed decisions about the Company if this bagimrmation contains material omissions or falsifions or misleading statements.

2.1 Accurate and Fair Reflection of Information

All employees involved in creating, processingexarding such information are responsible forrtegrity and shall ensure, to the best of
their ability, that all entries, books, records aedounts of the Company accurately and fairlyertfthe Company’s operations and
transactions.

2.2 False or Misleading Statements

In order to preserve confidence in all statemeraderby the Company, care must be taken to ensatreadhreport of business information
is false or misleading. No employee shall makestatement to (i) another employee of the Comp@iyany consultants retained by the
Company, (iii) clients or suppliers, (iv) any gomerent agency or (v) any other person, which theleyege knows or has reason to believe
is false or misleading.

Any employee who becomes aware of any false oremihg information being produced or reported sthoeport the matter to his or her
line manager, the HR department, a member of tleeliive Committee, or to the Chief Executive of &mus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as
appropriate.

2.3 Confidential Information

Employees have an obligation to safeguard the Caogipaonfidential information. Such information@@mpany property, and its
ownership must be respected. Examples of the Coyrgaanfidential information include:

*  Unpublished financial, product sales, pricing ansdting information

»  Operating or marketing plans and budgets

* Inventions, trade secrets and know-how;

* Research and development, scientific data and duves, and product plans;

»  Salary, wage and benefits data and all other pasdanformation;

» Detailed information regarding customers, includingtomer requirements, preferences and planspewtere such
information is publicly available; and

The Companys dealings with business partners, suppliers,ibigors and consultants and the details of alliess deals, oth:
than any terms which have been publicly announced.




All confidential information relating to the Compaand its business is to be used solely by empkirepursuance of their work and for
corporate purposes only. Confidential Informatibnwd not be provided to persons outside of the @ (except in connection with a
confidentiality agreement) or used for the purpasirthering a private interest or making a peedqrofit.

Employees must also ensure that all non-publicmédion concerning the financial condition, earsingusiness prospects, securities and
other performance of the Company remains confidéninless and until it is fully and properly disgrated to the public by management.

2.4 Industrial Espionage and Piracy

Just as the Company expects and requires thairifgential business information be safeguardedicas it respect the right of other
persons and firms, including competitors and paaénbmpetitors, to preserve the confidentialityttodir business confidential
information. While sound business planning inveltlee assessment of information concerning the @ogip competitive position, any
form of industrial espionage or piracy or otheeatpts to acquire by unlawful practices non-pubifoimation relating to the business of
an existing or potential customer, competitor grpdier is not permitted.

3.0 PUBLIC DISCLOSURE

As a successful company Supernus plays active imkb& business community, the scientific commyrdand the community at large. Such
participation involves communicating regularly viitlthese communities and open communications opditeof Company representatives are
encouraged. However, external communication as/also involve risks that need to be managedsdhisks include the inadvertent
disclosure of unprotected intellectual propertyltiaor misleading financial disclosure, and inemtrinformation on any subject. Any such
disclosure will damage Supernus’ interests, inelgdis public reputation.

Public disclosure usually consists of three braaést financial disclosure, corporate communicati@amd scientific disclosure.

The Company has a policy under which Company prdeases and public statements, as well as statgfeetihe investment community, m
be approved by its Chief Executive Officer or hisignee. Therefore, no employee should disclog@fithe Company’s non-public
information to any member of the financial/investrtneommunity or to the press.

Inquiries from external financial analysts or intees or shareholders should be directed to thec®fff the Chief Executive Officer.

If an employee believes that any important non-joubformation will be revealed in any publicationcommunication with the scientific or

investment community, the employee should notiey @ffice of the Chief Executive Officer in advarafesuch disclosure so that appropriate
action can be taken, including stopping the disglesIf any important non-public information is éheertently disclosed, employees aware of
such disclosure should contact the Office of thefCxecutive Officer immediately so that the Companay promptly take corrective action.

3.1 Inventions and Patents
All employees are required to disclose to the Camgpan accordance with the procedures establisigetidintellectual Property

department, any discovery or invention that the legge has made or has reason to believe mightéfelupatentable or otherwise
protectable, including trade secrets (collectively




“Inventions”), in the course of his or her employtheéThe Company in consultation with the IntellettBroperty department will
undertake such decisions of when, what, and whepeitsue possible patent protection.

3.2 Publications and Presentations

All employees are expected to disclose to the# fimanager and, if applicable, to any person idedtih a specific procedure to that effe
any proposed printed publication, abstract, or &krdectronic or written presentation or othechtisure to be made before any conferenc
or presentation outside the Company for reviewapptoval. The purpose of this prior notificationasenable the Company to take all
appropriate measures to ensure that the propogeid pisclosure does not adversely affect the Camjsarights, including intellectual
property rights, or the ability of the Company tdlyf develop and commercialize the subject matfehe disclosure. The Company shall
have the right to alter or amend, or prevent amppsed publication or disclosure.

3.3 Media

Employees must not make any statement to the paadis, or television about the Company’s busineigisout prior authorization in
writing. Any approaches or inquiries must be reddrto the Business Development or Public Relatitapartment.

4.0 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
4.1 Personal Interest

Employees must act in the best interests of Sugeand must disregard any personal preference engéalye. Employees should avoid
entering into situations in which their personamily or financial interests may conflict with tteef the Company. Where any potential
conflict of interest may arise, the employee shalddlare their interest and seek advice from senammagement. Conflicts of interests do
not include normal financial investments in pulyliguoted companies.

Undisclosed interests or obligations in firms aogerty with which the Company transacts businessijth which the Company
contemplates such transactions, create at leagréisemption of a conflict of interest. Such ingtrer obligation shall be disclosed (to line
manager and HR department) and any situation thdtlcreate a perception of conflict of interestidd be avoided.

4.2 Business Practice

The Company and its employees must comply witHatws of all countries in which they operate andweapplicable international and
national industry codes of practice. It is the oaspbility of all employees to ensure, by takinyiad where appropriate, that they are fully
aware of all relevant laws and codes of practice.

4.3 Receipt of Things of Value

Employees shall not solicit or accept for themselvetheir family any thing of any value from atmyrd party, including any gifts,
entertainment or personal favors, which might reabty be believed to have a significant influennebasiness transactions. An offer of
entertainment must not be accepted unless theisffthin the bounds of accepted business hodital

This section would not generally prohibit the giyior receipt of gifts often exchanged in the cowfseormal business dealings, such as
stationery, calendars, food baskets, tickets tallsporting events or concerts, dinners and sirtéans. In situation of doubt, employees
shall refer to their line manager or the




HR department.
4.4 Other Interests

Involvement or employment outside the Company inaativity, which might reduce an employee’s gehdtdy of undivided loyalty to
the Company or affect the independence of judgmeetsisions or actions taken on the Company’s lhetmaist be avoided. No conflict of
interest should exist between the private intereS&snployees and their obligations to the Compdioyensure that employees give their
full attention to their work, employees are dis@med from engaging in paid employment outside @fGbmpany and employees are
prohibited from engaging in paid employment or hass that might conflict with the interests of @@mpany without the express written
permission of management of the Company. A cogh@fpermission shall be kept in the employee’sqrakfile within the HR
department.

Employees must obtain the consent of their immediaperior for all professional activities (suchfas example, service in professional
associations, on editorial boards and on boarasasfagement) which follow from their function ortstat the Company or which would
necessitate time on such activities during the vmorkiay.

4.5 Bribes

Providing or attempting to provide or soliciting,cepting or attempting to accept any bribe to omflany employee or official of any
person, corporation, entity or governmental agemitly whom the Company is engaged, or seeks to be@mgaged, in business dealings
ordinarily constitutes a violation of law. In addit, such conduct may impair public confidencehia integrity of the Company in the
conduct of its business. Accordingly, employeedl sttd provide, or attempt or offer to provide, amybes or solicit, accept or attempt to
accept any bribe.

4.6 Insider Trading Restrictions

As of May 2012, Supernus has become a publicly befdpany. The following restrictions now apply mwrespect to trading of Company
securities. These restrictions are more fullycattited in the Company’s Securities Trading Policy.

An employee must not trade in equity or derivateeurities of Supernus at a time when he or stmepgessession of “inside” or “material,
non-public” information; that is, information whids not available outside the Company and whighvifere made public could have a
substantial effect on the market price of its siesr This information is that which could reaably be expected to affect the decision of
an investor to buy or sell the Company’s securities

At any and all times of year, Directors and SecfiérOfficers (i.e.; ‘insiders’) are required to aint clearance from the Chief Financial
Officer before trading in Company securities. acil6 Officers are those employees who, becausieeafiature of their position, are
likely to be in possession of sensitive, mater@ipublic information relating to Supernus. A lidtinsiders will be issued from time to
time. In addition, any employee becomes an ingfde or she is in receipt of material non-pulitiformation. If in doubt as to whether
an employee is in possession of such informatiergrishe should consult with their line manage¥,Ghief Financial Officer, and the
Company’s legal counsel.

NASDAQ rules and Company policy prohibit all dirert and employees from trading in any equity oivagive security during blackout
periods. These periods occur when the Companysteply financial results are being compiled, beeathis information is deemed to be
material and non-public. These periods are litelgccur from January through mid March, April thgh mid May, and October though
mid November. However the exact dates of the lolackeriods will depend on the date of releasenafifcial results.




In addition, if the Company is in receipt of masrnonpublic information, the Company may, from timeitae declare blackout period
All employees will be advised at the commencemedttarmination of any blackout period by the Chiafancial Officer or the
Controller.

5.0 WORKING ENVIRONMENT
5.1 Respect and Integrity of the Person

The Company encourages the respect of the indivitheir integrity and their dignity, by ensuringat the working environment and
relations between employees shall be free of dignetion or harassment.

Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is an Equal Oppbtrtemployer and strives to ensure that there idiscrimination against anyone
applying for a job or while in employment for reasmf sex, sexual orientation, marital status, dreelor, race, nationality, ethnic or
national origin, religious belief, political opimaoor disability.

Harassment or discrimination may be based on ongooe of the following motives: race, religion, aglpolitical convictions, sex,
language, pregnancy, ethnic or national originil skate, social status, sexual orientation, haagliage.

Harassment is an unacceptable behavior which iwshamong other things, by words, acts or gestwhesh are considered by a persol
group of persons to be of a humiliating or contarops character.

Sexual harassment is defined as being any undesitéxh or any undesired expression with sexuahotations which causes a real or
apparent prejudice to an employee.

Discrimination and harassment will not be tolerdtethe working environment.

The Company protects its employees who believe dineyictims of harassment or discrimination. Tleenpany has a formal process
designed to stop any such behavior and to deabppptely with the perpetrator.

Employees should not tolerate discrimination and$sment and should report their complaint.

The matter will be treated with discretion andghilice and in accordance with established procedure.
5.2 Alcohol and Drugs

Employees must not be under the influence of alcohidlegal drugs while at work.

The consumption or even the mere possession diegalidrug on Supernus premises is strictly fodeial

The consumption of alcohol in the workplace is fdden except on occasions or special events foctwhithorization must have been
previously obtained from Human Resources or a mewibide Executive Committee.

The consumption of alcohol at Company sponsoredtevand functions must be in moderation and wi@ampany discretion.
Employees represent the Company, and therefore mmaistain professional and respectable standarlistwdvior, and will be held
accountable for their actions.




5.3 Ethics at Work

Employees are expected to demonstrate integrityes$ty and proper ethics at work. Misconduct will be tolerated and could lead to
disciplinary action. Cases of serious miscondugt; ¢heft, fraud, violence at work will likely ldao job termination.

6.0 COMPLIANCE
6.1 Employee Compliance and Reporting

Each employee should be alert to any activitieslaoted in connection with his or her work which lcblbe construed as a violation of the
Code of Ethics, should bring the matter to thergié@ of his or her line manager and should takeembive action, if possible, to prevent
recurrence of the violation.

An employee having information or knowledge of ahwahich appears to violate this Code of Ethicaudthoeport the matter to his or her
line manager, the HR department, a member of tleeliive Committee, or to the Chief Executive of &mus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as
appropriate.

If an employee is uncertain whether an activityinich he or she is engaged or is considering cbaldonstrued as a violation of the Code
of Ethics he or she should discuss the activithis or her line manager, the HR department, almeemf the Executive Committee or to
the Chief Executive of Supernus Pharmaceuticats, &s appropriate.

6.2 Investigation and Enforcement

If members of management receive reports of ankatiom of the Code of Ethics, they shall conduattsinvestigations and take such ot
action as they consider necessary to determingidlation has in fact occurred and shall recommapiropriate corrective and
disciplinary action (up to and including terminatjo

6.3 Implementation

Any subsidiary or any function concerned with acéfieaspect of this Code may adopt more detaspecific procedures or policies to

facilitate the implementation of this Code of Ethi§uch detailed policies or procedures shallingt the scope of the intents of this Code
of Ethics. Employees will be expected to adhertaéon.




Please indicate that you have read the attachécypahd having understood its contents, agreditbesby all of its provisions.

Print Name:

Sign Name

Date:
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EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333- 1814£8aining to the 2005 Stock Plan, the
2012 Equity Incentive Plan, and the 2012 EmployeelSPurchase Plan of Supernus Pharmaceuticalsoflioeir report dated March 15, 2013,
with respect to the consolidated financial stateimehSupernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., includedlimmannual Report (Form 10-K) for the year
ended December 31, 2012.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

McLean, VA
March 15, 2013
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION
[, Jack A. Khattar, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on FofirKlof Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material facinoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statémend other financial information included ifstheport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officeddrare responsible for establishing and maintgjmisclosure controls and procedures (as de
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imatednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and praesdor caused such disclosure controls and proesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiary, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over finanogglorting, or caused such internal control ovearficial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atiie preparation of financial stateme
for external purposes in accordance with geneeabepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regissatisclosure controls and procedures and preséntais report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation;
and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in thggsteant's internal control over financial repogtithat occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggan

5. The registrant's other certifying officeddrhave disclosed, based on our most recent ev@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material Weasses in the design or operation of internalrobotser financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and rtefpwaincial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ines management or other employees who have dis@tirole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2013 By: /s/ JACK A. KHATTAR

Jack A. Khattar
President and Chief Executive Offic
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Gregory S. Patrick, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on FofirKlof Supernus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material facinoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statémend other financial information included ifstheport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officeddrare responsible for establishing and maintgjmisclosure controls and procedures (as de
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))imatednal control over financial reporting (as definin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and praesdor caused such disclosure controls and proesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiary, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over finanogglorting, or caused such internal control ovearficial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atiie preparation of financial stateme
for external purposes in accordance with geneeabepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regissatisclosure controls and procedures and preséntais report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation;
and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in thggsteant's internal control over financial repogtithat occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggan

5. The registrant's other certifying officeddrhave disclosed, based on our most recent ev@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material Weasses in the design or operation of internalrobotser financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and rtefpwaincial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ines management or other employees who have dis@tirole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2013 By: /s GREGORY S. PATRICK

Gregory S. Patrick
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic
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EXHIBIT 32.1

SUPERNUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. sec. 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Supernuartaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Ktfe year ended December 31, 2012
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the "Report"), |, Jack A. #dra President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 L Ssec. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section & Garbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirertseaf section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exade Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faptesents, in all material respects, the finanmiadition and results of operations of
the Company.

Date: March 15, 2013 By: /s/ JACK A. KHATTAR

Jack A. Khattar
President and Chief Executive Offic
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EXHIBIT 32.2

SUPERNUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. sec. 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with Annual Report of Supernus Phaenticals, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K foe trear ended December 31, 2012 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioithe date hereof (the "Report"), |, Gregory SriBlatVice President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 L Ssec. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section @ Garbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirertseaf section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exade Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faptesents, in all material respects, the finanmialdition and results of operations of
the Company.

Date: March 15, 2013 By: /s/ GREGORY S. PATRICK

Gregory S. Patrick
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic




QuickLinks
EXHIBIT 32.2

SUPERNUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. CERTIFICATION PURSUH TO 18 U.S.C. sec. 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANE-OXLEY ACT OF 2002



